
 

 

  

GŴYS A RHAGLEN 
 

 

SUMMONS AND AGENDA 
 

 
ar gyfer 

 

 

for a 
 

 
CYFARFOD O GYNGOR  

SIR YNYS MÔN 
 
 

MEETING OF THE ISLE OF 
ANGLESEY COUNTY COUNCIL 

 
 

ar 
 

on 
 

 

DYDD GWENER, 30 MEDI 2022 FRIDAY, 30 SEPTEMBER 2022 

am 2.00 o’r gloch at 2.00 pm 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

Please note that meetings of the Committee are streamed for live and subsequent 
broadcast on the Council’s website. The Authority is a Data Controller under the Data 
Protection Act and data collected during this live stream will be retained in accordance with 
the Authority’s published policy. 
 

 A G E N D A 
 
 

1.    MINUTES   

 To submit for confirmation, the draft minutes of the meetings of the County Council 
held on the following dates:- 

 
•  24 May 2022 (Ordinary Meeting) 

•  24 May 2022 (First Annual Meeting) 
•  31 May 2022 (Adjourned Annual Meeting)  
 

2.    DECLARATION OF INTEREST   

 To receive any declaration of interest from any Member or Officer in respect of any 
item of business. 

 

3.   TO RECEIVE ANY ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE CHAIRPERSON, LEADER 
OF THE COUNCIL OR THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE   

 

4.    ASSISTANT EXECUTIVE MEMBERS   

 To submit a report by the Director of Function (Council Business)/Monitoring 

Officer, as presented to the Executive on 27 September 2022.  
 

5.    STANDARDS COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT   

 To submit a report by the Chair of the Standards Committee, Mr John R Jones. 
 

6.    CORPORATE SELF-ASSESSMENT 2022   

 To submit a report by the Head of Profession, HR and Transformation. 

 

7.    REGIONAL AND LOCAL MARKET STABILITY   

 To submit a report by the Director of Social Services, as presented to the 

Executive on 27 September 2022.  
 



 

 1 

ISLE OF ANGLESEY COUNTY COUNCIL  
 

Minutes of the virtual meeting held on 24 May 2022 
 

 
PRESENT:   
 

Councillor Dafydd Roberts (Vice-Chair in the Chair) 
 

Councillors Geraint ap Ifan Bebb, Non Dafydd, Paul Ellis, Jeff Evans, Neville 
Evans, Douglas M Fowlie, T Ll Hughes MBE, Llinos Medi Huws, A M Jones, 
Carwyn Jones, Dyfed W Jones, G O Jones, John Ifan Jones, R Ll Jones, Jackie 

Lewis, Euryn Morris, Alun W Mummery, Pip O'Neill, Derek Owen, Gary 
Pritchard, Dylan Rees, Alun Roberts, Keith Roberts, Margaret Murley Roberts, 
Nicola Roberts, Ken Taylor, Dafydd Rhys Thomas, Alwen P Watkin, 

Ieuan Williams, Robin Williams and Liz Wood 
 

IN ATTENDANCE: Chief Executive, 

Deputy Chief Executive, 
Director of Function (Resources)/Section 151 Officer, 
Interim Director of Function (Council Business)/Monitoring Officer,  

Head of Profession (Human Resources) and Transformation, 
Head of Housing Services, 
Head of Adult’s Services, 

Head of Regulation and Economic Development, 
Head of Highways, Waste and Property, 
Legal Services Manager (RJ), 

Scrutiny Manager (AD), 
Communications Officer (GJ), 
Committee Officer (MEH). 

 
 

ALSO PRESENT:   None  

 
APOLOGIES: Councillors Glyn Haynes, Llio Angharad Owen and Arfon Wyn 

  

  
 

 

 

1. MINUTES  
 

The minutes of the following meetings of the County Council were confirmed as correct :- 
 

 10 March, 2022 

 29 March, 2022 (Extraordinary Meeting) 

 25 April, 2022 (Extraordinary Meeting) 
 

2. DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
 
None received. 

 

3. TO RECEIVE ANY ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE CHAIRPERSON OR THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE  
 
The Vice-Chair in the Chair welcomed the newly Elected Members to their first meeting of the 

County Council.  
 
He wished to thank the Electoral Services and staff  who were involved in the arrangements of the 

recent Local Government Elections.   
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1.



 

 2 

He further expressed that this meeting is convened virtually and it is hoped that the hybrid system 
will be in place in the near future following completing of training and testing of the system within the 

Council Offices. 
 
The Vice-Chair in the Chair thereafter made the following announcements:-   

 

 Congratulations was extended to Mr Rhys Howard Hughes on his appointment to the 
post Deputy Chief Executive.   

 Eistedd Môn (Bro Esceifiog) was convened recently following it being cancelled for two 
years due to the pandemic.  Congratulations was extended to all those who took part at 
the Eisteddfod.  Eisteddfod Môn. 

 Best wishes was extended to the young people from the Island we will be competing at 

the Eisteddford yr Urdd yn Denbighshire next week. 

 

 Best wishes was extended to all the young people who will be undertaking exams in the 
next few weeks.  

 

 Congratulations to Beaumaris Brass Band who have been successful at the Welsh 
Regional Brass Band Championships at Swasnea recently.  They will now represent 
Wales at the Finals of the National Brass Band Championships of Great Britain in 
September.  

 

 Congratulations to Mr Wayne Hennessey, former pupil of Ysgol Gynradd Beaumaris and 
Ysgol David Hughes, who recently captained Wales and won his 100th cap for the 
Welsh National Football Team against the Czech Republic in Cardiff.  

 

 Congratulations to all Members of the Ynys Môn Young Farmers Association who 
competed at the Wales Young Farmers Public Speaking Competition at Llanelwedd 
recently.  The Ynys Môn Under 14 team came 1st in the competition – team members 
were Twm Môn Huws, Bodedern Club, Enlli Pennant and Glwys Morris Williams, 
Penmynydd Club.   

 

 Congratulations also to Elliw Haf Griffith,  Dwyran Club who came 3rd  in the  Older 
Member of the Year Competition.    

 
 Congratulations to Côr Ieuenctid Môn who reached the final of Côr Cymru.   
 

 Congratulations to Casi Evans, from Penysarn and a pupil at Ysgol Syr Thomas Jones, 
Amlwch, who was selected for the Wales Under 16s Football Squad which played 
against Denmark, Finland and Switzerland over Easter.   

 

 Congratulations also to her older brothers, Caio and Cian Evans, who have also recently 
represented the Welsh Schools and Welsh Colleges football teams respectively and 
another member of the team was Josh Stanley Williams from Llangefni.   This was the 
first time the Welsh Teams had won the competition for over 40 years. 

 

 The Vice-Chair in the Chair also wished to express sincere gratitude to all the organisers 
and volunteers who were involved with the organising of the Cymru Ukraine Gig held at 
Mona Showground on the 9th April.  Sponsors included Ynys Môn and Gwynedd 
Councils and several local businesses.  All profits raised will go to supporting Ukranian 
refugees and on that note I would like to mention the caring residents of Ynys Mon who 
have welcomed Ukranian familes to their homes.  

 

 Best wishes was extended to staff members who have recently retired from the Council. 

Page 2



 

 3 

 
*          *          *          * 

  
Condolences was extended to any Member of the Council or Staff who had suffered a 
bereavement. 
 
Members and Officers stood as silent tribute.  
 

4. QUESTIONS RECEIVED PURSUANT TO RULE 4.1.12.4 OF THE CONSTITUTION  

 
None received. 
 

5. PRESENTATION OF PETITIONS  

 
No petitions received. 
 

6. DEMOCRATIC SERVICES COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22  

 

The Annual Report of the Democratic Services Committee for 2021/22 was presented by 
Councillor Robert Ll Jones, Chair of the Democratic Services Committee.. 

It was RESOLVED to accept the report and to note the matters considered by the 
Committee during 2021/22. 

 
7. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22  

 

The Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2021/22 was presented by the Chairs of the Corporate 
Scrutiny Committee and the Partnership and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee. 

Councillor G O Jones, Chair of the Partnership and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee and   
Councillor Aled M Jones, Chair of the Corporate Scrutiny Committee gave an overview of the work 
undertaken by the two scrutiny committees between May 2021 and May 2022.  The Chairs of the 
two scrutiny committees led on developing the forward work programmes during this period.      

It was RESOLVED to :- 

 approve the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report for 2021/22; 

 note the continued progress made in implementing the local Scrutiny 
development journey and the impact this is having on practice. 

 

 
 
 

 The meeting concluded at 10.55 am 
 
 COUNCILLOR DAFYDD ROBERTS 

 VICE-CHAIR IN THE CHAIR 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1 

ISLE OF ANGLESEY COUNTY COUNCIL  
 

Minutes of the virtual First Annual meeting held on 24 May 2022 
 

 
PRESENT:   
 

Councillors Geraint ap Ifan Bebb, Non Dafydd, Paul Ellis, Jeff Evans, Neville 
Evans, Douglas M Fowlie, T Ll Hughes MBE, Llinos Medi, A M Jones, 

Carwyn Jones, Dyfed W Jones, G O Jones, John I Jones, R Ll Jones, Jackie 
Lewis, Euryn Morris, Alun W Mummery, Pip O'Neill, Derek Owen, Gary 
Pritchard, Dylan Rees, Alun Roberts, Dafydd Roberts, Keith Roberts, 

Margaret Murley Roberts, Nicola Roberts, Ken Taylor, Dafydd Rhys Thomas, 
Alwen Watkin, Ieuan Williams, Robin Williams, Liz Wood and Arfon Wyn 
 

IN ATTENDANCE: Chief Executive, 
Deputy Chief Executive, 
Director of Function (Resources)/Section 151 Officer, 

Interim Director of Function (Council Business)/Monitoring Officer,  
Head of Profession (Human Resources) and Transformation, 
Head of Housing Services, 

Head of Adult’s Services, 
Head of Regulation and Economic Development, 
Head of Highways, Waste and Property, 

Legal Services Manager (RJ), 
Communications Officer (GJ), 
Committee Officer (MEH). 

 
ALSO PRESENT:  None 

 

APOLOGIES: Councillors Glyn Haynes and Llio Angharad Owen 
  
  

 
 

 

 

1. CHAIRPERSON  
 

It was RESOLVED that Councillor Dafydd Roberts be unanimously elected as 
Chairperson of the Isle of Anglesey County Council for 2022/23. 
 

In accepting the honour of being appointed, Councillor Dafydd Roberts assured the Council 
that he would endeavour to fulfil his duties as Chairperson to the best of his abilities.  He 
thanked his predecessor Councillor Glyn Haynes for the honourable way in which he 
carried out his civic duties of Chair of the County Council. 
 
The outgoing Chairperson, Councillor Glyn Haynes had apologies for his absence from this 
meeting.  
 

2. VICE-CHAIRPERSON  

 
It was RESOLVED that Councillor Margaret Murley Roberts be elected Vice-
Chairperson of the County Council for 2022/23. 
 

Councillor Margaret Murley Roberts thanked her fellow Members for the honour and said 
that she looked forward to working with the Chairperson and supporting him in his duties 
during the forthcoming year. 
 

Page 5



 

 2 

3. ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 
None received. 
 

4. DECLARATION OF INTEREST  

 
None received. 
 

5. CANDIDATE'S PRESENTATION IN SUPPORT OF HER NOMINATION TO BE LEADER 
OF THE COUNCIL  

 
In accordance with Paragraph 2.7.3.1 of the Constitution, having already submitted a 
written presentation (manifesto) to the Chief Executive before 5.00 p.m., on 12 May, 2022 
(which has been supported in writing by two other Councillors to the Chief Executive), an 
oral presentation was given by Councillor Llinos Medi on her vision and values. 
 

6. TO APPOINT A LEADER OF THE COUNTY COUNCIL  

 
It was RESOLVED that Councillor Llinos Medi be elected Leader of the Isle of 
Anglesey County Council for a period of 5 years in accordance with Article 7 and in 
particular the rules of procedure contained under Paragraphs 2.7.3.1 and 2.7.3.2 of 
the Council’s Constitution. 
 

(Councillors Paul Ellis, Jeff Evans, Douglas M Fowlie, A M Jones, Robert Ll Jones, Derek 
Owen and Liz Wood abstained from voting). 
 

7. DEPUTY LEADER OF THE COUNCIL  
 
The Leader of the Council informed the Council that she had appointed Councillor Carwyn 
Jones to serve as Deputy Leader. 
 

8. MEMBER REMUNERATION 2022/23  

 
The report of the Interim Head of Democratic Services on the scheme of Member 
Remuneration 2022/23 was presented for consideration. 
 
It was RESOLVED to:- 
 
 accept the determinations of the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales’ for 

2022/23;  
 

 confirm that holders of the same posts as 2021/22 will be entitled to receive 
senior salaries from 2022/23, with the exception of the post of Chair of the 
Governance and Audit Committee where the fees determined by the Panel for 
co-opted members will apply, ie:  
 
Chair of the Council  
Vice-Chair of the Council  
Leader of the Council  
Deputy Leader of the Council  
Other Executive Members (7)  
Leader of the Largest Opposition Group  
Chairs of Scrutiny Committees (2)  
Chair of the Planning and Orders Committee  

Page 6



 

 3 

 

 authorise officers to amend Part 6 of the Council’s Constitution (Schedule of 
Member Remuneration) to reflect the determinations made in the 2022/23 Annual 
Report. 

 
9. CONFIRMATION OF COMMITTEES  

 
The Chairperson confirmed the re-appointment of the Committee structures as referred to 
in Section 3.4 of the Council’s Constitution, together with the following:- 
 

 Pay and Grading Panel (a sub-committee of the Council) 

 Standards Committee Appointments Panel 
 Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education (SACRE) 

 Special Educational Needs Joint Committee 

 Indemnities Sub-Committee 
 
 
 
 The meeting concluded at 2.30 pm 

 
 COUNCILLOR DAFYDD ROBERTS 
 CHAIR 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1 

ISLE OF ANGLESEY COUNTY COUNCIL  
 

Minutes of the virtual Adjourned Annual Meeting held on 31 May 2022 
 

 
PRESENT:   
 

Councillor Dafydd Roberts (Chair) 
  

Councillors Geraint Bebb, Non Dafydd, Jeff Evans, Neville Evans, Douglas M 
Fowlie, Glyn Haynes, T Ll Hughes MBE, Llinos Medi, A M Jones, Carwyn Jones, 
Dyfed W Jones, G O Jones, John Ifan Jones, R Ll Jones, Jackie Lewis, Euryn 

Morris, Alun W Mummery, Pip O'Neill, Derek Owen, Llio A Owen, Dylan Rees, 
Alun Roberts, Roberts, Nicola Roberts, Ken Taylor, Dafydd Rhys Thomas, 
Alwen P Watkin, Ieuan Williams, Robin Williams, Liz Wood and Arfon Wyn 

 
IN ATTENDANCE: Chief Executive, 

Deputy Chief Executive,  

Director of Function (Resources)/Section 151 Officer, 
Interim Director of Function (Council Business)/Monitoring Officer,  
Head of Profession (Human Resources) and Transformation, 

Head of Housing Services, 
Head of Adult’s Services, 
Head of Regulation and Economic Development, 

Head of Highways, Waste and Property, 
Legal Services Manager (RJ), 
Communications Officer (GJ), 

Committee Officer (MEH). 
 

ALSO PRESENT:  None 

 
APOLOGIES: Councillors Paul Ellis, Gary Pritchard and Margaret Murley Roberts  

  

 
 

 

1. DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
 
None received.  
 

2. ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

None received. 
 

3. MEMBERSHIP OF THE EXECUTIVE  
 

In accordance with Paragraph 4.1.1.2.7 of the Constitution, the Leader named the following as the 
Members she had chosen to serve on the Executive along with their Portfolio responsibilities : - 
 

Councillor Carwyn Jones (Deputy Leader) with Portfolio responsibility for Economic Development, 
Leisure and Tourism; 
Councillor Alun W Mummery with Portfolio responsibility for Housing and Community Safety.  

Councillor Gary Pritchard with Portfolio responsibility for Children (Social Services) and Youth 
Service; 
Councillor Alun Roberts with Portfolio responsibility for Adults’ Services (Social Services);  

Councillor Nicola Roberts with Portfolio responsibility for Planning, Public Protection and Climate 
Change; 
Councillor Dafydd Rhys Thomas with Portfolio responsibility for Highways, Waste and Property;  

Councillor Ieuan Williams with Portfolio responsibility for Education and the Welsh Language;  
Councillor Robin Williams with Portfolio responsibility for Finance, Corporate Business and 
Customer Experience; 

Page 9



 

 2 

4. CHAIR OF THE DEMOCRATIC SERVICES COMMITTEE  
 
In accordance with Paragraph 3.4.12.3 of the Council’s Constitution, it was RESOLVED that 
Councillor Keith Roberts be elected Chairperson of the Democratic Services Committee for 

2022/2023. 
 

5. CONFIRMATION OF THE SCHEME OF DELEGATION  
 

It was RESOLVED to confirm such part of the Scheme of Delegation (in part 3.5 of the 
Constitution) as the Constitution determines it is for the Council to agree as set out in Part 
3.2 of the Constitution. 

 

6. PROGRAMME OF ORDINARY MEETINGS OF THE COUNTY COUNCIL  
 
It was RESOLVED to approve the following programme of ordinary meetings of the County 
Council for the ensuing year:- 

 

 13 September, 2022             -            2.00 p.m. 

 6 December, 2022                -            2.00 p.m. 

 9 March, 2023                       -            2.00 p.m. 

 May, 2023                             -             (date to be confirmed) 
 

7. POLITICAL BALANCE AND APPOINTMENT OF COUNCILLORS TO COMMITTEE  
 
The report of the Interim Head of Democratic Services regarding the Council’s political balance 
arrangements was presented for consideration. 

 
It was RESOLVED:- 
 

 To confirm the political balance arrangements and the number of seats allocated 
to each of the Groups under the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 as set 
out in the report; 

 That Group Leaders advise the Interim Head of Democratic Services as soon as 
possible if there are any changes to Group Membership on Committees. 

 

8. APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES  
 

The report of the Interim Head of Democratic Services regarding the appointment to Outside Bodies 
was presented for consideration. 
 

The Leader of the Council proposed an amendment to the Elected Member representation on the 
Standards Committee with Councillor Dafydd R Thomas be in place of Councillor Dafydd Roberts as 
is noted in the report.  

 
It was RESOLVED :- 
 

 to agree and confirm the appointments as detailed in the schedule to the report; 

 that Councillor Dafydd R Thomas be an Elected Member representative on the 
Standards Committee in place of Councillor Dafydd Roberts.  

 
 

 
 The meeting concluded at 2.30 pm 

 

 COUNCILLOR DAFYDD ROBERTS 
 CHAIR 

Page 10



 

1 

 / CC-22389/00710823 

 

Isle of Anglesey County Council 

Report to: The Executive / The Council 

Date: 27th September 2022 / 30th September 2022 

Subject: Assistant Executive Members 

Portfolio Holder(s): The Leader 

Head of Service / 

Director: 

 

Lynn Ball 

Director of Function (Council Business) / 

Monitoring Officer 

01248 752586 

lynnball@ynysmon.llyw.cymru 

Report Author: 

 

 

Tel: 

E-mail: 

Lynn Ball  

Director of Function (Council Business) / 

Monitoring Officer 

01248 752586 

lynnball@ynysmon.llyw.cymru 

Local Members:  No direct impact on any specific ward 

 

 

A –Recommendation/s and reason/s 
A.1 The Executive 

 

To submit any views to Council in relation to the proposals in paragraph A.2 below 

 

A.2 The Council 

 

1. To authorise the appointment of no more than three assistant executive 

members, at any one time; 

2. That any assistant executive member shall not be remunerated and that 

any application for remuneration (which would have to made to the 

Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales) shall first be authorised by full 

Council; 

3.  Aside from remuneration, all other terms and conditions shall be decided by 

the Leader, to include: 

 

-  the number of assistant executive members appointed within the 

overall cap set by Council 

 - any appointments process for such individuals 

 -  the individuals to be appointed 

 -  term of office 

 -  responsibilities and duties of the roles 

 

 

Key Considerations 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4.



 

2 

 / CC-22389/00710823 

 

A –Recommendation/s and reason/s 
Section 57 of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 (‘the Act’) 

introduced provisions enabling the appointment of elected members to be 

assistants to the Executive (assistants). 

 

The Constitution has been amended to reflect Section 57 of the Act; but the 

operation of Section 57 can only be implemented by a decision of the full Council. 

 

The Welsh Government’s stated aim is to support diversity by enabling members 

who might not be in a position to take up a full time executive role, because of 

personal or other circumstances, to have the opportunity to learn and develop. 

Additionally, it would enable a broader range of members to acquire executive 

experience and assist with future succession planning. 

 

Whilst assistants are not members of the Executive, they can attend and speak at 

meetings of the Executive but they cannot vote. 

 

These posts will not attract a senior salary unless a successful application is made 

to the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales.  The Panel has stated; 

 

“The Panel will decide on a case-by-case basis the appropriate senior salary, if 

any, for assistants to the executive.” 

 

Note: If a senior salary payment were to be made to an assistant, having first 

obtained the approval of the IRPW, such a payment would count towards the 

overall cap permitted for the Council; which is 17 (being the statutory maximum of 

no more than 50 per cent of the Council’s membership). 

 

If the Council agrees to the principle of appointing assistants, the Constitution must 

include provision as to the maximum number of assistants who may be appointed, 

although other details regarding tenure, roles and responsibilities etc will be the 

responsibility of the Leader.  

 

The Act provides that neither the Chair nor the Vice-Chair of the Council may be 

appointed as assistants. 

 

Assistants are not members of the Executive, but are to be treated as if they are 

members of the Executive for the purpose of the allocation of seats on scrutiny 

committees.  In other words, neither members of the Executive, nor assistants, 

may be members of either scrutiny committee. This may have implications for 

membership of the scrutiny committees.  

 

However, recently released draft guidance from the Welsh Government suggests 

that the number of co-opted members on scrutiny committees may be increased, 

up to a maximum of a third of the committee’s membership.  What is proposed is a 

power and not a duty and it will be a matter for Council to decide on whether or not 

to co-opt members of the public to the scrutiny committees. 

Page 14



 

3 

 / CC-22389/00710823 

 

A –Recommendation/s and reason/s 
 

Likewise, the committees which are able to include no more than one member of 

the Executive; namely the Governance and Audit Committee, the Democratic 

Services Committee and the Standards Committee, may only have a member of 

the Executive, or an assistant, but not both. 

 

It is not intended that an assistant be permanently dedicated to support a specified 

portfolio holder but, instead, is intended to assist the Executive as a whole and 

would be appointed, removed and line managed by the Leader, who would also 

allocate responsibilities and duties. 

 

 
 

 

B – What other options did you consider and why did you reject them 

and/or opt for this option?  
The options are to approve the principle of appointing assistants, or to reject the 

principle of appointing assistants.  This report allows for the Council to choose 

either of the two options. 

 
 

 

C – Why is this a decision for the Executive? 
This is a decision for full Council.  The Constitution requires that the Executive be 

given an opportunity to submit its views to Council before Council decides on 

whether to change the Constitution. 

 
 

 

Ch – Is this decision consistent with policy approved by the full 

Council? 
The purpose of the report is for Council to decide on the policy to be approved 

 
 

 

D – Is this decision within the budget approved by the Council? 
Yes 

 
 

 

Dd –  Assessing the potential impact (if relevant): 
1 How does this decision impact on 

our long term needs as an Island? 

 Ensures that the Council is acting 
lawfully in its decision making 

 Provides an opportunity to give a 
broader range of experience to more 
elected members 

Page 15



 

4 

 / CC-22389/00710823 

 

Dd –  Assessing the potential impact (if relevant): 
 Facilitates political succession 

planning  

2 Is this a decision which it is 
envisaged will prevent future costs / 
dependencies on the Authority? If 
so, how? 

No 

3 Have we been working 
collaboratively with other 
organisations to come to this 
decision?  If so, please advise 
whom. 

No 

4 Have Anglesey citizens played a 
part in drafting this way forward, 
including those directly affected by 
the decision? Please explain how. 

No.  The provisions are statutory  

5 Note any potential impact that this 
decision would have on the groups 
protected under the Equality Act 
2010. 

The proposal may have a positive 
impact insofar as it contributes towards 
the Welsh Government’s stated aim of 
supporting diversity by enabling 
members who might not be in a position 
to take up a full time executive role, 
because of personal or other 
circumstances, to have the opportunity 
to learn and develop. 

6 If this is a strategic decision, note 
any potential impact that the 
decision would have on those 
experiencing socio-economic 
disadvantage. 

Not relevant 

7 Note any potential impact that this 
decision would have on 
opportunities for people to use the 
Welsh language and on treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably 
than the English language. 

The proposal may have a positive 
impact insofar as assistant executive 
members may have greater opportunity 
to practice their Welsh when engaging 
with the Executive which is currently 
made up of Welsh speakers. Thus 
creating a new opportunity to use 
Welsh that would not otherwise be 
available were it not for the creation of 
the role. 

 

 

E – Who did you consult?                         What did they say? 
1 Chief Executive / Strategic 

Leadership Team (SLT) 

(mandatory) 

Considered the draft report on 5 

September 2022.  Supportive of the 

proposal 

2 

 

Finance / Section 151 

(mandatory)  

The Section 151 Officer is part of the 

Strategic Leadership Team and was 

Page 16



 

5 

 / CC-22389/00710823 

 

E – Who did you consult?                         What did they say? 
present at the meeting on 5 September 

2022   

3 Legal / Monitoring Officer 

(mandatory)  

Author of the report 

4 Human Resources (HR) Not relevant 

5 Property  Not relevant 

6 Information Technology (IT) Not relevant 

7 Procurement Not relevant 

8 Scrutiny Not subject to pre-decision scrutiny as 

the Executive will be asked to express a 

view, if any, but the decision will be for 

full Council 

9 Local Members Of equal consequence to all local 

members who will form part of the 

ultimate decision making body, being 

the full Council.  To be discussed by 

Group Leaders on 15 September 2022 
 

 

F - Appendices: 
 

 

 

Ff - Background papers (please contact the author of the Report for any further 

information): 

The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 and the relevant Statutory 

Instruments / guidance produced thereunder 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



CC-022335-MY/00705318 Page 1 
 

 

Isle of Anglesey County Council 

 

MEETING: County Council 

 

DATE: 30 September 2022 

 

TITLE OF REPORT: 

 

Annual Report of the Standards Committee  

 

REPORT BY: 

 

 Standards Committee 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 

 

To  inform Members of new duties imposed on the 

standards committee and leaders of political 

groups introduced in the Local Government and 

Elections(Wales) Act 2021 

 

To report on the Activities of the Standards 

Committee in 2021/22 and to secure Council 

Approval for the Committee’s Work Programme for 

2022/23 

  

CONTACT OFFICER: Lynn Ball, Director of Function (Council Business) 

/ Monitoring Officer (ext  2568) 

lbxcs@ynysmon.gov.uk  

 

 

Introduction 

 
This is the first annual report of the Standards Committee to the County Council. Previous 
reports have been considered by the Council but these have been reports by the Chair of 
the Committee. 
 
1. The Standards Committee is a statutory committee which comprises 9 members (2 

County Councillors, 5 independent members and 2 Community Council members). 
Details of the Committee and its membership is available here.  

 
2. Independent Members: 
 
 The terms of four independent members ends on 19th December 2027 whilst the term 

of the fifth independent member ends on 11th December 2025.  
 
 The Chair must be appointed from among the independent members. Mr John R 

Jones was appointed Chair at a Standards Committee meeting in February 2020. The 
Chair is appointed for a period of four years. 

 
3. Town and Community Councillors: 
  
 The two Town and Community Council representatives were appointed in 2017 and 

their appointments ran for a period until the last Local Government election. A 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5.

mailto:lbxcs@ynysmon.gov.uk
http://democracy.anglesey.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=148&LLL=0


CC-022335-MY/00705318 Page 2 
 

recruitment exercise is underway for two Town and Community Councillors to sit on 
the Committee until the next Local Government election or until such time as the 
appointees are no longer Community Council members, whichever occurs first. A 
Community Council member may be re-appointed for one further consecutive term, 
provided that the Isle of Anglesey Town and Community Councils have collectively 
agreed to select the current Community Council members as nominee for the 
appointments.  

   
 
4.  County Councillors: 
  

The two County Council members are appointed annually by the Council.  
The two current County Councillors are Councillor Trefor Lloyd Hughes and Councillor 
Dafydd Rhys Thomas. 

 
5. Before the introduction of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021, the 

Standards Committee had (amongst others) the following roles and functions in 
relation to County Council members and Town/Community Council members:- 

 (a) promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Members; 
 (b) assisting Members to observe their Code of Conduct; 
 (c) advising, training, or arranging to train Members; 
 (d) considering applications for dispensations; 
 (e) dealing with any referrals from the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 

(PSOW), or the Adjudication Panel for Wales (effectively the national Standards 
Committee). 

 
 
The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 provides that the Standards 
Committee must make an annual report to the Council and the Council must consider this 
report and any recommendations made by the Committee within three months of its 
receipt. Whilst this is the first report under the legislation, the Standards Committee has 
been reporting to Council since 2012 and those reports included all the information now 
required by statute. 
 
As a minimum, the report must: 
 

 describe how the Committee has discharged it’s functions during the preceding 
year; 

 include a summary of reports and recommendations made or referred to the 
committee by the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW) relating to the 
investigation of alleged breaches of the code of conduct, and any subsequent 
action taken by the Committee; 

 describe the advice it has provided on training for all Members and how that advice 
has been implemented, and 

 include the Committee’s assessment of how Group Leaders have complied with the 
new duty to promote high standards of conduct, including the advice the Standards 
Committee has provided and the training it has suggested. 

 
As this is the Committee’s first report, there will necessarily be some information that is not 
available to put in the report at this stage but this will be included in further reports. 
 

Page 20



CC-022335-MY/00705318 Page 3 
 

Background 

 
The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 (‘the Act’) has introduced new 
duties on the Committee and Council in relation to improving standards of conduct of 
Councillors and Co-opted Councillors both in the Council and in respect of Town and 
Community Councillors. 
 
This report outlines the duties introduced by the Act and the work the Committee has 
undertaken in preparation for the main provisions, which will be in the form of Regulations, 
and which have been subject to consultation by the Welsh Government. 
 
The Standards Committee have responded to the consultation and the Committee’s 

response is at Appendix A. 
 
The report also outlines the work the Committee has undertaken in accordance with its 
responsibilities. 
 

The new duties 
 
Duty on Leaders of Political groups to take reasonable steps to promote and maintain high 
standards of conduct by members of the group. 
 
This responsibility is placed on a Leader of a political group within the Council. In order to 
demonstrate compliance with this duty a further duty is imposed on the leader of a political 
group to co-operate with the Council’s Standards Committee in the exercise of the 
Committee’s functions. 
 
The Constitution is being amended to take into account the revised functions of the 

Committee and these can be found at Appendix B. 
 
The new duties imposed by the Act came into force on 5th May 2022. 
 
The Standards Committee’s response. 
 
Apart from responding to the Government consultation, before the local elections, the 
Chair and Vice-Chair of the Committee met with Leaders of the political groups within the 
Council to discuss the new roles and duties contained within the Act. These meetings took 
place on 8th March and 27th April 2021. 
 
Discussions with the Leaders included the introduction of a local resolution protocol. 
 
Work will continue in this respect following the local elections. 
 
Duty of a Standards Committee to monitor Group Leader’s compliance and provision of 
advice and training. 
 
The Standards Committee’s response 
. 
Apart from meeting the Group Leaders, members of the Standards Committee have also  

Page 21



CC-022335-MY/00705318 Page 4 
 

attended formal meetings of the Council including Overview and Scrutiny Committees to 
learn more about how they work and use this information when consideration is given to 
what training should be offered. 
 
This will continue in the forthcoming year. 
 
Members of the Committee have discussed informal resolution of complaints with Group 
Leaders. The Committee consider that this provision should be used where appropriate in 
order to deal with problems at an early stage and to monitor any trends relating to 
complaints so that these can be addressed early. 
 
A new procedure to deal with this is being worked on and will be introduced this year. 
 
The Standards Committee is also mindful of its responsibility to provide appropriate 
training and the Committee’s work-plan for next year has been amended to provide for 

this. The work-plan of the Committee for next year can be found at Appendix C. 
 
Town and Community Councils. 
 
The Standards Committee also has responsibility in relation to Town and Community 
Councils and to fulfil this responsibility the Committee has undertaken the following work 
this year. 
 
The Committee has undertaken a review of the register of interests of members of Town 
and Community Councils. The Committee asked the Councils if they were happy for it to 
undertake this review and a sample of councils was selected for review.  
A report on the review has been produced and sent to all Community Councils.  
 
The report was anonymised and the Councils have been asked to report on the  

conclusions, to a future meeting of their Councils. The report is at Appendix D 
 
The Committee also issues regular newsletters to Town and Community Councils to 
inform them of the Committee’s work. The most recent newsletter can be found at 

Appendix D1 
 
Review of the Ethical Standards Framework and Model Code of Conduct 
 
Apart from responding to the consultation on the Act, the Committee also responded to an 
independent review of the Ethical Standards Framework and Model Code of Conduct 

carried out by Richard Penn. The response is at Appendix E 

 
Reports from the  Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW) 
Reports from the PSOW in relation to complaints received in relation to alleged breaches 
of the code of conduct by members of the Council or Town and Community Councils are 
issued on a quarterly basis. 
 
Over the past year, two complaints have been received by the PSOW. These complaints 
were received in quarter 2. 
One was in relation to a County Councillor and one in relation to a Town and Community 
Councillor. 
 

Page 22



CC-022335-MY/00705318 Page 5 
 

In respect of the complaint against the County Councillor, the PSOW decided not to 
investigate further. In relation to the Town and Community councillor, the PSOW’s 
investigation is continuing. 
 
It is encouraging to note that no complaints were received in quarters 3 and 4, the most 
recent periods for which reports have been received. 
 
The Standards Committee has considered undertaking an analysis of complaints and any 
emerging patterns and mitigating measures. However, happily, there are currently so few 
complaints that it is not possible to discern any patterns. 
 
Dispensations 
 
Dispensations may be granted by the Standards Committee, in certain circumstances 
defined by statute, where the member would otherwise be unable to participate in a 
debate or decision owing to a significant (prejudicial) personal interest. The Standards 
Committee may sometimes be in a position to overreach that prejudicial interest if certain 
conditions are met. The Dispensations Regulations apply to County Council members and 
Town and Community Council Members. 
 
On 12th November 2021 the Standards Committee granted 7 dispensations to Members of 
the Council.  
 
The dispensations were granted under Para 81(4) of the Local Government Act 2000 
under the following grounds:- 
 
that no fewer than half of the members of the relevant authority or of a committee of the 
authority, by which the business is to be considered has an interest which relates to that 
business 
 
that no fewer than half of the members of a leader and cabinet executive, by which the 
business is to be considered has an interest which relates to that business 
 
All County Council members and Town and Community Council members are advised  
to consider whether an application for dispensation may be appropriate for them in  
some circumstances and are encouraged to contact the Monitoring Officer for advice.  
The link to the reports on the dispensations is here. 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23

http://democracy.anglesey.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=148&MId=3981&Ver=4&LLL=0


APPENDIX A 

CC-23901-ORH/00688240

Draft Statutory Guidance – Standards of conduct 

Question 1: Does the draft guidance make it clear what is expected of leaders 
of political groups in principal councils as set out in the provisions of Part 4 of 
the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 in a way that can be 
understood by leaders of political groups in principal councils?  
If not, why not?  

The Isle of Anglesey Council Standards Committee consider that the draft guidance 
is clear. However they consider that the guidance could be made stronger. For 
example the use of the word 'may' in Chapter 2 of the guidance 'Reasonable steps 
the group leader may undertake include' could be changed to 'should' or 'could'. 
The guidance does not address the behaviour of members who are not in a group 
which, on many occasions, can be the source of some problems. 

The Committee considers that the Leaders of Political groups should be subject to 
the same requirements to report as the Standards Committee. 

They consider that the political leaders should be required to produce an annual 
report (at least) outlining what steps they have taken to maintain and improve high 
standards of conduct within their group.  

The report should be produced two months after the beginning of the municipal year 
so that it could be considered before the Standards Committee compose their report. 
This would have several benefits: 

1.There would be consistency of approach across Wales.

2. It would publicise the raising of standards across the council and Wales.

3. The report by the Standards Committee could address any issues raised in the
Leader's reports.

4. The Leader's report could identify any concerning trends of behaviour that could
be addressed by the Committee and provide support.

The Committee also feel that there should be an obligation on Leaders to report any 
serious concerns to the Standards Committee immediately perhaps in an 
anonymised form so the Committee can provide support and advice. 
Suggestions for what the Leaders report could include are details of minor 
complaints, any training provided by or on behalf of the Leaders and any efforts 
made by the Leaders to raise standards of conduct within their group. 

Question 2: Does the draft guidance make it clear what is expected of 
Standards Committees in principal councils as set out in the provisions of Part 
4 of the Local  
Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 in a way that can be understood 
by Standards Committees? If not, why not?  

Page 24



The Standards Committee consider that the guidance is clear on this issue. However 
they consider that their role could be strengthened by the introduction of mandatory 
training for all members. This should include more than the register of interests but 
the whole standards regime including the Nolan principals and local resolution of 
issues. 
Members of the Standards Committee should also help to provide the training. 
They consider that the guidance relating to exercising other functions for example 
maladministration complaint procedures could be confusing as these areas may well 
be the preserve of other committees within the Council e.g. Governance and Audit 
Committees. 
 
 
Question 3: We would like to know your views on the effects that the guidance 
would have on the Welsh language, specifically on opportunities for people to 
use Welsh and on treating the Welsh language no less favourably than 
English. What effects do you think there would be? How could positive effects 
be increased, or negative effects be mitigated?  
 
The committee do not consider that the guidance would have a significant effect on 
the Welsh language. The Committee also felt that the Welsh language is barely 
mentioned in the guidance and so wonder why this question has been posed. 
 

Question 4: Please also explain how you believe the guidance could be 
formulated or changed so as to have positive effects or increased positive 
effects on opportunities for people to use the Welsh language and on treating 
the Welsh language no less favourably than the English language, and have  
no adverse effects on opportunities for people to use the Welsh language and 
on treating the Welsh language no less favourably than the English language.  
 
The Committee consider that all councils must be encouraged to comply with the 
legislation in relation to the use of the Welsh language. Translation services should 
always be available. In Anglesey all meetings are held in the Welsh language and an 
English translation is provided. Consideration should be given to encouraging the 
use of the Welsh in Councils on a Wales - wide basis. 
 
Question 5: We have asked a number of specific questions. If you have any 
related issues which we have not specifically addressed, please use the 
consultation response to express your views. 
 
The Committee consider that it is important that the committee has a  good 
relationship with Leaders of political parties. Therefore, it is important that the 
guidance does not 'talk down' or patronise leaders. 
 
The local resolution procedure is an important element of the Standards regime and 
consideration should be given to codify this in Law. 
The Leaders of political parties do meet together informally at Anglesey on a regular 
basis. However, it is accepted that this may not be the case in other authorities. 
Informal meetings between Leaders and the Standards Committee should also be 
encouraged so any problems can be picked up and any worrying trends identified. 
The Standards Committee were mindful that local resolution may formalise issues 

Page 25



rather than more informal mediation and consider that care should be taken to 
differentiate between the two solutions. 
 
Local resolution and mediation add more responsibilities to the Committee's 
workload and this will have a financial cost and the Committee ask that this is 
considered seriously.  
 
There are two questions in the consultation document relating to the Welsh language 
although little mention of this is made in the text of the document. The Committee 
would like further guidance on what is sought from the Committee  
in this respect. 
 
The final point is that care should be taken when translating documents as some of 
the translations in the document are not accurate. 

Page 26



Appendix 2

2.9.1 Standards Committee

The Council will establish a Standards Committee.

2.9.2 Composition

2.9.2.1 Membership

The Standards Committee will, in accordance with the provisions of the Local
Government Act 2000, be composed of:

2 County Councillors

5 independent members

2 community council members (who are not deemed to be independent members for
the purposes of this Constitution).

2.9.2.2 Term of office

2.9.2.2.1 The independent members are automatically appointed for a period of two
consecutive four five year terms.

2.9.2.2.2 Unless re-selected the community council members are appointed until the
next election or until they cease to be community council members within the area of
Isle of Anglesey County Council, whichever is the shorter. A community council
member may be re-appointed for one further consecutive term, provided that the Isle
of Anglesey Town and Community Councils have collectively agreed to select a
current community council member(s) as a nominee for the appointment.

2.9.2.2.3 County Councillors who are members of the Standards Committee will have
a term of office of no more than four five years or until the next ordinary local
government election following their appointment whichever is the shorter.

2.9.2.3 Quorum

A meeting of the Standards Committee shall only be quorate when:

2.9.2.3.1 at least three members, including the chairperson, are present, and

2.9.2.3.2 at least half the members present (including the chairperson) are
independent members.

2.9.2.4 Voting

APPENDIX B

Page 27



County Council members, independent members and the community council 
members will be entitled to vote at meetings.  
  
2.9.2.5 Community Council Members  

  
2.9.2.5.1 The community council members shall not take part in the proceedings of 
the Standards Committee when any matter relating to their Community Council is 
being considered.  
   
2.9.2.5.2 The community council members shall only participate in 
hearings/applications before the Standards Committee when it is discharging those 
functions in relation to community councils and community council members.  
  
2.9.2.6 Chairing the Committee  

   
2.9.2.6.1 Only an independent member of the Standards Committee may be the 
chairperson.  
  
2.9.2.6.2 The chairperson will be elected by the members of the Standards Committee 
for a period not exceeding, four five years or the period he/she remains a member of 
the Committee, whichever is the shorter period, but will be eligible for re-election as 
chairperson.  
   
2.9.3 Role and Function  

   
The Standards Committee will have the following roles and functions:  
   
2.9.3.1 promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors, co-opted 
members and church and parent governor representatives;  
   
2.9.3.2 assisting the Ccouncillors, co-opted members and church and parent governor 
representatives to observe the Members’ Code of Conduct (5.1);  
   
2.9.3.3 advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct (5.1);  
  
2.9.3.4 monitoring the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct (5.1);  
   
2.9.3.5 advising, training or arranging to train Ccouncillors, co-opted members and 
church and parent governor representatives on matters relating to the Members’ Code 
of Conduct (5.1);   
  
2.9.3.6 granting dispensations to Ccouncillors , co-opted members and church and 
parent governor representatives from requirements relating to interests set out in the 
Members’ Code of Conduct (5.1);  
   
2.9.3.7 dealing with any reports from a case tribunal or interim case tribunal, and any 
report from the Monitoring Officer on any matter referred to that officer by the Public 
Services Ombudsman for Wales.  
   

Page 28



2.9.3.8 the exercise of 2.9.3.1 to 2.9.3.7 above in relation to the community councils 
in its area and the members of those community councils.  
 
2.9.3.9 As soon as reasonably practicable after the end of each financial year, to 
submit an annual report to the Council. The report must describe how the committee 
functions have been exercised during the financial year. 
 
The report must include a summary of what has been done to discharge the general 
and specific functions of the committee in relation to: 
 

2.9.3.9.1 monitoring, compliance by the group leaders of their duty to promote 
and maintain high standards of conduct by councilors. 

 

2.9.3.9.2 providing training to group leaders to enable them to fulfil their duty 

under paragraph 2.9.3.9.1. 

 

2.9.3.9.3 reports and recommendations made or referred to the committee in 

relation to: 

 

• Guidance issued by the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 

(PSOW). 

• Investigations by the PSOW 

• Matters referred to the Monitoring Officer by the PSOW and action 

taken 

• Decisions taken by the Adjudication Panel for Wales 

• Decisions taken by the 1st tier tribunal  

• Decisions by the Welsh case tribunal 

• action taken by the committee following its consideration of such 

reports and  recommendations. 

2.9.3.9.4 The annual report of the standards committee  may include     

recommendations to the authority about any matter in respect of which the     

committee has functions. 

             2.9.3.9.5 The council must consider each annual report made by its standards    

               committee before the end of 3 months beginning with the day on which the 

               council receives the report. 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Font color: Black

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Font color: Black

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.27 cm

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Font color: Black

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Font color: Black

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Font color: Black

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.27 cm

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Font color: Black

Formatted: List Paragraph, Line spacing:  single,  No
bullets or numbering, Pattern: Clear

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.27 cm

Formatted: List Paragraph, Line spacing:  single,  No
bullets or numbering, Pattern: Clear

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  2.66 cm +
Indent at:  3.3 cm

Formatted: Superscript

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.27 cm

Formatted: legclearfix, Left, Line spacing:  At least 18
pt, Adjust space between Latin and Asian text, Adjust
space between Asian text and numbers, Pattern: Clear

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Font color: Black

Page 29



 
  
NB A copy of the full Constitution of the Standards Committee is available from the 

Monitoring Officer.  
 
 

Page 30



Appendix 2

9.1 Standards Committee

The Council will establish a Standards Committee.

2.9.2 Composition

2.9.2.1 Membership

The Standards Committee will, in accordance with the provisions of the Local
Government Act 2000, be composed of:

2 County Councillors

5 independent members

2 community council members (who are not deemed to be independent members for
the purposes of this Constitution).

2.9.2.2 Term of office

2.9.2.2.1 The independent members are automatically appointed for a period of two
consecutive  five year terms.

2.9.2.2.2 Unless re-selected the community council members are appointed until the
next election or until they cease to be community council members within the area of
Isle of Anglesey County Council, whichever is the shorter. A community council
member may be re-appointed for one further consecutive term, provided that the Isle
of Anglesey Town and Community Councils have collectively agreed to select a
current community council member(s) as a nominee for the appointment.

2.9.2.2.3 County Councillors who are members of the Standards Committee will have
a term of office of no more than  five years or until the next ordinary local government
election following their appointment whichever is the shorter.

2.9.2.3 Quorum

A meeting of the Standards Committee shall only be quorate when:

2.9.2.3.1 at least three members, including the chairperson, are present, and

2.9.2.3.2 at least half the members present (including the chairperson) are
independent members.

2.9.2.4 Voting

Page 31



County Council members, independent members and the community council 
members will be entitled to vote at meetings.  
  
2.9.2.5 Community Council Members  
  
2.9.2.5.1 The community council members shall not take part in the proceedings of 
the Standards Committee when any matter relating to their Community Council is 
being considered.  
   
2.9.2.5.2 The community council members shall only participate in 
hearings/applications before the Standards Committee when it is discharging those 
functions in relation to community councils and community council members.  
  
2.9.2.6 Chairing the Committee  
   
2.9.2.6.1 Only an independent member of the Standards Committee may be the 
chairperson.  
  
2.9.2.6.2 The chairperson will be elected by the members of the Standards Committee 
for a period not exceeding,  five years or the period he/she remains a member of the 
Committee, whichever is the shorter period, but will be eligible for re-election as 
chairperson.  
   
2.9.3 Role and Function  
   
The Standards Committee will have the following roles and functions:  
   
2.9.3.1 promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors, co-opted 
members and church and parent governor representatives;  
   
2.9.3.2 assisting the councillors, co-opted members and church and parent governor 
representatives to observe the Members’ Code of Conduct (5.1);  
   
2.9.3.3 advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct (5.1);  
  
2.9.3.4 monitoring the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct (5.1);  
   
2.9.3.5 advising, training or arranging to train councillors, co-opted members and 
church and parent governor representatives on matters relating to the Members’ Code 
of Conduct (5.1);   
  
2.9.3.6 granting dispensations to councillors , co-opted members and church and 
parent governor representatives from requirements relating to interests set out in the 
Members’ Code of Conduct (5.1);  
   
2.9.3.7 dealing with any reports from a case tribunal or interim case tribunal, and any 
report from the Monitoring Officer on any matter referred to that officer by the Public 
Services Ombudsman for Wales.  
   

Page 32



2.9.3.8 the exercise of 2.9.3.1 to 2.9.3.7 above in relation to the community councils 
in its area and the members of those community councils.  
 
2.9.3.9 s soon as reasonably practicable after the end of each financial year, to submit 
an annual report to the Council. The report must describe how the committee functions 
have been exercised during the financial year. 
 
The report must include a summary of what has been done to discharge the general 
and specific functions of the committee in relation to: 
 

2.9.3.9.1 monitoring, compliance by the group leaders of their duty to promote 
and maintain high standards of conduct by councilors. 

2.9.3.9.2 providing training to group leaders to enable them to fulfil their duty 

under paragraph 2.9.3.9.1. 

 

2.9.3.9.3 reports and recommendations made or referred to the committee in 

relation to: 

 

• Guidance issued by the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 

(PSOW). 

• Investigations by the PSOW 

• Matters referred to the Monitoring Officer by the PSOW and action 

taken 

• Decisions taken by the Adjudication Panel for Wales 

• Decisions taken by the 1st tier tribunal  

• Decisions by the Welsh case tribunal 

• action taken by the committee following its consideration of such 

reports and  recommendations. 

2.9.3.9.4 The annual report of the standards committee  may include     

recommendations to the authority about any matter in respect of which the     

committee has functions. 

2.9.3.9.5 The council must consider each annual report made by it standards            

committee before the end of 3 months beginning with the day on which the 

council receives the report. 

 
  
 

Page 33



CC-023495-LB/00688730 Page 1 

Draft Work Programme for Standards Committee 2022/23 

No Items Action Completed / 

Further Actions 

1 The Standards Committee’s 
Annual Report to full 
Council  

The Committee to begin 
consideration of and work on 
the next Annual Report 
ahead of their formal 
meeting in June, 2022. 
Share the annual report 
(once considered by the 
Council) with the PSOW? 

Draft report 
considered at 
informal meeting on 
28/3/2022. 
Work ongoing for 
presentation to 
meeting on 
28/6/2022 

2 Review of Local Resolution 
Protocol 

An amendment was made in 
March 2022 – further review 
may be needed after 
discussions with group 
leaders. 
Report anonymised cases 
dealt with under local 
resolution processes to 
PSOW? 

Amendment made 
March 2022 – further 
work needed. 
PSOW has issued 
‘model’ protocol for 
TCCs. 

3 Offer and Provision of 
training to leaders of 
political groups. 
Need to decide: 

 Who will deliver
training

 Involvement of
standards committee
members.

 Involve senior
officers?

Need discussion with 
political group leaders and 
democratic services. 
These arrangements must 
be made at the start of each 
administration and training 
take place within 6 months 
of the election and be 
reviewed at least annually 

Discussed with HR. 
Enquiries made of 
WLGA for any 
‘bespoke’ training 
available 

4 Communication with political 
group leaders  

Formal reporting process by 
leaders or more informal? 
What frequency of reports 
from group leaders? 
Arrange meetings 
periodically to review 
behaviour? 

Met previously 
8/3/21 and 27/5/21 

5 Intervention/notification of 
low – level complaints some 
within groups not reported 
to PSOW.  

Need to see response from 
Penn report by Wales 
Government. 
Any reports to be 
anonymised. 

Met previously 
8/3/21 and 27/5/21 

6 Meetings Last formal meeting 
15/12/2021  

Informal meeting 
held on 28/3/2022 
and 27/4/2022. 

APPENDIX C

Page 34



CC-023495-LB/00688730 Page 2 
 

Informal meeting(s) to 
consider: 

 consultation on WG’s 
draft statutory guidance 
on standards of conduct 

 a draft for the Annual 
Report of the Committee 
to full Council.  

 Workplan for 22/23  
 

Next formal meeting 
scheduled for 28/6/2022. 

 
 

7 Newsletters following the 
15.12.2021 formal meeting 

Members to consider 
following-up responses to 
the Newsletter from a certain 
number of town and 
community councils after the 
discussion of the item at the 
Committee’s formal meeting 
in December 2021. 
 

 

8 Complaints reporting – 
Quarterly Update Reports 

Work required on a 
procedure to allow 
Committee members to 
ascertain and be assured 
that reported PSOW cases 
do not show any particular 
trend in poor behaviour. This 
process to preserve and 
respect (any of) the PSOW’s 
requirements of 
confidentiality relating to 
these matters. 
 

 

9 Standards Committee 
Observing work of Public 
Committees and full             
Council 
 

Following a decision that 
members of the Committee 
would undertake the role of 
observing proceedings at 
formal, public meetings of 
certain Committees of the 
Council (Scrutiny and 
Planning) and full Council 
meetings, it was 
communicated to the Group 
Leaders that this was now 
effective. 
 
Members of the Committee 
who wish to participate in 

Pro-forma report to 
be developed to 
ensure all issues 
recorded. 

Page 35



CC-023495-LB/00688730 Page 3 
 

this observation role are 
requested to volunteer so 
that a schedule can be 
drawn-up and 
responsibilities allocated 
accordingly.   
 

10 Training for SC Members  Discussions on-
going with HR 
 

11 How to Complain Consideration to be given as 
to how to publicise how to 
complain against elected 
members once it has been 
settled what the process will 
be for ‘low-level complaints’ 
following the Penn Review 
and WG’s response. 
 

 

 

  
 

Page 36



CC-022335-MY/643257 Page 1 of 3 

Report following the Standards Committee’s review of the Registers 

of Interests in the Town and Community Councils – June 2021 

The documents 
requested: 
At each Council the 
following documents, 
dating back to May 
2017 (i.e. the date of 
the last election), 
were requested for 
the review: 
• The Register of

Personal Interests –
namely the
Declarations made
at Meetings
Register and the
Gifts and Hospitality
Register

• Copy of the
declaration form
used by members
for declaring
personal /
prejudicial interests
in meetings

• The Council’s Code
of Conduct

• A list of names of
all Councillors
[including details of
any vacant seats]
and confirmation
that each current
member has
undertaken to
comply with the
Code of Conduct

• Members’ Training
Records

• Information on
Clerk Training

• The Council’s Local
Resolution Protocol
and information on
its adoption

• Website address
• Copies of all

Council and sub-
committee Agenda
and Minutes of
meetings

• Details of any
dispensation
granted to
Councillors.

The Standards Committee would like to take this opportunity to thank the clerks, and members, from the 
five Town and Community Councils that were reviewed for their time and co-operation.  
The reviews are deemed to have been a productive exercise; the Standards Committee was generally pleased with 
the findings, as several good practices were noted. However, some common areas of concern have also been 
identified and these require attention. This Report aims to include both, so that it is a useful guidance to all Town 
and Community Councils on what needs to be done.  

Undertaking to comply with the 
Code of Conduct: 
It is a requirement for each member 
to sign a new undertaking to abide 
by the council’s adopted Code of 
Conduct at the commencement of 
each term of office. It was therefore 
expected that there would be a form 
for each Councillor following the 
local elections in May 2017, 
irrespective of whether the member 
had been re-elected or not and, 
whether or not an election took 
place for that Council; or when that 
member had been co-opted. Whilst 
this was done for the vast majority of 
members in the Councils reviewed, 
some were missing and other pre-
dated May 2017.  
The Standards Committee was 
pleased that, where there are 
completed Undertaking forms, 
theses have been signed before a 
witness (the status of whom is 
detailed in section 83(3) of the Local 
Government Act 1972); [the clerk, as 
proper officer of the Council, is 
usually the witness used and this is 
compliant]. 
 Members should check they

have signed an undertaking to
conform to the Code of Conduct,
in the presence of the Clerk,
since May 2017.

 Councils are reminded that
undertakings must be signed by
new and returning Councillors
following the May 2022 election.

Code of Conduct: 
The Local Authorities (Model Code of Conduct) 
(Wales) (Amendment) Order 2016 came into 
force on 1st April 2016. There was a requirement 
for all Town and Community Councils to adopt 
this amended Code and, once adopted, for an 
advertisement to be published in one or more 
newspapers circulating in the local area, and for a 
copy of the Code to be sent to the Public 
Services Ombudsman for Wales. A copy of the 
statutory Code of Conduct can be seen here 
(Appendix 1).  
The Standards Committee was pleased to note 
that the majority of the Councils reviewed had 
adopted the same fully. 
 All Councils are asked to ensure the updated

Code is brought to the attention of its
members and adopted if not already done so.

Agenda and Minutes: 
There is no specific format for Agendas and 
Minutes; however the Standards Committee 
considers it good practice to include “Declarations 
of Interest” as a standing item on each Council 
Agenda, as a way of reminding members. This 
was done at all Councils reviewed.  
It was felt that, generally, more information 
should be included in the Minutes under the 
‘Declaration of Interest’ item i.e. (a) name of the 
member making the oral declaration, (b) to which 
agenda item the declaration relates, and (c) 
whether the declaration made was a personal or 
prejudicial interest. Furthermore, under the 
business item itself, it would be good practice for 
the Minutes to confirm (a) whether a declaration 
of interest has been made, and by whom, (b) 
whether the interest is personal or prejudicial, (c) 
details of the personal/prejudicial interest, and (d) 
when prejudicial, that the member left the 
meeting room. Including such information assists 
members of the public to ensure that decisions 
are made transparently and in the public interest. 
It may also be good practice, when an oral 
declaration relates to an interest which a Member 
has already registered (i.e. declared orally for the 
first time and then confirmed the same in writing) 
for the Minutes to confirm the details of when the 
interest was registered by the Member – this 
would ensure transparency for the public should 
they question the same. 

Clerk Forum: 
Several Clerks have suggested they 
would welcome a “peer support 
group” as a means for Clerks to 
share ideas and support each other. 
This is somethings which the 
Committee supports in principle and 
it has included the idea in a 
consultation exercise on the “Ethical 
Framework” by Welsh Government.  

APPENDIX D

Page 37

http://monitor.anglesey.gov.uk/Journals/e/p/m/Briefing-Note-for-Town-and-Community-Councillors---The-Declaration-of-Personal-and-Prejudicial-Interests-by-Members.pdf


CC-022335-MY/643257 Page 2 of 3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Register of Personal Interests (declared in meetings): 
Format of the Register: 
• When the previous review was conducted, the majority of the Councils had Registers consisting of (a) the 

Minutes for the relevant meeting (which confirm the oral declaration of interest made) and (b) the Declaration of 
Interest forms, completed by each member following an oral declaration of personal and/or prejudicial interest 
for the first time at a meeting. This was considered a satisfactory format. 
During this review, the majority of the Councils had Registers consisting of a Table format, where the Clerk will 
input certain information as received from the Councillor.  
There is no specific format for the Register, but if a Table is to be relied upon, all relevant information must be 
included in the summary Table.  

• It was noted that many Councils go beyond the requirement in the Code to confirm an oral declaration when it is 
made for the first time by confirming every oral declaration made with written confirmation (hence, there could 
be several declaration forms by the same member in relation to the same issue at several different meetings). 
This appears to be good practice and an easier format for the public to be able to review, albeit, this is not a 
requirement under the Code of Conduct. 

• There were no examples of written confirmation by Members that the details of those interests which are 
disclosed in their Register have changed. Members are reminded of their obligation to confirm any changes to 
personal/prejudicial interests which have been registered within 28 days of the change having occurred. 

• Members are also reminded that a personal/prejudicial interest will only be deemed to have been previously 
disclosed if written notification has been provided since the last date on which the individual was elected, 
appointed or nominated as a member of the Council. Members should bear this in mind particularly following the 
May 2022 election. 

Publication: 
The Register of Interests must be published on yourCouncil’s website. The Standards Committee was pleased to 
note that this was done in all reviewed Councils; this is an improvement since both the 2016 and 2018 Reviews. 
Confirmation of declarations of interests made at meetings Form:  
There is no single format for the Declaration of Interests Form to be used to confirm a declaration of personal 
and/or prejudicial interest made orally at a meeting. The majority of the ‘Declaration Forms’ reviewed by the 
Standards Committee followed the IOACC standard document and were satisfactory in terms of the information 
requested by Members. A copy of the IOACC Form can be seen here. 
The Standards Committee was not provided with copies of completed forms in several of the reviewed Councils. 
The Committee therefore had to rely on the information included in the Table register, and this did not always 
provide a full picture.  
It is on this basis that the Committee would suggest publishing the Declaration Forms so that they form part of the 
Register by sitting behind the Table.  
Members are reminded to fully answer all relevant questions on the Declaration Form. 

Personal and Prejudicial Interests: 
Members do not always appear to understand the requirement 
to declare personal and/or prejudicial interests when they arise, 
or which applies when. Members are reminded that:- 
• A personal interest is one of those contained within the 

definitive list in the Code of Conduct; 
• A prejudicial interest is a personal interest which an objective 

observer would consider so significant that it is likely to 
compromise a member’s ability to make a decision in the public 
interest; 

• The distinction is important because members are allowed to 
participate when they have a personal interest, but not when 
they have a personal interest which is also prejudicial. If an 
interest is prejudicial, members must also physically/virtually 
leave the meeting while the item is under discussion. 

Members should ensure they understand their obligations under 
the Code of Conduct, and if they do not, arrange appropriate 
training.  
A Briefing Note on the declaration of personal and 
prejudicial interests by Members of Town and Community 
Councils can be seen here. 
If Members have any specific questions, they should be seeking 
advice from their clerk or contacting the Monitoring Officer at the 
IOACC on lbxcs@ynysmon.gov.uk 

Gifts and Hospitality Register: 
Whilst there is no requirement for Town and 
Community Councils to have a Standing 
Register (i.e. pre-registration of certain 
interests), your Councils are obliged to 
maintain the other two Registers required 
under the Code. There is therefore a 
requirement for Members to register any gifts 
and hospitality received by them in their role 
as Councillors, above a financial threshold 
which is to be agreed by each Council.  
This area requires attention as the majority of 
the Councils reviewed did not have a 
Register and were unaware of this 
requirement.  
 Councils should have a Register even if it 

confirms that no declarations have been 
made. 

 Members must appreciate the 
requirement to register such receipts, and 
each Council needs to agree on a limit 
above which all gifts and hospitality must 
be registered.  

Page 38

http://monitor.anglesey.gov.uk/Journals/z/s/a/Members-Declaration-of-Interest-at-Meetings-Form.pdf
http://monitor.anglesey.gov.uk/Journals/e/p/m/Briefing-Note-for-Town-and-Community-Councillors---The-Declaration-of-Personal-and-Prejudicial-Interests-by-Members.pdf


CC-022335-MY/643257 Page 3 of 3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Websites: 
As of May 2015, Town and Community Councils 
have a statutory requirement to have websites and 
to publish specified information on these websites. 
Statutory Guidance has been issued to assist 
Councils in fulfilling this obligation and a further 
copy of this Guidance can be seen here. 
The Standards Committee welcomes the work done 
in relation to the creation and publication of 
information on websites, and notes this is an 
improvement since the last Review in 2018.  
 Councils are reminded of the minimum 

requirements noted in the statutory guidance 
and are encouraged to comply so as to be 
visible for the public. 

Virtual meetings: 
All reviewed Councils were praised for their approach in ensuring Council meetings have been held virtually during 
the past year, with several Councils allowing the public to access the virtual meetings too.  
Councils have also been praised for their adaptations to ensure the requirement under the Code of Conduct for a 
member who declares a prejudicial interest to leave a meeting is being observed. Councils reported that they have 
(a) moved Agenda items so that the item is considered last [and the Councillor with the prejudicial interest can 
leave the meeting] or (b) made use of the “Zoom waiting room” [and Clerks have placed the Councillor with a 
prejudicial interest in this virtual room until the item has closed].  
With section 47 of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 detailing that Community Councils must 
continue with allowing remote access to meetings in the future, the Standards Committee encourages all Councils 
to adopt similar arrangements for dealing with Code of Conduct requirements.  
 

Training: 
Clerk Training:  
A properly trained and resourced clerk will assist the 
Council collectively, being better equipped to advise 
members, both inside and outside meetings. Members are 
reminded that clerks are the proper officers within the 
Councils and that their advice should be given due 
consideration.   
 Member Training:  
Clerks appear to be advising members of training, but 
members seem to be generally unable/unwilling to attend 
training. Attending training will assist members with 
matters such as personal / prejudicial matters and the 
Standards Committee would encourage Members to 
consider their training needs.   
Councils are advised that, as of May 2022, Town and 
Community Councils will be required to produce a 
Training Plan setting out their proposals in relation to the 
provision of training for Councillors and staff (section 67 of 
the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021).   
Councils are reminded that an element for training (for 
Clerk/staff and Members) could be included when the 
Council sets its precept amount. 
The Councils reviewed as part of this exercise did have a 
training budget available but it appeared it was not always 
being utilised; the Standards Committee would encourage 
Councils to make use of the money available for any 
identified training needs. 

Local Resolution Protocol: 
Of the five Councils reviewed, four had adopted a Local Resolution Protocol (with three using the model prepared 
by One Voice Wales). The Standards Committee welcomes the adoption of such Protocol in the Councils, as it is 
good practice, although not mandatory. The Standards Committee also welcomed the fact that none of the 
Councils where the Protocol had been adopted had reason to use it since its adoption. 
 Where Clerks are required to act as mediators under this process, the Standards Committee encourages 

Clerks to complete relevant training. 

Dispensations: 
Not many Council members seem to be applying 
for dispensations.  
Dispensations are available for Members when they 
have a prejudicial interest, but, because of one of 
the statutory grounds, the member should be able 
to participate in the discussion, despite the 
prejudicial interest (e.g. because of the Member’s 
expertise, or more than half the members of the 
Council has a prejudicial interest). A Briefing Note 
on Dispensations, which incorporates the 
Application Form itself, is available here.  

GOOD PRACTICE IDENTIFIED IN THE REVIEWS: 
(1) An improvement on the amount of information, 

including the Register of Personal Interests, 
published on the Council websites since the last 
review; 

(2) Councils’ willingness to adopt a Local Resolution 
Protocol; 

(3) Councils have adapted well with ensuring 
compliance with the Code when conducting virtual 
meetings; 

(4) The inclusion of “Declarations of Interest” as a 
standing item on each Council Agenda;  

(5) The format of the ‘Declaration Forms’ used for 
declaring personal/prejudicial interests at formal 
meetings.  

AREAS FOR IMPROVEMENT:  
(1) Need to ensure adequate records showing that members sign an 

undertaking to abide by the Code of Conduct (2016 version) at the 
commencement of their new term of office; 

(2) The format for the Register of Members’ Personal Interests so as to 
ensure it includes adequate information and is clear for the public; 

(3) Some members’ apparent lack of understanding of the distinction 
between personal and/or prejudicial interests needs to be addressed; 

(4) For councils to maintain a Register of Gifts and Hospitality and that 
members are aware of the financial limit agreed by their council;  

(5) Attendance at, and the recording of, training by members and officers, 
particularly in light of the requirement to develop Training Plans as of 
2022; 

(6) More details of the interests declared to be included on the 
Agendas/Minutes for all Council meetings. 

Page 39

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/access-to-information-guidance-for-community-and-town-councils.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asc/2021/1/part/3/chapter/4/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asc/2021/1/part/4/crossheading/training-of-members-and-staff-of-community-councils/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asc/2021/1/part/4/crossheading/training-of-members-and-staff-of-community-councils/enacted
http://monitor.anglesey.gov.uk/Journals/r/z/m/Dispensations-Briefing-Note---TandCC.pdf


THE NOLAN PRINCIPLES
When you signed your
acceptance of office to

become a Councillor you
also agreed to uphold the

principles of conduct in
public life.  These are also
commonly known as the
Nolan Principles and, in

Wales, consist of the
following:

• Selflessness
• Honesty

• Integrity and propriety
• Duty to uphold the law

• Stewardship
• Objectivity in

decision-making
• Equality and respect

• Openness
• Accountability

• Leadership




STANDARDS COMMITTEE NEWSLETTER
TOWN AND COMMUNITY COUNCILLORS

INTRODUCTION
The Standards Committee would like to congratulate you all on your election or re–election as town / community councillors. The Standards

Committee is here to support you in observing the code of conduct adopted by your council. 
As you know, maintaining the highest levels of ethical behaviour is an essential part of your role in representing the public.

MONITORING CONDUCT 
The Committee also intends, from time to
time, to send two of its members to
monitor conduct at some public meetings
of town/community councils.
We hope to accomplish this remotely and
we shall contact the relevant clerks in
order to make the arrangements.
The Committee members will provide early
feedback to the chair and the clerk; and
may produce general findings to be
circulated to all councils.
These monitoring arrangements will begin
to take place in 2023.

It is part of the role of the Committee to
provide training for you on your code of
conduct.
So, we have written to all clerks to offer
remote training sessions, of 1.5 hours
duration, on the following alternative
dates:

Numbers are limited, so if you are able to
attend one of the sessions then please let
your clerk know as soon as possible.

MEMBER DEVELOPMENT

      Tuesday 4th October @ 2pm - Welsh
      Thursday 6th October @ 6.30pm – English 
      Tuesday 18th October @ 2pm - English
      Thursday 20th October @ 6.30pm – Welsh

Serious breaches of your code of
conduct are decided by the Adjudication
Panel for Wales, which is a tribunal
hearing its cases in public.
These cases are reported in full on the
Adjudication Panel’s website and the
link is here
If you would prefer a summarised
version of these cases they are reported
to the Standards Committee and the
link to the most recent summary
considered by the Standards Committee
is here.

ADJUDICATION PANEL FOR WALES

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Local guidance has been issued to
Councillors on declarations of interest and
has been provided to your clerks*. In some
circumstances it is possible to get special
permission from the Standards Committee
to take part in decisions, even if you have a
prejudicial interest (as you know, this is a
significant personal interest which means
that you are not allowed to take part in
discussion or voting). The special
permission from the Standards Committee
is called a dispensation and local guidance
on how to apply for a dispensation has
been provided to your clerks*. Please
contact the Monitoring Officer for advice
and support in submitting any application
you may wish to make.

*The Monitoring Officer would be glad to provide
further copies on request.

Produce an annual training plan for its
councillors and staff, with the first plan
being required within 6 months of the
last local government election on the
5th May 2022. The annual training plan
is a document that will be requested by
the Committee when it carries out its
reviews.
Publish an annual report, as soon as
reasonably practicable, after the end of
each financial year.
One Voice Wales is supporting its
members to comply with the new
legislation. 

NEW LEGAL DUTIES ON
TOWN/COMMUNITY COUNCILS  

Under the Local Governance and Elections
(Wales) Act 2021 town and community
councils must now:

2nd of September 2022 - Issue 4

Each council which is reviewed will
receive written feedback and any
recommendations, to be considered by
all members of the council, but on an
informal basis
General and anonymised feedback will
also be provided to all councils,
including any recommendations and the
sharing of good practice. We shall ask
that this feedback be shared at a formal
meeting of every council

INFORMAL GOVERNANCE REVIEWS
The Committee carries out governance
reviews of some town/community councils;
looking at undertakings, declarations of
interest, minutes and training records.
When the committee intends to conduct
reviews of this kind we shall contact the
relevant clerks in advance. We are most
grateful to your clerks for the assistance
they have provided to us in the past.




AND FINALLY……
The Standards Committee needs 2 representatives from town / community councils to sit on the Committee. Requests have been sent to the

town and community council clerks with a deadline for response by the end of September 2022.  If your council has yet to discuss this request,
we ask that you please do so, and consider submitting a nomination. The relevant application form has been provided to every clerk.  

If more than two candidates are nominated, a postal ballot process will follow. 

Also, please advise your clerks if you wish to attend any of the training sessions mentioned above.

A reminder that the local Town and Community Councils’ Forum is due to take place on the 8th September 2022. 
Please ensure that your council is represented.

The Standards Committee’s Annual Report will be considered by the County Council on 29th September and will be available to you on the 
County Council's Website.

 Appendix D1

Page 40

https://adjudicationpanel.gov.wales/apw0032021-022at-councillor-gareth-baines
https://democracy.anglesey.gov.uk/documents/s18858/Adjudication%20Panel%20for%20Wales%20Decisions.pdf?LLL=0
http://www.onevoicewales.org.uk/OVWWeb/Default.aspx


CC-022335-MY/651169

Mr Richard Penn 
penn.richard@yahoo.com 

2/07/2021 

BUSNES Y CYNGOR / COUNCIL BUSINESS 

LYNN BALL LL.B., (Hons.) Cyfreithiwr/Solicitor 
CYFARWYDDWR SWYDDOGAETH (BUSNES Y 
CYNGOR) / SWYDDOG MONITRO 
DIRECTOR OF FUNCTION (COUNCIL BUSINESS) / 
MONITORING OFFICER

CYNGOR SIR YNYS MON  / 
ISLE OF ANGLESEY COUNTY COUNCIL 
Swyddfa’r Sir / Council Offices 
LLANGEFNI 
Ynys Môn  
LL77 7TW 

DX: 701771 – LLANGEFNI 

ffôn / tel: (01248) 75   
ffacs / fax: (01248) 752132 
E-Bost – E-mail: mwycs@ynysmon.gov.uk

Ein Cyf – Our Ref. MY/MWJ/CC-022335-MY 

Eich Cyf – Your Ref.  

Annwyl Mr Penn Dear Mr Penn 

Adolygiad o’r Fframwaith Moesegol Review of the Ethical Framework 

Diolch am y cyfle i gwrdd â chi i drafod eich 
adolygiad o’r Fframwaith Moesegol yn ystod 
Fforwm Pwyllgorau Safonau Gogledd 
Cymru ar 24 Mehefin 2021. 

Thank you for the opportunity of meeting to 
discuss your review of the Ethical 
Framework during the North Wales 
Standards Committee Forum on 24 June 
2021.  

Fel Pwyllgor Safonau rydym yn croesawu 
eich adolygiad ac, fel rhan o’r gwaith i 
baratoi ar gyfer y Fforwm, cyfarfu’r Pwyllgor 
Safonau i ystyried pa newidiadau / 
gwelliannau y gellid eu gwneud. Mae 
crynodeb isod o’r prif bwyntiau a godwyd 
gan Bwyllgor Safonau Cyngor Sir Ynys 
Môn. Gobeithiwn y byddwch yn rhoi 
ystyriaeth iddynt wrth i chi lunio eich 
argymhellion i Lywodraeth Cymru: 

As a Standards Committee, we welcome 
your review and, as part of the preparatory 
work for the Forum, we met as a Standards 
Committee to consider what changes / 
improvements might be made.  Below is a 
summary of the key points made by the Isle 
of Anglesey County Council’s Standards 
Committee.  We hope you will take these 
into consideration in formulating your 
recommendations to Welsh Government:  

1. Trefniadau amgen:
Y posibilrwydd o gael trefn “cyffyrddiad
ysgafn” ar gyfer cynghorau cymuned
sydd â phraesept / cronfa wrth gefn /
cyllideb islaw lefel benodol neu ryw fesur
gwrthrychol arall.

Neu fel arall, y posibilrwydd o greu is-
bwyllgor asesu “sifft gyntaf” i benderfynu 
a yw cwynion yn deilwng o gael eu 

1. Alternative arrangements:
The possibility of introducing a “light
touch” regime for community councils
with a precept / reserve / budget below a
specified level, or some other objective
measure.

Alternatively, the possibility of creating a 
“first sift” assessment sub-committee to 
determine whether there is sufficient 

APPENDIX E

Page 41

mailto:penn.richard@yahoo.com


 

CC-022335-MY/651169 Page 2 
 

hanfon ymlaen at yr Ombwdsmon. 
 

 

merit for complaints to be forwarded to 
the Ombudsman.  

 

2. Cyflwyno cwynion: 
Paragraff 6(1)(c) o’r Cod. Mae’r geiriad 
presennol yn creu disgwyliad y bydd 
Swyddogion Monitro yn gwneud cwynion 
i’r Ombwdsmon ar ran aelodau. Mae hyn 
yn creu gwrthdaro i’r Swyddog Monitro 
pe byddai angen cynghori’r Pwyllgor 
Safonau yn ddiweddarach. Dylai fod yn 
eglur bod yr Ombwdsmon yn disgwyl i 
dystion uniongyrchol wneud cwynion, fel 
sy’n briodol.  

 

2. Presenting complaints: 
Paragraph 6(1)(c) of the Code.  The 
current wording creates an expectation 
on Monitoring Officers that they will 
make complaints to the Ombudsman on 
behalf of members.  This creates a 
conflict for the Monitoring Officer if there 
is a need to advise the Standards 
Committee at a later stage.  There 
should be clarity that the Ombudsman 
requires first hand witnesses to make 
complaints, as appropriate. 

 

3. Dyletswydd Arweinyddion Grwpiau: 
Sut fydd y ddyletswydd statudol newydd 
ar arweinyddion grwpiau mewn 
perthynas ag ymddygiad (fel y mae’n 
cael ei chynnwys yn Neddf Llywodraeth 
Leol ac Etholiadau (Cymru) 2021) yn 
cael ei hadlewyrchu yn y Cod? Ac, yn 
fwy penodol, beth fydd y disgwyliadau ar 
Bwyllgorau Safonau o ran goruchwylio’r 
ddyletswydd hon a roddir ar 
arweinyddion grwpiau? 

 

3. Duty by Group Leaders:  
How will the new statutory conduct duty 
on group leaders (as included in the 
Local Government and Elections 
(Wales) Act 2021) be reflected in the 
Code?  More particularly, what will be 
the expectations on Standards 
Committees to oversee this duty by 
group leaders? 

 

4. Cydraddoldeb: 
Paragraff 4(a) o’r Cod. Efallai bod angen 
ystyried diweddaru’r diffiniad o 
Gydraddoldeb yng nghyd-destun y 
ddyletswydd gymdeithasol-economaidd 
newydd, sydd wrth gwrs yn effeithio ar 
aelodau wrth iddynt wneud 
penderfyniadau strategol yn eu 
hawdurdodau. 

 

4. Equality: 
Paragraph 4(a) of the Code. Perhaps 
there needs to be consideration given to 
updating the definition of Equality 
matters in light of the new socio-
economic duty which of course impacts 
members when making strategic 
decisions in their authorities.  

 

5. Hyfforddiant mandadol: 
 
(a) Prif gynghorau: 

A ddylai’r Cod ei hun gynnwys 
gofyniad fod aelodau yn cwblhau 
hyfforddiant gorfodol ar y Cod ac 
unrhyw elfennau penodol eraill? 
Mae’n amlwg fod awdurdodau lleol 
Cymru yn amrywio yn hyn o beth. 
Yma yng Nghyngor Sir Ynys Môn, 
mae’n rhaid i aelodau gwblhau 
hyfforddiant ar y Cod Ymddygiad o 

5. Mandatory training: 
 
(a) Principal councils: 

Should the Code itself include a 
requirement that members must 
complete mandatory training on the 
Code and any other specific 
elements?  It is clear that local 
authorities in Wales differ in terms of 
this requirement. Here in Ynys Môn, 
Code of Conduct training is 
mandatory for members within the 

Page 42



 

CC-022335-MY/651169 Page 3 
 

fewn chwe mis iddynt gael eu hethol, 
a ni chaniateir i aelodau eistedd ar y 
Pwyllgor Cynllunio a Thrwyddedu oni 
bai eu bod wedi derbyn hyfforddiant 
penodol. Mae rhai awdurdodau’n 
gofyn am lai na hyn, ac mae eraill yn 
gofyn am fwy. A ddylai hyn fod yn 
gyson ym mhob awdurdod? 

 

first six months of being elected, and 
members cannot sit on the Planning 
and Licensing Committee without 
having received specific training. 
Some authorities ask for less than 
this, and others require more. Should 
this be consistent in every authority? 
 

 

(b) Cynghorau cymuned:  
O ystyried y ddyletswydd statudol 
newydd ar bob cyngor cymuned i 
gyhoeddi cynllun hyfforddi blynyddol 
ar gyfer aelodau a chlercod (sydd 
wedi’i gynnwys yn Neddf Llywodraeth 
Leol ac Etholiadau (Cymru) 2021), a 
oes cyfle i gynnwys unrhyw elfennau 
gorfodol mewn perthynas â 
hyfforddiant ar y Cod, ac, os felly 
beth fyddai’r elfennau gorfodol 
hynny? Beth am hyfforddiant gorfodol 
ar gyfer clercod, sy’n mynd tu hwn i’r 
Cod ei hun ac sy’n delio â materion 
llywodraethu ehangach? Ein profiad 
ni yw bod anghydfod ynghylch 
materion llywodraethu yn aml yn 
arwain at broblemau yn y berthynas 
rhwng clercod a rhai aelodau 
etholedig. A oes angen ehangu’r 
ymgynghoriad newydd ar 
gymhwyster ar gyfer clercod? 

 

(b) Community councils: 
Given the new statutory duty on all 
community councils to publish an 
annual training plan for members and 
clerks (included in the Local 
Government and Elections (Wales) 
Act 2021), is it an opportunity to 
include any mandatory elements in 
relation to training on the Code, and, 
if so what would those mandatory 
elements be?  What about 
mandatory training for clerks, which 
goes beyond the Code itself and 
deals with broader governance 
issues? It has been our experience 
that disputes about governance 
issues are frequently the trigger for 
relationship issues between clerks 
and some elected members.  Should 
the new consultation on qualification 
for clerks be extended further? 

 

6. Cyfryngau cymdeithasol: 
Wrth ystyried yr achosion y mae’r 
Ombwdsmon wedi adrodd arnynt yn 
ddiweddar  mae’n holl bwysig bod y Cod 
yn rhoi sylw i Gyfryngau Cymdeithasol, 
er ein bod yn gwerthfawrogi mai’r llwyfan 
sy’n wahanol yn hytrach na’r 
disgwyliadau o ran ymddygiad. 

 

6. Social media: 
Considering the cases recently reported 
by the Ombudsman, it is imperative that 
the Code addresses the issue of Social 
Media although we appreciate that it is 
the platform which is different, rather 
than the behavioural expectations.  

 

7. Parch a bwlio: 
Mae parch a bwlio yn ddau faes 
sylweddol o ran cwynion ac mae angen 
eglurder ynghylch pa faterion y dylai’r 
Ombwdsmon ystyried ymchwilio iddynt o 
dan y Cod Ymddygiad. Mae Calver, a 
phenderfyniadau dilynol, wedi codi mwy 
o gwestiynau nag y maent wedi eu 
hateb, yn arbennig mewn perthynas â’r 

7. Respect and bullying: 
Respect and bullying are two significant 
areas for complaints and clarity is 
required as to what matters should be 
considered for investigation by the 
Ombudsman  under the Code of 
Conduct.  Calver, and subsequent 
decisions, have raised more questions 
than they have answered, particularly 

Page 43



 

CC-022335-MY/651169 Page 4 
 

berthynas rhwng aelodau ac uwch 
swyddogion; ac yn arbennig Prif 
Weithredwyr yn derbyn cwynion 
cynyddol a gohebiaeth ormesol gan rai 
aelodau. 

 

with regard to the relationship between 
members and senior officers; and 
particularly Chief Executives receiving 
cumulative complaints and oppressive 
correspondence from certain members.  

 

8. Datrysiad lleol: 
 
(a) Prif gynghorau: 

A ddylid cael protocol datrysiad lleol 
safonol ar gyfer prif gynghorau er 
mwyn sicrhau cysondeb a thegwch i 
bob aelod etholedig?  
Yn arwain o hyn, a ddylai fod yn 
ofynnol i aelodau etholedig ymrwymo 
i gydweithredu â phrotocol datrysiad 
lleol (fyddai’n cael ei weithredu’n lleol 
a’i fabwysiadu’n genedlaethol) o dan 
y Cod Ymddygiad ei hun?  

 

8. Local Resolution: 
 
(a) Principal councils: 

Should there be a standard local 
resolution protocol for principal 
councils in order to provide 
consistency and fairness to all 
elected members?  
Following from this, should it be 
mandatory for elected members to 
undertake to co-operate with the 
local resolution protocol (locally 
applied and nationally adopted) 
under the Code of Conduct itself?  

 

Yn ein barn ni fel Pwyllgor Safonau, 
nid yw’r broses datrysiad lleol wedi 
bod yn effeithiol oherwydd ei bod yn 
broses wirfoddol.  

 

As a Standards Committee, it is our 
opinion that the local resolution 
protocol has proved ineffective 
because it is voluntary. 

 

(b) Cynghorau cymuned: 
O safbwynt datrysiad lleol mewn 
cynghorau cymuned, mae’n 
ymddangos nad yw pob cyngor wedi 
mabwysiadu model Un Llais Cymru; 
mae rhai wedi creu eu dogfen eu 
hunain ac nid oes gan eraill brotocol 
o gwbwl. Unwaith eto, a ddylid 
datblygu protocol datrysiad lleol 
safonol ar gyfer y cynghorau 
cymuned? 
 

(b) Community councils: 
In relation to local resolution at 
community councils, it seems that not 
all councils have adopted the One 
Voice Wales model; some have 
created their own document and 
others are without any protocol. Once 
again, should a standardised local 
resolution protocol be developed for 
community councils?  

 

O ran model Un Llais Cymru, rydym 
yn credu fod problemau efo’r model 
hwn oherwydd ei fod yn rhoi 
cyfrifoldeb ar y clerc a’r cadeirydd i 
weithredu’r datrysiad. O’n profiad ni 
fel Pwyllgor, yn amlach na pheidio, 
problem yn y berthynas rhwng y clerc 
a’r cadeirydd yw’r rheswm am 
weithredu’r protocol yn y lle cyntaf, 
ac o’r oherwydd nid yw Protocol Un 
Llais Cymru yn addas 

As far as the One Voice Wales model 
is concerned, we believe there are 
problems with this model as it 
focuses on the clerk and the chair as 
undertaking the resolution.  However, 
from this committee’s experiences, it 
is often difficulties in the relationship 
between the clerk and the chair that 
required local resolution in the first 
place; making the One Voice Wales 
Protocol unsuitable. 

 

Page 44



 

CC-022335-MY/651169 Page 5 
 

Beth yw rôl Pwyllgorau Safonau 
mewn datrysiad lleol ar lefel 
cynghorau cymuned, os oes rôl 
iddynt o gwbl? Mae unrhyw ddau 
aelod o’n Pwyllgor yn cynnal y 
broses datrysiad lleol, yn wirfoddol, 
gyda rhai cynghorau cymuned. Mae’r 
Pwyllgor wedi derbyn hyfforddiant 
datrysiad lleol gan y Ganolfan Craffu 
Cyhoeddus ac rydym ar fin derbyn yr 
hyfforddiant hwn unwaith eto. 

 

What if anything should be the role 
for Standards Committees in local 
resolution at community level? Any 
two members of our Committee 
undertake the local resolution 
process, on a voluntary basis, with 
some community councils.  The 
Committee has received training on 
local resolution from the Centre for 
Public Scrutiny and we are about to 
undertake this training again.  

 

A oes opsiynau eraill ar gyfer 
cyfryngwyr hyfforddedig e.e. Un Llais 
Cymru neu a ddylai hyn fod yn 
swyddogaeth i’r Pwyllgor Safonau ar 
gais yr Ombwdsmon?  

 

Are there other options for trained 
mediators e.g. One Voice Wales or 
should this be a Standards 
Committee function at the request of 
the Ombudsman? 

 

9. Clercod Cynghorau Cymuned: 
 
(a) Rhwydwaith: 

Mae ein Pwyllgor yn cynnal 
adolygiadau rheolaidd o 
lywodraethiant mewn sampl o 
gynghorau cymuned ac yn adrodd ar 
y canfyddiadau a’r argymhellion 
cyffredinol. Yn ystod y broses hon, 
nododd nifer o glercod cynghorau 
cymuned y byddent yn gwerthfawrogi 
rhwydwaith o glercod i gefnogi ei 
gilydd gan y gall y swydd fod yn un 
unig. Efallai y byddai adolygu’r 
Fframwaith Moesegol yn gyfle i 
sefydlu trefniant o’r fath. 

 

9. Community Council Clerks: 
 
(a) Network: 

Our Committee undertakes regular 
governance reviews at a sample of 
community councils, and reports 
generic findings and 
recommendations.  During the 
course of this process, several 
community clerks noted that they 
would appreciate a network of clerks 
to support one another as the job can 
often be isolating. Reviewing the 
Ethical Framework might be an 
opportunity to set up such an 
arrangement. 

 

(b) Pecyn cymorth: 
Fel y gwyddoch, mae bod yn glerc yn 
golygu llawer mwy na drafftio 
rhaglenni a chymryd cofnodion: 
maent yn swyddogion proffesiynol ac 
mae ganddynt gyfrifoldebau statudol. 
Byddai creu pecyn cymorth ar gyfer 
clercod (yn ychwanegol i’r syniad o 
greu rhwydwaith cymorth, fel y nodir 
ym mhwynt 9(a) uchod) yn 
cadarnhau’r gofynion ac yn cynnig 
cysondeb mewn safonau ymysg 
gwahanol gynghorau. Byddai hefyd 
yn ddefnyddiol os byddai unrhyw 
hyfforddiant a ddatblygir yn cyd-fynd 

(b) Toolbox: 
As you know, being a clerk is much 
more than drafting agendas and 
taking minutes; they are professional 
officers with statutory responsibilities. 
Creating a toolbox for clerks (in 
addition to the idea of creating a 
support network, as noted in point 
9(a) above) would confirm the 
requirements and offer consistency 
of standards between different 
councils. It would also be useful if 
any training developed would 
complement the contents of this 
toolbox. 

Page 45



 

CC-022335-MY/651169 Page 6 
 

efo cynnwys y pecyn cymorth hwn. 
 

 
 

10. Swyddogion Monitro: 
 
(a) Llawlyfr: 

Mae angen diweddaru llawlyfr y 
Swyddogion Monitro.  

 

10. Monitoring Officers: 
 
(a) Handbook: 

The Monitoring Officer’s handbook 
needs updating. 

 

(b) Hyfforddiant: 
Ar hyn o bryd nid oes rhaglen 
hyfforddi genedlaethol yng Nghymru 
ar gyfer darpar Swyddogion Monitro. 
Nid yw’r hyfforddiant a ddarperir yn 
Lloegr yn briodol erbyn hyn 
oherwydd gwahaniaethau mewn 
deddfwriaeth. Credir ei bod yn 
bwysig sicrhau bod y cyngor a roddir 
i Bwyllgorau Safonau, aelodau 
etholedig, cynghorwyr cymuned ac 
ati yn gywir ac yn gyfredol a bod 
trefniadau priodol yn cael eu gwneud 
ar gyfer cynllunio olyniaeth. Mae hyn 
yn hanfodol er mwyn sicrhau bod y 
Fframwaith Moesegol yn 
gweithredu’n effeithiol. 

 

(b) Training: 
There is currently no national 
programme of training in Wales for 
future Monitoring Officers. That 
provided in England is no longer 
appropriate owing to divergent 
legislation. It is felt that this is 
important to ensure the advice 
provided to Standards Committees, 
elected members, community 
councillors etc., is correct and current 
and that there is adequate 
succession planning.  This is 
essential so as to ensure that the 
Ethical Framework operates 
effectively.  

 

Fel rhan o hyn, efallai y dylid ystyried 
cymhwyster ffurfiol ar gyfer 
cyfreithwyr llywodraethiant sy’n 
dymuno bod yn Swyddogion 
Monitro? 

 

As part of this, perhaps consideration 
should be given to a formal 
qualification for governance solicitors 
wishing to be Monitoring Officers? 

 

11. Pwerau Cosbi Panel Dyfarnu Cymru: 
Mae’r adolygiad hwn yn gyfle i ailystyried 
pwerau cosbi Panel Dyfarnu Cymru, a 
Phwyllgorau Safonau, pan ganfyddir fod 
y Cod wedi cael ei dorri. Efallai y byddai 
ystod ehangach o gosbau wedi eu 
teilwra yn ddefnyddiol. Er enghraifft, 
efallai mai’r gosb yw gwahardd dros dro 
am gyfnod penodol o amser, ond ni 
fyddai hynny’n cael ei weithredu os yw’r 
aelod yn cyflwyno ymddiheuriad 
ysgrifenedig o fewn cyfnod penodol o 
amser; neu, bod yr aelod yn cwblhau 
hyfforddiant penodol o fewn cyfnod 
penodol o amser. Byddai hyn wedyn yn 
sicrhau cydbwysedd rhwng (A) “cosbi” 
achos o dorri’r Cod a (B) y ffaith nad oes 
gan etholwyr gynrychiolaeth tra bod eu 

11. Adjudication Panel for Wales’ Sanction 
Powers: 
This review is an opportunity to review 
the sanction powers of the Adjudication 
Panel for Wales, and Standards 
Committee, when there is a finding of a 
breach of the Code.  A wider range of 
tailored sanctions might be useful.  For 
instance, perhaps the sanction is that of 
suspension for a specified period of time 
but this will not be implemented if the 
member provides a written apology 
within a specified time; or, that the 
member completes particular training 
within a specific time. This would then 
ensure a balance between (A) 
“punishing” a breach of the Code and (B) 
the fact that electors are without 

Page 46



 

CC-022335-MY/651169 Page 7 
 

haelod wedi cael ei wahardd dros dro. 
 

representation when their member is 
suspended. 
 

Gobeithir y bydd y llythyr hwn yn rhoi syniad 
i chi o’r materion sy’n bwysig i’r Pwyllgor 
Safonau yma ar Ynys Môn ac rydym yn 
edrych ymlaen at y broses ymgynghori a 
fydd yn dilyn eich adroddiad cychwynnol i 
Lywodraeth Cymru. 
 

It is hoped that this letter will provide you 
with an indication of the matters that are 
important to the Standards Committee here 
in Ynys Môn and we look forward to the 
consultation process that will follow your 
initial report to Welsh Government. 
 
 

Llawer o ddiolch 
 

Many thanks  
 

Yn gywir 
 

Yours sincerely, 
 

 

John R Jones 
 

John R Jones 
Cadeirydd – Pwyllgor Safonau Cyngor Sir Ynys Môn 
Chair – The Isle of Anglesey’s Standards Committee 

 

 

 
 
 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
V1.4:Sept 2022 

 

Isle of Anglesey County Council 
Report to: COUNTY COUNCIL 
Date: 30th SEPTEMBER 2022 
Subject: CORPORATE SELF-ASSESSMENT 2022 (DRAFT) 
Portfolio Holder(s): COUNCILLOR ROBIN W. WILLIAMS 
Head of Service / Director: 
 

CARYS EDWARDS, HEAD OF PROFESSION HR & 
TRANSFORMATION 

Report Author: 
Tel: 
E-mail: 

GETHIN MORGAN 
01248 752111  
GethinMorgan@anglesey.gov.wales 

Local Members:  n/a 
 
A –Recommendation/s and reason/s 
 
As part of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 the following duty 
is recognized on Anglesey County Council – 
 
… to keep its performance under review 
 
1) must keep under review the extent to which - 
(a) it is exercising its functions effectively, 
(b) it is using its resources economically, efficiently and effectively, and 
(c) its governance is effective for securing the matters set out in paragraphs (a) 
and (b) 
 
and, in connection with all financial years,  
make a report setting out its conclusions as to the extent to which it met the 
performance requirements (a, b and c above) during that financial year.  
 
 
To meet the expectation above, the County Council’s draft Self-Assessment (SA) 
for 2021/22 was prepared. The report evidences the output of the Councils 
corporate planning and performance management framework and is the end of a 
process that merges several different aspects together. 
 
The draft was considered by the Executive in its meeting of July 19th, 2022 and 
thereafter the Governance and Audit Committee in its meeting of July 26th 2022. 
 
The Executive accepted the assessment and the related programme of 
improvement whilst the Audit & Governance Committee proposed 3 further 
considerations for future drafts –  
 

- Expanding for clarification purposes, on the retention of a high level of 
reserves 

- The inclusion for the future of more quantative data especially in relation 
to areas for improvement 

- Acknowledgment that the report has been reviewed by Internal Audit 
 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6.



2 
V1.4:Sept 2022 

 

A –Recommendation/s and reason/s 
 
It is therefore recommended that the County Council adopts the attached 
document as a working draft and invites further consideration as to its 
content by the Audit and Governance Committee in its meeting of October 
20th, 2022. 
 
  

 
 
B – What other options did you consider and why did you reject them 
and/or opt for this option?  
 
Other options were not considered as this expectation is one of the core changes 
of the new legislation - the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 
 

 
 
C – Why is this a decision for the Executive? 
 
This process is to elicit the attention and comments of the Executive committee 
together with the Governance & Audit Committee before the draft Self-Assessment 
is considered by the full County Council in September this year.  
 
It is a process which is in accordance with the Local Government and Elections 
(Wales) Act 2021 
 

 
 
Ch – Is this decision consistent with policy approved by the full 
Council? 
 
 
Yes.  
 
The full Council decided on 25 April that: 
 
• The full Council must adopt a draft of the Self-Assessment; 
• That draft must go to the Governance and Audit Committee within 4 weeks; 
• The draft with any comments from the Governance and Audit Committee for 
consideration must then go back in front of full Council for its adoption as the final 
Self-Assessment. 
 
This reflects the legal requirements in the 2021 Act. 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 48



3 
V1.4:Sept 2022 

 

D – Is this decision within the budget approved by the Council? 
 
It is anticipated that the associated work program (depicted at tail-end of the SA) 
and its realisation is placed under the leadership and ownership of the Leadership 
Team (LT) within time in accordance with the County Council’s financial year 
2022/23. 
 

 
Dd –  Assessing the potential impact (if relevant): 
1 How does this decision impact on 

our long term needs as an Island? 
Affects our long-term needs by 
recognizing related areas that require 
further attention as a council. 
 

2 Is this a decision which it is 
envisaged will prevent future costs / 
dependencies on the Authority? If 
so, how? 
 

In part - yes, regarding the expected 
improvements that are needed in the 
performance of some areas etc. 

3 Have we been working 
collaboratively with other 
organisations to come to this 
decision?  If so, please advise 
whom. 
 

A specific part of the self-assessment 
recognizes all the collaborative work 
that takes place across the range of the 
services 

4 Have Anglesey citizens played a 
part in drafting this way forward, 
including those directly affected by 
the decision? Please explain how. 

The citizens of Anglesey through the 
corporate scrutiny committees have a 
quarterly opportunity to express their 
opinion and challenge the corporation on 
its performance. The content also states 
how the different services involve 
citizens in its decisions. 
 
The content of the draft SA was also 
consulted upon with Trade Unions over 
the summer – a response from GMB was 
received as follows –  
 
“The document looks to be a 
comprehensive and detailed piece of 
information and provides an overview of 
the considerations of the local authority” 
There was also a note of caution “on the 
premise that the self-assessment may 
not have taken a detailed critical look at 
any areas that are weak.” 
  
This, it was noted does not “say it is not 
an accurate view”, but that the individual 
would need to be privy to the information 
that the authority has used in detail to be 

Page 49



4 
V1.4:Sept 2022 

 

Dd –  Assessing the potential impact (if relevant): 
able to fully comment.  “On the whole” it 
was noted as “a positive piece of work”. 
 

5 Note any potential impact that this 
decision would have on the groups 
protected under the Equality Act 
2010. 
 

It is not anticipated that the work 
program will have an impact on the 
groups protected under the equality act 
2010. 

6 If this is a strategic decision, note 
any potential impact that the 
decision would have on those 
experiencing socio-economic 
disadvantage. 
 

N/A 

7 Note any potential impact that this 
decision would have on 
opportunities for people to use the 
Welsh language and on treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably 
than the English language. 
 

N/A 

 
 
E – Who did you consult?                         What did they say? 
1 Chief Executive / Senior Leadership 

Team (SLT) 
(mandatory) 

This was considered by the Chief 
Executive / SLT and their comments are 
reflected in the report 
 

2 
 

Finance / Section 151 
(mandatory)  

The comments of the Section 151 
Officer as a member of the SLT have 
also been included 
 

3 Legal / Monitoring Officer 
(mandatory)  
 

The Monitoring Officer’s comments are 
reflected in pt. Ch above. 
 

4 Human Resources (HR) 
 

Comments are reflected in the report 

5 Property  
 

 

6 Information Communication 
Technology (ICT) 

 

7 Procurement 
 

 

8 Scrutiny 
 

 

9 Local Members Not applicable 
 

 
 

Page 50



5 
V1.4:Sept 2022 

 

F - Appendices: 
 
Anglesey County Council Draft Self-Assessment – 2022 
 

 
Ff - Background papers (please contact the author of the Report for any further 
information): 

 
• Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 

 
 

Page 51



 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Self Assessment - 2022 

The County Council’s first self-assessment as expected under Local 

Government and Elections Act 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by – Transformation Service 

Publication date: July 2022 

Page 52



 

2 
 

 

The Council’s Annual Self-Assessment as a result of –  

 

Service Performance Reviews (SPR’s) / Performance Reports / Annual 

Governance Statement (AGS) / External Reviews / Staff Survey / 

Stakeholder Engagement 

 

 

 

Self-Assessment 

Category 
Performance  Reasoning 

Performance 

Management 
Good 

Good performance against key indicators  

An adapted and modernised customer 

service provision 

Appropriate governance structures in 

place which enables timely decisions 

Use of Resources Good 

Increased levels of reserves 

Majority of staff feel valued and proud to 

work for Council  

Excellent collaborative structures in 

operation 

Risk Management Good 

Positive External Audit Reports 

Thorough review of strategic risk register 

undertaken 

The Council’s positive approach to 

corporate safeguarding 

 

Page 53



 

3 
 

Introduction 
 

This is a report which reflects the Isle of Anglesey County Council’s first self-assessment as 

expected under the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021. It reflects the output of the 

corporate planning and performance management framework and provides an evidential basis of 

how the Council has performed using its available resources whilst managing and mitigating 

associated risks during a challenging and uncertain period for local government in its response to 

the Covid pandemic.  

The new national performance and governance framework aims to support a cultural and 

organisational change within local government. The aim is to build on existing strengths and create 

a more innovative, open, honest, transparent and ambitious sector, which challenges and assesses 

itself and collectively drives up service delivery outcomes and standards across Wales. The Isle of 

Anglesey County Council recognises and adheres to such expectations. 

The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 requires each council to keep under review 

the extent to which it is fulfilling the ‘performance requirements’, that is the extent to which it is:  

 exercising its functions effectively; 
 using its resources economically, efficiently and effectively; 
 has effective governance in place for securing the above. 

 
The Service Performance Reviews provide one of the core elements of the Corporate Planning & 

Performance Management Framework (CPPMF) and their function and purpose are an essential 

element of strong corporate governance arrangements.  

Self-evaluation is an integral part of any organisation’s improvement process and its primary 

purpose is for self-assurance; however, it is recognised within the Isle of Anglesey County Council 

that if self-evaluation is done well, it can also provide assurances to external audiences, including 

partners, regulators and indeed residents. 

Each Service (of which the Isle of Anglesey County Council has nine) was asked to complete a self-

evaluation - scoring their performance on identified areas deemed important as to measure the 

general performance of services. They were asked to evaluate their performance against one of the 

four criteria listed below: 

1. Excellent – Many strengths, including significant examples of sector-leading practice 

2. Good – Many strengths and no important areas requiring significant improvement 

3. Adequate – Strengths outweigh areas for improvement 

4. Unsatisfactory – Important areas for improvement outweigh strengths 

To complement the evaluation of performance each of the Services were also asked to highlight 

where they believed the service was in terms of prospects for improvement into the future. This was 

done by using the criteria below and be accessed as Appendix ‘A’A’:  

A. Excellent – Highly likely. The service has an excellent track record of improvement and have 

the capacity to support other services to do better 

B. Good – Effective Service who are already doing well and knows the areas needed to 

improve. By identifying the right support and by taking action the service has the potential to 

do even better 

Page 54



 

4 
 

C. Adequate – The Service is in need of improvement and needs help to identify the steps to 

improve or make changes more quickly through discussions with the SLT 

D. Unsatisfactory – The Service is in need of great improvement and needs to receive 

immediate support 

Together, the evaluation of performance in addition to the realisation of prospects for improvements 

presented to and scrutinised by elected members provide a current and accurate picture of where 

the different services saw themselves and provides part of the evidence for this corporate Self-

Assessment. 

The Council have been continuously improving and maturing its evolvement of the performance 

management framework throughout the last nine years.  

This self-assessment summarises the conclusion of that work for 2021/22 and evaluates the overall 

performance of the Council, scored using the same methods as outlined previously.  

 

 

 

 

Page 55



 

5 
 

A. Performance Management 

Introduction 
In order to have a thorough, fair and rounded view of performance management within the Council, 

this section of the self-assessment will bring together information on Performance Reporting, 

Customer Service and Governance & Compliance. By bringing these together, our organisational 

performance, change management and culture can be demonstrated as evidence to support the 

overall conclusion.  

Evidence from the following reports and activities throughout the year will also be used as 

supporting documentation: 

 Annual Performance Report  

 Annual Governance Statement 

 Service Reviews 

 Annual Director of Social Services Report 

 Local Code of Governance  

 Quarterly scorecard reports  

and demonstrates performance against indicators together with evidencing actions completed during 

the period. 

 

Performance Reporting 

Overview 
When looking at the performance reporting of the Council it can be evidenced that the overall 

ranking is ‘good’.  It is encouraging to note that all but one Service were ranked as good or better as 

part of their own service self-assessment. The only Service which ranked as adequate was the 

Regulation & Economic Development Service mainly due to the performance levels within the 

Planning function. It is noted too that two Services, Housing and Transformation, were ranked as 

Excellent as part of the Service Reviews due to their supportive responses to the challenges raised 

by the pandemic.  

The indictors related to the Corporate Scorecard performed well when benchmarking with other local 

authorities in Wales for 2018/19, (the last published results), ranking the Isle of Anglesey County 

Council overall second in Wales for that particular year. For 2018/19, the Council had -  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11, 50%

5, 23%

3, 13%

3, 14%

PAM 2018/19 Indicators

Upper Quartile Upper Median Lower Median Lower Quartile

Page 56

https://www.anglesey.gov.wales/councilplan
https://democracy.anglesey.gov.uk/documents/s18085/Annual%20Governance%20Statement%202020-21.pdf?LLL=0
https://democracy.anglesey.gov.uk/documents/s17779/Annual%20Directors%20Report%20on%20the%20Effectiveness%20of%20Social%20Services%20202021.pdf?LLL=0
https://democracy.anglesey.gov.uk/documents/s18522/Local%20Code%20of%20Governance.pdf?LLL=0
https://www.anglesey.gov.wales/en/Council/Measuring-our-performance/Corporate-scorecards.aspx


 

6 
 

The collection of the Public Accountability Measures (PAM) national indicators for 2019/20 were 

cancelled due to the Covid-19 pandemic, and only a few were collated during 20/21. As a result, the 

Council acknowledges and uses the performance of 2018/19 as a baseline from which conclusions 

can be drawn for current performance  

The Council’s performance targets for 2021/22 were based on previous year’s performance and the 

impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

At the end of Q3 (December 2021) the majority (82%) of performance indicators with the quarterly 

performance monitoring scorecard were performing above target or within 5% tolerance of their 

targets.  

It is however noted that there are no indicators agreed nationally fas to how schools are performing 

and this remains a challenge when trying to evidence educational performance corporately.  Having 

said this, no schools were inspected by Estyn during this period.  

Whilst this evidence is encouraging to note the Annual Performance Report for 2020/21 (published 

October 2021) also demonstrates the work undertaken throughout the year. It states that “At the 

end of a challenging year for all, it is encouraging to note that for the indicators reported at 

the end of the year (33 indicators), the majority (70%) of which performed above target or 

within 5% tolerance of their targets.” 

Some of the main achievements included –  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10 new business units were built at Penrhos Industrial 

Estate during the year and units have local tenants in place. 

£110,000 was secured from the NDA to deliver the first 

year of the North Anglesey Economic Regeneration Plan 

11 businesses accessed funding from the North 

Anglesey Grants Fund which helped: 

 create or safeguard 39 local jobs,  
 create 30 training opportunities and  
 create 96 volunteering opportunities 

A collaboration with Grŵp Llandrillo-Menai was established to 
develop a North Anglesey Apprenticeship Framework to help 

provide future apprenticeship opportunities 
in the area 

Anglesey’s Executive agreed on the future of primary 
school provision in the Llangefni area 

Page 57



 

7 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

To see more from this report and to see other related reports visit www.anglesey.gov.uk/councilplan  

During the first part of the year schools were operating under 
emergency conditions because of the Coronavirus pandemic. They 

provided care centres for vulnerable 
children and children of key workers, 

and prepared online lessons and activities for all students to 
undertake at home 

During a year of great change our communities have come 

together with hundreds of neighbours, family and friends assisting 
people when they are most at need of help. This strong bond over the 
year has helped the Council and our partners Menter Môn and 

Medrwn Môn to build on the volunteer base that’s been 

established within our communities since the start of the pandemic 

In order to tackle food poverty and food going to 

landfills, the Council have together with local partners, brought in the 

Bwyd Da Môn / Môn Good Food scheme 

The number of households placed in emergency 
accommodation ranged between 27 to 63 
individuals and families per night. This has been 

the highest and consistent number of households the Service has 
provided for. As a comparison, between 3 and 26 households were 
placed in emergency accommodation during 2019- 20 per night 

The school meals contract was retendered. Primary school 

aged pupils across the island will receive meals at a 
reduced cost therefore increasing the affordability for 

families on the island at a time of increasing living costs 

The digital shift continues apace in schools where the utilisation of 
Welsh Government grants have enabled all schools to receive 

additional Chromebooks 

Welsh Government ICF was used to purchase a town 
centre property in Llangefni, to support and provide 

Mencap Môn with a Hub in the centre of Anglesey 

Page 58

http://www.anglesey.gov.uk/councilplan


 

8 
 

Following an Assurance Inspection from Care Inspectorate Wales in June 2021 they confirmed that 

both Children and Families and our Adults Services continued to meet their statutory duties.  Adult 

Services and the Children and Families Service were still able to perform and meet the majority of 

their targets, at a time of continued pressure and challenge as a result of the effects of the 

pandemic.  

 

The combined evidence points towards an overall Council performance of GOOD which is defined 

as “Many strengths and no important areas requiring significant improvement”. 

 

Whilst the performance has been encouraging, it’s important to note that we are on a continuous 

improvement journey and areas to improve on and modernise will always be identified.  

One such place which will need focus is on ensuring 

staff are aware of Council performance as the 2022 

staff survey acknowledges that only 1 in 4 of staff  

are well aware of the Council’s performance with 2 

out of 4 somewhat aware. 

  

 

Areas for Improvement 
During 2022/23 the key targeted improvements are: 

Area of improvement Assurance 

Continue to monitor and improve the indicators that have 

been affected by the coronavirus pandemic to ensure 

associated risks are managed appropriately 

Quarterly scorecard 

monitoring reports 

Improve the percentage of Waste Reused, Recycled or 

Composted indicator and meet Welsh Government targets as 

soon as possible 

Quarterly scorecard 

monitoring reports 

Improve performance within the Regulation and Economic 

Development service with particular attention on indicators 

within the Planning function. 

Quarterly scorecard 

monitoring reports 

Utilise software to become more data aware and informed to 

make even more effective evidence-based decisions.  

 

Programme Board 

Develop a means by which Council performance can be 

communicated to a wider audience of staff  

Leadership Team  

 

Page 59



 

9 
 

Customer Service 

Overview 

The majority of the services ranked their performance as Good. 

 

The only Service that had an Excellent rating was Learning due to the work within schools 

throughout another year of uncertainty due to the pandemic. A one team ethos between schools and 

the Learning Service ensured that there was a one Anglesey Team mentality throughout. Schools 

introduced school bubbles and blended learning followed by the loaning of Chromebooks to families 

who could not afford to buy laptops for their children.   

 

The Council’s digital strategy and capability has been critical to maintaining business continuity 

during the two years of the pandemic (in addition to the bravery and commitment of front-line staff).  

 

Some amendments and digital improvements which have been made include:  

 Being able to book a visit to the recycling centres 

through the website, this continues with the 

Gwalchmai centre today 

 The purchasing of the green garden waste 

service via the website saw approximately 70% 

requests accessing the service digitally 

 The majority of blue badge applications and re-

submissions are evident through our digital 

provision 

 Planning applications can be submitted, viewed 

and tracked via the digital planning portal 

 Taxi licences can now be requested via the 

website 

 Informing the Council of fly-tipping / street lighting 

issues can also be undertaken via  the website   

 The Housing Service adopted an improved 

electronic based approach to housing 

applications, welfare rights and homelessness 

 

All indicators related under the digital service shift subheading in the Corporate Scorecard have 

seen performances that have surpassed previous results and increased year on year therefore 

enabling more citizens to access services at a time and place convenient to them. 

 

Whilst these developments can be seen as positive, they also bring with them risks. The Council 

through its strategic risk register acknowledges these risks from an access, governance and support 

perspective and works to mitigate where possible to ensure equality of access  

  

Listed below are some of the other customer service related activities (non-digital) undertaken by 

the Services since the start of the pandemic and evidenced via the service reviews in 2021: 

 All services adhered to the Customer Care Charter despite the pandemic; 

 Over 2,600 welfare calls were undertaken to Council tenants to check on their wellbeing and 

inform them of community response services during the pandemic.  

 Housing Services were also an essential cog in the setting up of the Neges project which 

delivered essential items inclusive of food to the community during the pandemic; 

Page 60

https://www.anglesey.gov.wales/en/Council/Customer-care/Isle-of-Anglesey-County-Council-%E2%80%93-Customer-Strategy.aspx


 

10 
 

 The Resources Service has been responsible for a number of additional covid-19 related 

activities such as the processing of grant applications to businesses across the Island. 

 The Learning Service has seen numerous changes to how education is provided to 

students over the course of the pandemic. A shift to online learning represented a significant 

learning curve for both teachers and students alike. Schools were transformed into Care 

Hubs for the children of essential workers and vulnerable students. All Schools implemented 

new safety guidance. 

 The Regulation and Economic Development Service have seen a significant increase in 

work for the Public Protection Unit ensuring that businesses are adhering to the Coronavirus 

Act (Wales) and when they are not enforcement notices are executed to keep residents safe.  

 Leisure Centres have implemented new procedures to ensure customers and staff are kept 

as safe as possible when using the service. When the centres were closed, staff were 

redeployed to work on the TTP team and help deliver food parcels and PPE.  

 Môn Actif staff were redeployed into schools to assist when supply teachers were not 

available to open classrooms ensuring continuity of learning experiences for children and 

young people.  

 Leisure Centres have also opened their doors for other activities such as Maternity Services 

and Mass Community Testing of Holy Island.  

 Adult Services have seen one of the biggest impacts to their services during the pandemic 

period  where all visits to Care Homes were suspended resulting in staff being the only 

familiar faces that care home residents were able to see for a long time.  

 Children & Family Services saw the implementation of an app called ‘Newid’ which aims to 

improve how children demonstrate their emotions during the pandemic.  

 

These examples demonstrate that the Council has adapted and modernised its provision and 

its way of working to meet customer demand and improve its customer service during the 

past 12 months.  

In addition, the most recent staff survey (2022) noted that –  

 

 

  

 

Overall therefore, considering the evidence and discussion demonstrated in the Service Reviews 

and the examples provided above, the performance for Customer Service is GOOD.  

88% of staff felt that a 

positive customer experience is 

important to the Council 

78% believe the Council 

listens to its residents 

82% also believe that ideas 

from staff for improving customer 

experiences are encouraged and 

valued 

Page 61



 

11 
 

Areas for improvement 
During 2022/23 the key targeted improvements are: 

Area of improvement Assurance 

Increase the opportunity for residents and  stakeholders to 

ensure their voice is heard, through the adoption of a revised, 

revamped and post pandemic public participation strategy  

The Executive 

Gain customer experience feedback on the Corporate 

Telephone System and switchboard to inform future 

improvements; 

Leadership Team 

Further continuation of the digital channel shift, through the 

launch of the bilingual ‘Mona’ Chabot to aide digital customer 

searches and on-line experiences 

Leadership Team 

Modernising our approach from customer service to a more 

rounded customer experience   

Leadership Team 

 

Page 62



 

12 
 

Governance and Compliance 

Overview 
The Governance and Audit Committee is a key component of the Council’s governance framework. 

Its function is to provide an independent and high-level resource to support good governance and 

strong public financial management and to provide ‘those charged with governance’ independent 

assurance on the adequacy of the risk management framework, the internal control environment 

and the integrity of the financial reporting and governance processes. The annual public report 

demonstrates how the committee has discharged its responsibilities.  

This statement is also supported by the findings of the service reviews whereby it was evidenced 

that Services are performing well with all but one ranking as Good from the Service Reviews. All 

services have good management/ governance structures and regular portfolio meetings. 

According to the latest Senior Information Risk Owners’ (SIRO) Annual Report that was 

discussed in the Governance & Audit Committee on the 21st September 2021, “the Council’s Data 

Protection and governance arrangements have achieved a sufficient degree of maturity and cultural 

embedding to be able to identify necessary change and improvement organically and without the 

stimulus of external regulatory intervention as drivers for change. The Council has mechanisms and 

process in place to ensure that key intelligence about information governance compliance is 

captured, analysed and enabling prompt response and operational change and targeted 

development.” 

This opinion is consistent with the self-assessments produced by the Services.  

Compliance with corporate policies continues to be good with the use of 4Policy helping drive 

compliance and regular updates reported to the Chief Executive and Heads of Service.  

The 4Policy system provides the assurance that policies are being read and are understood 

reducing the risk of staff not complying with corporate policies.  

 

Currently, the average completion rate for staff 

completing both the policies on 4Policy is 95% of 

eligible staff. The remaining 5% who have not 

completed the modules include new members of 

staff, staff absence or on annual leave and some 

staff who have not completed the work.  

A full breakdown can be found here.  

 

 

Whilst the above is positive, the Policy Portal does not include all staff and it is estimated that 700 

non-school staff do not have access to the Portal. None of our school based staff have access to the 

Policy Portal either, but all school policies are available on MonITor and accessible by school based 

staff.  

The Learning Service are currently exploring options around how best to monitor compliance of 

school based staff with the policies.  

Page 63

http://democracy.anglesey.gov.uk/documents/s17829/2021%20Policy%20Acceptance%20-%20Governance%20and%20Audit%20Cttee%2021-09-21.pdf?LLL=0


 

13 
 

 
 

 
The completion rate for the e-learning 
modules on Learning Pool is lower however. 
There are many reasons for this, including 
access to a laptop for some staff, the total 
authority staff inclusive of school based staff 
are included, as well as the additional time 
required to complete the modules. Work 
continues to improve the rate.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We are required to comply with the Welsh Language Standards and:  

 Provide Welsh Services; 
 Form policies in a way that promote the Welsh Language; 
 Operate through the medium of Welsh; 
 Promote Welsh; 
 Keep records in relation to the Welsh Language. 

 
The Welsh Language Commissioner’s Office conducted a secret shopper exercise on the Council 

during 2019-20 and concluded that the Council’s “outcomes during the surveys were very 

praiseworthy and there are no issues arising from the outcomes that need to be addressed”.  

In addition to this report from previous years, the Council, as part of the self-regulation, conducted a 

survey during the year with all Services to ensure that the standards continued to be met during the 

Covid-19 pandemic. The Annual Report on the Welsh Language Standards that was reported to the 

Partnership and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee in June 2021 concluded that “there are no 

challenges with regard to complying with the Language Standards and providing a service to 

our customers in their preferred language.” 

Further information can be found in our Annual Report on the Welsh Language Standards. 

An Annual Governance Statement provides assurances that the Council is complying with the 

core (and supporting) principles contained within the Framework for Delivering Good Governance in 

Local Government (CIPFA / Solace, 2016). During 2021, there was assurance that the Authority 

were compliant with all seven core principles: 

Core Principles of the 

Framework 

Overall 

Assessment 

Conclusion of Self-Assessment 

Principle A: Behaving 

with integrity, 

demonstrating strong 

commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting 

the rule of law 

 The County Council has clear, transparent decision-making 

processes which incorporate strong ethical values and are 

lawful. The codes of conduct set out expectations for behaving 

with integrity.  

  

Good 

Page 64

https://democracy.anglesey.gov.uk/documents/s17395/WLS%2020-21%20-%20PRScrutinyCttee%2015-6-21.pdf?LLL=0


 

14 
 

Core Principles of the 

Framework 

Overall 

Assessment 

Conclusion of Self-Assessment 

Principle B: Ensuring 

openness and 

comprehensive 

stakeholder engagement 

 The County Council exists to serve its residents and is 

dependent on a wide variety of stakeholders for working 

effectively in partnership. Engagement and consultation 

mechanisms are in place. 

Principle C: Defining 

outcomes in terms of 

sustainable economic, 

social, cultural and 

environmental benefits 

 The County Council works with communities to plan outcomes. 

In setting policies and strategies, the County Council take a long 

term view about outcomes, taking into account sustainable 

economic, social, cultural and environmental benefits. 

Principle D: Determining 

the interventions 

necessary to optimise the 

achievement of the 

intended outcomes 

 The County Council takes decisions on interventions based on 

its clear vision for services, engaging with communities, 

regulators and practical expertise of professional service 

officers. This combination leads to optimising the achievement of 

intended outcomes.  

Principle E: Developing 

the entity’s capacity, 

including the capability of 

its leadership and the 

individuals within it 

 The County Council have the appropriate structures and 

leadership in place and people with the right skillsets and 

qualifications to ensure it is operating efficiently and effectively to 

achieving intended outcomes. There are clear policies and 

strategies in place to demonstrate that it has the capacity to fulfil 

its mandate and that the management has the operational 

capacity 

Principle F: Managing 

risks and performance 

through robust internal 

control and strong public 

financial management 

 The County Council has an effective performance management 

system that facilitates effective and efficient delivery of services. 

Risk management and internal control are integral and important 

parts of the performance management system and are crucial to 

achieving the outcomes of the Council Plan.  

Principle G: 

Implementing good 

practices in transparency, 

reporting, and audit to 

deliver 

 The County Councils elected members and Senior Management 

are accountable for making decisions and delivering services 

which are supported by both internal and external audits. The 

activities undertaken are in a transparent and clear manner in 

which stakeholders are able to understand and respond to.  

 

Further information on the Annual Governance Statement including supporting evidence is available 

on our website.  

Overall, there is sufficient evidence to support a performance of GOOD for this section 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Good 

Good 

Good 

Good 

Good 

Good 

Page 65

http://democracy.anglesey.gov.uk/documents/s18085/Annual%20Governance%20Statement%202020-21.pdf?LLL=0


 

15 
 

Areas for improvement 
The areas for improvement identified for the Governance and Compliance section are listed below: 

Area of improvement Assurance 

Ensure all staff are compliant with policies with the use of 

4Policy and that staff who can’t access 4Policy are able to 

review and accept the policies in a way which works for them;  

Learning Service in particular to identify options around how 

best to monitor compliance of school based staff with the 

policies; 

Governance and Audit 

Committee 

Implement the ‘three lines of assurance’ model as one method 

to collect information to assist with assurance mapping for the 

Council; 

Governance and Audit 

Committee 

Improve staff compliance against all e-learning modules on 

the Learning Pool 

Corporate Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

 

 

 

Page 66



 

16 
 

B. Use of Resources 

Introduction 
In discharging its duty to effectively use its resources in an economical and efficient manner this part 

of the self-assessment gives particular attention to the way by which the Council manages its 

people, its finances and works in partnership to achieve its aims and objectives.  

These areas provide the assurances that they are used effectively or not and whether improvements 

can be gleaned as to the year ahead. 

People Management 

Overview 
Overall the evidence demonstrates a GOOD performance. 

Corporate initiatives progressed during the year by the HR function include:  

 Reintroducing the Corporate Trainee programme  

 Launching of Môn Management Programme (3 tiered approach to staff development)  

o Academi Môn programme  

o Arweinyddion Môn  

o Twf a Datblygu Talent  

 Developing a Hybrid working pilot policy for office based staff  

Sickness levels for 2021/22 have met their target and are comparable with previous year 

performance levels. The management of sickness within Services, monitoring by the HR function, 

and staff awareness and compliance with policies and protocols have all improved.  

Vacant posts have been generally low but are increasing, as is the rate of staff turnover.  

Staff turnover was 10% on average for 2021/22 which compares favourably with the industry 

average for staff turnover as 15.5%.  

All services have drafted their workforce development plans – these should be live documents, 

with all workforce and staff management issues being a recognised priority area for managers at all 

levels.  

An Online Annual Conversation process (between managers and individual staff) was introduced via 

the Learning Pool during the past 12 months to ensure that annual conversations between 

managers and staff are undertaken and can be evidenced to ensure clarity of direction, performance 

expectations and staff wellbeing.  

The results of the staff survey (2022) also supports the scoring of Good with regards to people 

management.  

Examples of the results can be seen below:  

 

 

 

 

 

4 of every 5 staff members feel 

proud to work for the Council 

 

Page 67



 

17 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

(4) (2) (1) 

 

 

 

 

This finding of ‘good’ with regards to people management in April 2022 and the most recent staff 

survey builds upon the results of the 2020 staff survey which questioned how staff appreciated the 

revised working from home directive.  

Whilst this is a positive reflection once again, it is advised that difficulty with recruitment and 

retention of staff was an issue which was raised at Service Reviews. Upon further exploration, this 

remains a challenging aspect of our management of people. This is being experienced in other 

Council’s, sectors, and the broader labour market across the UK as cited by the Chartered Institute 

of Internal Auditors (IIA). 

Areas for improvement 
The key areas for improvement during 2022/23 therefore can be tabled as follows - .  

Area of improvement Assurance 

Develop and deliver a recruitment and retention action plan  Leadership Team 

Further evolution of the hybrid working, balancing team and 

performance requirements, customer experiences, staff 

health, wellbeing and personal preference  

Leadership Team 

Providing effective and professional broadcasting of formal 

Council hybrid meetings  

Public meetings 

4 of every 5 staff members would 

recommend the Council as 

an employer 

 

3 of every 4 staff members 

believe their work is valued by 

the Council 

 

3 of every 4 staff members 

speak positively about 

the Council to others 

 

Page 68

https://www.iia.org.uk/policy-and-research/research-reports/risk-in-focus/
https://www.iia.org.uk/policy-and-research/research-reports/risk-in-focus/


 

18 
 

Area of improvement Assurance 

Further evolve and deliver Service level workforce 

development plans to balance performance, modernisation, 

business continuity, staff health and well-being. 

Leadership Team 

Further embed the Annual Conversation between Managers 

and staff  

Leadership Team 

Page 69



 

19 
 

Resourcing 

Overview 
The uncertainties, changing demands, and restrictions made 2021/22 an extremely challenging 

period to deliver services from a resourcing and resource management perspective. In its audit of 

accounts Audit Wales states clearly that the “pandemic has had a significant impact on all aspects of 

our society” and that it is of considerable testament to the commitment of staff that the audit of 

accounts was enabled through their professionalism as a team in supporting Audit Wales in such 

difficult circumstances.  

Whilst 2021/22 was a challenge, the overall performance of many Services in the way that they used 

and prioritised their provision was seen as ‘Good’. Three services were deemed excellent - 

Housing, Highways, Waste & Property and Human Resource & Transformation.  

Housing, due to the effective and efficient use of HRA funding together with utilisation of the 

Council’s general fund to deliver increased homelessness and empty homes provision.  

The Highways, Waste and Property (with corporate support) used their resources effectively to re-

tender the waste collection service contract at a time of difficulty and improved their green garden 

waste collection service during the period.  

The Human Resources & Transformation Service managed resources in an efficient way to continue 

providing an effective local Test, Trace and Protect service; and in addition enabled office based 

staff to work remotely (and safely) through a Hybrid pilot scheme.  

The Council during the past 12 months has been able to –  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In addition, the Annual Report of the Governance and Audit Committee notes that the Council is a 

well-managed authority which in turn contributes to ensuring that it is making the best use of its 

resources. This report was endorsed by the County Council in its meeting of the 7th of September, 

2021.  

Unfortunately, capital expenditure has underspent, with projects being delayed as a result of the 

pandemic and Brexit impacts on the construction sector but mitigating actions have been 

undertaken to address this issue for 2022/23.  

Page 70

https://democracy.anglesey.gov.uk/documents/s17393/Annual%20Report%20of%20the%20Governance%20Audit%20Committee%202020-21.pdf?LLL=0


 

20 
 

The audit of the Council’s financial statements for 2020/21 by Wales Audit was an unqualified audit 

opinion once again. They did however note that “the quality of the draft statements presented for 

audit on 15 June 2021 was identified as an area for improvement in the Audit of Accounts report 

(ISA 260)”; 

The 2017/18 Housing Benefit subsidy was settled in 2020/21. Audit Wales do however note that 

they are still undertaking claims for the financial years 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21 returns. They 

also note that their “work to date has identified a number of issues with the claims and issues 

around staff capacity to deal with auditor queries. This is an area where the council needs to 

prioritise effort in the coming months so the audit cycle can become more timely”;  

The need for prioritisation and modernisation has also been evidenced during the service reviews 

and thereafter by the newly formed Leadership Team. Progressing with this aspect across all 

services (in particular the larger services) will assist the Council in its drive to use its resources as 

efficiently and as effectively as possible into the future. When considering the added pressures and 

costs that are currently on-going with the warning from the Bank of England of an economic 

slowdown as interest rates and inflation rise, this will be a key area for improvement for the Council 

over the forthcoming next 12 months.   

Areas for Improvement 
Our key areas for improvement for 2022/23 are –  

Area of improvement Assurance 

The Children & Families Service will expand it  Flying Start 

programme across the Island,  rather than certain areas, which 

will ultimately reduce the need for children coming into the 

statutory services and reduce our Looked After children 

population. 

Social Services 

Scrutiny Panel  

The Council develops and adopts a capital strategy aligned to 

the new Council Plan (2022/27).  

The Executive 

Minimise future housing subsidy with-holds by agreeing a 

suitable timetable with external auditors and reviewing staffing 

capacity; 

Audit Wales reports 

The Council reviews and revises its annual budget setting 

process to ensure increasing pressures can be mitigated for 

2023/24 and that the Councils’ resources are used as efficiently 

and as effectively as possible into the future when considering 

the added pressures and costs that are currently on-going 

The Executive 

Page 71



 

21 
 

Collaboration & Integration 

Overview 
Being a small and innovative organisation, the Council continues to embrace effective and 

meaningful collaboration as part of its core values and way of working to improve its efficiency and 

effectiveness in responding to local needs, opportunities, and challenges. Many collaborative 

arrangements, formal and informal have proved to be invaluable to inform and assist the Council 

and Island to respond to the challenges and uncertainties of the pandemic.  

This assessment assists with evidencing how and where the Council is embracing the five ways of 

working within the Well-being of Future Generations Act.  

Seven out of the nine services within the Council were found to be Excellent in this section - Adult 

Services, Children’s & Families Service, Housing, Regulation & Economic Development, 

Learning, Highways, Waste & Property and Transformation due to their continued collaborative 

efforts across a number of work-streams in delivering business as usual activities and the council’s 

response of the ever-changing pandemic landscape.    

Examples (non-exhaustive) of the work undertaken include:  

 The Vulnerable Adults forum between North Wales Police, Social Services & Housing 

 Covid-19 Protect Boards – with all 22 Local Authorities, Chaired by Welsh Government 

 Anglesey Tackling Poverty Operational Group – IOACC, DWP, CAB Ynys Môn 

 The North Wales Economic Ambition Board  

 The three Community Resource Teams respond to complex cases as a partnership and 

continues to strengthen its relationship with the Third Sector, Care providers and residents  

 Partnership Delivery Programme (Welsh Government Welsh Heads of Trading Standards) 

 Destination Anglesey Partnership which includes partnerships with many public and private 

tourism entities  

 Anglesey Food Bank Group with essential partnerships with local food banks and CAB 

 Place Shaping which involves working together with the 3rd Sector and 5 alliances across the 

Island to support communities to take ownership of their own priorities and needs 

 Anglesey Covid 19 Prevention & Surveillance Group (Regional Partnership) 

Further work has also been undertaken to improve the breadth and quality of customer services and 

experience which is provided through Cyswllt Môn which is undertaken in a collaborative and 

integrated manner supporting a number of services. 

The staff survey also demonstrated that staff felt strongly that the Council is doing well re: our 

collaborative way of working and the majority of staff respondents identifying that the Council is 

doing the most of partnership working and joint working whilst there were also areas to improve.   

Overall therefore, there is sufficient evidence to demonstrate that the County Council is 

EXCELLENT in its collaborative work and integration with other organisations but further areas of 

improvement have been identified to be realised during 2022/23. 

 

Page 72



 

22 
 

Areas for Improvement 
These areas for improvement are as follows -   

Area of improvement Assurance 

Continue to develop and review partnerships to ensure that 

they are fit for purpose and are in line with the revised and 

new Council Plan (2022/27), other strategies and 

programmes.  

Partnership and 

Regeneration Scrutiny 

Committee 

Establish a collective and collaborative approach to record 

outputs and measures across the Community Resource 

Team workforce which houses health and social care 

professions. 

Social Services Scrutiny 

Panel  

Review the Single Point of Access (SPOA) process to 

identify where and how improvements can be made  

Social Services Scrutiny 

Panel  

 

Page 73



 

23 
 

C. Risk Management 

Introduction 
Risk Management and its use within a complex organisation such as a County Council is imperative 

to ensure that decision making, performance levels and service provision is provided in as effective 

and efficient a manner as possible. The use of risk management has been improved over the term 

of the last administration and this was evidenced accordingly in the establishment of the Emergency 

Management Response Team which was an integral forum in dealing with the Council’s response of 

the challenges of responding to the pandemic. 

This section combines findings from completed Internal Audits, External Auditors and Peers which 

highlight risks needed to be mitigated as well as the Council’s Risk Management arrangements. 

Audit & Risk 

Overview 
Over the last few years, a number of services have had external audits, most of which resulting in 

positive assessments. This is evidenced in the overall Service Performance Rating of GOOD for risk 

management. Throughout the Service Reviews it was clear that recommendations from Internal 

Audits, External Auditors and Peers were being actioned and monitored.  

 CIW completed an inspection of the services for older people which focussed on prevention 

and early intervention.  

o The inspection found strengths including that “the local authority firmly has prevention 

on their agenda” and that “communication with people who approach the local 

authority for support is respectful and strengths based, it is often collaborative, and 

mostly built upon an equal relationship”  

o The inspection also found some areas for improvement around Well-being, people’s 

voice & choice, partnerships, integration and co-production and prevention & early 

intervention which has resulted in Adult Services formulating an action plan which will 

be monitored by the Social Services Improvement Board.  

The inspection report can be found here - https://careinspectorate.wales/inspection-older-

adults-services-isle-anglesey-county-council ; 

 Due to the Covid pandemic Estyn suspended the inspections of schools and kept in touch 

with education providers remotely. There are currently no schools in the follow-up status with 

Estyn which provides assurance that learners are achieving in education settings on the 

Island.    

 

 Audit Wales published a positive report in November 2019 on the ‘Well-being of Future 

Generations: An examination of early intervention and prevention to ensure that 

children are safe and supported’ and they concluded that “the Council has considered and 

applied the sustainable development principle in developing the ‘Early intervention and 

prevention to ensure that children are safe and supported’, but there are opportunities to 

further embed the five ways of working”.  

 

 The Council were also part of some National Reviews undertaken by Audit Wales. The 

Council’s response to the National Reviews are reported to the Governance and Audit 

Committee on an Annual Basis and can be found here. The National Reviews undertaken 

during 2020/21 were: 

  ‘Commissioning Older People’s Care Home Placements’ 

Page 74

https://careinspectorate.wales/inspection-older-adults-services-isle-anglesey-county-council
https://careinspectorate.wales/inspection-older-adults-services-isle-anglesey-county-council
https://www.audit.wales/publication/isle-anglesey-county-council-well-being-future-generations-examination-2019-20
https://www.audit.wales/publication/isle-anglesey-county-council-well-being-future-generations-examination-2019-20
https://www.audit.wales/publication/isle-anglesey-county-council-well-being-future-generations-examination-2019-20
http://democracy.anglesey.gov.uk/documents/s18162/National%20External%20Audit%20Reports%20-%209.12.21.pdf?LLL=0
https://www.audit.wales/publication/north-wales-councils-and-betsi-cadwaladr-university-health-board-commissioning-older


 

24 
 

 ‘North Wales Economic Ambition Board – Progress Review of the North Wales 

Growth Deal’ 

 ‘Discretionary Services (April 2021)’ 

 ‘Regenerating town centres in Wales (September 2021)’ 

 

Further information on the External Audits undertaken for 2020-21 can be found by clicking 

on the hyperlinks.  

 

 All services have provided evidence that structures are in place to respond to internal audit 

with many services improving cooperation and engagement with Internal Audit over the last 

two years, especially in light of the audits undertaken since the start of the pandemic.  

  

 In the latest Internal Audit Annual Report, the Head of Internal Audit’s noted that “for the 12 

months ended 31 March 2022…the organisation has an adequate and effective framework 

for risk management, governance and internal control. While I do not consider any areas of 

significant corporate concern, some areas require the introduction or improvement of internal 

controls to ensure the achievement of objectives, and these are the subject of monitoring.”  

 

 The Internal Audit Annual Report 2021-22 also noted that they “were able to provide 

‘Reasonable’ assurance or above for 64% of the assurance audits we undertook during 

2021/22. Seven audits (28%) received ‘Limited’ assurance during the year, compared to five 

(22%) in 2020/21.  

 

 
 

The report goes on to state that in accordance with their protocol they “formally revisit all the 

‘Issues/Risks’ raised in reports with a ‘Limited’ assurance, when they become due, to 

ensure they are effectively addressed. (They) formally revisited all seven reports with a 

‘Limited’ assurance rating. Following (their) revisit, (they) were able to raise the assurance 

to ‘Reasonable’ in three of the reports, while (they) will continue to monitor and report on the 

remaining four.” 

 

Improvements against these limited assurances will be prioritised by the relevant services 

over the forthcoming 12 months.  

 

Substantial
4%

Reasonable
60%

Limited
28%

No
0%

Draft
8%

Page 75

https://www.audit.wales/publication/north-wales-economic-ambition-board-progress-review-north-wales-growth-deal
https://www.audit.wales/publication/north-wales-economic-ambition-board-progress-review-north-wales-growth-deal
https://www.audit.wales/publication/your-discretion-local-government-discretionary-services
https://www.audit.wales/publication/regenerating-town-centres-wales
https://democracy.anglesey.gov.uk/documents/s18317/2757A2021-22_Isle_of_Anglesey_Audit_Summary_Final_Eng.pdf?LLL=0


 

25 
 

 Risk registers are being uploaded, updated, and monitored quarterly on 4Risk and the 

Strategic risk register is reviewed periodically by the Leadership Team (SLT) and is also 

considered by the Governance and Audit Committee twice a year. The use of 4Risk has now 

been embedded into services virtual quarterly meetings. The use of risk registers and their 

mitigating actions has been important during the pandemic with the Emergency Management 

Response Team (EMRT) reviewing and updating weekly to inform the Council’s decisions 

and actions in response to the pandemic.  
 

 Whilst developed and embedded in the day to day delivery of services there is an appetite to 

further develop their use in the corporate decision making process. As such, a review of the 

Risk Management Framework will be completed during the year which will help develop this 

relationship.  
 

 The ‘Risk Management Update’ was presented to the Governance & Audit Committee on the 

8th February and the minutes reflected that the Risk and Insurance Manager reported that 

“the Senior Leadership Team (SLT) had undertaken a thorough review of the entire risk 

register and a decision has been made that the SLT’s focus should be on those risks to the 

achievement of the strategic priorities, hence a new strategic risk register aligned to the 

corporate priorities has been developed and replaces the corporate risk register. 
 

 Following the review, the SLT has identified the top five red/critical residual risks to the 

achievement of the Council’s corporate and strategic objectives and these relate to 

workforce management, IT continuity, cyber-security, school modernisation and the ongoing 

suitability of physical assets. 
 

 All Services believed their performance was good. The evidence above and within the 

Service Self Assessments confirms this and it is fair to say that the Councils overall 

performance from a risk management perspective is GOOD. 
 

Areas for improvement 
The areas for improvement for 2022/23 are: 

Area of improvement Assurance 

External Audit recommendations (national and local) are 

actioned and monitored using 4Action 

Governance & Audit 

Committee 

Review and revise the risk management strategy, policy and 

guidance which will form a clear and concise risk 

management framework to be followed across the Council 

Governance & Audit 

Committee 

To continue with the implementation of regulatory 

expectations at a time of change through the Local 

Government and Elections Act 2021 

Governance & Audit 

Committee 

 

 

 

Page 76

https://democracy.anglesey.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=13818&LLL=0


 

26 
 

Corporate Safeguarding 

Overview 
This section of the Service Reviews was introduced to give the Strategic Corporate Safeguarding 

Board Assurance that the Council was effectively undertaking its duties and responsibilities.   

All but two of the Services noted Good performance.  

The two services that were deemed excellent were the Children’s & Families Service and Adult 

Services who also directly influence and inform the Councils’ approach to Corporate Safeguarding, 

regional plans and partnerships.   

Staff have been required to accept the Corporate Safeguarding Policy via the Policy Portal since 

December 2018. The last update on compliance against the policy was seen by the Audit and 

Governance Committee in September 2019, with 95% of staff having read and accepted the policy.  

The policy was introduced for re-acceptance in May 2022 and compliance data will be reported to 

the Governance and Audit Committee in September 2022.   

The Strategic Corporate Safeguarding Board provides assurance to Elected Members, Chief 

Executive, and the Statutory Director that the Council’s safeguarding practices and arrangements 

are robust.  It meets quarterly as part of the Corporate Heads of Services meeting. This ensures that 

every Director and Head of Service influence and inform the Strategic Corporate Safeguarding 

Board. The Board focusses on actions to identify and prevent radicalisation, modern slavery, 

violence against women, sexual abuse and domestic abuse.  

There are representatives from all Services on the Operational Corporate Safeguarding Board, 

although attendance of some services could be improved. A self-assessment has been developed, 

undertaken annually to ensure that each Service is compliant with the policy. An action plan is then 

be produced and monitored by the Board. 

The current action plan’s focus is on:  

 Corporate Leadership and governance   

 Communication and Awareness:    

 Safe and Skilled Workforce   

 Effective Support and Interventions 

 Partners, volunteers and commissioned services 

A Basic and General Safeguarding training programme is available and Services are required to 

map their needs in accordance with the Safeguarding Training Framework in order to feed into the 

corporate programme. Specialist training is also provided in line with the identified workforce needs. 

There are also several e-learning modules available to staff:  

Policy / Module Percentage Completed 

Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 

Violence**** 

71% 

GDPR**** 82% 

Modern Slavery**** 82% 

Page 77



 

27 
 

Policy / Module Percentage Completed 

Prevent**** 79% 

 

Overall, the evidence would result in a performance of Good corporately for the Council.  

Areas for Improvement 
The areas for improvement identified during the Service Reviews can be seen below. It is proposed 

that these will be monitored by the Corporate Safeguarding Board over the next 12 months to 

ensure that these improvements are made. 

Area of improvement Assurance 

The Corporate Safeguarding Board should review all 

responses from the services to ensure that they are 

satisfied with a performance of Good for Corporate 

Safeguarding 

Corporate Safeguarding 

Board 

The Corporate Safeguarding Board should agree an 

action plan following the completion of self-

assessments by the Services and it should be 

continued to be monitored by the board going forward 

Corporate Safeguarding 

Board 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 78



 

28 
 

Overall Conclusion 
 

All Services are currently performing overall as Good with  

“Many strengths and no important areas requiring significant improvement”  

With prospects for improvement also GOOD, which is further defined as -   

“Effective Service who are already doing well and knows the areas needed to improve. By identifying the 

right support and taking action the service has the potential to do even better”. 

It can also be evidenced by plotting on the matrix appended to this report that each Service understand 

how good (or weak) their performance is and also how robust their prospects for improvement are. 

This provides assurances that the Council overall is progressing on its modernisation and Continuous 

Improvement journey, despite the challenges and uncertainties created by the pandemic.  

We can say with confidence that the Council is always looking to improve how services are provided by -   

 changing processes,  

 modernising,  

 reducing wastage, and  

 increasing quality.  

There is evidence throughout the Service Reviews and associated reports that this continuous 

improvement is embedded in every Service area.    

Meaningful and effective political and corporate leadership, along with dedicated, committed and 

hardworking staff, drives this performance and commitment to modernisation and continuous improvement; 

effective service delivery and meaningful collaboration. 

Effective plans are in place to ensure that the new Council will continue along this journey between 2022 

and 2027.  

The Leadership Team owns the associated modernisation and improvement action plan, with progress 

being reported quarterly to the Corporate Scrutiny Committee. 

Page 79



 

29 
 

The Council’s Service Position Statement - 2022 

Self- 
Assessment 
Category 

Evidence 
Categories 

Adults Children 
Council 

Business 

Regulation 
& Econ 

Dev 

Highways, 
Waste & 
Property 

Housing Learning Resources Transformation 

 
Performance 
Management 
 

Performance 
Reporting 

Good Good Good Adequate Good Excellent Good Good Excellent 

Customer 
Service 

Good Good Good Good Good Good Excellent 
Good / 

Adequate 
Good 

Governance 
and 
Compliance 

Good Good Good Good Adequate Good Good Good Good 

Use of 
Resources 
 
 

Workforce 
Development 
and People 
Management 

Good Good Adequate Good Good Excellent Good 
Good / 

Adequate 
Good 

Resourcing Good Good Good Good Excellent Good Excellent Good Excellent 

Collaboration 
and Integration 

Excellent Excellent Good Excellent Excellent Excellent Excellent Good Excellent 

Risk 
Management 
 

External 
regulatory 
reports / peer 
input 

Good Good Good N/A N/A Good Good 
Good / 

Adequate 
Good 

Internal Audit Good Good Good N/A N/A N/A Good 
Adequate / 

Good 
Good 

Corporate 
Safeguarding 

Excellent Excellent Good Good Good Good Good Good Good 

P
age 80



 

30 
 

Matrix 

C
u
rre

n
t P

e
rfo

rm
a
n
c
e

 

 Under Performing / Costing    Continuous Improvement 

E
x
c
e
lle

n
t 

    

G
o
o
d

 

    

 Poorly Performing Developing 

A
d
e
q

u
a
te

 

    

U
n
s
a
tis

fa
c
to

ry
 

    

 Poor Adequate Good Excellent 

 Prospects for Improvement 

  Key 
AS – Adult Services, CB - Council Business, CF – Children and Families Service, H – Housing, HWP – Highways Waste and Property,  
L – Learning, R – Resources, RED – Regulation & Economic Development, T - Transformation 

AS 

R/RED 

CF/L 

HWP 
CB 

H 

T 

P
age 81



 

31 
 

Identified Areas for Improvement 
Area of improvement Assurance 

Continue to monitor and improve the indicators that have 

been affected by the coronavirus pandemic to ensure 

associated risks are managed appropriately 

Quarterly scorecard monitoring 

reports 

Improve the percentage of Waste Reused, Recycled or 

Composted indicator and meet Welsh Government targets 

as soon as possible 

Quarterly scorecard monitoring 

reports 

Improve performance within the Regulation and Economic 

Development service with particular attention on 

indicators within the Planning function. 

Quarterly scorecard monitoring 

reports 

Utilise software to become more data aware and informed 

to make even more effective evidence-based decisions.  

Programme Board 

Develop a means by which Council performance can be 

communicated to a wider audience of staff  

Leadership Team  

Increase the opportunity for residents and  stakeholders 

to ensure their voice is heard, through the adoption of a 

revised, revamped and post pandemic public participation 

strategy  

The Executive 

Gain customer experience feedback on the Corporate 

Telephone System and switchboard to inform future 

improvements; 

Leadership Team 

Further continuation of the digital channel shift, through 

the launch of the bilingual ‘Mona’ Chabot to aide digital 

customer searches and on-line experiences 

Leadership Team 

Modernising our approach from customer service to a 

more rounded customer experience   

Leadership Team 

Ensure all staff are compliant with policies with the use of 

4Policy and that staff who can’t access 4Policy are able to 

review and accept the policies in a way which works for 

them;  

Learning Service in particular to identify options around 

how best to monitor compliance of school based staff with 

the policies; 

Governance and Audit Committee 

Implement the ‘three lines of assurance’ model as one 

method to collect information to assist with assurance 

mapping for the Council; 

Governance and Audit Committee 

Improve staff compliance against all e-learning modules 

on the Learning Pool 

Corporate Scrutiny Committee 

Develop and deliver a recruitment and retention action 

plan  

Leadership Team 

Page 82



 

32 
 

Area of improvement Assurance 

Further evolution of the hybrid working, balancing team 

and performance requirements, customer experiences, 

staff health, wellbeing and personal preference  

Leadership Team 

Providing effective and professional broadcasting of 

formal Council hybrid meetings  

Leadership Team 

Further evolve and deliver Service level workforce 

development plans to balance performance, 

modernisation, business continuity, staff health and well-

being. 

Leadership Team 

Further embed the Annual Conversation between 

Managers and staff  

Leadership Team 

The Children & Families Service will expand it  Flying Start 

programme across the Island,  rather than certain areas, 

which will ultimately reduce the need for children coming 

into the statutory services and reduce our Looked After 

children population. 

Social Services Scrutiny Panel  

The Council develops and adopts a capital strategy 

aligned to the new Council Plan (2022/27).  

The Executive 

Minimise future housing subsidy with-holds by agreeing a 

suitable timetable with external auditors and reviewing 

staffing capacity; 

Audit Wales reports 

The Council reviews and revises its annual budget setting 

process to ensure increasing pressures can be mitigated 

for 2023/24 and that the Councils’ resources are used as 

efficiently and as effectively as possible into the future 

when considering the added pressures and costs that are 

currently on-going 

The Executive 

Continue to develop and review partnerships to ensure 

that they are fit for purpose and are in line with the revised 

and new Council Plan (2022/27), other strategies and 

programmes.  

Partnership and Regeneration 

Scrutiny Committee 

Establish a collective and collaborative approach to 

record outputs and measures across the Community 

Resource Team workforce which houses health and social 

care professions. 

Social Services Scrutiny Panel  

Review the Single Point of Access (SPOA) process to 

identify where and how improvements can be made  

Social Services Scrutiny Panel  

External Audit recommendations (national and local) are 

actioned and monitored using 4Action; 

Governance & Audit Committee 

Review and revise the risk management strategy, policy 

and guidance which will form a clear and concise risk 

management framework to be followed across the Council 

Governance & Audit Committee 

Page 83



 

33 
 

Area of improvement Assurance 

To continue with the implementation of regulatory 

expectations at a time of change through the Local 

Government and Elections Act 2021; 

Governance & Audit Committee 

The Corporate Safeguarding Board should review all 

responses from the services to ensure that they are 

satisfied with a performance of Good for Corporate 

Safeguarding 

Corporate Safeguarding Board 

The Corporate Safeguarding Board should agree an action 

plan following the completion of self-assessments by the 

Services and it should be continued to be monitored by 

the board going forward 

Corporate Safeguarding Board 

 

Page 84



1 

V1.3: April 2021 

Mae'r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg / This document is also available in Welsh 

Isle of Anglesey County Council 

Report to: County Council 

Date: 30 September 2022 

Subject: Regional and local Market Stability Report  

 

Head of Service / 
Director: 
 

Director of Social Services, Head of Children & Family 
Services 
 
Head of Adult Services 
 

Report Author: 
Tel: 
E-mail: 

Regional Lead / SRO: Morwena Edwards and Clare 
Darlington (Joint Chairs of the Regional Commissioning 
Board) 
Regional Contact Officer:  Sarah Bartlett / Catrin Perry 
 
Local Contact Officer:  Emma Edwards- Business 
Manager Social Services 
01248 751887 
EmmaEdwards@ynysmon.llyw.cymru 
 

 

 

A –Recommendation/s and reason/s 

Recommendation: 

That the County Council approves the North Wales Market Stability Report. 

That the County Council approves the Market Stability Report for Anglesey. 

Reason:  

The Welsh Government has introduced the Code of Practice (CoP) for the 

preparation of Market Stability Reports (MSR) to support this requirement stated in 

the Social Services and Wellbeing Act (2014). 

The MSR Code of Practice requires that local authorities and local health boards 

work in partnership to prepare and publish market stability report based on data for 

each local authority area as well as an aggregated version on an RPB footprint.  The 

Code of Practice states that: 

“The duty to prepare and publish a market stability report, as set out in the 2014 Act, 

sits with each local authority, but the Regulations require them to carry out this 

function on a regional footprint and in partnership with the Local Health Board, so 

that one market stability report will be prepared for each of the seven RPB areas 

across Wales” [CoP Section 3.11]  

 

Page 85

Agenda Item 7.

mailto:EmmaEdwards@ynysmon.llyw.cymru


2 

V1.3: April 2021 

Mae'r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg / This document is also available in Welsh 

However, local authorities must ensure that the market stability report also contains 

an assessment of the market for care and support within each local authority area 

as well as across the RPB area as a whole [CoP Section 3.13]. 

In this way, the report will inform both regional and local decision-making around 

commissioning care and support (especially, but not exclusively, regulated 

services), feeding into the strategic area plan for the RPB area and helping shape 

local and regional commissioning strategies [CoP Section 3.14]. 

In preparing their market stability reports, local authorities must carry out, in 

partnership with the Local Health Board and other RPB partners, an assessment of 

both: 

a) the sufficiency of care and support in meeting the needs and demand for 

social care as set out in the population needs assessment, and 

b) the stability of the market for regulated services providing care and support [ 

CoP section 4.2].   

The market stability assessment focuses on regulated services. These are: 

• care home services (adult and children’s) 

• secure accommodation services (for children) 

• residential family centre services 

• adoption services 

• fostering services 

• adult placement (‘shared lives’) services 

• advocacy services 

• domiciliary support services 

The MSR Code of Practice also states that whilst Preventative services are not 

regulated services it requires local authorities and Local Health Boards to set out 

the range and level of preventative services that will be required to meet those needs 

identified in the Population Needs Assessment and assess how the availability of 

preventative services can also have a major impact upon the need for regulated 

services.  Therefore, preventative services must be considered as part of the MSR. 

The Code of Practice also notes other themes that must be considered in the MSR 

including: 

a) Social Value 

b) The Welsh Language 

Page 86



3 

V1.3: April 2021 

Mae'r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg / This document is also available in Welsh 

c) Workforce 

d) Direct Payments and self-funded provision 

There is a strong link between the MSR and the recently produced North Wales 

Population Needs Assessment 2022 where the population needs assessment sets 

out current and projected need and demand for care and support, and the range 

and level of services that will be required to meet that demand. The market stability 

report will assess the sufficiency of the care and support provided in meeting the 

needs and demand established through the population needs assessment. 

Whilst the MSR is a statutory requirement, this is not the main reason for undertaking 

the work. The MSR is a vital document that provides an evidence base to support 

organisations and services across the region, specifically it is to be used for strategic 

planning cycles underpinning the integration of services and support partnership 

arrangements. 

Significant officer time has been involved in the production of local working papers, 

data analysis and research to inform the regional report. These working papers, 

although not published as part of the regional report, are valuable local planning 

documents.  The approach we have taken to this work is detailed in Figure 1 below. 

Figure 1 – North Wales Approach to the development of the PNA&MSR 

 
 

Both the PNA and MSR documents will be used to plan local and regional delivery 

plan and service development plans going forward.   

It is also vital that both documents are kept up to date and are used as live document 

for on-going planning.  Therefore, the PNA-MSR Steering Group [see Figure 1] will 

continue to meet to undertake this updating and ongoing review of both documents 

and to work with the local teams on the development of the regional and local 

implementation/delivery plans.   

 

Page 87



4 

V1.3: April 2021 

Mae'r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg / This document is also available in Welsh 

The requirement to produce an accessible, regional report in a short timescale has 

limited what can be included. The work has been carried out during a very 

challenging time due to the pressures and capacity across the partner organisations.  

It has involved a significant effort by officers to ensure that a meaningful document 

was produced.   

It should also be noted that very little national data on the care market was available 

and thus we have relied heavily on local and regional commissioning information.   

The final MSR document is therefore not perfect and we recommend updating as 

new national data becomes available and more work is carried out locally e.g. the 

impact of Covid, financial challenges and the impact of re-balancing social care on 

the on the care market.  We will develop an on-going process to improve and update 

the MSR so that it remains meaningful and current. This will also help make it a 

more manageable process. 

The MSR is a co-produced document and engagement led.  Local and regional lead 

officers undertook data analysis, background literature reviews, service reviews and 

additional focussed local engagement work.  The key issues and themes identified 

are based on consultation and feedback from staff, partner organisations, Public 

Health Wales and local Health Board colleagues, service users and the general 

public to identify strategic needs for care and support. This included information from 

existing commissioning strategies and needs assessments.   

As such our co-production approach to the work means that we have a meaningful 

and informed MSR document that involved a wide variety of people, as opposed to 

a document created in isolation via a desk-top exercise, which has been the 

approach employed by some other regions of Wales.   

A copy of the Regional and Anglesey Market Stability Report is attached for your 

information. 

 

 

B – What other options did you consider and why did you reject them 
and/or opt for this option?  
-The MSR is a statutory requirement, no other options available. 
 

 

 

C – Why is this a decision for the Executive? 
Refer to section A 
 

 

 

Ch – Is this decision consistent with policy approved by the full 
Council? 
Not relevant 
 

Page 88



5 

V1.3: April 2021 

Mae'r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg / This document is also available in Welsh 

 

 

D – Is this decision within the budget approved by the Council? 
Not relevant 
 

 

 

 

Dd –  Assessing the potential impact (if relevant): 
1 How does this decision impact on 

our long term needs as an Island? 

The MSR assessment of the sufficiency 

and stability of the market for regulated 

care and support services adds to the 

assessment of care and support needs 

of the population contained in the PNA.  

Both the PNA and MSR documents 

contribute to regional and local level 

strategic planning cycles, consequently 

this will support the local authorities’ 

corporate priorities that are linked to the 

health and social care needs of its 

resident population.  

A Well-being Assessment must be 

produced as a requirement of the Well-

being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 

2015 by each Public Service Board. The 

population assessment considered the 

care and support needs of the population 

while the Well-being Assessment covers 

prosperity, health, resilience, equality, 

vibrant culture, global responsibility and 

cohesive communities. There is overlap 

between the two so the project team for 

the MSR are liaising with officers for the 

PSBs about the progress of the needs 

assessment and Well-being 

assessments and sharing information 

where necessary.  

As well as informing our local plans, the 

next phase of the project will also involve 

using the population assessment and 

the market stability report to develop an 

area plan for the region. Future work on 

the area plan may involve further 

research and consultation to explore 

priority areas in more depth before 

agreeing which areas to prioritise for 

Page 89



6 

V1.3: April 2021 

Mae'r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg / This document is also available in Welsh 

Dd –  Assessing the potential impact (if relevant): 
regional work. The area plan is to be 

developed and published in 2023.  

 

2 Is this a decision which it is 
envisaged will prevent future costs / 
dependencies on the Authority? If so, 
how? 

Not directly but the information 
contained within the MSR will inform 
future decision making. 

3 Have we been working 
collaboratively with other 
organisations to come to this 
decision?  If so, please advise whom. 

Yes- Regional Commissioning Board 
and the Regional Partnership Board. 

4 Have Anglesey citizens played a part 
in drafting this way forward, including 
those directly affected by the 
decision? Please explain how. 

The North Wales Social Care and 

Wellbeing Services Improvement 

Collaborative set up a regional steering 

group to lead the work for the technical, 

engagement, data and other theme-

based groups to lead on specific tasks. 

Membership of the groups is from each 

North Wales local authority, Betsi 

Cadwaladr University Health Board 

(BCUHB), Public Health Wales and 

other parties with an interest in the 

needs assessment such as officers for 

the PSBs.  

Engagement for the MSR included: a 

questionnaire for organisations that asks 

for their views and evidence; 

engagement with different sector 

providers e.g. third sector and also local 

workshops with providers. This has 

provided rich qualitative data to inform 

the MSR.  Further findings are available 

on the regional collaboration 

engagement database, which is an 

ongoing project to improve the 

coordination of engagement activities 

across the region and enable better use 

of the findings.  

 
 
 
 

Page 90

https://www.northwalescollaborative.wales/engagements/
https://www.northwalescollaborative.wales/engagements/


7 

V1.3: April 2021 

Mae'r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg / This document is also available in Welsh 

Dd –  Assessing the potential impact (if relevant): 
5 Note any potential impact that this 

decision would have on the groups 
protected under the Equality Act 
2010. 

The EqIA is available on request.    

 

6 If this is a strategic decision, note any 
potential impact that the decision 
would have on those experiencing 
socio-economic disadvantage. 

All areas of Social care have been 
considered in developing the MSR. 

7 Note any potential impact that this 
decision would have on opportunities 
for people to use the Welsh language 
and on treating the Welsh language 
no less favourably than the English 
language. 

Report is available bilingually, and 
reflects the needs of Welsh language 
specifically. 

 

 

E – Who did you consult?                         What did they say? 
1 Chief Executive / Senior Leadership 

Team (SLT) 
(mandatory) 

The SLT members’ comments have 
been incorporated into this report. 

2 
 

Finance / Section 151 
(mandatory)  

As above 

3 Legal / Monitoring Officer 
(mandatory)  

As above 

4 Human Resources (HR) N/A 

5 Property  N/A 

6 Information Communication 
Technology (ICT) 

N/A 

7 Procurement N/A 

8 Scrutiny This report will be discussed by the 
Partnership Scrutiny Committee on 
September 26, 2022. 

9 Local Members N/A as this is applicable for the whole to 
the whole island. 

 

 

 

F - Appendices: 
Appendix 1 - North Wales Market Stability Report (June 2022) 
 
Appendix 2 - Market Stability Report for Anglesey (August 2022) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 91



8 

V1.3: April 2021 

Mae'r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg / This document is also available in Welsh 

Ff - Background papers (please contact the author of the Report for any further 

information): 
 

The recent Population Needs Assessment (PNA) has assisted in influencing the 
MSR. 
 
https://www.northwalescollaborative.wales/north-wales-population-needs-
assessment/ 
 

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) (including Welsh Language & Socio-economic 
Duty) 
 

 

Page 92

https://www.northwalescollaborative.wales/north-wales-population-needs-assessment/
https://www.northwalescollaborative.wales/north-wales-population-needs-assessment/


 

North Wales  

Market Stability Report  

Draft 0.4 (June 2022) 

Page 93



 

Contact us 

North Wales Social Care and Well-being Improvement Collaborative 

County Hall, Wynnstay Road, Ruthin, LL15 1YN 

Email: northwalescollaborative@denbighshire.gov.uk 

Phone: 01824 712432 

Website: www.northwalescollaborative.wales 

Page 94



 

 

Contents 
1. Introduction ............................................................................................................ 4 

2. Summary of regional priorities ................................................................................ 8 

3. Residential services (adults) ................................................................................ 13 

4. Domiciliary care services ...................................................................................... 47 

5. Residential services (children) ............................................................................. 83 

6. Fostering services .............................................................................................. 111 

7. Adoption services ............................................................................................... 133 

8. Unpaid carers ..................................................................................................... 136 

9. Advocacy services .............................................................................................. 143 

 

  

Page 95



 

4 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Background  
The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 introduced a new duty on local 

authorities and health boards to develop a joint assessment of the sufficiency and 

sustainability of the social care market. The Market Stability Report has been 

produced by the North Wales Regional Partnership Board in line with the Code of 

Practice (Welsh Government, 2021a). This is the first Market Stability Report 

produced and takes into account the findings from the North Wales Population 

Needs Assessment 2022.  

1.2 Purpose of the market stability report  
The report helps us to understand the social care market in North Wales, so that we 

can effectively commission and support providers of health and social care services 

to meet the needs of the population effectively.  

The market stability report will assess: 

 The sufficiency of care and support in meeting the needs and demand for social 

care, as set out in the population needs assessment 

 stability of the market for regulated services 

Regulated services are those listed in The Partnership Arrangements (Amendment) 

and Regulated Services (Market Stability Reports) (Wales) Regulations 2021. 

Currently these are: 

 a care home service (adult and children’s) 

 a secure accommodation service (for children) 

 a residential family centre service 

 an adoption service 

 a fostering service 

 an adult placement 

 a domiciliary care service 

 an advocacy service 

Page 96



 

5 
 

The assessment is the basis on which the Regional Partnership Board should make 

decisions for future planning and commissioning of care and support services. This 

will include local area plans, strategic commissioning strategy and market position 

statements.  

This assessment has been undertaken as a joint exercise by the six North Wales 

local councils, Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (BCUHB) and Public Health 

Wales. The six local councils are Wrexham County Borough Council, Flintshire 

County Council, Denbighshire County Council, Conwy County Borough Council, 

Gwynedd Council and Isle of Anglesey County Council. 

The market stability report aims to improve our understanding of the social care 

market in North Wales, and how this will evolve and change over the coming years. 

The findings within this assessment will assist all public service providers within the 

region in providing better and sufficient services for our citizens who are in need of 

care and support. 

1.3 Research methods  
The research methods include:  

 Analysis of local and national data sets to identify trends.  

 Evidence from the local authorities and health board.  

 Evidence from local, regional and national research.  

 Priorities from local, regional and national policies / strategies / plans.  

 Responses to the regional survey and other consultation exercises from citizens, 

organisations, staff and providers.  

1.4 Consultation and engagement  
The Code of Practice (Welsh Government, 2021a) states that local authorities must 

take reasonable steps to engage with citizens. As a precursor to the market stability 

report, the population needs assessment had undertaken a large scale regional 

consultation and engagement exercise based on the national principles for public 

engagement in Wales and principles of coproduction. This exercise gave an insight 

of the direct impact of stability and sustainability of the social care market on people 

with care and support needs, their carers and families. Further details can be found 

in the population needs assessment.  

Page 97



 

6 
 

Registered providers of social care services were engaged via a regional provider’s 

survey. An invitation to complete the survey was sent via commissioners to all 

registered providers across the region.63 responses were received. 

Additionally, local teams have also undertaken their own engagement where this 

was not being covered at a regional level. Draft chapters were also shared with 

partners for feedback and comments. 

1.5 Project governance  
The Regional Partnership Board tasked the North Wales Commissioning Board with 

oversight of the project. They established a regional steering group to coordinate the 

development of the Market Stability Report, which included representation from the 

six local authorities, the health board and Public Health Wales. The project 

management arrangements ensured that there was consistency for all partners in 

producing a regional report. Regular project reports were produced and shared with 

the regional boards as necessary.  

This  report has been approved by the six local authorities, Betsi Cadwaladr 

University Health Board and the Regional Partnership Board.  

Diagram 1: Project governance arrangements 

 

Page 98



 

7 
 

1.6 Limitations, lessons learnt and 
opportunities  
Preparing a single accessible population needs assessment and market stability 

report across six local authorities and one health board area within the timescales 

has been a challenging process. Particularly with the additional pressures of Covid-

19. Thanks to the efforts of the project team, the project steering group comprising of 

local leads, the data-sub group, the engagement group, partner organisation teams, 

people who use services and providers co-produced this report.  

One of the main challenges has been access to good quality data about the 

population and the social care market. The 2021 census data will not be published in 

time to include in the assessment and many indicators were unavailable due to 

changes in the way data is collected since the last assessment and because some 

data collection paused due to Covid-19. 

It is recommended that the joint population needs assessment and market stability 

report steering group continues regularly scheduled meetings to oversee the updates 

and to make further recommendations about how to improve the quality, availability 

and coordination of data to inform future needs assessments. 

Page 99



 

8 
 

2. Summary of regional priorities  
 

Domiciliary care (care in people’s own homes) is a priority market identified by 

commissioners, with current private sector providers unable to fulfil the demand for a 

significant amount of time now, due to staffing challenges. As such, growth and 

development of services including general and specialist domiciliary care have been 

identified as opportunities for the future.   

Commissioners are keen to work with providers to increase care capacity to meet 

population needs. The key themes and priorities for providers and commissioners 

across social care and health are: 

 Recruitment of staff. The employment market is highly competitive and 

competitive pay rates and employment benefits need to be offered in order to 

attract people. 

 Integrated Domiciliary Care recruitment project between local authorities and the 

health board and development of integrated cross-organisational roles and career 

pathways.   

 Terms and conditions.  These need to reflect and be worthy of the social care 

role, and its importance in the health and care system as well as reflecting that 

these are skilled roles in the main.   

 Retention of staff is poor due to poor terms and conditions in the social care 

sector.  The cost of fuel and the cost of living crisis is now beginning to be felt in 

the sector where providers are seeing more staff experiencing in-work poverty. 

Staff are also leaving the sector due to challenging working conditions and lack of 

respect for the work they do and the levels of responsibility involved.  Staff feel 

undervalued and overworked. 

 Staff who are new to the sector are not staying in the sector long term as they 

feel overwhelmed by the intensity of the roles particularly those supporting people 

with complex needs and challenging behaviours.  Providers and commissioners 

need to better support for staff to meet the challenges of working in social care.   

 Service transformation programmes are a priority and they should accelerate the 

focus on enabling flexibility in using commissioned care hours, where providers 

can be trusted to flex the package of care hours in partnership with the individual 

who is being cared for.  While appreciating budget restraints for all, the flexibility 

Page 100



 

9 
 

would improve quality and bring costs savings in terms of reduction in 

administration costs.  

 Development of true partnership working between commissioners and providers 

was identified as a key focus.   

 Providers recognise the benefit of the additional Covid payments and the 

on-going suitability of the sector is recognised as a key priority due to the 

important work that home care providers do in keeping people well in their own 

homes, in enabling hospital discharge and preventing unplanned visits to 

hospital.   

 Develop partnerships with care home providers to provider low level residential 

care / respite services to ease the pressure on home care domiciliary care 

provisions.  

 Develop opportunities in micro commissioning and direct payments as an 

alternative to the traditional home care model. 

 Increase support for unpaid carers to reduce the pressures on the home care 

service and look at carer led solutions, such as. increased carer breaks (respite) 

 Increase the availability of specialist placements in care homes for older people, 

adults with mental health needs, learning disability and people with dementia.  

 Increase the availability of emergency and longer term accommodation for 

children and young people with complex needs including mental health, learning 

disability and emotional behavioural needs.  

 

Summary of local themes  

Anglesey  

 We are committed to service transformation and modernisation is an area of 

focus with further ambitions to develop accommodation options, building on the 

work of the transformation programme.  

 We have an aging care workforce on the Island and therefore need to attract and 

retain new social care staff.  

 We want to work with providers to ensure stability, particularly in relation to 

staffing costs, supply, choice, services and delivery. 

Page 101



 

10 
 

Gwynedd 

 Recruitment and retention problems are a recurring issue, with all services 

reporting a real shortage and concern. 

 Lack of financial support. All services have raised concerns about the ability to 

maintain quality services with limited resources. The lack of funding often results 

in having to use out of county providers which results in higher costs which in 

itself adds to the problem. 

 Significant shortfall in care within the county for children who need to be in 

residential care compared to other services available to children. There is 

relatively good provision of foster families within the county and there are many 

resources and services within the county for supporting disabled children. There 

appears to be inconsistency in provision. 

Conwy 

 Recruitment and retention of staff across the sector including social workers, care 

staff and nursing staff. This is linked to pay and conditions but not exclusively. 

 Children’s residential services. Provision of accommodation for both emergency 

and longer term placements is needed urgently and we are considering a range 

of options to increase provision in county and reduce reliance on costly 

temporary arrangements and out of county placements that are far from the 

family. 

 Provision of domiciliary care services, with current private sector providers unable 

to fulfil the demand for a significant amount of time now. 

Denbighshire  

 We want to increase care capacity to meet population needs within Denbighshire 

including residential care for children, young people, people with complex 

disabilities, older people (including those with mental health needs), foster care, 

domiciliary care and reablement.  

 We are committed to improving communication internally across services / teams 

and with partner organisations and sharing of good practice  

 Increasing the availability of overnight respite accommodation is a priority within 

Denbighshire.  

Page 102



 

11 
 

 

Wrexham 

Key priorities within Children’s Services in Wrexham are: 

 Increased placement stability, reducing the number of children looked after 

through early intervention and preventative services and removing profit from 

children’s placement market 

 Provision of emergency accommodation for people in mental health crisis  

 Increase in escalation of mental health needs and concerns of children and 

young people 

 Developing new children’s homes  

 Improvement in quality of practice and performance across Children’s Services 

Key priorities within Adult Services in Wrexham are; 

 Growth and development of services including; Domiciliary Care (includes 

homecare/reablement; community living and recovery) 

 Day and employment services 

 Emergency placements 

Flintshire 

The Domiciliary Care market is a priority in Flintshire to help rebalance the care 

sector.  Independent care providers continue to work creatively with the local 

authority to ensure the numbers of people waiting for care at home are the lowest 

possible.   

In Flintshire, there are some critical pressures and key issues faced by social 

services in the areas of workforce, commissioning and funding criteria.  

As of January 2022 in Flintshire, areas of ongoing pressures include:  

 double-staffed care 

 provision of care in rural areas 

 provision of care for patients discharged from hospital 

 care packages hand-backs from providers as a result of staffing challenges 

 increased business costs – utility bills and insurance 

 increased fuel costs, borne in the main by care staff themselves. 

 

Page 103



 

12 
 

Since the pandemic the market for adult residential care services has become 

extremely unstable with several factors contributing to the availability of independent 

care home provision. The council are moving forward with plans to increase in house 

provision for people living with dementia and new model of step down care planned 

to support the discharge to assess and recover programme developed by the health 

board.  

 

Half of all children in residential care from Flintshire are placed out of the country in 

England and Scotland. In-house residential care is being developed to rebalance the 

market in Flintshire.  

Over the next five-year period, in order to ensure stability within the market for 

residential services for children, the council aims to: 

 Work with new and existing providers and support them to deliver of models of 

care that will meet the needs of children.  

 Work with new and existing providers and encourage them to develop their 

businesses in a way that, in addition to improving outcomes for our children, also 

provides a wider a wider social value to our communities.  

 Work with providers who are able to safely care for children with multiple high 

needs and are able to provide alternative accommodation to secure welfare 

provision. 

 Identify providers who will work in partnership with us during periods of transition, 

including stepping down to live with a foster carer or reunification with their family. 

 Welsh culture is very important to us as a region and we want more providers 

who are able to deliver their services in Welsh.  

 

 

 

Page 104



 

13 
 

3. Residential services (adults) 

Population overview 

Demand for care home placements is likely to increase 

The population assessment shows that the number of people aged over 65 in North 

Wales increased by 17% between 2010 and 2020 and is projected to increase by a 

further 20% over the next 20 years. This is likely to increase the demand for care 

home services. The table below shows the expected change in each county, with 

Conwy expected to see the biggest increase and Gwynedd the smallest increase.  

Table 1: Estimated number of people aged over 65 in 2020 and projected number in 
2040 

Local council 2020 

number  

2040 

number 

Change 

number 

Change 

percent 

Anglesey  18,650   22,500   3,850  17.2% 

Gwynedd  28,550   34,300  5,700  16.7% 

Conwy   32,950   43,500  10,550  24.3% 

Denbighshire  23,500  30,400  6,900  22.6% 

Flintshire  33,300  42,400  9,150  21.5% 

Wrexham  27,750  34,500  6,750  19.6% 

North Wales 164,700  207,600   42,900  20.7% 

Wales 668,600  850,750  182,150  21.4% 

Source: Mid-year 2020 population estimates, Office for National Statistics; and 2018-
based population projections, Welsh Government 

The increasing population of older people is not the only factor affecting demand. 

There are also changes in expectations and policy which mean demand may not 

increase at the same rate as the total population. For example, demand can change 

as people are supported to live in their own homes for longer, or take up extra care 

accommodation to retain independence with the option of receiving support as 

needed.  

People are tending to move into residential care at a later age and when their needs 

are more complex, for example, due to dementia. The population assessment 

Page 105



 

14 
 

estimated a 64% increase between 2017 and 2035 in the number of people living 

with dementia in North Wales, around 7,000 more people. Although previous 

increases have not been as high as expected because the proportion of people 

developing dementia reduced, perhaps due to improvements in health and more 

years spent in education (Matthews et al., 2016). It is still likely that the trend for 

needing increasingly specialist nursing and residential home support for older 

people’s mental health (EMI) will continue.  

Market overview 
There are around 220 residential care homes and 60 nursing homes in North Wales, 

which provide around 4,100 residential care placements and 2,500 nursing 

placements. 

Table 2: Current number of adult care homes (age 18 and over) by type and area 

Local council 

(a, b, c) 

Residential Residential 

with mental 

health 

Nursing Nursing with 

mental health 

Total 

(d) 

Anglesey 12 7 3 2   24 

Gwynedd 14 9 7 3   33 

Conwy 43 12 13 5 73 

Denbighshire 46 13 5 5   69 

Flintshire 22 12 7 2 35 

Wrexham 16 10 9 2   37 

North Wales  153   63   44   19  271 

Source: Local authority data collection. 
(a) In Anglesey most homes have some mental health beds so these have not been 
separated out. 
(b) Denbighshire has 26 specialist residential homes for people with learning 
disabilities. 
(c) Flintshire has 8 specialist homes for people with learning disabilities included in 
the residential category. 
(d) Flintshire has a number of homes with duel registration. Total numbers do not 
sum. 

Page 106



 

15 
 

Table 3: Current number of permanent care home placements available to all adults 
aged 18 and over 

Local council 

(a, b, c) 

Residential Residential 

with mental 

health 

Nursing Nursing with 

mental health 

Total 

Anglesey 341 98 115 64 618 

Gwynedd 351 199 353 175 1,078 

Conwy 671 226 441 144 1,482 

Denbighshire 802 0 321 0 1,123 

Flintshire 416 261 179 44 900 

Wrexham 223 490 526 108 1,347 

North Wales 2,804 1,274 1,935  535 6,548 

Source: Local authority data collection. 
Notes:  
(a) The categories of care have become more fluid since the introduction of the 
(b) Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016 so these categories 
(c) are only illustrative of the split between types of care. 
(d) In Anglesey and Denbighshire most homes have some mental health beds so 

these have not been separated out.  
(e) Flintshire have 50 specialist placements for people with Learning Disabilities, 

included in the residential category 

Care home fees 

The need for sustainable and sufficient care home fees was highlighted in the 

consultation for the Market Stability Report. Fee levels are based on North Wales 

methodology with each council taking into account local decisions and affordability 

considerations. There are ongoing discussions around how the sector is funded, 

recognising the fragility of the sector, including the rebalancing care work and 

strategic National Framework for care and support being undertaken by Welsh 

Government (Welsh Government, 2021c). 

Care home vacancies 

During the pandemic many care homes have carried higher levels of vacancies than 

previously. Average vacancy levels would normally be around 10%, which is thought 

to be sustainable for the sector (Laing, 2020). For some this was due to staff 

absences or staff vacancies due to recruitment issues, while others have needed to 

use additional rooms for storage of personal protective equipment (PPE) or for 

Page 107



 

16 
 

additional living areas in order to reduce the size of groups of residents sharing 

facilities. From time to time there have been restrictions on admissions because of 

Covid-19 outbreaks too.  

Care home vacancies were also increasing in Conwy before the pandemic due to the 

introduction of reablement teams who worked to keep older people in their homes for 

longer. This work has been less effective during the pandemic as there have been 

fewer domiciliary care workers out in the community.  

Table 4: Percentage of vacant care home placements, 31 March 2021 

Local council  Occupied Unoccupied Total 

placements 

Percentage 

unoccupied 

Anglesey 548 65 613 11% 

Gwynedd 933 122 1,055 12% 

Conwy 1,337 115 1452 8% 

Denbighshire 1,161 249 1,410 18% 

Flintshire 748 152 900 17% 

Wrexham 1,059 288 1,347 21% 

North Wales 5786 991 6777 15% 

Source: Local authority data collection. 

Self-funded care home placements 

The total number of people who fund their own care home placements across North 

Wales is not available due to differing council policy. Flintshire had 194 people self-

funding placements in care homes as at 1 February 2022.  

Estimates from the Office for National Statistics (2021) found that were around 

36.7% self-funded care home residents between 2019 and 2020.  

Isle of Anglesey market overview 

Anglesey has identified the following needs: 

 Increased dementia care is required. 

 Social isolation may be a particular risk for older people on Anglesey, due to 

rurality, lack of transport, and the distance many are living from their families.  

 There is need for additional specialist services on Anglesey. 

Page 108



 

17 
 

 There are not enough older people’s mental health (EMI) residential and nursing 

beds on Anglesey.  

 There is reduced demand for general residential beds. 

 For older people with a learning disability who also have physical health and 

dementia needs, there is a lack of specialist residential and nursing placements. 

Gwynedd market overview 

Gwynedd has identified the following areas where there is a struggle to meet 

demand: 

 Lack of specialist residential and nursing placements for older people with a 

learning disability who also have physical health and dementia needs. 

 Lack of support workers in the community, and residential especially Tan y 

Marian and within day provision. This makes it difficult to start a service for new 

individuals and many individuals receive fewer support days / hours in the 

community. 

 It is difficult to maintain and develop a service tailored to the person who needs 

workers who have received training in 'Personal Behaviour Support (PBS)' and 

Active Support. 

 Demand for dementia specialist care (residential and nursing). There is currently 

no dementia nursing care in the Meirionnydd / Llyn area. 

 There is no specialist mental health provision including for autism and severe 

mental illness, in Gwynedd. Conwy is the nearest location but the provision is 

non-Welsh speaking. 

 We have seen an increase in the demand for temporary residential care as a 

result of a shortage of domiciliary care. 

 We are unable to fill empty beds in some of the Council’s homes due to the high 

dependency level of residents. 

 Inappropriate discharges from hospital without sufficient time for recovery can 

result in increased dependency. 

 Sickness absence and recruitment are a problem. 

Future plans 

There are plans to increase residential older people’s mental health (EMI) provision 

by adapting units in the council’s residential homes.  

Page 109



 

18 
 

There are currently 33 providers of older people's residential and nursing homes in 

Gwynedd. Gwynedd Council provides 11 residential homes for older people directly.  

Table 5: Gwynedd older people’s care home placements 

 Total registered 

placements 

Number of 

dementia 

placements 

Plas Maesincla 23 23 

Plas Ogwen 27 - 

Plas Pengwaith 31 - 

Plas Hedd 28 7 

Plas Hafan 30 8 

Plas y Don 30 - 

Plas Gwilym 27 - 

Hafod Mawddach 25  8 

Bryn Blodau 41 17 

Cefn Rodyn 22 - 

Llys Cadfan 33 15 

Source: Local authority data 

The following provides an update on our efforts to expand the provision of care for 

people with dementia: 

 Plas Hedd. One respite bed unable to open due to construction. New 

development underway. Plan to change a further 8 bed unit to support people 

living with dementia. 

 Plas Hafan. Used to full potential. 

 Bryn Blodau. 9 beds for people living with dementia, due to staffing situation, 

unable to support individuals living with dementia, but offering a different service. 

 Hafod Mawddach. New development will increase registered places to 30 with 8 

beds for people living with dementia. Due for completion in September 2022.   

 Cefn Rodyn. 5 beds on the first floor unused due to fire safety issues and wait for 

new lift. New developments completed in 2021. One room has been developed 

for bariatric use, the others for people with more intensive residential needs.  

 Llys Cadfan. Used to full capacity. 1 respite bed for people living with dementia 

and 1 residential respite bed.  

Page 110



 

19 
 

Over the last 5 years the Council has increased the number of older people’s mental 

health (EMI) residential beds in their in-house homes. There were originally 38 beds 

between Plas Maesincla and the Bryn Blodau and Llys Cadfan units. There are now 

units at Plas Hafan, Plas Hedd, an additional unit at Llys Cadfan and Bryn Blodau. 

Further work is underway to create a second unit at Plas Hedd and a new unit at 

Hafod Mawddach with the hope of opening later this year. While this is significant 

progress, more needs to be done to change the balance of older people’s mental 

health (EMI) placements in the county and meet needs. There are significant 

revenue costs associated with each unit changed from residential to older people’s 

mental health (EMI) placements.  

The following gaps have been identified: 

 Dementia Specialist Care (residential and nursing) in the Meirionnydd area - 

there is currently no dementia nursing care there. 

 Residential / nursing care for young people with physical and sensory needs. 

For the future the Council hopes that residential older people’s mental health (EMI) 

provision will be created at Plas Gwilym and Plas Pengwaith. Gwynedd Council is 

working in partnership with Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board, Clwyd Alyn 

Housing Association and the Welsh Government to develop the Penrhos site, 

Pwllheli. It is intended to submit a business case to Gwynedd Council's Cabinet for 

the development of an on-site care home. The number of individuals with dementia 

is increasing, and we regularly review need and try to adapt council homes to be 

flexible and suitable to meet future need. 

Conwy market overview 

Most placements in Conwy are commissioned from private care home providers who 

provide 98% of the bed spaces in the county. Provision across the coast is 

reasonable, but there is a shortage of spaces to the south / rural parts of the county 

and concerns about the provision available in the Welsh language. The county is 

well serviced with residential and nursing places, but has a shortage of specialist 

mental health provision for both residential and nursing needs, in particular for those 

who need very specialist care. The majority of buildings utilised as Care Homes are 

older and often converted residential dwellings. On the whole they are well 

maintained by the providers, but repairs and maintenance can be costly. The 

physical layout of many such homes made it very difficult for the providers to 

Page 111



 

20 
 

manage Covid outbreaks during the pandemic, while at the same time, the purpose 

built homes found that they were better equipped to manage such outbreaks. 

Denbighshire market overview 

Over 90% of care home placements are commissioned from external providers. 

There are two in-house care homes. The council closed one of the three residential 

homes that it had in 2019. The site, in Ruthin, is now being developed to provide 

more extra care apartments. 

There has been a slight reduction in the overall capacity of the care home sector in 

Denbighshire in recent years. There is reduced demand for residential care without 

additional support for mental health or complex physical needs.  

The majority of care homes in Denbighshire are older buildings that have been 

adapted. There have been a few occasions where it has not been possible to 

accommodate people with bariatric needs because of the structure of the buildings – 

size of doorways or layout of corridors. Also, few care homes have space for ceiling 

hoists for moving and handling or larger beds. The requirement for more staff input is 

also a barrier. 

There are very few vacancies at the moment. 

There are currently around 18 adults placed in care homes because there is 

insufficient support available to allow them to return to their own homes. 

As of May 2021 there are 32 out of county residential older people’s mental health 

(EMI) placements and 29 nursing placements. There are 33 out of county 

placements in Denbighshire for older people with mental health needs, mainly due to 

a lack of suitable local placements 

Denbighshire has 282 places for specialist learning disability care home provision. 

They have identified the following trends. 

 Demography. The number of people with learning disabilities needing support is 

increasing and people with learning disabilities are living longer. These 

demographic trends are likely to continue.  

 Attitudes and expectations. Most individuals and their families want / expect to 

have a greater level of independence and to be a key part of their community.  

Page 112



 

21 
 

 Finance. The level of spend on learning disability services has been increasing 

but we are now faced with supporting more people with less money (as a result of 

reducing local authority settlements, Independent Living Fund (ILF) closure and 

Housing Support Grant restrictions).  

 Existing provision. Support is generally provided via immediate family members 

and / or long term paid care staff. Less use is made of informal community based 

assets. 

Flintshire market overview 

There has been an overall increase in residential provision in the last few years due 

to the reopening of three homes and the expansion of Marleyfield house in Buckley. 

One large home has changed from providing nursing to residential care which has 

simultaneously increased residential care capacity and decreased nursing home 

capacity. A general nursing home in Holywell closed in 2019 and another in March 

2022 which decreased general nursing placements by 75. One care home is 

currently undergoing renovation work which has temporarily reduced market 

capacity. 

Marleyfield, Croes Atti, and Llys Gwenffrwd are purpose built care homes, owned by 

the Council, situated in the towns of Buckley, Flint and Holywell. The buildings require 

little refurbishment or renovation. Llys Gwenffrwd differs in that provision is provided 

over three floors, which requires a change in staffing levels to creatively support 

people with dementia on the top floor. 

There has been a historical shortage of placements which has led to placements out 

of county.  

In addition, the complexity of need coupled with the lack of placements locally leads 

to in delayed transfer of care from hospital. This was evident during the pandemic, 

where at one point, due to active cases in nursing homes, there were no available 

nursing placements in Flintshire in to which to discharge people from hospital. 

Within the Learning Disabilities and Physical Disabilities sector, due to the small 

choice of local providers and the specialist nature of support, some of these 

residential placements may need to be made out of county and this can incur higher 

costs. This has an impact on individuals and maintaining links with family and 

friends.  

Page 113



 

22 
 

 

Future plans 

New homes accessible to all: 

 Marleyfield and Croes Atti have separate units for those with dementia related 

needs. 

Supporting people to live at home for longer: 

 Llys Gwenffrwd houses rehabilitation placements and all three homes provide a 

number of respite, step up / step down and assessments placements rather than 

permanent residential.  

 Marleyfield and Croes Atti have adjoining day-care provision which would be 

affected with some of the options presented.  

 Replace Croes Atti with a new care home on the former Flint Hospital site. The 

new care home will have an additional 25 beds, 12 of which will be accessible to 

the Health Board ear marked to provide a new model of step down care to 

support the discharge to assess and recover programme developed within the 

Health Board.  

Provision for people with complex 
disabilities 
Isle of Anglesey County Council have highlighted the need for specialised physical 

and sensory beds available locally. 

Gwynedd Council have identified a struggle to meet demand for residential and 

nursing care for young people with physical and sensory needs. 

Denbighshire County Council identified a lack of capacity for residential 

accommodation for people with complex disabilities (physical and learning 

disabilities), which means many people go out of county, away from family and 

friends. Currently there are 13 placements out of county which can incur higher 

costs. This also impacts on families visiting and linking to the individual.  

In Denbighshire as individuals with complex needs have moved on from health 

settings to be supported in the community, ongoing work is required to further embed 

Page 114



 

23 
 

Positive Behavioural Support (PBS) methodology within the delivery of support. This 

will ensure the skills and knowledge is available and maintained within the social 

care workforce. 

Extra care, supported living and sheltered 
housing 
Extra care housing includes specially designed self-contained properties for older 

adults with care and support available at a sufficient level to allow people to remain 

at home despite frailty, periods of ill-health or disabilities and often without the need 

to move to residential care. 

In supported living or community living people usually live as tenants in a shared 

house, with formal paid support provided by a registered domiciliary care agency 

Sheltered housing also includes self-contained properties for older adults and usually 

includes help from a scheme manager (warden) or support staff. 

Anglesey extra care, supported living and sheltered housing 

There are two extra care developments in Anglesey, Hafan Cefni and Penucheldre, 

currently providing a total of 118 extra care units, all of which are currently occupied. 

In March 2022, the Council committed to progress a new scheme in the Aethwy area 

and this will provide 40 units along with 15 specialist residential care rooms.  

Analysis conducted by the Isle of Anglesey County Council suggests extra care 

provision is on target to meet demand up to 2025 with an additional 127 units needed 

by 2035 to meet projected demand. There are currently 12 people on the waiting list 

for extra care housing. 

Evidence from local consultation supports a move toward the provision of extra care 

and supported housing provision and away from traditional residential care homes.  

There are 71 units of supported accommodation and all are currently occupied. These 

are provided by 7 care providers in addition to an in house service. Demand currently 

outweighs capacity in regards to Extra Care and Supported Accommodation 

 

Page 115



 

24 
 

Gwynedd extra care, supported living and sheltered housing 

There are three extra care housing schemes in Gwynedd providing a mix of 1 and 2 

bed self-contained apartments: 

 Cae Garnedd, Bangor: 42 units all occupied and 37 applicants on the waiting list. 

 Awel y Coleg, Bala: 30 units, 1 unoccupied and 3 applicants on the waiting list. 

 Hafod y Gest, Porthmadog: 40 units, all occupied and 21 on the waiting list. 

Extra care units are also part of the conversation regarding the development of 

Canolfan Lleu - the health and care hub in Penygroes with Grŵp Cynefin and the 

development of the Penyberth site in Penrhos, Pwllheli with Clwyd Alyn. Demand 

currently exceeds supply and there are plans to develop more.  

There are 412 units of sheltered accommodation in Gwynedd, with only 30 units 

having a full time warden. They are all populated and in general demand exceeds 

the supply in Gwynedd especially for older people who either don’t need or don’t 

qualify for warden support services, which is the main criteria for sheltered housing. 

There are 78 supported living settings; 39 third sector (50%), 32 private sector (40%) 

and 7 in-house (10%). 

Historically it is difficult to get staff in rural areas, for example, South Gwynedd and 

supported housing providers have had difficulty with this. Supported accommodation 

is a priority for the learning disability field with 75 individuals identified as needing 

accommodation. A high percentage of these individuals will need a supported 

housing model so we anticipate a need for market flexibility. 

Most providers experience the same type of challenges when it comes to recruiting 

and retaining staff teams. However, over the last few months we have successfully 

introduced a number of individuals into new supported housing placements and 

providers are reporting that they are in a position to submit tender bids for new 

projects. Some external providers are progressing to develop new accommodation 

and support opportunities in South Gwynedd. Prior to the pandemic, providers were 

committed to looking at service delivery differently, such as groups sharing support, 

but the restrictions have had an impact on this development 

Providers working within active support models and 'Personal Behaviour Support 

(PBS)' have been negatively impacted by the pandemic due to staffing constraints / 

shortages, so it is essential that we urgently address this with our providers to secure 

Page 116



 

25 
 

training and mentoring to promote this way of working and ensure an outcomes 

based and preventative approach.  

Providers generally work closely with the multidisciplinary teams to respond to 

demand if there is a change in needs, to respond to a crisis and so on. We have 

seen examples of collaboration and prioritisation with providers committing to work 

flexibly to ensure that individuals receive a care and support service that meets their 

needs. 

Usually need within the service is met by tailor made packages for individuals and 

small-scale provision, which is not necessarily attractive or sustainable for 

prospective providers. Recruitment is difficult and dependent on the local population 

as people are unlikely to move into the region for the work because of the low rates 

of pay and language requirements. We are aware that some of the current providers 

are not on the framework so reopening the tender process for potential new 

providers could be advantageous. We foresee an increase in need for supported 

housing within the coming years in Gwynedd. We need to consider the possibility of 

using a ‘keyring approach' (KeyRing, 2022) and look at commissioning or providing 

the support needed within cluster areas. Consideration has been made in the past 

but further considerations are needed in consultation with 

individuals/families/providers. 

Each provider is different with some having more support needs than others. The 

pressure on them from time to time means that they may not be in a strong position 

to respond to tender opportunities or to tender for the Supported Housing 

Agreement. Providers who support individuals with severe and complex needs 

regularly contact the Council to report that the level of inflationary increase offered by 

is not sufficient. 

Providers are generally stable and able to maintain the required levels of service to 

supported housing provision. It is difficult to say if they are in a position to meet the 

demand and the increase in need as each provider's situation is different. Providing 

extra hours through support services has been difficult and challenging with not 

enough experienced staff available. This has put pressure on carers and we have 

had to work together as a 'wrap around' with a number of providers to meet needs. 

Need close collaboration between social workers, individuals and families to ensure 

all options are explored. Work is ongoing through an accommodation project to 

identify individual needs and plan ahead to look at the most appropriate model of 

Page 117



 

26 
 

support / retention within their communities and as close as possible to their family. 

Some individuals are receiving support from more than one provider or a 

combination of direct payments and commissioned provision. 

Commissioner to provider relationship 

 Relationships are generally good. 

 Contact arrangements strengthened over the pandemic. 

 Providers attend a two-monthly HR Transformation Group where they can feed 

into the agenda. 

 Regular liaison between the providers / HR Team at different levels to air any 

issues that arise so that they receive timely attention. 

 Providers are integral to planning future services 

 Most providers now link in with our Well-being Service- virtual and face-to-face 

groups. 

 Over the last 18 months the structure of the Learning Disabilities Service has 

changed - there is more emphasis on the areas - strengthening provision by 

having a lead for South Gwynedd and Arfon. This has strengthened 

commissioner / provider links. 

Provider to provider relationships 

Overall the relationship appears to be good although there has probably been less 

joint planning over the last two years due to the restrictions. We have seen examples 

where providers have stepped into a crisis situation to support another provider by 

offering staff to fill gaps. For example, in one case where an individual's situation 

broke down and needed 24-hour support, up to 4 providers came together to form a 

rota to support them in temporary accommodation. In another case where a 

providers had difficulties maintaining a rota when introducing an individual to a new 

home, another provider stepped in and agreed to work together on a temporary 

basis to enable needs to be met. We provided support and guidance in relation to 

the agreement. 

Conwy extra care, supported living and sheltered housing 

There are four extra care housing schemes in Conwy county, providing a total of 185 

flats. Hafan Gwydir in Llanrwst, Hafod y Parc in Abergele, Llys y Coed in 

Llanfairfechan and Tan y Fron in Llandudno. In April 2022, there were 62 people on 

the waiting list of which 10 were from out of county (two from Denbighshire and eight 

from elsewhere in the UK but with family links to the area). 

Page 118



 

27 
 

There are 46 supported living projects run by various private companies, housing 

associations and the council. 

The majority of supported living projects only cater for several people within each 

project so even though there are 46 projects there are only spaces for 136 people. 

Which is not a high proportion especially when the population of Conwy is taken into 

account. There are around only 8 vacancies at present and a high demand for 

vacant spaces. There are no supported living projects in the south of the county. 

Supported living premises are in very short supply and the council struggles to find 

enough accommodation for clients. 

Denbighshire extra care, supported living and sheltered housing 

There are three extra care housing schemes in Denbighshire and one soon to open 

in Denbigh. A recently closed care home in Ruthin will be used as space to expand 

an extra care housing scheme run by a housing association. There were occasional 

vacancies due to the pandemic but otherwise it is very rare to have a vacancy in an 

extra care housing scheme. Although the number of extra care housing flats will be 

increasing significantly over the year it is expected that demand will continue to 

increase and exceed the amount of flats available.  

Within Denbighshire most people with learning disabilities live in supported housing 

(community living). 

Most new care home placements are viewed as a temporary measure until a suitable 

tenancy becomes available within a Community Living setting. However, there is still 

a relatively high number of older people with learning disabilities living in care 

homes. This is historical and partly a consequence of the closure of the North Wales 

Hospital. Moving these individuals is not considered feasible or in their best interests.  

In Community Living people usually live as tenants in a shared house, with formal paid 

support provided by a registered domiciliary care agency via block contract with 

Denbighshire. Within Denbighshire the support service is not provided by (or linked to) 

the landlord. Support services for all new Community Living schemes are 

commissioned via an agreed tendering process. 

As of September 2021, there are a total of 57 Community Living properties in 

Denbighshire, delivered between 11 providers. Only 2 of these properties are 

operated by the Council. There is also a combination of national providers, smaller 

Page 119



 

28 
 

local providers and both local and national providers with a charitable status. 

Contracts are tendered through the regional framework or commissioned through 

direct payments. 

125 people are currently supported (capacity is 136 people), most with over 20 hours 

of support per week, either shared or 1:1. Most individuals have a tenancy 

agreement as is usually the case for Supported Living.  

There are providers who are able to offer a range of support from low level to more 

complex needs and 24-hour support.  

Recruitment of staff has been problematic for providers during the pandemic and has 

impacted the number of places offered periodically.  

Many existing Community Living contracts have been extended past their original 

term and there is now considerable pressure for the whole of the scheme to be 

re-tendered, in line with regulations. Both the providers and the council staff feel this 

presents a considerable risk to individuals, providers and their staff at the current 

time. At worst, re-tendering could see many providers losing business, and large 

numbers of staff leaving the sector at a time where it is almost impossible to recruit. 

Any uncertainty could have the potential for many staff to leave, even if TUPE 

applies. This uncertainty could have a devastating effect on the local social care 

provider market and the citizens they support. Some providers may just hand their 

contracts back and not wish to bid for more. Especially with such a large number of 

contracts, ultimately this could all significantly further destabilize the social care 

provider market in Denbighshire.  

Flintshire extra care, supported living and sheltered housing 

Extra Care continues to be an extremely popular housing choice for older people in 

Flintshire, which offers them the opportunity to live independently whilst having the 

support of an on-site care and support team, if and when needed. This in turn, 

releases capacity and time in community based domiciliary care. 

The benefits of living in an Extra Care facility include:  

 Staying independent for longer with on-site support, in your own living space.  

 Support can be increased and decreased based on needs. 

 Emergency support available, including at night. 

 Enables couples where one partner is highly dependent to remain living together. 

Page 120



 

29 
 

 Opportunities to socialise with other residents in a community setting. 

The Council currently has four Extra Care facilities, Llys Eleanor (Deeside), Llys 

Jasmine (Mold), Llys Raddington (Flint) and the newly occupied Plas yr Ywen 

(Holywell), with a total of 238 extra care units. 

As of August 2021, there are a total of 60 Supported Living properties in Flintshire, 

delivered between 10 providers. 16 of these properties are operated by the Council. 

There is also a combination of national providers, smaller local providers and both 

local and national providers with a charitable status. Contracts are tendered through 

the regional framework or commissioned through direct payments.  

139 people are supported, most with over 20 hours of support per week, either 

shared or 1:1. Most individuals have a tenancy agreement as is usually the case for 

'Supported Living'. 

There are providers who are able to support from a low level to more complex needs 

on the Framework. 

When recommissioning existing services, there is a possibility of a transfer of staff 

(TUPE) to the new company. For new services, the provider has to recruit which can 

impact on the timescales and attract staff from existing providers who then have to 

back fill.  

Wrexham extra care, supported living and sheltered housing 

There are two extra care housing schemes in Wrexham with a total of 116 units. Plas 

Telford has 56 units and had 5 vacancies at the end of March 2022. Maes Y 

Dderwen has 60 units and had 10 vacancies at the end of March 2022.  

Demand for those with eligible needs is low, work is currently underway to relaunch 

scheme to attract more applications. Wrexham County Borough Council are currently 

evaluating their model of extra care housing to inform further service development to 

ensure its sustainability in meeting changing and increasing needs. Demand is hard 

to estimate due to current model seemingly not being able to respond to medium and 

high needs. Population statistics and evidence of older people’s aspirations suggest 

there should be increasing demand for extra care housing. The priority in the short to 

medium term is to ensure a sustainable model of extra care housing which provides 

value for money and quality services which offer real alternative to residential care. 

Page 121



 

30 
 

In addition to Wrexham’s extra care housing schemes, there is a rolling programme 

of remodelling being delivered by WCBC Housing Department to deliver improved 

and increasingly accessible accommodation for older people across the in-house 

Sheltered Housing Service. 

At the time of reporting, 126 people with a range of low-level and complex support 

needs were supported in the independent sector by 9 supported living providers – a 

mix of charitable and private organisations. There are 19 people with learning 

disabilities supported in their own homes by the council’s internal supported living 

service across 10 properties. The majority of the services are 24/7 although some 

are for day-time support only, where staff are available to support people to become 

more independent.  

Referrals are made predominately from the Disability Service working with people 

with learning disabilities although there are a number of people living with mental 

health support needs who are supported by the council’s own Recovery Service - 10 

people are supported in tenanted properties funded by social care.  

It is recognised that re-tendering contracts can be disruptive for the lives of the 

citizens supported within this model so long-term contracts of 7+3 years are used, 

with regular quality and wellbeing reviews during the term of the contract. The North 

Wales Supported Living Framework is now in place and has been used for 

commissioning new contracts. Recruitment and retention proves to be challenging 

for providers, particularly for staff who are able to drive and use a supported person’s 

mobility vehicle.  

Market stability 

Regional challenges 

There are some common challenges across North Wales and Wales as a whole 

affecting the stability of the sector listed below: 

 Retention and recruitment of care and nursing staff.  

 Care home fees need to be set at a sustainable rate. Increasing numbers of 

providers are reporting that current financial challenges and are working with 

commissioners to address these issues.  

 Increasing demand for services with decreasing budgets. 

Page 122



 

31 
 

 Increasing complexity of care needs. People are staying at home longer with a 

support package so when they do need a care home placement their needs are 

more complex and involved. 

Positives identified during consultation for the market stability report were the Welsh 

Government funding, which has helped with voids in the residential sector along with 

work to promote the sector and funding to try to achieve a real living wage.  

Isle of Anglesey market stability 

Home closure 

At the end of the last financial year in March 2022, Caledonia Residential Home (15 

beds) closed. 

Demand for places 

The demand for care home places dropped in the early stages of the pandemic during 

2020, but saw an increase in 2021-22 as the early effects of Covid started to pass and 

as a result of shortfalls in the domiciliary care sector. A significant increase was seen 

in the number of people presenting and needing an assessment, but the mostly private 

domiciliary care sector was at the same time losing staff and having to hand back 

existing care packages. 

Recruitment 

The largest challenge facing the sector has been the recruitment and retention of staff 

at all levels. Many care homes have reported vacancies which they report has 

impacted on their ability to take on new placements. The staff shortfall has been made 

worse by staff who are unable to work because they have Covid. This has meant a 

significant reliance on staffing agencies. We have also noted a number of changes 

across the sector in management staff.  

Inflation 

Since the beginning of 2022, the rate of inflation has increased at a faster rate and 

higher than the rate of increase for fees that are paid to care home providers. Utilities, 

fuel and insurance costs have also increased dramatically. This is proving very 

challenging for many providers, who, after managing through the pandemic, are 

finding it difficult to absorb these costs at a time when government financial support 

for COVID-19 has stopped. 

 

Page 123



 

32 
 

Gwynedd market stability 

Older people’s care homes 

With the increase in demand there are concerns that the market cannot respond 

sufficiently and quickly enough to demand given the current staffing crisis.  

There has been an increase in the number of providers reporting that older people’s 

residential and nursing fees are inadequate. Providers are frustrated when they 

report cost increases and are not offered higher payments. There is an increase in 

top-up charges for residential and nursing care. There’s also a slowdown in the 

number of the workforce registering.  

The threshold for self-funding has been increasing and is currently at £50,000 which 

means that less people are self-funding. Self-funders have a right to have their care 

commissioned through the council which has implications on the ability of care 

homes to ask for higher fees from self-funders.  

Physical disability, mental health and learning disability 

Each provider is different with some having more support needs than others. The 

pressure on them from time to time means that they cannot be in a strong position, 

for example, to respond to tender opportunities, or to tender for the Supported 

Housing Agreement. Providers who support individuals with severe and complex 

needs regularly contact the council to report that the level of inflation offered by the 

council is insufficient. 

Impact of Covid-19 

Some nursing providers have made the most of the financial support available, such 

as voids, general sustainability support, support for staff and visitor testing. It is 

noted that the largest providers were bidding for support, with smaller providers 

tending to inquire later and finding it difficult to keep up with the guidelines and 

guidelines support available. There is concern over the impact that the end of the 

financial support will have. 

Flexibility of the market 

There is potential for adaptation within Council care homes. Potential to adapt roles / 

tasks within domiciliary care plan but need support from provider to implement. 

Staffing is a major issue at present for domiciliary care providers and care homes. 

Page 124



 

33 
 

Causes of potential business failure and contingency planning 

Concerns are identified either through information shared by Care Inspectorate 

Wales (CIW) or as part of the Quality Assurance Team weekly contact. The team 

provide early intervention and support if any issues surrounding the viability of 

businesses arises. Recent financial support (COVID-19 Funds), such as support for 

additional empty beds due to the pandemic were met by the Hardship Fund and 

general market sustainability support were offered through a remedial fund through 

the government’s recovery fund. There were no such funds available directly from 

the council before the pandemic except as a last resort or emergency measures and 

the current COVID-19 financial aid comes to end at the end of March 2022. 

Gwynedd Council are currently looking to start an Open Book Accounting approach 

with care homes in order to better understand each other’s financial 

obligations/limitations in order to establish whether there are areas we can offer 

support be that financially or by offering support to the care homes in streamlining 

their procedures 

Care home closures 

Gwynedd have had 4 homes close in the last few years. Two residential homes 

(Llwyn in May 2018 and Foelas in April 2022) and two nursing homes (Penisarwaun 

in July 2018 and Penrhos in December 2020). It is increasingly difficult for small 

independent care homes to be financially viable and this may contribute to further 

closures in the future.  

Conwy market stability 

Home closure 

In the last year two homes have closed in the county. One was a smaller provider 

and the building maintenance costs of the older converted building exceeded the 

potential income from residents. The owners tested the market for sale but there 

were no offers. Conversion to nursing or older people’s mental health (EMI) care was 

considered but the home was not sufficient size or layout to give the required return 

on investment and the home was closed. The second home that closed was larger 

and successful. There were no issues with vacant beds or quality of service, but 

having made enquiries for a lengthy period of time there were no buyers for the 

business when the owner was ready to retire, so the service closed. In both cases 

the residents of these homes were successfully re-located to other homes in the 

county. 

Page 125



 

34 
 

Demand for places 

Demand for care home places dropped in the early stages of the pandemic during 

2020, but saw a significant increase in 2021-22 as the early effects of COVID-19 

started to pass and as a result of shortfalls in the domiciliary care sector. We saw a 

significant increase in the number of people presenting and needing an assessment, 

but the mostly private domiciliary care sector was at the same time losing staff and 

having to hand back existing care packages. Most of the increase was on the coast 

in Colwyn Bay, Llandudno and the surrounding areas for residential and nursing 

placements. There is not yet data available on the demand for older people’s mental 

health (EMI) care which we feel has also increased. 

The number of out of county placements has slowly reduced. 

Recruitment 

The largest challenge facing the sector has been the recruitment and retention of 

staff at all levels. Almost all care homes have reported vacancies for health care 

assistants, senior health care assistants, nurses and domestic staff which they report 

has impacted on their ability to take on new placements. The staff shortfall has been 

exacerbated by staff who are unable to work because they have COVID-19. This has 

meant a significant reliance on staffing agencies who in some cases have been 

providing 20% to 50% of the staffing for some providers. We have also noted a 

number of changes across the sector in management staff. Consultation with 

providers has identified several possible reasons for the recruitment challenge: 

 Exiting the EU has had some impact on health and social care, but has had a 

significant impact on other sectors such retail and hospitality which are very large 

in Conwy county.  

 Competition from retail and hospitality. Care homes report staff leaving to join 

these two sectors who have increased pay and conditions to attract new staff. 

The work is often seen as less stressful with more reasonable hours. 

 Early retirement. Many providers report staff members taking early retirement 

during the pandemic. 

 Competition from better paid jobs with the health board, local authority and 

recruitment agencies. 

Inflation 

Since the beginning of 2022, the rate of inflation has increased faster and higher 

than the fees that are paid to care home providers. Utilities, fuel and insurance costs 

Page 126



 

35 
 

have increased two and sometime three fold compared to previous years. Having 

managed through the pandemic, many providers are not able to absorb these costs 

at a time when government financial support for COVID-19 has stopped. 

Denbighshire market stability 

There has been increased focus on supporting people to remain independent in their 

own homes for longer. Most people say that they do not want to live in a residential 

care home if there is an option to remain independent. Denbighshire use “What 

Matters” conversations with people to enable us to agree the appropriate outcomes 

of their care and support. We use the resource wheel to ensure we include support 

that people have from family, friends and communities when discussing how to work 

towards the agreed outcomes. 

There is a diverse provider base in Denbighshire. However, there are limited older 

people’s mental health (EMI) residential and nursing placements available. 

The market is diverse with homes of varying size, in-house and 

independent. However, the majority are small, independent care homes in older 

buildings that are not purpose built. 

The Contracts and Commissioning Team work closely with providers and offer 

support that is required.  

There has been a lack of trained nursing staff available in the south of the county, 

meaning Llangollen Fechan faced prohibitive agency fees and therefore decided to 

cease dual registration for both residential and nursing care, concentrating only on 

residential beds. This means fewer nursing beds in the south. 

A small provider, Chesterton found it was not financially viable so a managed closure 

took place with weekly meetings between council staff and home managers. All 

residents were relocated in a safe and acceptable manner. 

The pandemic has highlighted the problems of economic viability of small, 

independent care homes. Difficulty recruiting and retaining staff, lack of flexibility in 

layouts and facilities have all indicated that there may in future be a move to larger, 

more modern or purpose-built buildings where economies of scale give greater 

resilience. 

 

Page 127



 

36 
 

Gaps in service / support: 

 Welsh speaking support staff (mainly in the north of the county)  

 Social enterprises and independent providers who are based in the south of the 

county  

 Short term, progression focused interventions with agreed outcomes  

 Alternatives to traditional services (including respite and day activities)  

The learning disability register and housing needs data show that numbers are not 

changing significantly but the complexity of need is increasing.  

In the provider survey for this report, Denbighshire providers reported an average 

required occupancy of 85% for sustainability. Current average occupancy is 78%. At 

the time of the survey there was a vacancy rate of 25% in Denbighshire, this was 

higher than the regional average of 20%. 

Denbighshire County Council recognises the value of nurturing and supporting good 

quality providers - for example, during Covid-19 steps were taken to proactively 

avoid provider failure. At the same time budgetary pressures mean that 

commissioners cannot always respond to fee requests in the way that providers 

would like them to. Generally, we have a good relationship with most providers. This 

can be more difficult to maintain when we need to raise concerns with a provider 

(e.g. regarding quality or safeguarding) and when negotiating fee increases or de-

commissioning a service. During the pandemic we tried to ensure that providers (for 

example external day services) could survive financially and we also worked closely 

with providers on helping to keep people safe and well.  

Provider to provider relationships improved during the pandemic and there were 

good examples of peer support and camaraderie between providers. One long 

standing good example is a local care home who led on the Person Centred 

Planning (PCP) community of support, with other mainly domiciliary care providers 

attending - each sharing good practice regarding person centred approaches, and 

with guest speakers talking about new initiatives in Denbighshire. Relationships in 

this meeting are supportive 

Other challenges identified are: 

 Recruitment and retention. 

 High sickness absence. 

Page 128



 

37 
 

 Ensuring sufficiency of placements in the local area, are able to meet the 

individual’s level of need, while still supporting choice and control and preventing 

admission to acute and community hospitals. 

 Lack of suitable overnight respite accommodation that can be pre-booked - 

unpaid carers have difficulty trying to find residential/nursing homes willing to 

accept people on a one off or occasional basis, particularly if they have higher 

needs / exhibit challenging behaviour. This may be due to funding, staffing or 

something else. There is a respite flat in Corwen but this is not well used mostly 

due to lack of availability of care packages. Staff at a nearby home don’t have 

capacity to cover although not far away. Respite accommodation for people with 

complex disabilities is very limited - Alexandra House only. Ongoing negotiations 

with Alexandra House and Conwy CBC. 

Flintshire market stability 

Flintshire has a diverse provider base with no reliance on one provider but limited 

nursing and nursing older people’s mental health (EMI) placements. The market is 

diverse with homes of varying size, in-house and independent, family run or as part 

of a larger organisation. The council is moving ahead with increasing capacity in in-

house residential provision. The Contract and Commissioning Team work closely 

with providers on both entry and exit to ensure the process runs smoothly, offering 

any support that is required. Although the market is robust and each provider has 

contingency plans in place to deal with the majority of issues, the COVID-19 

pandemic presented exceptional circumstances and providers did not have this 

included in their plans. These have since been updated.  

Business diagnostic reviews conducted with 18 homes in 2017 identified the 

following issues related to stability: 

 Group owned care homes had back of house support and central administration 

which seemed to reduce time pressures and workload compared to smaller 

independent homes. 

 There was no discrimination identified between private and local authority funded 

patients but providers were requesting top up fees from local authorities due to 

financial pressures. 

 Recruitment and retention: affected by the size of the home and the way it’s 

managed, it helps to be on a main bus route, some concerns about image of the 

sectors, wages and competing with the NHS for staff. 

Page 129



 

38 
 

 Sickness and absence rates are high and policies in place. The most common 

cause of absence is sickness and diarrhoea. 

 Many homes are in older buildings with poor energy efficiency and difficult to 

alter. There was more space to expand and better outside space in rural homes, 

but these are also less convenient to access. Heating costs were a big concern 

and some homes suggested a joint procurement policy may help give them 

stronger buying power. Homes would appreciate advice on waste policy too. 

 No clear view on minimum number of residents needed to make the home viable, 

but aware of whether they were losing money or not. 

 Appreciation of a recent grant for asset purchase and recommendation for an 

asset library where expensive, occasional used equipment could be borrowed 

rather than purchased outright. 

 Finances are challenging requiring top ups to local authority fees and a 

proportion of private patients to survive. The increase in the living wage, a 

general reduction in unemployment rates, increase in employment and the 

unknown impact of Brexit suggests that the pool of candidates will get smaller. 

Profit margins are tight and any increase in interest rates plus increases in other 

overheads such as business rates, fuel costs and food costs will have an impact 

on the long term sustainability of the sector. 

Since the pandemic the market has become extremely unstable due to: 

 Residential and nursing homes going into administration 

 Residential and nursing homes being taken over leading to instability and 

significant changes in services 

 Lack of staff due to retirement or leaving the business  

 Low number of nursing placements and no providers with open placements to 

ensure stability of the placement  

 Lack of funding to try to assist the providers during a difficult time  

 Care Home closures, this could be due to a number of factors such as financial or 

lack of qualified staff 

 Recruitment within Social Services sector is an ongoing concern, this is having 

an impact on the sustainability of provisions 

Discussions with Responsible Individuals highlighted the following issues: 

 Rapid changes in guidance 

 Cost of living increases 

Page 130



 

39 
 

 Hardship Fund tapering  

 Recruitment and retention 

 Good carers who are not IT savvy and not looking to upskill and undertake 

additional training for registration 

Wrexham market stability 

All Wrexham’s care homes are outsourced and they are currently evaluating the 

medium to longer term viability of the private residential market and considering how 

they might deliver intermediate, short term care solutions in the medium to longer 

term as this market seemingly has some limitations to delivery in this context. 

Fee setting methodology, budgets and lack of agreement regionally on the Pre 

Placement Agreement which sets the overarching terms and conditions is also 

hampering flexible, responsive residential care commissioning.  

Barriers to entry into the market include suitable facilities and properties and the 

costs involved in development of a potential property. Plus, the already difficult 

recruitment market/staff shortages in established facilities. Ideas for ways the local 

council could support include; assistance to source suitable property, cash 

incentives, loans to assist with set up and possible recruitment assistance. The lack 

of flexibility in regional frameworks to reopen may also be a barrier. The council 

could work with Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) and Social Care Wales to enable 

swifter registration processes and inflation beating budget uplifts. 

All contracts are subject to regular monitoring under the terms and conditions and 

this should pick up any potential problems/issues at an early stage to enable 

preventative measures and/or emergency measures to be put in place to try and 

avoid a crisis. The main indicators would be; reported difficulties in recruitment, 

retention of staff - large numbers of leavers, always had difficulties in retaining staff 

in the industry as a whole, monetary losses, no reserve funds, possibly the 

accommodation not being suitable moving forward and no funds to make changes. 

Escalating concerns process including engagement with other commissioning 

councils. 

Escalating concerns 

Identifying escalating concerns within care homes is part of the council quality 

assurance process, with the process leading to improvements in service 

Page 131



 

40 
 

performance and quality and a positive impact on staff. This information can change 

quickly but is included below as a snapshot.  

 Anglesey: No providers currently under escalating concerns (May 2022). 

 Gwynedd: One home under escalating concerns for business/financial reasons. 

As at 31 March 2021, there were three providers in the escalating concerns 

process, with one other about to be placed into escalating concerns. The reasons 

for implementing the escalating concerns process with those four homes can be 

summarised as leadership, management and oversight.  

 Conwy: One provider under escalating concerns at the time of writing and one 

further provider during the pandemic. There is a good relationship between the 

providers and local authority on the whole with areas of concern identified early 

and resolved without the need for the formal procedures. 

 Denbighshire: 2 providers currently in escalating concerns (May 2022) but has 

been up to around 6 at the height of the pandemic. During the pandemic 

Denbighshire County Council’s policy was to use the escalating concerns 

process during an outbreak in any care home. This ensured that there was a 

structured approach to meetings and a multi-disciplinary team was involved. 

 Flintshire: 5 care homes placed into escalating concerns between April 2015 and 

March 2021. Non-compliance/immediate action notice issued to 3 care homes 

between April 2019 and March 2020 (excludes 3 providers with new owners) 

 Wrexham: Three care homes placed in escalating concerned during the reporting 

period to March 2021, with two of those homes having completed the process 

within the timescales. One home remained in the process supported by social 

care and health colleagues until April 2021.  

Care home closures 

Lessons learned from care home closures 

What worked well 

Experience of recent closures highlight the following: 

 Good working relationship between Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW), the council 

and health board with colleagues from Continuing Health Care (CHC) and 

community nursing leads involved alongside social services senior staff, social 

workers and contracts and commissioning officers. 

 Linking to advocacy. 

Page 132



 

41 
 

 Provision of list of current vacancies in the sector. 

 Health colleagues working with social care staff in Community Resource Teams 

building stronger relationships, shortening time to achieve outcomes and 

improving experience for residents.  

 Social services senior staff, social workers and contracts and commissioning 

officers working more closely to improve dialogue and co-working across 

operational and business support teams. 

 Person-centred, outcome focussed work across all teams. 

 Regular communications with providers  

 Importance of initiating discussions as soon as possible to facilitate joint planning 

and working. 

 Allocated team of council staff to support people with their packing and 

accounting for their belongings, alongside providing a council presence in the 

home. 

Challenges 

 Could provider failure have been anticipated, risk assessed before notice given? 

Difficult to anticipate based on intelligence available. Perhaps a joint process 

could be developed based on experiences to guide future scenarios. 

 Ensuring sufficiency of placements in the local area are able to meet the 

individual’s level of need, while still supporting choice and control. Also, 

preventing admission to acute and community hospitals. 

 Managing expectations and emotions of staff and residents during the process.  

 Understanding equipment ownership – what belongs to the home, Health Board, 

Stores, Welsh Government such as personal protective equipment (PPE) and 

ensuring this is moved to a new setting alongside the resident. 

 Working with third parties such as administrators. Differing opinions and expected 

outcomes, accuracy of information, understanding of Welsh policy. 

 Maintaining safe level of staffing at the closing setting. 

 Accessing staff files to support ease of employment to new employers. 

 Complexities of a new provider taking over the home as a going concern. In 

particular, if there are restrictions on their registration.  

Denbighshire supported providers to update contingency plans during the pandemic 

when new and exceptional difficulties were experienced. Denbighshire Council staff 

have worked alongside providers when staffing has been impossible to resource 

otherwise. Brought providers together to foster better relationships and share best 

Page 133



 

42 
 

practice, for example, around infection control. Monitoring visits are not yet back on 

track since the pandemic but all homes with possible risks have been visited and 

interim measures included phone calls. Provider engagement meetings are now 

monthly but very poorly attended.  

Flintshire has also found that moving away from systematic annual monitoring visits 

to a practice development approach has helped develop effective constructive and 

professional relationships with providers, which have been critical in enabling them 

to meet the challenges of the pandemic together. 

Feedback from care home residents 
All counties have systems in place to consult and engage with care home residents. 

A summary of feedback received is below: 

 Positive feedback, particularly focussed on staff providing support. They were 

described as very caring, having time for people and supporting with all aspects 

of personal care and related needs. Managers and office staff were also 

mentioned in terms of being approachable and sorting out problems when they 

arrive. Everyone also said they felt safe in the buildings. 

 Some issues were raised by individuals, not often but still important, including 

training and reminders to staff about issues such as knocking and waiting at 

doors, use of mobile phones and how their approach to tenants is important. For 

example, not rushing, treating them as an adult. 

Feedback from providers 

 Citizen’s having rapid deterioration or life changing events such as a stroke then 

losing mental capacity with finances. Often no Lifetime Power of Attorney (LPA) 

in place. It would help to promote LPA more and this could reduce the council 

deputyship waiting list and workload.  

 Transport is a huge issue for older people, particularly those living in rural areas 

and those with limited mobility. Bus services are very limited especially in rural 

areas and public transport is often not fully accessible or wheelchair friendly. Dial 

a ride is excellent but only operates in the North of the county and is not cheap. 

Taxis are expensive and not always available or accessible. One did need a 

mobile phone to book the new Flecsi bus – now amended. 

 Welsh language capacity is problematic. 

Page 134



 

43 
 

 Pressures around recruitment and retention with staff leaving sector following the 

stresses of COVID-19 and the ability of the sector to pay a competitive wage 

(compared to other sectors such as retail). Regulatory requirements. Lack of 

skills regarding bid writing and understanding the requirements of a tender 

process. 

Impact of commissioning processes on 
the market 
Each council has systems in place to support and liaise with providers, including 

regular meetings and discussions with providers and support with training and 

resources. Examples include Flintshire’s ‘Progress for Providers’ Programme in Care 

Homes which is a self-assessment tool for managers to use with their staff to check 

how they are doing in delivering personalised support for people living in care 

homes. 

Supported Living 

North Wales commissioners from the six local councils and health board worked 

together to develop a Supported Living Framework which went live on 1 April 2020. 

Multiple service providers have already been admitted to the framework agreement 

following the requisite due diligence and quality checks. This enables commissioners 

to commission services adopting the framework agreement which can streamline 

processes while remaining in accordance with relevant legislation and the local 

authority Contract Procedure Rules. 

Denbighshire County Council have 41 supported living contracts due to end 31 

March 2023. These have been in place for many years and extended numerous 

times with a view to re-tendering. Discussions are currently underway regarding how 

best to re-tender. The concern is that re-tendering could have a destabilising effect 

on the local market exacerbating existing issues with retaining staff and risking 

providers handing existing contracts back rather than bid for more. Discussions are 

underway about what approach to take. 

Welsh language  
Around 24% of social care staff in North Wales can communicate effectively through 

the medium of Welsh (Social Care Wales, 2018b)(Social Care Wales, 2018). Across 

Page 135



 

44 
 

North Wales 20% of registered care home managers are fluent Welsh speakers, 

which is highest in Gwynedd where 57% fluent Welsh speakers. 

Engagement in Denbighshire identified receiving services in Welsh was a high 

priority in the Denbigh area and there is not enough care provided through the 

medium of Welsh in the south of the county. Many staff have some Welsh language 

skills but lack confidence so an internal project is looking at ways to improve this. An 

inspection of Cysgod y Gaer care home in Corwen in March 2022 identified that the 

service does provide an ‘Active Offer’ of the Welsh language and that it anticipates 

identifies, and meets the Welsh language and cultural needs of people who use, or 

may use, the service. 

Social value and preventative services 
The concept of social value includes the following.  

 The value experienced by the users of a service, delivering ‘what matters’ and 

co-producing services with people who use them. 

 The added social, environmental or economic value a contract can provide over 

and above the core requirements. 

 The duty local councils have to promote social care and preventative services 

provided by social enterprises, co-operatives, co-operative arrangements, user 

led services, and the third sector (Welsh Government, 2014). 

The Wales Cooperative Centre (2021) has produced a guide to raise awareness of 

potential social enterprise and co-operative models in the care home sector. 

We want to promote ‘social value models of delivery’ that:  

 Achieve well-being outcomes. 

 Work co-productively – giving users a strong voice and real control. 

 Have a preventative and dependency-reducing orientation. 

 Incorporate collaboration, co-operation and partnership. 

 Add value - social, economic and environmental. 

As well as to promote activities that maintain or strengthen the well-being of unpaid 

carers and community capacity beyond the market – without which the market 

cannot be stable.  

Page 136



 

45 
 

Each county supports a range of preventative services which can help people to 

remain in their homes and avoid the need for residential or nursing care. This 

includes regional projects funded through the Integrated Care Fund (ICF) including 

falls prevention projects and step up / step down care. ‘Step up’ is an intermediate 

care function to receive patients from home/community settings to prevent 

unnecessary acute hospital admissions or premature admissions to long term care. 

‘Step down’ is an intermediate care function to receive patients from acute care for 

rehabilitation and to support timely discharge from hospital. 

Projects include; community agents, navigator and social prescribing projects which 

link people up to support and activities available in their local community. They also 

include; befriending, advocacy and respite services.  

The Micro Care and Community Catalysts projects provides support to micro 

providers to enter the care markets. Direct payments are used to help people access 

personal care and live as independently as possible. 

There is more information about preventative services available in North Wales in 

the Population Needs Assessment.  

Workforce 
The table below shows the number of registered adult care home managers in North 

Wales at the 1 April 2020. Analysis of the data shows: 

 In the last year 46 managers left the register and 31 joined, a turnover of 14%.  

 The ratio of women to men is 6:1 and 230 are aged over 51.  

 Around a third of registered managers have some Welsh language skills and 

20% are fluent.  

Page 137



 

46 
 

Table 6: Number of registered adult care home managers, 31 March 2020 

Local council  Care home 

managers 

Anglesey 30 

Gwynedd 61 

Conwy 67 

Denbighshire 66 

Flintshire 39 

Wrexham 47 

North Wales 310 

Source: Social Care Wales, Registered adult care home managers 

A regional survey carried out for the Market Stability Report identified that 1 in 5 care 

worker roles are vacant across the region, including senior care worker and care 

worker roles. 

There are some concerns that since the introduction of the Regulation and 

Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016 more homes are offering both residential 

care and older people’s mental health (EMI) residential care without necessarily 

providing separate facilities for different residents and possibly without having 

suitable skill sets and arrangements in place. 

There is an increase in training needs due to the lack of available training on offer 

during the pandemic, which include basic training such as inductions and manual 

handling. 

There are some concerns that staff may have moved away from a reablement ethos 

due to pressures during the pandemic. For example, individuals becoming very 

deconditioned due to lack of activity and staff not promoting simple forms of 

independence, such as going to the toilet unaided.  

Local authorities report that it is becoming more difficult to recruit care home 

managers. Alternative approaches such as the ‘Grow Your Own’ (The King’s Fund, 

2006) may have the potential to create the conditions for sustainable workforce 

development.   

Page 138



 

47 
 

4. Domiciliary care services 

Population overview  
It is predicted that the number of people aged 65 and over who struggle with 

activities of daily living will increase by 25% increase by 2040 

There will be more people aged 65 and over living alone  

The composition of households can also affect the demand for services to support 

independence. Data from the 2011 Census shows that there are 44,000 people aged 

65 and over living alone, which is 59% of all households aged 65 and over. 

Research by Gwynedd Council found a strong relationship between the number of 

people aged 65 and over who live alone and the number of clients receiving a 

domiciliary care package in an area (Regional Partnership Board, 2022).  

Moreover, around 28% of people in Wales have such low incomes that they do not 

contribute to the cost of their domiciliary care (CSSIW, 2016). It is anticipated that 

30% of people have enough capital to  fund their own care in both domiciliary care 

and care homes (CSSIW, 2016).  

Table 7: Predicted number of people aged 65 and over who struggle with activities of 
daily living 

Local council 2020 

number  

2020 

percent 

2040 

number 

2040 

percent 

Change 

number 

Change 

percent 

Anglesey 5,100  27% 6,550  29%   1,500  23% 

Gwynedd 8,000  28% 10,050  29%   2,050  20% 

Conwy 9,450  29% 13,050  30%   3,600  27% 

Denbighshire 6,450  27% 8,800  29%   2,400  27% 

Flintshire 9,150  27% 12,350  29%   3,250  26% 

Wrexham 7,550  27% 10,000  29%   2,450  24% 

North Wales 45,700  28%  60,900  29%  15,150  25% 

Wales 185,300  28% 248,900  29%  63,600  26% 

Numbers have been rounded so may not sum 
Source: Daffodil, Mid-year population estimates, Office for National Statistics and 
2018-based population projections, Welsh Government 

Page 139



 

48 
 

Market sufficiency 

Market overview  

The average number of hours of domiciliary care per week commissioned by each 

local authority and the health board is summarised in the table below. 

Table 8:  Average local authority/health board Commissioned domiciliary care hours 
per week 

County Older 
person 

Learning 
disability  

Older person 
mental 
health  

Physical 
disability  

Total  

Anglesey 3644 390 - 582 4616 

Gwynedd - - - - 11144 

Conwy  (a, b) 8024 5523 382 - 13930 

Denbighshire - - - - 5150 

Flintshire (c, d)  6,047 913 22 1,160 8142 

Wrexham 5599 638 1196 955 8388 

North Wales     44558 

Source: Local authority data collection. Some figures are rounded so may not sum.  
 (a) Learning disability figure also includes physical disability  
(b)  Figure includes direct payments 
(c) Learning disability floating support (not in supported living accommodation) 
(d) Older person mental health - independent sector, but majority of support provided 
by in house mental health team 

In terms of the balance of the market, on average more than 70% of the North Wales 

domiciliary care market is comprised of independent sector providers with the 

remainder a mixture Local Authority and Third Sector providers. However, this does 

vary according to local authority. For example, Gwynedd have 44% of domiciliary 

care being provided internally currently and 56% through the independent sector, 

whereas in Flintshire the local authority currently provides around 10% of the 

domiciliary care provision.  

Page 140



 

49 
 

Table 9: Percentage market estimated share of domiciliary care sector by type 

County In House Independent 

sector 

Anglesey (a) 18.5 81.5 

Gwynedd 44 56.0 

Conwy 9.7 92.3 

Denbighshire 10 90.0 

Flintshire 10.5 89.5 

Wrexham 3 97 

Source: Local authority data collection   
(a) Should be in-house/external provider (independent sector and third sector) split 
of 30/70% 

Table 10: Number of providers working in each local authority area  

County Number  
of providers  

Anglesey 1 

Gwynedd 1 

Conwy 3 

Denbighshire 6 

Flintshire 6 

Wrexham 4 

Regional (a) 52 

Source: North Wales Domiciliary Care Framework   
(a) Providers noted for each county are -ones who only provide services in that 
county. Regional providers are those that work in more than one county in North 
Wales. 

 

Page 141



 

50 
 

Table 11: Average hourly rate of domiciliary care by population group (£) 

County Older person Learning 

disability  

Older person 

mental health  

Physical 

disability  

Anglesey 17.83 16.04 17.83 17.83 

Gwynedd 19.13 19.13 19.13 19.13 

Conwy (a) 20.60 20.60 20.60 20.60 

Denbighshire 

(a) 

19.53 19.53 19.53 19.53 

Flintshire (b, c) 18.67 16.84 - 18.67 

Wrexham  20.33 16.90 20.58 20.28 

Source: local authority data collection 
(a) Average rate across all population groups 
(b) Supported living  
(c) Majority of older person mental health supported in house, no average provided. 

 

Regional market overview 

Domiciliary care is a priority market identified by commissioners, with current 

private sector providers unable to fulfil the demand for a significant amount of time 

now. As such, growth and development of services including general domiciliary care 

(includes homecare, re-ablement; community living and recovery) have been 

identified as opportunities for the future.  

Isle of Anglesey market overview  

In Anglesey, demand is currently exceeding supply (March 2022) due to shortage of 

staff within domiciliary care providers. 

Gwynedd market overview 

In Gwynedd there has been insufficient domiciliary care provision to meet need 

across Gwynedd, particularly in the Eifionydd and Pwllheli area at present. 

In Gwynedd, currently there is a lack of available domiciliary care, and the nature of 

current arrangements mean that providers can refuse to give care, or return 

Page 142



 

51 
 

packages. Frequent emergencies can occur, where providers report that they are no 

longer able to provide care due to staffing problems.  

Currently, people have little choice in the field. Getting any care is a challenge, let 

alone having a choice. People can choose to get Direct Payments to arrange their 

own care, but it is not easy to find people who can offer care. A project with 

'Community Catalysts' has started, to encourage people to set up a small company 

to provide care, and hopefully this will improve the situation. 

Conwy market overview 

The numbers of people who receive domiciliary care packages in Conwy has 

declined over the past four years, as can be seen in the table below. 

There have been a couple of principle reasons for this, the impact of COVID and 

carers workers leaving the sector with the sector unable to recruit new staff. 

As it can be seen that during the last 12 months the numbers of citizens receiving 

domiciliary care had dropped dramatically and evidence from providers is that this is 

directly due to lack of domiciliary carers. During the May to November 2021 period 

approximately 950 hours of domiciliary care packages have been handed back due 

to private sector agencies unable to meet demand.  

Table 12: Numbers of people who receive domiciliary care packages in Conwy 

Year Total 

clients 

2017/18 898 

2018/19 818 

2019/20 799 

2021/22 717 

Source: Local authority data collection 

As of this week 2 of April 2022 there are 698 packages begin delivered to older 

people across Conwy. 

The table below shows the total number of packages and hours that are being 

delivered, week 2 April 2022. The areas in this table are shown as the Community 

Resource Team (CRT) Areas. 

Page 143



 

52 
 

Table 13: Total number of domiciliary care packages and hours that are being 
delivered in Conwy (April 2022) 

CRT area Packages Hours Average 

hours per 

package 

Abergele 146 1,709 11.7 

Colwyn 206 2,251 10.9 

Llandudno 172 2,217 12.9 

Coastal 91 1,166 9.0 

Rural 83 747 9.0 

Total 698 8,091 11.6 

Numbers have been rounded so may not sum 
Source: Local authority data collection 

It can be seen that the Colwyn CRT area has the most packages and Rural has the 

least. It is also interesting to see that the Llandudno and Coastal areas don’t have 

the most packages but the average hours per package is higher than any other area, 

this is probably due to the average age of the population in those areas and the fact 

that they need more intensive support packages. 

Denbighshire market overview 

There were 585 people who received domiciliary care in Denbighshire during 

2020-21. This number has increased over the last year. 

Table 14:  Demographic of people accessing domiciliary care in Denbighshire 

Age group Percentage 

of Provision 

18-24 1% 

25-64 19% 

65-74 11% 

75-84 24% 

85+ 45% 

Source: Local authority data 

 

Page 144



 

53 
 

Denbighshire does not have enough providers to give people a real choice or to give 

an element of competition in the market. Commissioners have unmet demand and 

are unable to provide domiciliary care for all requests. For example, at the end of 

March 2022 there were 116 people waiting for domiciliary care packages, of which 

26 were receiving interim support. The Interim Support Team’s function is to provide 

domiciliary care and support for a short period of time whilst care packages are 

secured through the provider sector. There are particular challenges in the south of 

the county where we have minimal independent provision. Our in-house team are 

only working in the south and their intervention often ends up being long term due to 

lack of alternative provision. Moreover, the re-ablement teams, both north and south, 

are finding they are picking up urgent care packages on a regular basis and this in 

turn has an impact on our ability to offer re-ablement services. 

The range of care needs is wide and includes: 

 frailty due to age related conditions  

 physical disabilities  

 learning disabilities, including autistic spectrum disorders  

 sensory impairments  

 chronic illness  

 long term health conditions  

 dementia  

 mental health, including depression, anxiety  

 substance abuse 

 palliative care 

We are working with Community Catalysts to ensure that Denbighshire residents are 

able to access the kind of care and support that suits them best. In addition 

Community Catalyst   supports citizens who wish to, to provide care and support in a 

way that fits with their lifestyle. 

Community Catalysts 

Community Catalysts is a social enterprise working across the UK to try to make sure 

that people who need care and support to live their lives can get that help in ways, 

times and places that suit them, with real choice of attractive local options. They help 

people across the UK use their energies and talents to set up ‘community micro-

enterprises’. Community micro-enterprises are really small businesses or ventures or 

groups that offer help with care or health or wellbeing to local people in their area. 

Page 145



 

54 
 

Community Catalysts has lots of experience and expertise and can offer people who 

want to set up a new care enterprise specialist advice and guidance, so they can do 

this safely and well.  

In Denbighshire, Community Catalysts has been commissioned by the Council to use 

its expertise to help to tackle social care challenges.  

Moving with Dignity / Right sized Care 

For many years, it has been established practice across health and social care for 

people who need to be hoisted, or cared for in bed, to have a care package with two 

people to assist and carry out the care.  

It is unknown where or how, this practice became established, but with innovations in 

moving and handling equipment and a move to a more person-centred care & 

support approach, this requirement is increasingly being questioned and challenged.  

It has been estimated that at least 37% of Denbighshire citizens could be assisted by 

one carer (instead of two), with the additional benefits of maintenance of dignity and 

comfort together with the increased flexibility derived from the provision of only one 

carer. More specialist moving and handling equipment is being designed and 

manufactured to facilitate single handed care allowing our Citizens to have their care 

needs addressed with the minimum of support and intervention. 

Denbighshire have been promoting this way of working across Health and Social 

care and training staff so that they become more familiar with specialist moving and 

handling equipment and so they are more confident about supporting our Citizens to 

have their Care needs addressed with the minimum of intervention. 

The Moving with Dignity project incorporates promoting independence and 

appropriate handling techniques for care provision. Using kindness and a gentle, 

compassionate approach, it involves looking at the number of carers required to 

attend to a person's needs, when being lifted, transferred or repositioned using 

specific techniques and items of equipment.  

During the last year 5 sessions were held with Occupational Therapists to refresh 

skills using bed management systems. As a result, the Nordic bed management 

system is now core stock and can be ordered directly from our Community 

Equipment Service (CESI) which has reduced the delay between the initial 

assessment and providing beds to citizens. 

Page 146



 

55 
 

Formal training sessions were held with 22 care staff from our in-house 

Independence at Home team. Following on from the training, the team are now 

working towards ensuring that care packages for those being discharged from 

hospital are considered within the ethos of Moving with Dignity before the care is 

transferred to external domiciliary care providers. 

A pilot project was implemented with one Domiciliary Care agency, whereby the 

Manager and Moving and Handling trainer received an awareness training session to 

discuss the ethos of Moving with Dignity, which they are now rolling out with their 

care team. The aim is that once all training has been completed, work will be carried 

out to review all double handed packages of care 

Our Moving with Dignity project lead completed a training session with Betsi 

Cadwaladr University Health board (BCUHB) Moving and Handling trainers to 

discuss single handed care.  

The newly created Adult Social Services Edge of Care Team fits with our strategic 

vision for a modern, more effective way of delivering social care support that 

strengthens individual and community resilience. The Edge of Care team is unique in 

that it is based within Adult Social Care Services and recruits, trains and deploys 

Volunteers. The Manager is a qualified Social Worker and Outcome focussed mentor. 

Two Edge of Care Coordinators support the Manager to deliver the project.  

The Team has demonstrated how the project can positively impact on planned care 

pathways, supporting discharge from hospital for citizens, working closely with our 

Community Resource Teams in delivering a ‘team around the individual’ approach, 

reducing demand for traditional planned care. For example; we have volunteers 

providing respite to carers, with careful and considered matching of ‘cared for and 

volunteer’, the result has been an experience that is meaningful and enjoyable for 

both carer and cared for. We have examples of where citizens have remained on the 

‘edge’ of planned and unplanned care for example Mental Health Services, Care 

Home placement and traditional domiciliary care, keeping citizens in the community 

 

 

Page 147



 

56 
 

Flintshire market overview 

With regard to the demographic of people accessing domiciliary care in Flintshire, 

the largest group are people aged 85 and over, see the table below. 

Table 15:  Demographic of people accessing domiciliary care in Flintshire 

Age group Percentage of 

provision 

18 to 24 1% 

25 to 64 17% 

65 to 74 12% 

75 to 84 27% 

85 and over 43% 

Source: Local authority data collection 

Of those under the age of 65, a similar proportion of people receive support for a 

learning disability as a physical or sensory impairment.  

As previously reported, the population changes over the next five years will have an 

impact on the sufficiency of provision. This increase number of people living in the 

community with dementia and complex needs may increase the demand for  

domiciliary care services, in particular ‘double staffed packages of care’. This is 

something the authority needs to consider in order to continue to support individuals 

to live at home for longer.  

Flintshire In-house Community Support Service provides care and support for adults 

who have an assessed need in their own homes. The service is split into three 

geographical localities and the service is delivered via a team of care staff who work 

across the whole of Flintshire. These three localities replicate social work and health 

teams locally and this aids in continuity and developing working relationships across 

different professions. The three localities are: 

 Locality North East – Deeside area 

 Locality South – Mold / Buckley area’s 

 Locality North West – Holywell / Flint area’s 

The Community Support Service adopts an ethos of re-ablement and supports 

people in line with the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014. The 

Community Support Service provides services to people over 18 years who have 

Page 148



 

57 
 

been assessed as having a social care need living in Flintshire. The Community 

Support Service provide support for a range of health and care needs, including:  

 frailty due to age related conditions 

 physical disabilities 

 Learning disabilities, including autistic spectrum disorders 

 sensory impairments 

 chronic illness 

 long term health conditions 

 dementia 

 mental health, including depression, anxiety 

 substance abuse 

 palliative care  

The Community Support Service support people via three different care and support 

models/approaches which vary depending on the individual and what matters to 

them. 

Re-ablement - designed to support people to regain, improve and maintain their 

daily living skills and maximize their independence whilst continuing to live in their 

own home. This is a short term service which can be provided for up to six weeks. 

The service has close links with hospital discharge teams and plays an important 

role in contributing to a reduction in hospital admissions and readmissions and works 

closely with a range of professionals including Occupational Therapists, Social 

Workers, Physiotherapists and District Nurses. The service also plays an important 

role in working with people to achieve their own personal goals to aid integration 

back into their own environment at home and into their local community. The aim is 

to support people to maximize their independence as quickly as possible and ensure 

that if people need ongoing care and support this is at the appropriate level.  

Living Well - provides flexible care and support for people living with dementia. The 

service is designed to allow independent living and aims to support people to stay 

active in their home and active in their community for as long as possible. The care 

and support is tailored around the individual. Care, support and activities are 

developed over time as the staff build up a relationship with the person and they 

understand what they need. This approach delivers positive outcomes and 

contributes to people living with dementia maintaining their independence for as long 

as possible. 

Page 149



 

58 
 

People who have long-term complex care needs are supported to remain 

independent in their own home. This includes daily living support, helping to achieve 

identified goals, support with medication as well as end of life / palliative care as 

required. In supporting people with complex needs the service offers stability and 

reassurance, and can that can support people overcome a crisis as necessary.  

In addition to Local Authority’s in-house care provision, the Commissioners in 

Flintshire actively utilise 28 providers from the North Wales Domiciliary Care 

Framework. There are also a small number delivering supported living exclusively 

under an alternative framework.  

Both independent sector and Local Authority services are currently delivering around 

7500 hours of domiciliary care per week. Flintshire County Council in-house 

provision delivers approximately 12% of this market, but aims to increase service 

delivery in this area to support more people to live at home, in line with the Council 

Plan. These figures exclude the provision of Extra Care, from which the Local 

Authority delivers around 370 hours of care per week. 

Wrexham market overview 

The population of Wrexham is just over 135,000 according to the 2017 census. Over 

45% (58,359) of that population are over the age of 45 years. Further 23% (31,700) 

of the population is over the age of 60 years. Those in fair health are 19,000 (14%), 

those in bad health are 6,500 (5%) and very bad health 1,800 (1%). Domiciliary care 

provision in Wrexham is provided through a patch-based model.  

Of those there are a number who provide care services to those in need who are 

unpaid. These are broken down as follows: 8,900 provide 1 to 19 hours unpaid care 

a week; 2,200 provide 20 to 49 hours unpaid care a week and 4,000 provides 50 or 

more hours unpaid care a week. It is likely that over a five-year period all of these 

people will need to access services at some level.  

Market stability 

Regional challenges 
A gap in services exists in relation to short home calls for support with medication. 

Neither health nor social care services provide calls only for medication, but older 

Page 150



 

59 
 

people with memory problems do need this vital care (Regional Partnership Board, 

2022). 

The current economic situation with rising inflation and  fuel costs, and wider cost of 

living pressures in early 2022 are creating instability for  domiciliary care providers 

and their staff for example in-work poverty. 

Decreasing budgets could present further challenges around the level of services 

which are able to be commissioned and provided. Across North Wales, providers 

have appreciated the support funding throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. For 

example, an additional £1m for domiciliary care which has provided stability during 

the pandemic. There is concern over the impact  the end of the financial support will 

have.  

Isle of Anglesey market stability  

Post pandemic, recruitment and retention of staff remains an issue with the staff 

turnover rate in Social Services having increased in 2021/22. 

There is an increasing demand for services, but budgets along with inflationary 

pressures are struggling to keep up with this demand.  

Gwynedd market stability 

Gwynedd has recently begun to establish the new domiciliary care model and early 

indications are very positive with providers having more recruitment successes. The 

domiciliary care tender opening in early April 2022 will give commissioners the 

opportunity to establish the new model across the county, and hopefully achieve 

much more stability thereafter. It is hoped that it will be possible to recruit more staff, 

achieve more with the same staffing level, and achieve greater efficiency (less travel 

and less bureaucracy) which results in more time to care and better outcomes for 

people (through focus on what makes a difference to the individual and tailor the 

care appropriately), through the adoption of the new model. The intention in the new 

model is to maintain the 50:50 split between the internal and external sectors for 

provision. The inclusion of the new contract for the external providers means that we 

have the freedom to adjust this ratio over the life of the agreement. Frequent 

emergencies in domiciliary care where providers report that they are no longer able 

to provide due to staffing problems. As the new arrangements come into effect a 

transition period will be required including effective shadowing and training. 

Page 151



 

60 
 

Conwy market stability 

The Independent sector market has been unable to fulfil the county’s domiciliary care 

requirements since the pandemic. Conwy currently (April 2022) has over 900 hours 

of un-brokered care that the market cannot supply (60+ packages). This has been 

consistent for over 12 months and is being met by in house and BCUHB provision. 

Discussions with providers suggest that this is purely down to staff / recruitment 

problems faced by the sector. Things are slowly improving but at a pace too slow to 

meet the rising demand. 

Denbighshire market stability 

Denbighshire’s in house provision adopts an ethos of re-ablement and supports 

people in line with the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014, providing 

services to people over 18 years of age who have been assessed as having a social 

care need and living in Denbighshire.  

Denbighshire's in-house provision consists of Re-ablement, Health and Social Care 

Workers and the Interim Support Team - all services are intended to be short term 

interventions.  

The Interim Support Team’s function is to provide domiciliary care and support for a 

short period of time whilst care packages are secured through the provider sector in 

the South of Denbighshire. Increasingly, all elements of the in-house provision are 

holding cases for longer due to the lack of domiciliary care available. Due to the low 

number of providers able to deliver care in the south of Denbighshire, there is a 

commitment to expand the in-house provision. 

Across social care there have also been high levels of staff absence that are likely to 

be linked to high levels of stress and anxiety post the pandemic. 

Commissioners are struggling to secure packages of care, particularly in the south of 

Denbighshire. The main reason for this is lack of available care staff. This is a long 

term problem which is worsening. Domiciliary care providers handed back around 

600 hours of care packages in 2021 due to lack of available staff. 

There is a good range of providers in Denbighshire, although not all on the 

framework actively bid for packages. The domiciliary care sector in the county has 

been severely affected by the pandemic. In particular, sourcing double handed care 

packages is a challenge, as is the lack of availability of care provision in the south of 

Page 152



 

61 
 

the county and in rural areas. We are also aware that domiciliary care services in 

rural settings is more expensive – some research suggests up to 20% more, and the 

average hourly rate is up to 11% higher. Increasing costs of transport fuel is 

challenging for all providers 

Denbighshire County Council are considering opportunities to develop enhanced 

domiciliary care provision for citizens with higher levels of care and support needs. 

The model would necessarily be flexible (rather than ‘time and task’), to support care 

staff to build relationships and person-centred working, gain enhanced skills through 

training and play a key role in care and support planning for citizens. Ultimately, the 

provision would have a clear outcomes focus, and success would be measured by 

those outcomes. 

Denbighshire is hoping to conduct a pilot involving electric vehicles for provision of 

care during 2022. 

Flintshire market stability 

In Flintshire, the market is a mixed model with continued expansion of in-house 

domiciliary care. This is a priority for the Council to help rebalance the care sector. 

Independent care providers continue to work creatively with the local authority to 

ensure the numbers of people waiting for care at home are the lowest possible. 

However, during the last 2 years of the COVID-19 pandemic, this has been 

challenging. 

We now start to see creative solutions including the use of electric vehicles to 

support domiciliary care staff through the proposed WG scheme. They will be used  

to support domiciliary care staff who cannot drive by accessing WG scheme to 

prioritise driving tests for domiciliary care workers who are awaiting a test date. 

Flintshire is continuing the expansion of Micro-care to support individuals locally. The 

market remains challenging, but all stakeholders continue to work in partnership to 

overcome the well-known challenges currently faced across the UK. 

In Flintshire, considering independent providers only, no provider holds more than 

12% of the independent market share in the local area when considering delivered 

hours, with the average for a provider being 4.5%.  

With regard to the balance of the market in Flintshire, the vast majority (12 out of the 

18) are local providers  either exclusively in Flintshire, or within Flintshire and 

Page 153



 

62 
 

neighbouring authorities. Another 4 provider’s work across the North Wales region, 

while they also have 2 national providers.  

In Flintshire, there are some critical pressures and key issues faced by social 

services in the areas of workforce, commissioning and funding criteria. The local 

authority is looking at how to address some of these issues through the reviewing of 

social work roles, improving the career pathway in social care, and offering greater 

clarity on the criteria applied to particular funding streams.  

There are other challenges that local, regional, and national work-streams are 

looking to address, such as recruitment with WeCare Wales and children’s 

placements, however it is important to note that these still present as critical 

pressures for the delivery of social services in Flintshire.  

As of January 2022 in Flintshire, areas of ongoing pressure include:  

 double staffed care 

 rural areas 

 discharge from hospital 

 hand-back packages from providers as a result of staffing challenges 

 increased business costs – utility bills and insurance 

 increased fuel costs, impacting on care staff themselves. 

Need outweighs supply in Flintshire. Due to the challenging financial climate and 

need to encourage more people into the care industry, consideration is being given 

to other ways for care to be provided for example Micro-care.  

There is a challenge of a deficit of care workers, those requiring care are struggling 

with a decreasing pool of care staff. Large care agencies have premises and 

overheads to pay for and investors/stakeholders to satisfy, so care per hour costs 

are higher.  

Within older people’s services, there is a diverse provider base, no reliance on one 

provider or sector. However, within learning disability and physical disability services, 

there is a small number of providers to choose from who are relied upon to meet the 

needs of the service.  

There is a broad range of services available depending on what the individual would 

prefer such as traditional homecare care, Micro-care and Direct Payments. 

Page 154



 

63 
 

Wrexham market stability 

There are currently (April 2022) significant shortfalls in all areas of domiciliary care 

and wider health and social care market in Wrexham which was not seen in the April 

2021 figures and is likely a result of wider, national workforce and COVID-19 

recovery challenges.  

Rotational and other respite solutions also present significant challenges. A lack of 

capacity to deliver regular and flexible respite and short breaks continues to burden 

unpaid carers who are already feeling increased demands from their caring role as a 

result of COVID-19 and other workforce challenges. 

More rural areas of the county prove most difficult in achieving sustainable 

domiciliary care services. Since April 2021, microenterprise capacity has grown and 

Wrexham have approached English agencies to support to meet the demand but the 

sustainability of these approaches is not evaluated.  

There is little flexibility in the current market (April 2022) due to significant workforce 

and COVID-19 recovery challenges across health and social care. Whilst there has 

been a 30% reduction in domiciliary care waiting list times since April 2021, it 

remains significantly high with any short to medium solutions yet to be evaluated and 

tested in terms of their longer term market stability. COVID-19 recovery funding and 

hardship funding supported much of this recovery during 2021-22 with  longer term 

financial stability remaining a challenge. 

Domiciliary care registration can also hamper commissioning and service delivery 

flexibility. RISCA requirements, while attempting to drive up quality, can prove a 

barrier to some organisations and staff when recruitment is already a challenge. In 

addition, as a border town, Wrexham  does rely on providers from England in some 

areas. Providers are restricted in the numbers of people they can support outside of 

Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) registration which can be very lengthy. 

Feedback from citizens and providers 
While emergency care is being provided for older people who fall and are injured, a 

response service is needed for non-injured fallers and for out-of-hours domiciliary 

care. Currently, if an older person needs additional support due to an unexpected 

incident, such as their carer becoming unwell, they have no access to support 

(Regional Partnership Board, 2022) 

Page 155



 

64 
 

“Independent domiciliary care providers told us they have managed to start care 

delivery within the 48 hours but it has been a struggle. The biggest challenges and 

delays are arranging care for people who have complex needs” (Care Inspectorate 

Wales, 2019a) 

“Independent providers of domiciliary care told us about providing care for people 

who miss out on a period of re-ablement when there is no capacity in the 

re-ablement team. We found this is often because there is a waiting list for the 

service due to it being dominated by people being discharged from hospital with low 

level needs, requiring convalescence” (Care Inspectorate Wales, 2019a) 

Feedback from the Regional Provider’s survey [February 2022] details the 

challenges faced by providers as: 

 Recruitment of staff. The employment market is highly competitive and we must 

be able to offer a financial package to care workers, that is both competitive and 

worthy of the role. 

 Retention of staff due to poor terms and conditions in the social care sector. The 

cost of fuel and the cost of living crisis is now beginning to be felt in the sector 

where providers are seeing more staff suffering in-work poverty. 

 Staff leaving the sector due to poor working conditions and lack of respect for the 

work they do and the levels of responsibility involved. Staff feel undervalued and 

overworked. 

 Retaining staff who are new to the sector who are not able to deal with the 

intensity of the job supporting people with conditions such as autism, people 

requiring personal care etc. Need better support for staff to meet the challenges 

of the role. 

Providers also gave suggestions on ways to improve the sector and the quality of 

care, including:  

 Enable flexibility in using commissioned care hours. Whilst appreciating budget 

restraints for all, it can be frustrating when trusted providers are not able to be 

flexible with hours etc. More time is spent justifying any variance, rather than 

being able to 'bank' these hours to achieve people’s outcomes and therefore 

improve quality. Sometimes flexibility is the best way when supporting someone 

(make the most of a particular mood or motivation). 

 Development of true partnership working with providers.   

Page 156



 

65 
 

 A level pay structure for all providers to stop the swapping from one to another for 

better rates. 

 Recognition of the *true* costs of providing care services to enable providers to 

continue to provide quality services and attract / retain quality staff. 

 More emphasis on using local providers instead of national companies with local 

offices. 

 Shared resources between providers such as training of staff. 

Other market stability factors 

Consideration of market quality 

Flintshire use Progress for Providers in care homes,  a self-assessment tool for 

managers to use with their staff to check how they are doing in delivering 

personalised support for people living in care homes. ‘Personalised Support’ is a key 

aim of national policy and means tailoring support to the individual, and enabling 

them to have as much choice and control over their service and life as possible, 

rather than supporting everyone in the same way. The programme has been 

expanded to include domiciliary and extra care services in 2020/21.  

In Denbighshire, commissioners have recognised the need to work with domiciliary 

care providers to embrace a more outcome focused approach.  Further work will be 

done co-productively with providers in the future.  

In Gwynedd, commissioners have worked with Health Board colleagues on 'Due 

Diligence' processes. All providers who apply to be part of the Council's new delivery 

model must meet certain requirements.  

Impact of commissioning practices on the market 

The Integrated Care Fund and Transformation Funding moving to the Regional 

Investment Fund’s (RIF)  five-year programme is welcomed, however we continue to 

work though the guidance and impact of the changes. Due to the value of this 

funding, it is critical that any changes in criteria are articulated with notice so local 

authorities and other partners can consider and plan services with this in mind.  

Where there has been a need to commission directly with a provider, current 

procurement practice has often been a barrier to the need to act rapidly. 

Procurement processes have proved onerous and unattractive to certain providers, 

Page 157



 

66 
 

particularly in the third sector, which then hinders the number of suppliers submitting 

tender applications. 

The Contracts and Commissioning Teams in each Local Authority and the Health 

Board have facilitated regular meetings with residential care, domiciliary care and 

Supported Living providers. Whilst these meetings took place before the pandemic, 

their frequency increased. The support and networking became a vital resource for 

providers. The meetings were also attended by colleagues from the Environmental 

Health Team, Health and Safety Officers and BCUHB officers so partners could 

advise and support when needed 

Alongside these meetings, a dedicated email address has been established where 

providers could pose COVID-19 related questions and queries where they could be 

responded to in a timely manner.  

The team have also had daily phone contact with providers to collect data, enquire 

about PPE supplies, discuss any arising issues or just to be there to listen and 

support in this difficult time. 

Denbighshire use Third Party Administered Support Budgets. This is where the 

money is transferred from the Local Authority directly to a third party who could be 

directly providing some of the person’s care and support or providing a managed 

account service. The money is spent on whatever is agreed in the citizen’s care and 

support plan to assist them in meeting their agreed outcomes. In this arrangement 

the third party holding the budget is responsible for paying providers or services and 

one off purchases and co-produce with practitioners. 

Denbighshire will also continue to commission some long term managed care and 

support including domiciliary and residential care for those who need it.  

Provision of service in the Welsh language 

Information from the Population Needs Assessment (2022)2022 detailed that many 

care homes and domiciliary care providers find it difficult to follow through with the 

provision of a Welsh speaker. More needs to be done to attract Welsh speakers to 

the profession and to support staff to improve their Welsh. This needs to include 

opportunities for both complete beginners and those who need to gain confidence. 

Many organisations provide Welsh language training to their staff, either formally or 

informally. Examples included:  

Page 158



 

67 
 

 Courses offered by the local council or health board.  

 Lunchtime Welsh language groups.  

 Welsh speaking staff delivering workshops to their non-Welsh speaking peers. 

In the Provider Survey (February 2022) providers note that it is a challenge to recruit 

Welsh speakers within their setting, help and support to advertise/translate would be 

helpful moving forward for smaller companies.  

Providers are actively trying to increase our use of the Welsh language, but difficult 

to sustain any learning when not using it frequently enough (on a personal level as 

well as for the organisation).  

Flintshire note that as part of the Mwy Na Geiriau framework the Council ensures 

that service users and their families are in receipt of the Active Offer. Whilst this has 

been taken up for some social work assessments, individuals and their families are 

aware of the current shortage in care staff and we have not received requests for 

care to be delivered by Welsh speaking carers. They are however, very conscious of 

this and throughout the recent pandemic have observed an increase in the numbers 

of staff who are learning Welsh and those who are re-kindling previous Welsh 

language skills which may not have been used for many years. The Council works in 

partnership with our local Further Education Institutions to provide Welsh Language 

courses at all levels to meet individual’s needs. 

Denbighshire ensures residents receive the Active Offer whenever they contact the 

local authority for information, advice or support. In the provider network there is a 

general lack of capacity and lack of available services with Welsh speakers is an 

issue for them. Useful tools such as Welsh language symbols on files are used as 

timely reminders to staff. However, the recruitment crisis affects both Welsh and 

English speakers currently. There has been discussion about placing recruitment 

adverts in local Welsh language publications, such as Y Bedol. 

The Gwynedd position in terms of Welsh speaking staff is highlighted in the table 

below. 

Gwynedd has a significant Welsh speaking domiciliary care workforce, a significant 

proportion of whom are fluent Welsh speakers.  

Gwynedd has invested heavily in the promotion and development of Welsh language 

skills amongst care staff and in recruiting care staff who are able to speak Welsh or 

Page 159



 

68 
 

are willing to improve their Welsh language skills. In terms of care tasks spoke 

Welsh skills are more important in communicating with citizens and giving care in 

their language of choice. 

Table 16: Welsh Speaking Care Staff in Gwynedd domiciliary care provision (April 
2020) 

Position % of registered 

who are 'fluent' in 

Welsh 

% of registered 

who have 'some' 

Welsh language 

skills 

% of registered 

with no Welsh 

language skills 

 

Domiciliary Care 
Workers 

51.2 23.0 9.8 

Domiciliary Care 
Managers 

56.4 17.9 12.8 

Source: Gwynedd Council data collection 

Sustainability of provision 

Flintshire County Council has recently employed a Planning and Development 

Officer to support the independent adult social care sector through the recent 

COVID-19 pandemic, and to become confident and resilient to meet the support 

needs of older people in Flintshire into the future. The officer will work closely with 

the adult social care sector to aid sustainability and recovery following the pandemic. 

This will include supporting with sustainability plans and recruitment drives in house 

and across the sector. 

People often have little choice in reality. Getting any care is a challenge, let alone 

having a choice. People can choose to receive Direct Payments to arrange their own 

care, but it is not easy to find people who can offer care.  

Risks to market stability 

Both in-house and independent care providers continue to have significant staff 

vacancies as existing carers vacate the care sector for a variety of well-rehearsed 

reasons. This is of concern with regard to market stability, and particularly the ability 

to deliver care particularly to harder to reach areas. 

Whilst WG have made provision for the delivery of the Real Living Wage to direct 

care workers, this will have an impact on pay compression and ability to recruit / 

Page 160



 

69 
 

provide career progression to more senior roles. This may have an impact on market 

stability as the next financial year unfolds. 

Business costs, outside of wages are also increasing with inflation escalating and 

fuel costs in particular increasing significantly. For domiciliary care this has a 

significant impact on the attractiveness of the role and the financial viability of 

existing business models. 

A consultation exercise with providers [in-house and external] run by Flintshire 

identified the following market Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats. 

These themes are shared across the region. 

Strengths 

 Good Brokerage relationships with providers and excellent communication 

between the team and providers. 

 Support from provider meeting with virtual meetings and senior leadership 

representation. 

 Commissioners are on the end of the phone for support and advice 

 Providers work together and not in conflict or competition.  

 Additional meetings for Responsible Individuals are positive and helpfully in 

getting support from peers 

 Open working together – developing a support network 

 Open book on finances and having honest conversations enables informed 

decision making 

 Commissioners understand “how it is on the ground” 

Weaknesses 

 Administration of responding to call, for example, if the carer is late 

 Still stuck in task and time 

 Unemployment in the general economy is low which creates competition for staff, 

such as with seasonable retail jobs 

 Expectations of citizens can be a challenge for tasks over and above the care 

plan 

 Losing staff to other economic sectors, to the health board and to other roles 

within the social care sector such as care homes / Supported Living 

 Carers who are not I.T. savvy 

 Providers need better support from Care Inspectorate Wales 

Page 161



 

70 
 

 Salaries we can offer to staff are not competitive enough for the work involved in 

domiciliary care 

Opportunities 

 Social care is on the political agenda – decision makers cannot ignore social care 

any more 

 Flexibility within time and task time bands  

 Engagement with commissioners and the network of framework providers could 

be built on 

 Providers need to engage with potential employees face to face and show them 

what the work is 

 Greater understanding of the cost of running a domiciliary care agency – looking 

at the “Unfair to Care” document  

 Realistic assessment of the responsibilities of the caring role in comparison with 

other roles for example police officer 

 Need to hear more from the citizens and the benefits that this support gives  

 Multi-channel advertising of roles not just online, for example, radio, buses, 

billboards. 

 Opportunity for more joint work with health to ensure people in hospital have 

access to therapists to support discharge. 

Threats 

 Young people not attracted by domiciliary care or care in general 

 Increasing older workforce and no succession planning 

 Terms and Conditions in the sector are poor for the type of work and 

responsibilities involved 

 Care not valued or seen as important in comparison to other sectors, for 

example, emergency service and health 

 The registration and qualification frameworks and requirements are putting 

carer’s off, particularly those will literacy and numeracy challenges 

 The care sector is close to collapsing 

 The Health sector does not recognise the importance of domiciliary care 

 The role of carers is challenging and they are being asked to undertake more 

complex tasks – need to develop a stronger relationship with district nursing 

 Better terms and conditions in local authority care and Health Board roles leading 

to destabilisation 

 State Benefit restrictions disadvantage care workers and creates in work poverty 

Page 162



 

71 
 

Preventative services 
A long term priority is to continue to support people to regain their independence and 

reduce reliance on the statutory care sector. This will be done by providing effective 

access to the social prescribing / third sector services through the Single Point of 

Access (SPOA) as well as effective management of admissions to set up / step 

down beds.  

Some local examples of community preventative approaches are: 

 Age Friendly Communities - The Ageing Well in Flintshire Action Plan identifies 

what needs to be done and by whom, to make growing older in Flintshire a good 

place to be.  

 A short term project to establish proof of concept for social prescribing is also 

being run by Flintshire Local Voluntary Centre (FLVC) on behalf of the Health 

Board. 

 Flintshire Social Services and BCUHB commission a carer respite service for 

carers. This service provides a sitting and domiciliary care service within 

Flintshire, which is accessed via Carers Trust North Wales Crossroads Care 

Services. The respite is currently available to those that have high demanding 

caring roles, including carers of people living with dementia. This service is 

offered for a 12-week period followed by signposting to SPOA to explore ongoing 

respite options. 

 Community Navigators – Social Prescribing in Denbighshire employed by The 

British Red Cross and Age Connects. The Community Navigators are part of the 

four Community Resource Teams. They use ‘Talking Points’ in Denbighshire 

libraries as a place to meet people, although this was not possible during the 

COVID-19 pandemic and a lot of support was provided via telephone at that time. 

They are a source of current, accurate and timely information about a range of 

support that is available in the community. They are key in connecting people, 

reducing social isolation and loneliness. During 2020-21, the Community 

Navigators assisted 2,424 Denbighshire residents. 

Denbighshire seek to commission services from providers who embrace:  

 Having meaningful conversations with people  

 Connecting people with what matters to them  

 Working with people to take control of their lives  

 Building on the strengths and abilities of people to identify individual solutions  

Page 163



 

72 
 

Denbighshire’s focus is on earlier intervention, increasing preventative services 

within the community and helping people maintain their independence. Our mission 

is to place people at the heart of decisions about the type of community support 

services they access. For many people, this will mean that they may be given a 

support budget to manage their own care and support to achieve agreed outcomes. 

This could be in the form of a Direct Payment, a Third Party Managed Support 

Budget or a Local Authority Managed Support Budget for the individual. Support 

budgets will operate under a less restrictive legislative framework, and one that 

supports innovation. In Denbighshire the following work is taking place. 

 Men’s Sheds – The national UK Men’s Sheds Association is a place for men 

where they can share the tools and resources they need to work on projects of 

their own choosing at their own pace and in a safe, friendly and inclusive venue. 

They are places of skill-sharing and informal learning, of individual pursuits and 

community projects, of purpose, achievement and social interaction. A local 

Men’s Shed’s operates in Denbigh.  

 Carers Trust North Wales Crossroads Care Services offer ‘Gwalia Care’ which 

takes over the roles of the unpaid carer so they are able to take some time out. 

This can be on a regular or ad hoc basis and is chargeable. 

 Age Connects North East Wales (ACNEW) – ACNEW are part of the national 

Age Connects Cymru programmes, a social enterprise providing support for 

people aged 50+. Locally, the service provides short-term housing related 

support, toe nail cutting, a cleaning and shopping service and social activities.  

 Education and Learning – Many local projects are referring people to the 

University of the Third Age (U3A). U3A provide opportunities for retires and semi-

retired people to come together and learn, not for qualifications, but for ‘own 

reward’.  

 DEWIS - Dewis Cymru is a website that aims to help people with well-being, 

whether that is their own well-being or the well-being of a family member or 

friend. The website contains information that can help people think about what 

matters to them and has information on services that can be accessed for 

support. Organisations across Wales can upload their own information to the site 

 Community Agent’s – at Wrexham the service is commissioned from and 

managed by Community Councils. Community Agents can tap into third sector 

services around the county to support people in their community. GP surgeries 

are linking people in to the Community Agents.  

Page 164



 

73 
 

Wrexham County Borough Council supports the following third sector services. 

 NEWCIS (North East Wales Carers Information Service) Carers information, 

advice, support and respite services 

 Alzheimer’s support: The main theme within the Welsh Government Dementia 

Action Plan is to enable people living with dementia (including young-onset 

dementia) to maintain their independence and remain at home where possible, 

avoiding unnecessary admissions to hospital or residential care and delays when 

someone is due to be discharged from care or hospital. 

 Community Catalyst: Step up and support of an online directory of social care 

enterprises in Wrexham to allow easier access to information for citizens and 

professionals. They provide 6 days’ worth of support to the development of third 

sector organisations interested in developing domiciliary care provision. 

 Vision support: The purpose of the service is to enable adults who are blind or 

visually impaired to carry out their daily activities with confidence, through the 

provision of professional training in new and/or adaptive independent living skills, 

as well as to register individuals who have been assessed as having sight loss, or 

severe sight loss as recommended, by a consultant Ophthalmologist through the 

Cerebral Visual Impairment (CVI) process. The provider  holds a small number of 

specialist pieces of equipment that can be loaned out to individuals in order to 

support them with their visual impairment. 

 Deaf Support Network: The purpose of this service is to provide practical support, 

information and advice to children and adults who are deaf (member of the 

Cultural Deaf Community who use British Sign Language as their first language), 

living with hearing loss or who are Deaf Blind (dual sensory loss). As well as 

providing direct support, the provider will signpost individuals to other services 

who may be able to support that individual. The provider will hold a small number 

of specialist pieces of equipment that can be loaned out to individuals in order to 

support them with their communication/ hearing loss. 

 Delta (Telecare): Telecare is a service that can help to keep you safe at home 

and enable assistance to be summoned in the event of an emergency. Telecare 

can help you to live independently in your home, by providing the peace of mind 

that someone can be automatically alerted if you need assistance or in the event 

of an emergency situation. 

 British Red Cross: A Third Sector Link Worker has been commissioned to work 

with the Wrexham’s SPOA to ensure that information on third sector provision is 

readily accessible to relevant professionals. The worker supports Wrexham 

Page 165



 

74 
 

citizens to access non-statutory forms of support, including the provision of 

information, advice and assistance, to enable them to maintain their 

independence, and prevent escalation of need 

 Hafal, part of Adferiad Recovery (partnership with housing): Supported 

Accommodation and floating support for those with Mental Health conditions 

 Recovery Service: Supported Accommodation and floating support for those with 

Mental Health conditions. 

 Stepping Stones: Individual specialist counselling, support and group work for 

adult survivors of childhood sexual abuse, including counselling support for 

individual pre-trial, during trial and post-trial. This specialised area of counselling 

is intended to meet the person’s needs, with a commitment to supporting 

individuals for as long as necessary, recognising that many people are very 

vulnerable and may at times self --harm or have suicidal feelings. 

Other considerations affecting the market 

Social value 
The North Wales Population Needs Assessment 2022 notes “Co-production and 

social value: Delivering services for older people must include the views of the 

population. Older people should have a voice in shaping services that they may 

access. The Wales Cooperative Centre has published a paper outlining how 

services, such as domiciliary care, can be commissioned using an outcomes based 

approach for provision, which focuses on well-being. as well as any immediate need” 

(Regional Partnership Board, 2022). 

Flintshire has moved towards Micro-care delivery models and has a pilot programme 

as part of the ongoing Social Services offer. To meet the growing demand for care, 

the Micro-care pilot project has been established to expand both the supply of care 

in and the choices available for people across Flintshire. Micro-care enterprises are 

small businesses ranging from sole traders up to businesses employing 5 people 

who offer flexible and personalised care and support services to vulnerable people, 

tailored to their individual’s needs. The aim is to encourage people to become Micro-

carers who are either: 

 Interested in providing social care services to older people but may have no 

experience 

 Currently working in the care sector but interested in being their own boss 

Page 166



 

75 
 

 Actively supporting people in their local communities 

 Want to do something that support others and makes a difference 

The Micro-care team work with individuals to: 

 Support them to develop their business or idea 

 Provide information on training, funding and other available support and 

resources 

 Support individuals to develop and deliver a quality service in line with current 

WG legislation and regulations 

 Providing links to a network of other Micro-care providers for mutual support 

As of February 2022, there were 27 Micro-carers trading in Flintshire. The Flintshire 

Micro-Care Team have also created Micro-care web pages for use by both micro-

carers and people looking for Micro-carers. It provides key information for people 

considering working as a Micro-carer. For the public it also has explanations about 

Micro-care and lists Micro-carers and their contact details. This will support our aim 

to develop ongoing sustainability in the project. The website is located at 

www.careatflintshire.co.uk  This programme is now moving out of the ‘pilot’ phase 

and incorporated in to Flintshire’s  offer. 

Also in Flintshire the recruitment of volunteers began at the start of April 2021 

initiated by colleagues in FLVC. The Flintshire Social Care Workforce Development 

Team, supported by FLVC, provided  basic training to volunteers, relating to 

safeguarding, food hygiene, health and safety, consent, data protection, dignity, 

principles of care and confidentiality. By the end of April 2020, following the training 

and required Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) checks, a group of 64 volunteers 

were available for deployment to volunteering opportunities across the county. 

Flintshire benefits from a strong third sector presence and networks and a positive 

relationship between the Council and FLVC. The Wellbeing Team in FLVC and 

AVOW (Association of Voluntary Organisations Wrexham) supports the third sector 

and statutory partners in a number of ways: 

 Promoting third sector organisations, services and activities to statutory partners 

 Representing the third sector at strategic planning and partnership groups 

 Engaging the third sector in consultations and engagement about health and 

social services 

 Promoting partnership working within the third sector and across sectors 

Page 167



 

76 
 

 Signposting to or providing business support and funding  

 Providing training to organisations to improve their capacity and effectiveness 

 Explaining the complexities of commissioning and procurement 

 Helping keep services up to date with the latest evidence base, whilst guiding 

them through the changes in NHS and local authority structures. 

 Helping the start-up of new services or groups 

 Supporting the third sector in Flintshire and Wrexham to access FLVC and 

AVOW’s services 

Community Catalyst are commissioned as a project through the Community 

Transformation WG Fund in Wrexham. The project’s aim is to support the 

development of micro-enterprises to support the domiciliary care offer in Wrexham. 

The enterprises are not to replace the offer from domiciliary care agencies, rather to 

support stability and allow choice and control for citizens. It supports the direct 

payment options for citizens. There are currently 37 microenterprises that have 

completed the ‘Doing it Right’ standards and actively on Wrexham’s register of 

providers. 

Gwynedd notes that there is 44% of domiciliary care being provided internally today. 

There are several small independent companies that are local to Gwynedd and a few 

larger companies. The Gwynedd market does not have many co-operatives and 

social enterprises, but they are developing. There are third sector providers within 

the county but not a consistent presence as the local authority would like it be in 

each part of Gwynedd. Commissioners find it very difficult to obtain provision in rural 

areas often. Some areas have a strong informal community network already in place. 

Gwynedd is proposing to develop Social Enterprises through community hubs that 

focus on the elements of well-being and also to develop a specialist equipment 

assessment provision - smart house. Gwynedd has currently 15 Third Sector 

Providers operating in Gwynedd.  

As explained above in Gwynedd people have little choice of domiciliary care 

provision. Securing care is a challenge, let alone having a choice. People can 

choose to arrange their own care via Direct Payments, but it is not easy to find 

people who can offer care. A project with 'Community Catalysts' has started, to 

encourage people to set up a small company to provide care, and hopefully this will 

improve the situation. 

Page 168



 

77 
 

Direct payments 

Local authorities promote Direct Payment through highlighting a person centred 

service that reflects voice, choice and control by empowering individuals to be as 

independent as possible in their own local community.  

Some benefits of choosing Direct Payments are: 

 Individuals choose who delivers their care and support 

 Individuals choose when their care is delivered to suit their everyday life 

 Direct payments is flexible to meet individual requirements 

Isle of Anglesey Council is dedicated to developing the service by consulting 

regularly with direct payments experts (citizens) and to make sure that the service is 

fit for purpose.  

Our vision and our way of implementing change has resulted in the increase in 

service take up and its success resulting in 243 individuals taking control of their 

care package and choosing to receive support through direct payments on the island 

compared to 35 individuals in 2015. 

Denbighshire will continue to develop and utilise Direct Payments, where individuals, 

or their chosen responsible person, receive money directly from the Council to fund 

their agreed care and support needs in their chosen way. This might be through 

recruitment of a Personal Assistant or by paying for services of their chosen agency 

or organisation.  

At present there are not enough providers to give people a choice or to give an 

element of competition. Community Catalysts are helping small local providers 

(Micro providers) launch services but few are willing to provide personal care, which 

is where the biggest gap is. Whilst there may be a reduction in the care and support 

needed by individuals because of earlier interventions and preventative work, we 

anticipate growing numbers of people with more complex needs such as dementia. 

Denbighshire has recruited for two Independent Living Advisers (ILA) posts. Part of 

their role will be to join things up and offer consistent and helpful advice to families 

for example about Direct Payments, Micro providers and other support available for 

citizens and carers. 

In Flintshire Direct Payments are an important mechanism by which people can 

exercise choice, voice and control to decide how to achieve their needs for care and 

Page 169



 

78 
 

support and achieve their personal outcomes. In Flintshire the approach focuses on 

strengths and outcomes, which they aim to enable citizens to retain autonomy over 

their life, support, self-determination and autonomy and efficient use of resources.  

In recent years the Flintshire Direct Payments Support Services has been completely 

redesigned and now provides a far more holistic service benefitting both Flintshire 

citizens, social services and third sector partners. Some of the key benefits of the 

service are: 

 Far greater control over the service and how it meets the department’s priorities. 

 Service works collaboratively with social work teams to embed person-centered 

practices in line with the SSWB (Wales) 2014 Act 

 Shared systems, improved communication, and better access to the service. 

 Outcomes focused Referral process centres on what is to be achieved and 

supports joint working with the individual to own the outcome and develop 

bespoke solutions. 

 Better placed to work in partnership with third sector organisations. 

 Autonomy to develop, test and imbed innovation in line with the departments. 

ambition and priorities. 

 Far more holistic approach, centred on the needs of citizens in the first instance, 

but also practitioners, communities, partners etc. 

 Consideration for the Personal Assistant market in terms of standards, quality, 

training and opportunities for progression. 

 Support that is proportionate. Importantly, we don’t want to over support people, 

but enable them to manage their own arrangements. 

During Quarter 2 (July to Sept) of 2021/22, 498 people received a Direct Payment in 

Flintshire. This represents the highest number of recipients per head of population of 

any Welsh Local Authority. Direct Payments currently make up 39% of home based 

services. 

Page 170



 

79 
 

Table 17: Flintshire direct payments by category Q2 2021/22 

Service category Number of direct 

payments 

Learning disabilities 169 

Physical / sensory impairment 104 

Children with disabilities 78 

Older people 65 

Children’s services 49 

Mental health 24 

Vulnerable adults 9 

Total 498 

Source: Local authority data collection 

Working in partnership with a small local film company (Follow Films) Flintshire 

Direct Payments recipients have been supported to tell their unique stories of their 

lives and how Direct Payments have contributed towards them achieving positive 

outcomes and improved life experiences. The impact of these films and the feedback 

received has been significant and the films are now being utilised by local authorities 

and institutions far and wide. 

Workforce 

As outlined in The North Wales Social Care and Community Health Workforce 

Strategy, the sector is under significant pressure as a result of: 

 Changes to legislation as a result of the Regulation & Inspection of Social Care 

(Wales) Act 2016 (RISCA) 

 A new qualification framework 

 Competitive pay structures with other sectors 

 Competition from other sectors 

There is an urgent priority around ensuring a sufficient workforce is in place for the 

delivery of social services and social care functions. The recruitment and retention of 

Social Workers, Occupational Therapists and direct care workers has become a 

particular challenge across North Wales.  

The North Wales Social Care and Community Health Workforce is in a time of 

unprecedented change whereby they are required to deliver services differently with 

a focus on prevention, protection, intervention, partnership and integrated working, 

Page 171



 

80 
 

coproduction and empowerment; requiring a different emphasis on workforce skills 

and training. 

Much has been written on the issues surrounding recruitment and selection in the 

Domiciliary Care workforce. In March 2016, WG published a research report on the 

‘Factors that affect the recruitment and retention of domiciliary care workers and the 

extent to which these factors impact upon the quality of domiciliary care’ (Atkinson, 

Crozier and Lewis, 2016). The research, undertaken by Manchester Metropolitan 

University sought to identify factors that influence whether people choose to ‘become 

and remain working as domiciliary care workers’. 

There are approximately 17,000 domiciliary care staff employed by commissioned 

care providers in Wales (Social Care Wales, 2018a). WG’s consultation in to the 

Domiciliary Workforce (Welsh Government, 2016) recommends that those working in 

the sector are recognised as the skilled professionals they are. The negative image 

of the sector must be challenged to encourage people to join the social care 

workforce.  

The key factors highlighted by this consultation included: 

 Low wages 

 Work pressures 

 Unsociable hours 

 Poor terms and conditions 

 ‘Zero hours’ or ‘non-guaranteed hours’ contracts deterring people from joining the 

sector, as there were no guaranteed hours 

 Some call times not enough to address the needs of the individual 

 Lack of training and career development opportunities 

 Seen as a low status job compared to healthcare 

Local Authorities have extended their Care First and other Employee Assistance 

Programmes to the external [non local authority] workforce. Care First/Employ 

Assistance Programmes provide confidential, impartial advice and support 24 hours 

a day, 365 days a year, online or via the free-phone telephone number. The service 

is free for all employees to access whenever they need it. 

The care provided by domiciliary carers for those with mental health needs could be 

improved by ensuring staff are encouraged to work in the field where they have most 

talent. Those working with people living with dementia require specialist training and 

Page 172



 

81 
 

extra time to complete tasks. There is a lack of dementia trained care workers, which 

should be addressed by the local authorities. Commissioners are keen to ensure the 

agencies they employ to provide dementia care are fulfilling their obligations and 

following care plans carefully. The profile of the profession needs to be raised to 

attract a high calibre of staff. (Regional Partnership Board, 2022).  

Gwynedd note that there is the potential to adapt roles / tasks within their domiciliary 

care plans but need support from providers to implement. Staffing is a major issue at 

present for both domiciliary care providers and care homes. 

In Flintshire, the local authority has also worked with Mind in North East Wales to 

provide extra support for social care workers. Information, talking therapies and 

activities designed to support wellbeing during this difficult time is available. 

Providers in Flintshire have reported that the All Wales Jobs Fair is difficult to use 

and the IT is clunky particularly if you have no digital support. 

Flintshire has worked in collaboration with citizens to design and implement a unique 

platform that supports both Direct Payments employers and Personal Assistants. 

The Flintshire PA Portal enables Direct Payments employers to search for available 

Personal Assistants in their area autonomously and for Personal Assistants to 

promote themselves and their availability to work. Personal Assistants complete a 

profile describing themselves, their experience, availability etc. and prospective 

direct payments employers can search the data base and engage with people they 

feel may be able to help meet their needs and/or achieve personal well-being 

outcomes. Recently they have added a vacancy page that enables citizens to post 

their requirements i.e. needs to be met/outcomes to be achieved, making the system 

a two-way process. 

The Flintshire direct payments scheme has consciously set out to change the 

support available for this significant, but sometimes disassociated workforce. Some 

of the initiatives to date are: 

 Personal Assistant Coordinator engaging with the workforce. Pastoral support for 

Personal Assistant’s working in complex/isolated positions being built into the 

role. 

 Personal Assistant Code of Conduct developed and implemented. This has 

helped them understand their role, where they fit in and what the expectations of 

them are. 

Page 173



 

82 
 

 Flintshire Personal Assistant Induction Certificate developed around 7 core 

modules and designed specifically around the PA role. Since its introduction 11 

Personal Assistants have completed the certificate and a further 35 are working 

towards the award. For those enrolled on the scheme there are a further 50 

training modules that they are able to access in their own time. This is the first 

initiative of its kind and the local authority are in discussions with Social Care 

Wales regarding the potential for a National approach. 

 Personal Assistant Portal developed to aid recruitment for Direct Payments 

employers and to promote work opportunities for prospective PA’s. 

The recruitment of care and support staff, has historically been problematic due to 

the small workforce pool, lack of awareness or recognition of the roles and the risk of 

destabilising the private market. However, following a review of recruitment and the 

launch of new initiatives such as, WeCare campaign and the values based 

recruitment work, we have seen an increase in the number of new and returning 

candidates to the profession. 

 

Page 174



 

83 
 

5. Residential services (children) 
This chapter focuses on residential care services for children and young people. For 

the purpose of this assessment, the chapter includes those aged between 0 to 18 as 

well as those who are eligible for services until they are 25 years of age, such as 

disabled people and care leavers. 

Residential services include: 

 Care Homes (Children) – care in a home with paid staff 

 Secure Accommodation – a secure safe place  

 Residential Family Services – accommodation where parents and children stay 

together to be assessed / receive care 

There are separate chapters about fostering and adoption services. 

Population overview  

The number of children is predicted to decrease 

In 2020, there were around 123,700 children aged 0 to 15 in North Wales (Welsh 

Government, 2021b). There has been little change in the number of children 

between 2015 and 2020 across North Wales or in each county. The number of 

children is projected to fall in North Wales by 7% over the next 15 years (Welsh 

Government, 2020). The level for each local authority varies from a 2% decrease for 

Gwynedd, to 12% in Wrexham as shown in the chart below. This is a nationwide 

trend, with numbers also projected to fall by 5% in Wales as a whole.  

Page 175



 

84 
 

Chart 1: Population projections, children aged 15 and under (2018 based) 

 

Source: 2018-based local authority population projections for Wales (principal 
projection), Welsh Government 

The number of children receiving care and support has increased 

In 2020, there were almost 2,900 children receiving care and support across North 

Wales. This is 2,300 children for each 100,000 children in the population, which is 

slightly lower than the rate for Wales as a whole with 2,550 children in need for each 

100,000 children in the population. The numbers vary across North Wales and over 

time with no clear trend.  

In 2018-19, there were 575 children on the child protection register in North Wales. 

Although the numbers vary year to year for each local authority, overall for North 

Wales, the level has remained similar, with a small decrease of 3% (15 children). 

Due to the small numbers involved it is not possible to identify clear trends as, for 

example, a dramatic change from one year to the next may be due to one family 

moving to or from an area. 

Anglesey

Gwynedd

Conwy 

Denbighshire

Flintshire

Wrexham

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

18,000

20,000

22,000

24,000

26,000

28,000

30,000

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032

N
u

m
b

er

Year

Page 176



 

85 
 

The number of looked after children is not expected to continue to 
increase  

Although the overall figures for all looked after children have shown a steady 

increase year-on-year to date, this is not expected to continue in the future (Regional 

Partnership Board, 2019). 

Children who are care experienced were more vulnerable to the 
pandemic 

The Rapid Review of the Population Needs Assessment (Regional Partnership 

Board, 2020) highlighted the impact of the pandemic on care experienced children 

which included isolation and loneliness, and disruptions in access to services. In 

North Wales, there was an initial dip in child protection referrals but then the rate of 

referrals returned to expected levels. An increased level of monitoring visits took 

place to households where there were children on the child protection register – 

weekly visits instead of the 10-day timescale.  

There is an increase in newly accommodated looked after children 
and young people   

In 2021 there were 1,470 local children and young people looked-after by North 

Wales local authorities, which is similar to the national picture across the whole of 

Wales. The number of children looked after in North Wales has increased by 350 

during the time frame shown in the table below. North Wales has a lower number of 

children looked after per 100,000 population than the rest of Wales, however there 

are significant variations across the region, from 800 in Flintshire to 1,300 in 

Wrexham. It is important to note that the number is currently fluctuating rapidly with a 

significant increase in newly accommodated young people.  

 

Page 177



 

86 
 

Table 18: Number and rate per 100,000 of children looked after (under 18) by local 
authority, 2017 and 2021 

Local council 2017 

No  

2017 

Rate 

2021 

No 

2021 

Rate 

Change 

No 

Anglesey 140 1,039 160 1,214 20 

Gwynedd 220 927 280 1,210 65 

Conwy 180 829 215 1,015 35 

Denbighshire 160 825 180 923 20 

Flintshire 210 654 255 795 45 

Wrexham 215 736 375 1,304 160 

North Wales 1,120 805 1,470 1,063 350 

Wales 5,960 949 7,265 1,153 1,305 

Source: StatsWales 

Market overview 
Despite a shared commitment to prevention and early intervention, there will always 

be a small proportion of looked after children who need residential placements. 

Depending on care needs this may be in a: 

 Residential Care Homes with paid care staff 

 Secure Accommodation Unit  

 Residential Family Unit 

The updated Market Position Statement (Regional Partnership Board, 2019) 

provided a breakdown of residential care provision in North Wales. As at 31st March 

2020, there were 70 North Wales children living in a care home. The total number of 

children living in a children’s home increased by 133% in North Wales between 2016 

(30 children) and 2020 (70 children). The table below shows that figure has more 

than doubled to 158 between 2020 and 2021.  

Page 178



 

87 
 

Table 19: Snapshot of number of young people in residential placements at 31 Mar 
2021 

County Residential 

Anglesey 10 

Gwynedd 21 

Conwy 37 

Denbighshire 20 

Flintshire 39 

Wrexham 31 

North Wales 158 

Source: Local authority data collection 

Notes: Residential includes children’s homes, family residential services, residential 

school placements   

Market share 

There were 17 independent providers of residential care for children, operating 42 

settings and providing 180 registered places (‘beds’) across North Wales.  

Due to the limited residential in house provision in the region, authorities have to pay 

external organisers known as ‘providers’. You can find information on work to 

increase residential in house capacity within the Children’s Transformation 

Programme section. 

Secure accommodation  

There is no secure accommodation provision in North Wales. There is a national 

purpose built secure children’s home in South Wales. Hillside can accommodate up 

to 18 children and young people of either gender between the ages of 12 to 17 

years. 

The children placed in secure accommodation are done so by order of a court and 

numbers are very low, between 0 to 2 per authority each year with no clear trend. 

There are no plans to extend this provision in North Wales. 

Step down provision from secure accommodation and secure welfare placements 

are discussed in the emergency accommodation section.  

Page 179



 

88 
 

Market sufficiency and stability 
Placement within county or nearby is known to be important for children and young 

people to maintain their established positive social networks both with family 

(parents, siblings and others) and school – which helps them to develop their identity 

and emotional maturity (NICE, 2021). 

The table below shows that Conwy and Gwynedd have the highest proportion of 

placements outside of North Wales. Over half of all residential placements across 

the region are placed outside of North Wales.  

Table 20 Number of residential out of county placements 

County Total 
placements 

Placements 
outside 

North Wales 

% of 
placements 

outside 
North Wales 

Anglesey 16  5  31%  

Gwynedd 16  10  63%  

Conwy 16  12  75%  

Denbighshire 10  5  50%  

Flintshire 31  17  55%  

Wrexham 18  8  44%  

North Wales 107  57  53%  

Source: Market Position Statement (Regional Partnership Board, 2019) 

There is a shortage of local residential providers  

In August 2020, ADSS Cymru published a report which examined the case for 

rebalancing social care provision in Children’s Services (ADSS Cymru, 2020). The 

report identified a significant imbalance of power in the children’s residential care 

market, which is affecting placements and choice, the ability to make the best match 

to a child’s needs, the workload, and the outcomes for children. Without rebalancing, 

there will be a continued reliance on private providers with, in some cases, high cost, 

and questionable value for money, greater instability for children and poor outcomes. 

The aim of any rebalancing must be to develop stable, resilient markets, which offer 

options and choice, quality care, fewer placement breakdowns, and good outcomes 

for children.  

Page 180



 

89 
 

An increasing demand for residential placements and a lack of supply in local 

residential providers has resulted in a ‘providers market’. Providers are able to be 

more selective of the young people they accept, which may result in those with 

higher levels of complex needs and behavioural challenges being more difficult to 

place. This may be due to the skill/expertise of the provider, a concern about how 

behaviour might impact other residents and the local community, and worries that all 

of this might impact upon the outcomes of the service.  

Alongside the financial pressure, there is also a pressure on staff time. In the event 

of a bed becoming available, a number of local services may be seeking to secure it, 

resulting in competition.  

This high demand puts pressure on local authority finances, with providers able to 

dictate the cost of the provision. There is a risk that expenditure on out of county 

placements increases as placement costs increase in a demand led market.  

North Wales is currently reliant on the independent sector for children’s residential 

care provision. The Children’s Transformation Programme and Integrated Care 

Funding has been used to increase in house provision and fund preventative activity. 

Local authorities continue to explore opportunities to facilitate a different approach to 

help reduce the reliance on out of county placements which lead to unsustainable 

financial pressures for social services and education.  

There is a shortage of specialist provision for children and young 
people with complex behavioural and emotional needs 

In 2019 over half of children placed in residential care were receiving care primarily 

due to emotional and behavioural needs and two thirds of those children were aged 

between 13 to 16 years old (Regional Partnership Board, 2019). 

There is a significant shortage of specialist placements for young people with 

significant emotional and behavioural needs in North Wales. Children are often 

placed in England, away from their families. There is limited provision in England. 

Social workers struggle to place children with severe needs as providers tend to 

reserve places to try to place a child with less severe needs.  

Some children may have received their education through the Welsh language and 

therefore have difficulty coping in an English medium school and need a tutor or 

assistant to provide additional support. 

Page 181



 

90 
 

Young people in crisis often attend Accident and Emergency and stay in hospital 

settings in an emergency situation.  

There is a shortage of emergency accommodation   

Social services across the UK are facing increased pressures to find placements in 

emergencies. Locally, we do have situations where no placement can be sourced for 

a child. This necessitates the development of a holding position to provide 

accommodation and support until a placement can be found. These situations may 

arise from difficulties in placing young people following the breakdown of 

relationships at home, transfer of children where the police have used their powers 

of protection to remove children and a lack of secure beds for young people with 

high level needs and welfare risks. 

It is important to emphasise that these arrangements are used as a last resort in 

emergency situations, due to exceptional circumstances and for a short period until a 

regulated provision can be sourced. Safeguards around unregulated placements 

include the need for senior manager approval, notification to Care Inspectorate 

Wales (CIW) as our regulator, a care and support plan, completion of social work 

visits, involvement of Independent Reviewing Officers and supervision of social 

workers to look at arrangements / move on plans. 

The arrangements that local authorities have to put in place in emergencies can 

amount to unregulated placements. Under the Regulation and Inspection of Social 

Care (Wales) Act 2016 it is an offence for a person to provide a regulated service 

without being registered in respect of that service. 

Local market overview 
The Market Position Statement 2021 appraised the market and set out what is 

happening, residential services needed for children in the region and aspirations for 

future providers.  

 The number of children who live in a children’s home has increased, some of 

these children are able to live in a foster placement but there are currently not 

enough foster carers with the right skills to support them. 

 Some of our children who live in a children’s home live outside of the local 

authority boundary despite sufficient in-area capacity. 

Page 182



 

91 
 

What we don’t need: 

 We do not encourage expansion in North Wales by independent providers of 

residential care for children whose services are not developed to meet the needs 

of our children. 

 We do not want providers to operate children’s homes without a clear model of 

care or deliver standard provision only. 

What we want: 

 We want to work with new and existing providers and support them to deliver 

models of care that will meet the needs of our children. 

 We want to work with new and existing providers and encourage them to develop 

their businesses in a way that, in addition to improving outcomes for our children, 

also provide a wider social value to our communities. 

 We want providers who are able to safely care for our children with multiple high 

needs and are able to provide alternative accommodate to secure welfare 

provision. 

 We want providers who will work in partnership with us during periods of 

transition including stepping down to live with a foster carer or reunification with 

their family. 

 Welsh culture is very important to us as a region and we want more providers 

who are able to deliver their services in Welsh.  

Isle of Anglesey 

There are 3 small group home resources on Anglesey with a potential to offer 5 bed 

spaces for children that require the service. Our 4th property is being renovated and 

the works will be finished by August 2022. This will enable the local authority to offer 

another 3 potential bed spaces locally to reach a total of 8 bed spaces. 

The Ynys Môn small group homes service enables young people with complex 

needs to remain with their birth family for as long as possible. The aim is to avoid the 

need for specialist Out of County residential placements in the event of family 

breakdown.  

Our multi-disciplinary team of professionals support the family and care staff who will 

be responsible for the day to day care of the young person. This provides 

consistency across the range of care and support provided to the individuals.  

Page 183



 

92 
 

Outcomes 

 Be able to develop and offer an increased ‘shared care’ option for individuals and 

families to delay complete family breakdown. 

 Be an opportunity for the young person to develop new skills and experiences 

that may enable them to move on to alternative supported accommodation to 

meet their individual needs. 

 Be able to provide longer term care and the opportunity to work in partnership at 

an earlier stage with Adult Learning Disability Services to support them through 

the transition process.  

 Be available to meet the needs of other young people who have complex care 

and support needs, dependent on their assessed needs. 

Gwynedd 

There is an identified shortfall of capacity in residential child care settings in 

Gwynedd and in Wales more widely. Current provision does not address the need 

and there is no prospect for new provision in the near future. Current providers are 

very small ones which leads to children having to go to England which can lead to 

secondary problems, especially as there is no sufficient supply in England either. 

Social workers encounter difficulties in placing children with intensive needs as 

providers tend to keep placements for children with less intensive needs. It has been 

noted that it is possible to ensure a placement for each individual, but that more 

discussion is needed in order to place those with more intensive needs. The fees are 

also very high.  

The following issues have been raised as barriers to developing residential care:   

 There is still a stigma associated with children's care homes. 

 Children placed together in a care home setting need to be able to coincide and 

they can often have very different or conflicting needs which can be very 

complicated and a daunting prospect for new providers given the financial risks in 

establishing such a business. 

 The substantial increase in housing stock prices in Gwynedd makes a business 

case in Gwynedd less attractive. 

Page 184



 

93 
 

Conwy  

The table below shows the type and number of placements in Conwy over the last 
five years.  
 

Table 21: Type and number of placements, Conwy, 2017 to 2021 

Source: Local authority data collection 

The number of looked after children has reduced, this is in parallel with a significant 

investment and focus on early intervention and preventative services. The Conwy 

Family Support and Intervention team saw 4,400 referrals between April and 

September 2021. The team has received an increased number of referrals. 

Anecdotally there has been an increased complexity of cases.  

Key challenges to maintaining provision includes: 

 Workforce - Recruitment of child care workers, particularly those with experience 

is a significant challenge. Experienced social workers look for alternative roles 

due to the nature of child protection work and the impact that this has on work life 

County  2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 

Foster Placements - 249 221 212 203 208 

Adoption/Placed for 

Adoption 

- 11 16 15 17 22 

Independent Living  15 16 23 29 23 

Residential 

Homes/Schools/Hostel 

 30 31 33 37 48 

Young Offenders/Secure 

Accommodation 

 1 2 2   

Placed with Parent/other 

parent 

 46 41 38 24 39 

Est Med/Nursing Care  11 4 1 1  

Family Centre or 

Mother/baby unit 

    1 5 

Section 38(6) Court 

Directed Unregulated 

Placement 

    3 12 

Temporary Placements     3 11 

Page 185



 

94 
 

balance and mental health. Local authorities are competing with agencies to 

attract social workers, who provide higher rates of pay. 

 Endeavouring to change the status of looked after children through Special 

Guardianship Orders (Kinship).  

 Working within effective partnerships with Child and Adolescent Mental Health 

Services (CAMHS) continues to be inconsistent while each agency has different 

perspectives and conflicting priorities – challenging, high risk, time consuming 

casework. 

 Shortage of emergency accommodation and reliance on out of county / 

temporary placements. This is a key priority for us at this time. 

Costs for placements have almost doubled from an average per week of £3,500 in 

2017 to some commanding between £6,000 and £7,000 in 2021/22. 

Denbighshire 

Denbighshire County Council have 20 children or young people placed within care 

home provisions, more than half of these children and young people are placed 

outside of Wales. Whilst these children and young people have been appropriately 

placed in residential settings based on their presenting needs, the lack of local 

options have resulted in some placements being made at a considerable distance 

from their home area. 

There is a demand for residential placements for children with mental health issues 

and who present with complex, trauma induced behaviour. Placements with the 

ability to support children and young people who have experienced Child Sexual 

Exploitation or Child Criminal Exploitation are also lacking. 

Flintshire   

Flintshire County Council commission 39 children’s care home services, half of these 

children and young people are placed out of the country in England and Scotland. A 

focus is needed on initiatives designed to reduce the number of children who are 

placed out of county from the outset. While children have been appropriately placed 

in residential settings based on their presenting needs, there had been few viable 

alternative approaches available which could have contributed to a de-escalation, 

eliminating the need for out of county placement.  

Page 186



 

95 
 

There is a demand for residential services for children who suffer with their mental 

health, and there is not the sufficient level of care and support with the local authority 

area to provide this. Services are being sought out of county which incurs further 

cost implications. 

A number of local residential providers also have plans for expansion, which 

presents another opportunity to work in partnership to align the provision to meet 

local needs.  

Over the next five-year period, in order to ensure stability within the sector, the 

council aims to: 

 Work with new and existing providers and support them to deliver models of care 

that will meet the needs of children.  

 Work with new and existing providers and encourage them to develop their 

businesses in a way that, in addition to improving outcomes for our children, also 

provides a wider social value to our communities.  

 Work with providers who are able to safely care for children with multiple high 

needs and are able to provide alternative accommodation to secure welfare 

provision. 

 Identify providers who will work in partnership with us during periods of transition, 

including stepping down to live with a foster carer or reunification with their family. 

 Welsh culture is very important to us as a region and we want more providers 

who are able to deliver their services in Welsh.  

 

Wrexham 

Wrexham County Borough Council do not commission any in house provision for 

children’s care home services, though we do have 33 children and young people 

placed in out of the county placements in England and Wales. A focus is needed on 

initiatives designed to reduce the number of children who are placed out of county 

from the outset.  

Utilising Welsh Government Integrated Care Capital Funding, this year we were able 

to launch our Care Closer to Home Programme which will remain a priority into the 

next 4 years. The Programme focuses on the purchase, repurposing and/or 

redevelopment of property either by WCBC or in partnership with Registered Social 

Landlords to deliver supported living schemes and small children’s homes within 

Page 187



 

96 
 

Wrexham, enabling people to return to the Borough to meet their housing and/ or 

care needs and preventing the need to commission out of county placements in 

future. This year, we secured three properties and more are in the planning under 

the new and expanded Welsh Government capital grant schemes. 

There is a demand for residential services for children who suffer with their mental 

health, and there is no the sufficient level of care and support within the local 

authority area to provide this. Services are being sought out of county which incurs 

further cost implications. 

A number of local residential providers also have plans for expansion, which 

presents another opportunity to work in partnership to align the provision to meet 

local needs.  

Over the coming year, our priorities will focus on: 

 Maximising regional capital funding to expand care closer to home and develop 

non-profit, local care solutions for looked after children. 

 Reunification framework project – using NSCC process to improve reunification 

success. 

 Improving discharge planning with dedicated legal and social work support 

committed to discharge planning and delivery of Discharge Care Orders. 

 Continued growth of special guardianship offer and support. 

 Launch of ‘Reflect’ – programme to support reduction in number of recurring 

pregnancies ending in children being removed. 

 Evaluation of rates of pay for Foster Carers to better reflect costs of living and 

reducing poverty related risks. 

 Delivery of Kick start and Supported Lodgings Projects 

 Multi Systemic Therapy – continued roll out of MST approach across services to 

include move-on / step down support for families. 

 Early Permanency Process to be established prioritising permanency from the 

start. 

We also aim to;  

 Maximise the use of new and increasing regional capital funding to develop new 

emergency placement accommodation/ units to increase the provision of 

emergency respite accommodation for those families in crisis. 

Page 188



 

97 
 

In-house children’s care home provision  
North Wales secured £3.8m grant funding for a regional transformation programme 

for children and young people for 2021/22. The strategic partnership of local 

authorities and health board in each geographical area within the region are 

overseeing the delivery of the transition programme. In the Central and East areas, 

two purpose built Residential Assessment Centres will be opened in 2022/23. They 

will support the provision of in house care closer to home for children with complex 

behavioural and emotional needs. 

Table 22 Additional annual capacity created by Transformation Programme Funding 
2021/22 

Area Annual 

Assessment 

Placements  

Annual 

Emergency 

Placements  

Care Home 

placements   

West (Anglesey and 

Gwynedd)  

- - - 

Central (Conwy and 

Denbighshire)  

12 - 12 

East (Wrexham and 

Flintshire)  

12 182 4 

North Wales 24 182 4 

Source: Local authority data 
Notes: East and Central annual assessments based on 4, 16 week placements. East 
annual emergency placements based on 1 placement with a 2 night maximum stay. 

Isle of Anglesey and Gwynedd Councils and BCUHB (West) 

There was insufficient demand to justify commissioning a full-time residential family 

centre unit. Current capacity is adequately fulfilled.  

The Transformation Team on Anglesey is a new service that will provide a 

multi-agency provision of intensive services in Anglesey. 

The Team will work with families, aged 0 to 25, who are either at risk of coming into 

the care of the local authority or where there is a possibility for them to return to the 

home or remain in the care of their parents / carers safely.  

Page 189



 

98 
 

The team consists of a practice leader, psychologist, social worker and two support 

workers. Their focus is on working with children and young people where a 

neurological condition may be impacting their behaviours at home, school or out in 

the community. 

Denbighshire and Conwy Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University 
Health Board (Central) 

Bwthyn Y Ddol 

The Bwthyn Y Ddol multi-disciplinary team continues to work with children and young 

people who are at the edge of care and are at risk of becoming looked after. 

The team will initially focus on completing a holistic assessment through a 

consultation process, in order to recommend a program of interventions. 

A new evidence based model of care has been developed through a multi-agency 

team. This has been tailored to the needs of young people within Denbighshire and 

Conwy. Early indications suggest that the intervention has helped young people 

remain at home safely.  

A person centred, whole family approach has seen multi-agency collaborative 

discussions routinely taking place which has promoted partnership work across all 

agencies. 

The new residential assessment centre will provide: 

 Four placements for residential assessment  

 Short term, unplanned ‘emergency’ accommodation for two children and young 

people  

It is envisaged that the development will be completed in early 2023.  

Flintshire and Wrexham Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University 
Health Board (East)  

Ty Nyth a Residential Assessment Centre and Children’s residential home will 

provide support underpinned by the Multi Systemic Therapy (MST) Family 

Intervention Transition (FIT) approach. 

The MST (Multi Systemic Therapy) Team became operational in May 2020 during 

the COVID lockdown, comprising of a supervisor, four therapists and an 

Page 190



 

99 
 

administrator.  The MST team provides intensive assessment and therapeutic 

support for young people with significant needs, often with high levels of challenging 

behaviours across multiple areas which can include verbal and physical aggression, 

substance abuse, missing from home, self-harm and patterns of school exclusion / 

risk of exclusion.  Each family has a bespoke package of care tailored to the needs 

of their family, leveraging off existing strengths in the family to provide the best 

possible opportunity for long term sustainability. The MST Team have met the 

criteria to operate MST UK model under strict licensing requirement including 

competency to practice through intensive training. MST is an evidence based clinical 

model that works with all systems surrounding the child, including education, 

community influences and any significant adults / others in the family. It builds 

resilience of the family and offer supports that is accessible ‘24/7’. Acknowledging 

that problems in the families can occur at any time of the day or night. Appointments 

take place in the family home at times that are convenient to the family. The team 

operates with MST’s ethos of ‘whatever it takes.’ The team provides direct support to 

build the resilience of families for between 3 and 5 months. The focus is preventing 

out of home placement by care or custody in youth presenting with anti-social 

behaviour at home, in the community and/or in school.    

The service will provide: 

 4 residential assessment placements at any one time (12 to 16 week length of 

stay) aged 12 to 17 years. 

 Support to young people’s carers by the MST FIT team to increase skills and 

support a smooth transition home. 

 Ongoing family support for up to a further 4 months and with other key agencies, 

such as social care and schools’ and other community based support networks. 

The goal is to improve family independence, reducing long term reliance on 

statutory services.  

 1 placement for children requiring emergency accommodation (2 night maximum 

stay).  

Park Avenue will offer 4 long term placements for those children who do not suit 

support in larger settings. Indicatively the strategic partnership are seeking to commit 

to 6 small group homes over the next 3 years. 

Page 191



 

100 
 

Consideration of market quality 

Regional  

Children’s Commissioning Consortium Cymru (4C’s) are a Welsh National Team 

working to support Local Authority Children’s Social Services Departments to 

commission and contract placements for Children Looked After. They manage the 

the All Wales Residential Framework for the Provision of Services for Children & 

Young People Looked After across Wales. 

 
Framework monitoring of Quality Assurance and Risk Management processes within 

the Framework identifies trends in relation to providers and issues. 

Isle of Anglesey 

Anglesey has two registered Small Group Homes – known as “Catrefi Clyd Môn” - 

that are registered and running – Cartref Clyd Bryn Hwfa, and Cartref Clyd 

Llanfairpwll, - both of which have been running at full capacity throughout the year, 

working with young people with complex care needs who have suffered early 

childhood trauma and struggle with attachment disorders.  

Following the success of the first two homes, Anglesey is currently nearing opening 

its third Catrefi Clyd Môn in Caergybi (Holyhead), a specialist small group home, 

which will be an opportunity for respite for children supported by the specialist 

children’s services.  

During the next twelve months a fourth property will be opened, which is still in its 

planning and registration phase -Cartrefi Clyd Môn Rhosybol. 

There is another project with the planning and registration phase of Catrefi Clyd Môn 

Llangristiolus, which will be a modern facility specialising in Day Services for its 

Specialist Children’s Services. With the opening of these 2 new facilities in 2022, out 

of county placements will be reduced further. 

The facilities at Cartref Clyd Bryn Hwfa in Llangefni and Cartref Clyd Llanfairpwll 

were inspected by CIW in 2020 and both were judged to be Excellent. 

Page 192



 

101 
 

Denbighshire 

Denbighshire is committed to continuous improvement through engaging with and 

listening to children and young people and their carers and paid staff via surveys and 

at key stages of the support process for example end of placements.  

Children have helped to shape contracts for the Care Leaver Service and Regional 

Advocacy Services through the evaluation process. 

There is an ongoing consultation with Children and Young People in conjunction with 

children and young people about the language used by professionals when 

discussing verbally or in writing the lives and circumstances of care experienced 

children and young people. This is in response to requests by Voices from Care, 

Young Commissioners and the Family Justice Young People’s Board who have 

highlighted the language used by professionals and its impact on children and young 

people.  

Collaborative Conversations Training has enabled Children’s Service practitioners to 

consider how to build better relationships with people. There was significant 

practitioner feedback as part of a reflective exercise.  

Flintshire 

During April 2021, Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) completed an assurance check to 

review how well the Local Authority Social Services continue to help and support 

adults and children with a focus on safety and well-being. The key lines of enquiry 

were focused within the four principles of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) 

Act 2014 and findings / judgements were aligned to these – People – Voice and 

Control, Prevention, Well-Being, Partnerships and Integration.  

Current and projected trends  
 Challenges in accessing secure welfare beds and local alternatives that provide 

crisis intervention and diversion from secure accommodation.  

 Challenges in sourcing appropriate local placements for children and young 

people with complex needs.  

 Need for additional and appropriate short term care arrangements and facilities 

for children. This also includes children with additional needs and on occasions 

their siblings.  

Page 193



 

102 
 

 Children ages 16+ often have complex needs and placement options are limited, 

a strategic approach is needed in supporting the accommodation and support 

needs of young people ages 16-18 and for care leavers.  

Impact of commissioning practices on the market 

All Wales Local Authority Frameworks are used to commission individual placements  

across a range of placement types. These frameworks deliver strategic level  

partnerships with providers in fostering and residential services. The frameworks are  

used where either the Regions Sufficiency Duty necessitates external commissioning  

or where best quality, outcome delivery and value for money is achieved through  

external commissioning rather than internal service delivery. The All Wales  

Frameworks are managed by the 4C’s.  

 

The vehicle used for e-tendering external fostering and residential placements is the 

Children’s Commissioning Support Resources (CCSR) which offers transparent and  

outcomes focused placement commissioning for both Framework and Non- 

Framework regulated placements and allows compliance with the relevant  

procurement guidance and regulation that underpins commissioning.  

Provision of service in the Welsh language 

Children who are placed out of country due to lack of specialist placements do not 

have the option to receive care services in Welsh. This is a particular issue in 

Gwynedd.  

Preventative services 
The Population Needs Assessment identified a key priority to support child and 

adolescent health and well-being with an emphasis on preventative services. This 

was identified as a key area of priority across the region.  

The Integrated Care Fund 2016-22 has been used to explore new and innovative 

ways to provide early intervention to those in most need. Without this funding 

children and families may have required increasing interventions from Social Care, 

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board Children and Adolescent Mental Health 

Services in both Tier’s 3 and 4 and North Wales Police, and may have not been able 

to remain with their families.  

Page 194



 

103 
 

Learning from previous projects should be used to further explore the development 

of preventative services through the Regional Investment Fund 2022-27. 

Isle of Anglesey 

The children and families service continues to invest in preventative services to 

decrease the number of children and young people requiring to be looked after. The 

main preventative provision is the resilient families team. They provide intensive 

support for families where substance misuse, domestic abuse and parental mental 

health difficulties have been identified and contribute to the risks that the children 

and young people may face at home. Through utilising strength based and 

psychological informed interventions the team has consistently demonstrated that 

these are effective ways of decreasing risk andfacilitating change that allow families 

to remain together. In addition, a peer mentor programme has been developed and 

although it’s early days we expect this to be an effective addition to the offer.  

The Transformation Team is a new service established in 2021. They will provide a 

multi-agency provision of intensive services in Anglesey. The Team work with 

families, aged 0 to 25, who are either at risk of coming into the care of the local 

authority or where there is a possibility for them to return to the home or remain in 

the care of their parents / carers safely. The team consists of a practice leader, 

psychologist, social worker and two support workers. Their focus is on working with 

children and young people where a neurological condition may be impacting their 

behaviours at home, school or out in the community. In 2022 the team will be 

incorporated into the resilient families’ team widening the remit and scope of that 

team.  

The service aims to provide at the earliest possible opportunity, early intervention 

and prevention services to families. Provisions include the team around the family 

that has recently been increased in size from 6 to 8 support workers. Our 

commissioned services include GORWEL domestic abuse service, Action for 

Children emotional wellbeing and young carers, Adferiad parental mental health 

support and the early Help Hub and One Front door multi-agency meetings. 

Gwynedd 

Through ICF monies, Action for Children have established the Gwynedd Repatriation 

and Prevention (RAP) service for Looked After Children which provides a direct 

therapeutic service to reduce the number of Looked After Children, including 

Page 195



 

104 
 

reducing the need for, and the number of expensive out of county placements and to 

support the development of a high quality local care provision for Gwynedd children. 

The service also prevents family breakdown including adoption breakdowns which 

result in the need for a looked after placement. 

The predominant need from referrals is to stabilise foster placements, we offer 

support directly and indirectly via carers and other professionals. The support to 

foster parents is not just to new foster parents but also to experienced and 

established carers. As always, collaborative working is key to the success and in 

these instances working in close partnership with fostering is vital particularly 

focussing on self-care for foster parents. The RAP service has continued to be active 

to members of the closed Gwynedd fostering Facebook group, sharing advice and 

links on a variety of topics from parenting to pandemic issues.  

The outcomes of the service are to: 

 Reduce the number of Children Looked After. 

 Develop a whole systems therapeutic approach to the families at risk of 

breakdown. 

 Prevent children becoming looked after by providing Attachment-Focussed 

Therapy to enable children, young people and their families to better understand 

trauma and its impact. 

 Ensure children and young people are able to achieve and maintain stable care 

placements by therapeutically supporting carers to understand and manage 

behaviours that challenge. 

 Support and upskill carers to develop nurturing, therapeutic responses to 

behaviours which helps stabilise placements and prevent placement breakdown. 

 Deliver an accessible, timely solution focussed, non-stigmatising service. 

 Provide intensive support and therapeutic input for looked after children who are 

suitable to be repatriated to their home community in Gwynedd. 

 Work with adoptive families to achieve placement stability 

The service is person centred in its approach, the creativity and adaptable support of 
the staff ensures this. 

The feedback has been very positive with one example below:  

“Absolutely brilliant and invaluable support and advice. The service has been a real 

support and something we feel confident in and know that their always there for us 

Page 196



 

105 
 

as a family to help guide us through the bad times and for us to just vent our 

frustrations to! their level of commitment to us shows in their aftercare contact 

making sure we are ok after contacts and bad weekends. Cannot rate this service 

highly enough” 

Conwy  

Youth Justice 

 Referral orders – 38 young people engaged in the last 6 months, 4 re-offended 

 Enhanced Restorative Justice Work - 66 initial referrals 

 Supported 78 people who had been harmed and then 44 of the young people 

(perpetrators) were supported to engage in specific interventions guided by the 

victim’s views to develop an understanding of the impact of their behaviour  

 No young people that engaged within the project were made subject to custodial 

sentence 

Table 23 Conwy Youth Justice Referrals, April to September 2021 

Type of referral Number 

Yellow Cards 203 

Flat Community Resolution 13 

Prevention referrals 44 

Community Resolution + 24 

Youth Caution 0 

Youth Conditional Caution 6 

Total 290 

Source: Local authority data 

Denbighshire  

2021 saw the establishment, via Children and Young People’s Transformation 

Programme funding of LIFT (Local Integrated Family Team). LIFT offers targeted 

early support for families experiencing difficulties with managing emotional and 

behavioural difficulties. 

The team, which includes wellbeing navigators, occupational therapists, behavioural 

support specialists and a psychologist, works with families to understand the 

challenging behaviour and act as a source of information and support to help 

Page 197



 

106 
 

develop and implement positive behavioural plans and to provide specialist 

consultation when required. 

The multi-agency team consisting of multi-disciplinary professionals have developed 

a specific model of care and a partnership approach to support families in 

Denbighshire and Conwy. They are now operational and working directly with 

children and young people and their families. 

The programme has also upskilled 78 local authority and health staff in therapies 

that the team will be using, this has encouraged a common approach and shared 

language, providing consistency across partner agencies and teams. The 

independent evaluation of the project stated: 

 Strong partnership approach at senior level was a key driver in getting the new 

services up and running. 

 Partner agency staff were impressed at how quickly the LIFT team came back to 

them in response to referrals and requests for advice and guidance. 

 Opportunities for consultations and joint working which they felt was contributing 

to learning and development for the children’s workforce. 

 Families have engaged well. 

Feedback from parents: 

 “Life is so much better at home now since [staff members] made that video for 

us” 

 “M is so much more in touch with his feelings as I am since LIFT has been 

helping us, his behaviour has also improved” 

 “It has been lovely to have been listened to and not judged” 

During the period where the Integrated Care Fund was provided to Denbighshire the 

provision of this edge of care support has worked with 122 families (accounting for 

200 children).  

Integrated Families First / Flying Start programme (IFFFS) 

The IFFFS programme provides a range of Family and Parenting Support in 

Denbighshire. We aim to provide early intervention and prevention services for 

vulnerable families to avoid escalation and ensure children in our most deprived 

areas receive extra help. 

Page 198



 

107 
 

In 2021-22, our Families First services received 302 referrals. We had an average 

monthly waiting list of 18, and an average waiting time of 26 days from receipt of 

referral to allocation of a worker. We supported 369 families and newly assessed 

114 families’ needs. 

The Team Around the Family (TAF) coordinates multiple services and interventions 

around individual families, securing engagement, assessing need and planning 

support. Amidst ongoing issues and fluctuating needs around Covid-19, to date the 

TAF team have successfully concluded 29 action plans with families. Using a Welsh 

Government piloted methodology, we estimated the potential cost savings achieved 

by TAF for other services. The most recent available figures for January to 

December 2021 show savings of £122,823. 

Table 24 Potential cost savings from TAF to services, January to December 2021 

Service area Estimated 

savings  

Issues addressed 

Crime  £52,272  Antisocial behaviour, domestic abuse 

& criminal behaviour 

Education  £22,264  Absence, exclusion & school 

readiness 

Health  £6,187  Drug misuse 

Mental health 

 £18,052  Mental health issues in children, 

young people & adults 

Employment  £24,048  Support to gain employment 

Total £122,823  

Source: Local authority data 

In 2021, our Flying Start Health Visitors supported 1,182 children under 4 in the most 

multi-deprived parts of Prestatyn, Rhyl and Denbigh. We supported a further 52 

families across the county through Outreach. Our Speech and Language therapists 

helped 102 children alongside our Early Language Development team, who 

delivered Portage and Laugh and Learn interventions to 36 children. From January 

to December 2021 we provided 31,998 free childcare sessions to 366 children, and 

provided 1,348 additional sessions. 

Our Health Visitors contribute significantly to safeguarding children in Denbighshire. 

From January to December 2021 the team made 218 contacts with children in Child 

Page 199



 

108 
 

Protection measures, 135 contacts with children with a Care & Support Plan and 115 

with Looked After Children. They made 639 contacts with children needing a Tier 3 

Intensive service. 

Table 25 Denbighshire health visitor activities, 2021 

Activity Number 

Child Protection Referrals 102 

Court Reports / Police Statements 12 

Case Conference reports/attended  77 

MARAC Reports 26 

Looked After Children Reviews attended 29 

Safeguarding Pre-Birth Assessments 97 

Safeguarding related meetings attended 337 

Source: Local authority data 

In January we appointed a new Safeguarding Nurse who attended four Case 

Conferences and six professionals’ meetings (Core Groups/Care & Support 

Plans/Looked After Children). 

Flintshire  

REFLECT 

The REFLECT Service supports women who have had one or more children 

removed through care proceedings and are at high risk of having children who will be 

subject to the same experience.  

The Early Help Hub is a multi-agency early help resource for children and families 

demonstrating two or more Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs). Partners 

include Social Services, Police, Health, Youth Justice, Housing, Flintshire Customer 

Connects, Education, Family Information Service, Early Years Support and Flintshire 

Local Voluntary Council (FLVC). 

The Early Help Hub received 2,641 referrals between April 2020 and end of March 

2021 and the team have adapted to meet needs during the pandemic. All Early Help 

Hub members quickly reverted to having discussions online and agencies adapted 

well during lockdown and there was no interruption with meetings. Referrals slowed 

down slightly during April/May but started to pick back up again from June.  

Page 200



 

109 
 

Parent and Child Together Placement’ 

The ‘Parent and Child Together Placement’ recruitment campaign is beginning to 

come to fruition. This aims to keep children with their parents in a specially assessed 

foster care setting.  

Flintshire closely scrutinise decisions about whether older young people should be 

taken into care and, in particular, what difference can be achieved at this relatively 

late stage. 

Flintshire Meeting Service  

Flintshire Meeting Services approach is aimed at keeping families together wherever 

possible. Families are offered a Family Group Meeting at the earliest opportunity, to 

prevent them from reaching crisis. Family Group Meetings explore if wider family 

members or connected persons would be willing to put themselves forward to be 

assessed to care for the child. Further funding has been made available to 

strengthen this approach. We have seen an increase in referrals to the service and 

it’s been noted that families during this period required additional support due to the 

impact of COVID19 and the strain and increased pressure / stress on family life. We 

have also seen a sharp increase in referrals from statutory services which again 

highlights the strain the pandemic has and is having on families. 

Family Information Service (FISF) 

The Family Information Service is a statutory local authority service providing free 

and impartial information, advice and guidance to families (and those working with 

families) on a range of topics and in various formats. 

Topics include health, education, leisure, finance and registered childcare. The 

service processes an average of 20,000 enquiries each quarter either face to face, 

by telephone and email or on the website and via social media.  

 

Wrexham 

Throughout the year, the Department has made steady progress in the development 

of early intervention and preventative services. In November 2021, the Early Help 

and Prevention Framework document was published, following a multi-agency 

launch along with the Children's Services Threshold document.  

Page 201



 

110 
 

The Prevention and Early Help Framework document is to assist all when planning 

Prevention and Early Intervention Services.  It supports in considering who needs to 

be involved, what the principles are that will drive discussions and decisions and it 

enables individuals to develop a clear business case for enhancing, expanding or 

repurposing current services.  

Since the development of the Prevention and Early Help Framework, a new 

Prevention and Early Help Partnership has been established and work is currently 

underway to develop a strategy that will help to focus both the Council’s and its 

Partner’s on ensuring that support to children, young people and families is available 

to them before issues worsen. It aims to help children, young people and families to 

help themselves in the first instance but when more help is needed, we aim to 

provide the right support much earlier. Further development of the Prevention and 

Early Help Partnership will continue throughout the coming year. 

 

Page 202



 

111 
 

6. Fostering services 

Population overview 

The number of children is predicted to decrease 

The estimated number of children (aged 0-15) in 2020 and the projections for 2040 

demonstrate the number of children in North Wales is predicted to decrease over the 

coming years (Welsh Government, 2020). This decrease can be seen across all of 

the local authorities in North Wales, with the exception of Gwynedd which is 

predicted to have a slight increase (1.8%). Overall the number of children in North 

Wales is expected to reduce by 6.1%  

The Market Position Statement update (2021) gave an overview of key statistics; 

 • The number of children who required a foster placement increased by 34% 

during the period April 2016 (600 children) to March 2020 (805 children). 

 • As at the 31st March 2020, there were 805 North Wales children living with a 

foster carer, 40% (325 children) were living with an independent foster carer and 

the majority of those children required a specialist placement in order to support 

their needs, which could not be supported by our in-house services. 

 • There are currently 11 children who are living in a children’s home who could be 

supported by specialist foster carers. There are not enough foster carers with the 

right skills to support the needs profiles of our children. 

 • During the period April 2020 to the end of February 2021, there were 34 

children who required a parent and child placement and assessment. 

Demand for foster care has increased 

The number of children in foster care in North Wales has increased year on year 

since 2015 to around 945 in 2020. Wrexham had the largest increase, with the 

number of children doubling. Gwynedd also saw a significant increase. Numbers in 

the other local authorities have fluctuated.  

 

Page 203



 

112 
 

Table 26: Number of children looked after in foster placements at 31 March 

Local council 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Anglesey  90  100  100  90  110  

Gwynedd  145  145  145  165  200  

Conwy  120  125  150  140  140  

Denbighshire  125  110  110  115  115  

Flintshire  135  140  135  150  140  

Wrexham  120  135  170  175  240  

North Wales  735  755  810  835  945  

Wales  4,250  4,425  4,700  4,840  4,990  

Numbers have been rounded so may not sum. 

Source: Children looked after by local authorities in foster placements. Stats Wales, 

Welsh Government 

Despite the increasing numbers in foster placements, the Market Position Statement 

(2019) expressed that a large increase was not expected in the future. 

Local authorities have in-house foster care places and independent fostering 

agencies providing places. Some of the independent foster agencies are charities or 

co-operatives. The table below shows the number and percentage for each type of 

foster placement provision, broken down by Local Authority. 

Table 27: Number of foster placements in the local authority area commissioned by 
provider type 

Local council  In House 

(number) 

Independent 

provider 

(number)  

Total  

(number)  

In House 

(percentage) 

Independent 

provider  

(percentage) 

Anglesey 37 32 69 54% 46% 

Gwynedd 98 31 129 76% 24% 

Conwy 82 41 123 67% 33% 

Denbighshire 69 19 88 78% 22% 

Flintshire 55 13 68 81% 19% 

Wrexham 119 21 140 85% 15% 

North Wales 460 157 617 75% 25% 

Source: Provided by each local authority 

Page 204



 

113 
 

Predicted increased demand for foster parents 

The National Foster Network calculated a need for, an estimated, 550 new foster 

parents across Wales every year to keep up with demand. This suggests there could 

be a shortage of foster placements in coming years, given the increasing demand. 

Sufficiency issues for some children 

The Market Position Statement (Regional Partnership Board, 2019) identified 

sufficiency issues with finding placements for children with particular needs 

including: 

 Respite care 

 Young offenders 

 Refugees, immigrants, asylum seekers 

 Young parents  

 Sibling groups 

 Emergency situations 

The stability of the workforce is an issue, with increasing demand for placements and 

the number of placements projected do not meet with the forecast demand.  

The Foster Wales website facilitated the joining of the 22 Local Authorities to form a 

national network of local fostering expertise. Its focus is to make a bigger impact on 

a national level, working together with foster carers, to build better futures for local 

children. Sharing one brand and, one voice, to strengthen recruitment and support of 

foster carers. 

The National Fostering Framework 

The National Fostering Framework (2018) finds children who live with foster carers in 

their own locality more likely to thrive and children in local authority provision more 

likely to stay in their home authority, enabling them to maintain important links. It is 

vital local authorities increase local placements and reduce out of area placements. 

According to the National Fostering Framework (2018), connected fostering (with 

family or friends) has seen increased demand. It also finds that local authority 

placements have better outcomes for children. The framework states that local 

authorities need to be able to have capacity to facilitate this, or otherwise ensure that 

the child has opportunities to maintain connections if placed in alternative fostering. 

Page 205



 

114 
 

Market overview  

Regional market overview 

The table below shows a breakdown of fostering provision by provider type.  

Table 28: Fostering placements, beds and market share by provider type.  

Provider 

Type   

Market share  

(Percentage)  

Placements 

(number)  

Care settings 

 (number) 

In House  62% 776 453 

Private  37% 469 206 

Third sector  1% 16 7 

North Wales 100% 1261 666 

Source: CCSR data accessed 31/05/22 

Isle of Anglesey market overview 

The table shows how many children in Anglesey are increasingly being placed 

outside of their local authority.  

Table 29: Number of children in foster placements by area - Anglesey 

Location of placement 2018  2019 2020 2021 
Change 

No 

Inside local authority  65 60 70 80  -45 

Outside local authority 

(Wales) 

30 30 30 20  50 

Outside Wales 0 0 0 0  0 

Numbers have been rounded so may not sum. 
Source: Looked After Children Census. StatsWales, Welsh Government 

Page 206



 

115 
 

Table 30: Number of children in foster placements by type - Anglesey 

Type of Placement 
2018  2019 2020 2021 

Change 
no 

With relative/ friend, 
inside local authority 

30 25 25 35 5 

With local authority, 
inside local authority 

20 20 40 40 20 

With agency, inside 
local authority 

15 15 10 10 -5 

With relative/ friend, 
outside local authority 

5 0 0 0 -5 

With local authority, 
outside local authority 

0 0 0 0 0 

With agency, outside 
local authority 

25 25 25 25 0 

Numbers have been rounded so may not sum. 
Source: Looked After Children Census. StatsWales, Welsh Government 

Gwynedd market overview  

Figures in the table below, show children in the Gwynedd area have been 

increasingly placed into foster placements within Gwynedd. The number placed 

outside of Gwynedd but still in Wales has reduced. However, placements outside of 

Wales have increased. 

Table 31: Number of children in foster placements by area - Gwynedd 

Location of Placement 
 

2018  

 

2019 

 

2020 

 

2021 

Change 

No 

Within Local Authority  110 120 140 135  25 

Outside Local Authority Wales 35 40 50 50  15 

Outside Wales 0 5 5 15  15 

Numbers have been rounded so may not sum. 
Source: Looked After Children Census. StatsWales, Welsh Government 

 

 

Page 207



 

116 
 

The figures below show children in Gwynedd are increasingly placed into foster 

placements both within and outside Gwynedd. They have also seen increased 

numbers of placements with family/friends.  

Table 32: Number of children in foster placements by type - Gwynedd 

Type of Placement 
 

2018  

 

2019 

 

2020 

 

2021 

Change 

No 

With relative/ friend, 
within local authority 

35 50 50 45 10 

With local authority, 
within local authority 

70 65 85 85 15 

With agency, within 
local authority 

0 0 0 0 0 

With relative/ friend, 
outside local authority 

5 10 15 25 20 

With local authority, 
outside local authority 

10 15 15 10 0 

With agency, outside 
local authority 

20 20 30 30 10 

Numbers have been rounded so may not sum. 
Source: Looked After Children Census. StatsWales, Welsh Government 

Gwynedd local authority themselves report a “relatively good provision” of foster 

placements available within the county, when compared to other provision but 

recognise there is potential for shortages in foster carers in the near future. The local 

authority anticipate approximately 10 to 12 new foster placements would be required 

each year to maintain this and at least 18 to 20 to improve provision. 

Conwy market overview 

Conwy has increased foster placements inside the local authority and those outside 

of Wales have reduced significantly. However, those outside of Conwy but still in 

Wales have increased, see figures below. 

Page 208



 

117 
 

Table 33: Number of children in foster placements by area - Conwy 

Location of 

Placement 

 

2018  

 

2019 

 

2020 

 

2021 

Change 

No 

Inside Local 
Authority  

95 85 100 100  5 

Outside Local 
Authority Wales 

20 35 35 35  15 

Outside Wales 35 25 5 5  -30 

Numbers have been rounded so may not sum. 
Source: Looked After Children Census. StatsWales, Welsh Government 

Conwy has seen a reduction in foster placements with the local authority and a small 

increase in agency placements.  

Table 34: Number of children in foster placements by type - Conwy 

Type of Placement 
 

2018  

 

2019 

 

2020 

 

2021 

Change 

No 

With relative/ friend, 
inside local authority 

25 20 15 20 -5 

With local authority, 
inside local authority 

65 60 55 55 -10 

With agency, inside 
local authority 

25 30 35 30 5 

With relative/ friend, 
outside local authority 

10 10 10 15 5 

With local authority, 
outside local authority 

0 0 0 0 0 

With agency, outside 
local authority 

20 20 20 20 0 

Numbers have been rounded so may not sum. 
Source: Looked After Children Census. StatsWales, Welsh Government 

Conwy report that both emergency and longer term placements are needed urgently. 

The local authority recognises the importance of local placements for children, they 

are considering a range of options to increase provision in the county and reduce 

reliance on costly temporary arrangements and out of county placements that are far 

from the family. 

Page 209



 

118 
 

Denbighshire market overview  

The figures in the table below show placements for children from Denbighshire have 

increased both inside Denbighshire and outside of Denbighshire but still in Wales.  

Table 35: Number of children in foster placements by area - Denbighshire 

Location of 

placement 

 

2018  

 

2019 

 

2020 

 

2021 

Change 

No 

Inside local authority  85 90 90 90  5 

Outside local 
authority Wales 

15 15 15 20  5 

Outside Wales 10 10 10 10  0 

Numbers have been rounded so may not sum. 
Source: Looked After Children Census. StatsWales, Welsh Government 

Denbighshire has seen increased agency use inside and outside of the area and 

increased placements with family/friends out of area.  

Table 36: Number of children in foster placements by type - Denbighshire 

Type of Placement 
 

2018  

 

2019 

 

2020 

 

2021 

Change 

No 

With relative/ friend, 
inside local authority 

20 20 20 20 0 

With local authority, 
inside local authority 

60 70 65 65 5 

With agency, inside 
local authority 

0 5 10 5 5 

With relative/ friend, 
outside local authority 

5 10 10 10 5 

With local authority, 
outside local authority 

10 5 0 0 -10 

With agency, outside 
local authority 

10 10 10 15 5 

Numbers have been rounded so may not sum. 
Source: Looked After Children Census. StatsWales, Welsh Government 

Denbighshire local authority have identified a need to increase care capacity to meet 

population needs within Denbighshire for foster care services. They also recognise a 

shortage in the availability of overnight respite accommodation for children with 

complex disabilities. 

Page 210



 

119 
 

Flintshire market overview 

In Flintshire children have increasingly been placed outside of Flintshire both in 

Wales and outside of Wales. The figures also show a reduction in placements in 

Flintshire.  

Table 37: Number of children in foster placements by area - Flintshire 

Location of 

Placement 

 

2018  

 

2019 

 

2020 

 

2021 

Change 

No 

Inside Local 
Authority  

95 95 90 90  -5 

Outside Local 
Authority Wales 

25 35 30 45  20 

Outside Wales 15 20 15 20  5 

Numbers have been rounded so may not sum. 
Source: Looked After Children Census. StatsWales, Welsh Government 

Data in the table below shows a considerable increase in the use of agencies for 

Flintshire both inside and outside of the local authority.  

Table 38: Number of children in foster placements by type - Flintshire 

Type of Placement 
 

2018  

 

2019 

 

2020 

 

2021 

Change 

No 

With relative/ friend, 
inside local authority 

35 35 35 30 -5 

With local authority, 
inside local authority 

60 60 50 55 -5 

With agency, inside 
local authority 

5 5 5 15 10 

With relative/ friend, 
outside local authority 

15 15 15 15 0 

With local authority, 
outside local authority 

15 15 10 15 0 

With agency, outside 
local authority 

5 15 20 25 20 

Numbers have been rounded so may not sum. 
Source: Looked After Children Census. StatsWales, Welsh Government 

Flintshire report as of 31 March 2021, there were 109 children and young people in 

foster placements within and outside the Local Authority Area (not including kinship 

Page 211



 

120 
 

placements) and as of 16 February 2022, this figure was 102. They state they are 

currently able to look after the majority of children under 8 within in house fostering 

services. 

The local authority identified the following market sufficiency issues: 

 Need to meet the forecast demand with in-house foster carers. 

 Foster parents to support children in the age categories 10 to 14 and 15+. 

 Sourcing appropriate local placements for those with complex needs. 

 Meeting demand for children who need complex multi-agency care packages or 

have challenging risk management plans, example behaviours include anger 

management issues, verbal and physical aggression towards adults. 

 Shortages for sibling groups and children with disabilities. 

 Not enough skilled foster parents for children at the highest end of needs profile, 

those currently living in care homes. 

 Insufficient placements lead to children being placed in unregulated settings. 

 Not enough carers who speak Welsh. 

 North Wales has a shortage of parent and child places, especially in Wrexham 

and Flintshire. 

Wrexham market overview 

The table shows how there has been an increase in all types of placements in 

Wrexham, including children placed out of area. 

Table 39: Number of children in foster placements by area - Wrexham 

Location of 

Placement 

 

2018  

 

2019 

 

2020 

 

2021 

Change 

No 

Inside Local 
Authority  

115 120 145 150  35 

Outside Local 
Authority Wales 

30 40 65 75  45 

Outside Wales 20 15 20 25  5 

Numbers have been rounded so may not sum. 
Source: Looked After Children Census. Stats Wales, Welsh Government 

The table below demonstrates a sharp increase in the use of agencies for Wrexham, 

with the steepest increase outside of the local authority.  

Page 212



 

121 
 

Table 40: Number of children in foster placements by type - Wrexham 

Type of Placement 
 

2018  

 

2019 

 

2020 

 

2021 

Change 

No 

With relative/ friend, 
inside local authority 

60 70 75 80 20 

With local authority, 
inside local authority 

65 55 70 70 5 

With agency, inside 
local authority 

15 20 25 30 15 

With relative/ friend, 
outside local authority 

0 0 0 0 0 

With local authority, 
outside local authority 

20 20 15 15 -5 

With agency, outside 
local authority 

15 15 40 55 40 

Numbers have been rounded so may not sum. 
Source: Looked After Children Census. StatsWales, Welsh Government 

Progress has been made in the implementation of the 4C’s Framework and a 

Placement Officer has been appointed to manage the Framework database within 

Wrexham. The usage and expectations of the 4C’s Framework continues to be 

embedded into practice as evidence as best practice. We have experienced an 

increased demand for placements able to meet the need of highly complex young 

people. This has lead to an increase in the number and cost of such placements.  In 

order to deliver against the not for profit agenda, further investment will be needed in 

the development of local authority residential care. 

Wrexham see reducing the number of looked after children as a priority, as well as 

removing profit from the children’s placement market. The local authority also 

recognises a lack of intermediate or short term placements for children. 

Market stability 

Regional challenges 

The Market Position Statement (2019) and ‘Foster Wales’ (2021) identified 

challenges to the stability of fostering services in North Wales and Wales as a whole 

listed below: 

Page 213



 

122 
 

 Recruitment and retention issues 

 Placements for children with particular needs including; respite care, young 

offenders, refugees/immigrants/asylum seekers, young parents, sibling groups 

and emergency situations  

 It is estimated that Wales will need 550 new foster parents every year to meet 

demand 

 

Isle of Anglesey market stability 

The local authority recognises the following as issues affecting the future stability of 

the fostering service: 

 Workforce – recruitment, retention, age profile of workforce, costs 

 Supply and choices available  

 Can the cost of living crisis impact the numbers of looked after children and 

therefore hamper the projection of decrease in demand? 

 Impact of children seeking asylum on resources including placements and 

support available.  

 Impact of unplanned arrivals to the Port of Holyhead. 

 

Gwynedd market stability 

Gwynedd have identified several factors that may influence fostering stability: 

 Recruitment and retention of staff 

 Potential shortage of foster placements, an estimated 10-12 new placements 

needed each year to maintain and at least 18-20 to improve provision 

 Finance - concerns around maintaining quality services with limited resources  

 Lack of funding often results in using out of county providers which results in 

higher costs contributing further to the problem 

Conwy market stability 

Conwy refer to key issues around future stability of their fostering service: 

 Recruitment and retention (linked to pay and conditions but not exclusively) 

 Emergency and longer term placements in county are needed urgently  

Page 214



 

123 
 

Denbighshire market stability 

Denbighshire recognises some key factors that may affect stability of the service:  

 Increase in capacity to meet population needs within Denbighshire  

 Staffing and recruitment issues 

 Specialist training and knowledge 

 Possibly long term funding problems 

 Increased complexity of need 

 Supply of specialist care not meeting demand 

 Overnight respite care for children with complex disabilities  

 Lack of placements for children with challenging/complex behaviour  

 

Sustainability of provision 

 Denbighshire recognises the following issues affecting sustainability of the 

service: Recruitment of in-house foster carers has been impacted by the 

pandemic with a lack of applicants coming forward, resulting in increased use of 

Independent Fostering Providers.  

 Lack of availability has resulted in no offer or placements at a considerable 

distance, which is not always in the best interest of the young person.  

 Children who require a placement but where foster care cannot be sourced are 

being escalated into residential care, but there is placement insufficiency and a 

perceived reluctance to offer placements to young people with complex needs. 

This can result in a placement at a distance away.  

 Particular pressure if a child/young person presents with self-harm or suicidal 

ideation, providers show reluctance to offer placements to and emergency 

provision is extremely limited. 

Preventative actions for children on the edge of care 

During the period where the integrated care fund supported the provision of edge of 

care support, there were 122 families (200 children) supported including:  

7 parents and 2 foster carers (19 children) attended new Parent Participation Group 

(collaboration with Parents and Carers Against Exploitation, North Wales Police, 

Health colleagues and Denbighshire Safeguarding Lead). Of these children, 6 no 

longer reach criteria for multi-agency oversight within Denbighshire’s Exploitation 

Panel and 2 have been closed to social care. 

Page 215



 

124 
 

2 children in long-term foster placements received an intensive intervention which 

stabilised their placement and enabled the foster carer and parent to have a shared 

understanding of each child’s individual needs. 

16 staff across Social Care, Early Intervention and Housing attended Dialectal 

Behavioural Therapy (DBT) Skills training and the Therapeutic Service will mentor 

these staff to develop DBT Skills groups for Foster and Kinship Carers, Looked After 

Children, Care Leavers and Semi-Independent and Homelessness Projects. 

1 young person received an intensive intervention from the Therapeutic Service 

following police colleagues using their Powers of Police Protection. The young 

person required short-term foster care and was rehabilitated back to their family 

within 6 weeks, they are now closed to Social Care. 

Engagement 

Denbighshire list the following engagements used to help improve quality of service:  

 A quality of care evaluation will be carried out of Denbighshire Fostering Service 

in April and May 2022. Questionnaires will be sent to gain views of 

children/young people, foster carers, kinship carers, panel members and parents, 

the results will assist in making improvements where required as well as 

recognising good practice. 

 Closed Facebook group for foster carers developed with views from foster carers 

and is regularly being updated with information. Creating the page/group has 

provided another avenue to obtain feedback, information is circulated to a larger 

geographical area and accessibility has improved. 

 Two children/young people’s forums meet on a regular basis. They have not 

been able to meet over the last year, but staff running the forums kept in touch 

regularly. 

 Kids in Care Young People’s Forum (KIC Club) for young people aged 8 to 15 

living with foster carers. They meet and do activities during half terms, share their 

experiences, say what is going well and what they would like to change. 

 KWC Club (Kids who care) is a group of children/young people whose parents 

foster and are also part of the fostering process. They meet during half term, 

share experiences, say what’s going well and what they would like to change. 

 Foster carers virtual coffee mornings, invites were sent with a package containing 

a tea bag and packet of biscuits. To allow better conversation, foster carers were 

Page 216



 

125 
 

split into groups based on their supervising social worker. Facilitated by the 

supervising social worker with drop-in appearances from; Head of Service, 

Service Manager, Fostering Team Manager and Placement Commissioning 

Officer/Recruitment Officer. It had good attendance, lots of laughter, discussion 

and feedback from attendees was very positive.  

 The Fostering Service have increased the level of communication with Foster 

Carers with a regular newsletter and the Denbighshire Fostering Service 

Competition, whereby children have been asked for Christmas cards to be 

designed, pebbles to be painted and a Sunflower growing competition. 

Flintshire market stability 

Flintshire identified several issues impacting the stability of fostering services: 

 Foster carers with skills/experience to support teenagers and sibling groups 

 Increase in 14, 15 and 16 year olds entering care 

 Parent and child placements 

Action taken to improve stability 

Recruitment of foster parents has been identified as an issue for Flintshire, in 

response the Foster with Flintshire portal has been developed to promote Fostering 

roles. The site contains a wealth of information, resources and stories from some of 

Flintshire’s current foster parents. They have also targeted their recruitment strategy 

to address demand for foster parents with skills and experience to support children 

age 12 and over. 

Mockingbird Programme 

Flintshire was the first council in Wales to introduce the evidence-based Mockingbird 

model for foster placements. The programme nurtures the relationships between 

children, young people and foster families supporting them to build a resilient and 

caring community of six to ten satellite families called a constellation. The aim of the 

model is to improve foster care and outcomes for fostered young people. 

Action for Children - Repatriation and Prevention (RAP) Service  

The service provides intensive therapeutic support for Children Looked After with 

support from experienced foster carers. The service is a partnership between the 

local authority, health, CAMHS and Action for Children.  

 

Page 217



 

126 
 

The aims of the service are to:  

 Prevent placement breakdown and escalation to crisis point leading to out-of-

county placements 

 Return young people to stable placements in their home 

 Ensure looked after children can access educational opportunities  

 Increase resilience and confidence in children and carers 

Adaptations to Foster Carers Homes Policy 

‘Adaptations to Foster Carers’ Homes’ policy was introduced in 2020, supporting 

foster carers make necessary adaptations to their home to provide adequate space 

for children/young people. It supports; sibling placements, the needs of children with 

multiple disabilities, secure extra capacity for foster placements and to meet health 

and safety requirements which would otherwise result in a child being moved.  

Funding compliments existing support and is a step forward in securing local and 

stable placements for children. Applications for grant funding will be considered up to 

£36,000, and £20,000 for relocation to a more suitable property. To access the grant, 

carers and social worker must first exhaust other options/resources. 

Grants are also available to; existing or prospective adoptive families, family and 

friends/carers of children under a Special Guardianship Order and carers who are 

committed to their caring role for the long term, or at least until the child reaches 18.  

Placement stability meetings - Facilitated in house, when issues with maintaining a 

placement arise and the Independent Fostering Agency chair when requested.  

Disruption meetings - The family group meeting service will bring together 

stakeholders and look at lessons learnt. 

Wrexham market stability 

Wrexham identified the following issues that may impact stability of fostering: 

 A need to reduce the number of looked after children 

 Removing profit from children’s placement market 

 Intermediate/short term care placements  

 Staffing shortages 

 Lack of appropriate placements  

 

Page 218



 

127 
 

 

Carers are needed to support teenagers and mother and babies in the Wrexham 

area.  To recruit carers to meet these needs, the local authority have; 

 

 Commenced a review of rates of pay for carers, proposing an increased rate for 

specialist/skilled carers able to care for children with complex needs. 

 Carried out a recruitment campaign using buses, billboards and social media.  

 

Wrexham’s Care Leavers Offer has been progressed throughout the year and the 

development of accommodation pathways for young people are underway. This will 

provide varying degrees of support on their pathway to independence and their own 

tenancy.  

 

This will be achieved by developing in-house services including; 

 Supported Lodging’s Service 

 Kick Start Project 

 Step Down Project 

 Use of a training flat.  

 

The Leaving Care Team are located in accessible ‘info shop’ with their social 

workers while being able to take advantage of the `one stop shop` for any identified 

areas of support including access to funding grants and employment support.  

 

Consideration of market quality 
The State of the Nation report from the Fostering Agency (2021) provided insight into 

the quality of foster services across the whole of Wales, the key findings were: 

 44% of independent and 51% of local authority foster carers said they were not 

supported to maintain contact with children they had cared for. Foster carers 

perceived this as ‘cruel’, ending significant relationships for children who have 

experienced so much loss already. 

 Some fostering services are not maintaining foster carer approval, even if they 

intend to continue fostering. This, and dropping financial support, are barriers to 

young people entering ‘When I am Ready’. 

Page 219



 

128 
 

 20% independent and 12% local authority foster carers have no children in their 

care. It recommended better use of foster carers skills to meet the needs of 

children. 

 57% local authority foster carers had an agreed learning and development plan, 

31% did not and 12% didn’t know. 66% independent foster carers had a learning 

and development plan, 22% didn’t and 12% didn’t know. 

 Local authority foster approvals were more restrictive and limited than 

independent approvals, it recommends local authorities assessments use 

broader approval statuses, robust matching procedures and placement stability 

processes. 

 Foster carers would like to build relationships with social workers and children in 

their care to have stability and continuity of social worker. Over the previous two 

years, 53% of foster carers had one supervising social worker, 29% had two, 

12% had three and 6% had four or more. 

 Foster carers felt ‘dismissed’, ‘ignored’ and their role is not valued by the social 

care workforce. Lack of respect for their commitment, skills and dedication is a 

long-term, well reported issue in fostering. 

 Foster carers want allowances to cover the full cost of caring for a child and 

payment reflecting their value as a member of the team around the child. 

Sufficient payments are a must to attract new skilled, committed foster carers.  

 Lack of placement choice. To secure good matches for children, services would 

need to see a significant increase in access to local, quality placements. 

 Staffing levels are not sufficient to provide required support for foster families. 

Services would like staffing to enable best practice and improve standards. 

 Trauma-informed practice – concerns about access to training and additional 

services for those caring for traumatised children. Services would like children 

looked after to have priority status for services across health and education. 

 Support for foster carers with improved peer support services and out of hours 

provision. Services with this support saw improved retention and stability. 

Current and projected trends 
Key current trends and projections for the future of foster services: 

 Increased demand for placements 

 Lack of places for older children 

 Lack of places for children with complex care plans/behavioural issues 

Page 220



 

129 
 

 Lack of foster parents with skills to support children with complex needs 

 Projected increase in demand for placements 

 Predicted potential shortage of placements, supply not matching demand 

Welsh language 
A shortage of Welsh speaking foster parents was identified in Flintshire. 

The provision of Welsh language across the rest of North Wales will be discussed 

within the children’s services chapter of this report. 

Other provision  
There is a significant lack of foster or residential placements for children and young 

people with challenging or complex behaviour.  

Recruitment of in-house foster carers has been impacted by the pandemic with a 

lack of applicants coming forward. This has resulted in an increased use of 

Independent Fostering Providers.  

Lack of availability has resulted in no offer or placements only at a considerable 

distance, which is not always in the best interest of the young person.  

Children who require a placement but where foster care cannot be sourced are being 

escalated into residential care, but there is both placement insufficiency and a 

perceived reluctance to offer placements to young people with complex needs. Again 

this can result in a placement at a distance away.  

There is particular pressure if the child/young person presents with self-harm or 

suicidal ideation, with providers showing reluctance to offer placements to this 

cohort. Emergency provision is extremely limited. 

Workforce 
The National Fostering Framework (2018) highlighted a loss in the number of 

approved foster households. The framework states improvements need to be made 

to increase; enquiries, conversions, approvals and retention of foster parents. 

The table below shows numbers of foster parents and places have seen a slight 

increase overall across North Wales. However, Gwynedd and Denbighshire saw a 

Page 221



 

130 
 

drop in both the number of foster parents and places available, and Flintshire saw a 

drop in foster parents but increase in places. If reductions in foster parents or places 

continue this could result in insufficient spaces for children in these local authorities. 

Table 41: Number of approved foster spaces as of 31 March  

Local council 2016/17  2017/18 2018/19 

Anglesey  86 69 43 

Gwynedd  164 178 198 

Conwy  113 130 127 

Denbighshire  156 155 149 

Flintshire  133 157 156 

Wrexham  161 172 166 

North Wales  813 861 839 

Wales  4,075 4,170 4,317 

Source: Children Receiving Care and Support. StatsWales,  
Welsh Government 

Table 42: Number of approved foster parents as of 31 March  

Local council 2016/17 2017/18  2018/19 

Anglesey  45 38 39 

Gwynedd  103 111 120 

Conwy  70 84 80 

Denbighshire  78 77 74 

Flintshire  77 77 76 

Wrexham  100 112 110 

North Wales  473 499 499 

Wales  2,347 2,443 2,462 

Source: Children Receiving Care and Support. StatsWales,  
Welsh Government 

Carer skill set & training desired: 

Carers who are able to work with our internal services and are trained in the delivery 

of therapeutic trauma informed care. 

Page 222



 

131 
 

Carers who are aware of the impact of county lines and have received training to 

support children who are vulnerable to exploitation via these gangs. This includes 

the resilience to work with children who are being exploited by gangs, frequently 

abscond and can display verbal and sometimes physical aggression. 

 Resilient & trained to work with childhood trauma, absconding, exploitation and 

self-harm behaviours. 

 Carers who are trained to understand the impact of adverse childhood 

experiences (ACEs) on children who they care for. 

 Carers who are trained in crisis intervention, and can work calmly under the 

pressure of emergency planning. 

 Resilient when faced with threat of physical harm & trained in de-escalation, with 

positive behaviour management planning, minimising use of restraints 

 Carers with the ability to speak Welsh or commitment to learn. 

Social value 
Three providers offer a total of 16 beds in 7 care settings across the region, this 

accounts for 1.3% of market.  

Taking profit out of care for looked after children  

One of the wellbeing objectives established within the Welsh Government 

Programme 2021-2016 is to protect, rebuild and develop our services for children 

and young people. A key priority in this area of work is to eliminate private profit from 

the care of children looked after.  

Commissioning placements to independent foster agencies can impact on provisions 

being provided from within the local authority., Local authorities are keen to work in 

partnership with independent care providers to ensure that both the in-house and 

independent sector market function to meet foster care needs. Flintshire local 

authority highlighted this as a potential risk and stated how they were focusing the 

use of independent foster agencies for those services that they struggle to provide 

with local authority services. 

The foster care allowances survey from The Fostering Network (2020) found even 

though all local authorities in Wales are paying at or above the national minimum 

allowance, foster carers feel their current allowance does not meet the full costs of 

looking after a child. The network recommend foster payments must be transparent 

Page 223



 

132 
 

so it is clear to foster carers how much constitutes the allowance, and must be spent 

on the child, and how much constitutes the fee and is payment for the foster carer’s 

time and skills.  

Page 224



 

133 
 

7. Adoption services 

North Wales Adoption Service overview 
The North Wales Adoption Service provides a regional adoption service on behalf of 

Wrexham, Flintshire, Denbighshire, Conwy, Gwynedd and Anglesey local authorities. 

Working regionally helps find new families more effectively, place children quicker 

and improve adoption support services. In April 2014 it was integrated into the 

National Adoption Service. The services comply with updated adoption legislation, 

regulations and statutory guidance in line with the Regulation and Inspection of 

Social Care (Wales) Act 2016 (RISCA) and with the policy and procedures of the 

service, within the resources allocated. There is a framework which aims to make it 

easier for adopters, children and young people get support when needed. 

Services provided by the adoption service include: 

 Preparing the child for adoption. 

 Family finding and matching. 

 Safeguarding children. 

 Provision of adoption support. 

 Recruitment, assessment and approval of adopters. 

 Preparing to adopt training (pre/post approval). 

 Adoption support (pre/post adoption, buddy system, post adoption contact). 

 Birth parent counselling. 

 Relinquished babies. 

 Services for adopted adults. 

Population overview 
The table below shows the number of looked after children who were placed for 

adoption in each local authority. It is worth noting that the service has undergone 

significant transformation since 2020, therefore it is difficult to compare local data 

and it does not reflect the service now.  

 

Page 225



 

134 
 

Table 43: Number of children looked after placed for adoption by local authority 
2020/21 

 

Local Council 

 

No of Children 

Anglesey  6  

Gwynedd  2  

Conwy  17  

Denbighshire  7  

Flintshire  1  

Wrexham  11  

North Wales  44 

Source: Figures provided by each local authority 

Current and predicted trends 
The following issues were raised with regards to adoption services for children: 

 Highest placement need is for children from the East. 

 Highest number of adopters are from the East. 

 Fewer adopters in the West and children needing to be placed away from the 

East. 

 Nationally there are more children than approved adopters available 

 Consideration of the number of Welsh language speakers (adopters/children). 

 

The following issues were raised with regards to adoption services for adults: 

 Adults requesting their birth records to find their birth parents was shut down 

during the pandemic, majority of services have resumed but there is a backlog. 

 Staffing - 43 staff, 10 are off or due to go off on maternity leave, it is difficult to 

recruit to fixed term posts so the ability to assess may be impacted in 2022/23. 

Quality reports 
The Quality of Service Review from the North Wales Adoption Service (2020) 

highlighted the following areas to improve market stability: 

Page 226



 

135 
 

 Increase the number of approved adopters. 

 Reduce the number of children waiting for an adoptive family. 

 Develop the adoption support service. 

 Recruitment - sessional workers and adoption panel vacancies. 

Care Inspectorate Wales (2019b) inspection identified these areas for improvement:  

 Further develop quality assurance processes and assessment of the degree to 

which aims and objectives of the statement of purpose are met and evidence 

demonstrating how these support well-being outcomes for children. 

 The availability of the ‘Active Offer’, to provide services in the Welsh language. 

 The statement of purpose and adopters’ information pack includes information 

about the independent review mechanism so adopters are aware of this. 

 Intermediary files should include a clear audit trail of work undertaken. 

Page 227



 

136 
 

8. Unpaid carers 

Population overview 
Under the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 carers have the same 

rights as those they care for and local councils have a duty to assess their needs 

and promote their well-being. Supporting unpaid carers is a preventative measure for 

both the individual carer and the sustainability of health and care services. 

There are around 79,000 people of all ages providing unpaid care in North Wales, 

according to the 2011 census, and we expect this number to be increasing as the 

need for care and support increases. More unpaid carers came forward during the 

pandemic to access support.  

Much of the support that unpaid carers need is provided through care to the person 

they care for, so lack of provision in the care market leads to additional demands on 

unpaid carers. The population assessment identified that issues within wider social 

care workforce recruitment and retention is leading to additional demands on unpaid 

carers. Specifically, this is impacting the complexity of care meaning that unpaid 

carers are experiencing caring responsibilities with higher needs of care. Other 

priorities were the early identification of carers, carer breaks (respite care), improving 

unpaid carer assessments and digital inclusion.  

 

Market sufficiency 
The number of carers is increasing. The largest growth is in those carers providing 

between 20 and 49 hours a week. There has also been a rise in the number of 

carers providing 50 or more hours of care per week, in Denbighshire approximately 

46% of these carers are over 65 years. It is these carers who are likely to have more 

intensive caring roles and who will have the greater support needs.  

These demographic trends are reflected in the increasing number of people living 

with long term conditions including learning disabilities, dementia and mental health 

conditions, as well as a general growth in the older population.  

Page 228



 

137 
 

We know from talking to unpaid carers and the mapping work that has been done, 

that some carers who need support find it difficult to get alternative care and many 

have been unable to have a break for a long time, due to the impact of the Covid-19 

pandemic.  

“A short break is any break which strengthens and /or sustains informal caring 

relationships and enhances wellbeing of carers and people they support” Carers 

Trust Wales, Road to Respite Report, July 2021. 

Welsh Government awarded local authorities a carers respite grant in 2021-22, with 

emphasis on supporting the development of flexible and person centred forms of 

respite instead of the more traditional sitting service or replacement care support. 

The population needs assessment identified a wide range of services provided 

across the region to support carers. The Regional Project Manager leading on carers 

within the regional collaboration team continually maps the full range of services 

available to carers across North Wales, identifying any areas of duplication and also 

collaborative opportunities across all six councils and the health board. 

In addition to the need for more carer breaks (respite care) provision across the 

region, the following local needs have been identified: 

The following factors have an impact on unpaid carers; 

 Gaps in general provision in services for carers of older people and the 

individuals receiving care. 

 Waiting lists for domiciliary care support in each part of Gwynedd because of a 

lack of provision. 

 Gaps in the provision for short term respite from caring when the individual who is 

being cared for has needs that cannot be met by voluntary/third sector support. 

 day centres have been closed during the COVID period – we have been working 

to provide alternative support on a 1:1 basis.We are reopening day centres 

gradually and in the process of remodelling day care services for older people 

developing a more local provision for a smaller number of individuals.   

 Respite care in residential homes came to an end during the COVID period as a 

result of the regulations. This provision has started again, but staffing challenges 

exist in the Council’s eleven residential homes.   

 There are areas where there is a high percentage within the population of older 

people, and a low percentage of working age population – a recruitment 

Page 229



 

138 
 

challenge and competing with other local services/younger individuals leaving the 

area for work opportunities.  

 The geography of the area contributes to the gaps, with a number dependent on 

public transport for access to appropriate support.  

Ynys Môn 

The Council are committed to supporting unpaid carers by planning for the future. 

Forward Thinking Forward Planning is a project within Carers Outreach funded by 

Local Authority. The project focuses on having conversations with a carer about their 

current and future needs. Having a conversation at the earliest possible stage allows 

time to identify and arrange any changes or adaptations they require to support the 

person they care for, and themselves as the carer.  

Gwynedd 

The learning disability service has succeeded in continuing to offer respite for 

services over the Covid period. Over the past six months we have succeeded in 

increasing this provision, introducing individuals to respite for the first time e.g. 

transition age individuals, as well as being able to offer regular stays for indivduals 

living at home with unpaid carers/family.   

The demand for counselling services provided by the third sector (Carers Outreach) 

is substantially more than the provision which is currently available.   

Day opportunities and support services are continuing to face a challenge regarding 

the staffing deficit/recruitment therefore a number of individuals are receiving less 

days/hours.   

Use of a holiday bungalow (provided by Antur Waunfawr) has been extended for 

another six months, with the offer to anyone who is caring in Gwynedd to arrange a 

free short stay. A number of carers have taken advantage of this.  

The Gwynedd community resilience work programme is looking at developing 

information hubs/community enterprises to meet needs on a local level.   

There are respite opportunities for individuals with learning disabilities available 

through the Gwynedd and Môn Shared Lives Scheme and Seren Cyf. Work is 

continuing through the community hubs mentioned above to offer opportunities and 

activities locally and also through our Llwybrau Llesiant Team.   

Page 230



 

139 
 

Denbighshire  

There is increasing demand for more flexible provision of alternative and respite care 

covering weekends, overnight or pre-planned periods such as ‘Respitality’ for older 

adults and for both children and adults with complex disabilities, to reduce carer 

breakdown, to reduce emergency admissions to residential care and to provide more 

life choices. 

Flintshire  

 Demand for respite and support for parent carers is a growing service demand, 

given the complexity of multiple health conditions some children have, as well as 

a high prevalence of children with Neurodevelopmental Conditions.  

 Sourcing respite for children and adults with complex needs, including health 

needs, remains an ongoing challenge.  

 Finding suitable Personal Assistants can be a challenge and an area that we 

need to develop as well as expanding community based support to build family 

resilience and capacity to sustain their caring role. Supporting the recruitment of 

Personal Assistants  

 Local building based respite opportunities were severely impacted by the 

pandemic, with only emergency places being offered.  

Wrexham  

Engagement with unpaid carers in Wrexham has highlighted a number of significant 

challenges since the pandemic. Action plans have been developed in partnership 

with unpaid carers and support organisations. In order to drive the agenda forward, 

funding for an Unpaid Carers Lead Officer has been secured from the Regional 

Investment Fund 22/23.  

The Unpaid Carers Direct Payment Scheme was launched in 2021/22. 31 payments 

were made last year. This enabled unpaid carers to purchase respite solutions which 

meet their needs flexibly.   

 

Market stability 
A wide range of support for unpaid carers in North Wales is grant funded or 

commissioned to third and voluntary sector organisations who have a long and 

Page 231



 

140 
 

valued history of supporting unpaid carers. The third and voluntary sector can 

effectively draw in external funding to develop services for unpaid carers to provide 

added value to service provision. However, a reliance on grant funding can put the 

sustainability of some services at risk. Some carers services in North Wales are 

commissioned regionally or sub-regionally to try to streamline the commissioning 

and reporting requirements for organisations that work across the region.  

The Population Needs Assessment identified that social value delivery models and 

added social value can be achieved through the shared experience of peer-carers, 

mutual support and reciprocity. Unpaid carers will require support to create co-

operative arrangements and commissioners will need an investment strategy that 

builds capacity beyond the market. 

It is important to have a balance of preventative services that address the health and 

wellbeing of carers and commissioned services that meet the assessed needs of 

carers. 

The commissioning of services are set against the need to respond to budgetary 

pressures that are being faced nationally, and therefore investment in sustainable 

services is key to meeting demand.  

We commission services that: 

 are flexible, accessible county wide and meet the individual needs of carers 

 are more sustainable in the long term.  

 encourage engagement with, and access to, community based activities that 

support the carer and / or the cared for person.  

 will enable carers to continue caring, including the provision of information, 

advice, peer support, training and short breaks away from the caring role.  

Gwynedd 

The domiciliary-care project is working to address the issues regarding domiciliary 

care and support for individuals in the community. The community resilience 

preventative agenda is looking at developing communities to support the 

preventative agenda.  We are also adapting the Council’s residential homes to 

create more dementia care units and day care and respite provision.   

Page 232



 

141 
 

Denbighshire 

Locally, a lot has been achieved to modernise support and ensure future services 

are commissioned with input from unpaid carers and families, to help identify ‘what 

matters’ and using Denbighshire’s asset based approach to help them find solutions. 

We encourage the creative use of direct payments and Bridging the Gap vouchers to 

support individual choice and allow unpaid carers to have a break or pursue social or 

leisure activities, with or without the cared-for person. For example, to enable unpaid 

carers to attend concerts, weddings, or pay for gym membership, flooring, new 

washing machine, training courses, driving lessons. 

Identified needs in Denbighshire include: 

 More specialist (condition specific) respite support to reflect the range of different 

needs, for example places that are suitable for people with acquired brain injury, 

stroke, dementia and other neurological conditions (in an emergency and also 

available to pre-book). 

 Community based activities/events that provide respite care and benefit unpaid 

carers, with the capacity and trained staff/volunteers to continue to support 

people with progressive conditions who require higher levels of care. 

 A wide range of flexible options including more sessional and community services 

spread across the whole of Denbighshire, especially in rural areas.  

 Both emergency crisis support to keep people living independently at home and 

out of hospital and more regular, consistent respite options that are easy to book 

in advance.  

 Group/individual support available in the evening and weekends, particularly for 

those carers who work and cannot attend support groups or access other 

services during the day.  

 Good quality information, advice and assistance about the various respite options 

available. 

Respite/short breaks work best when carers are confident with the arrangements, 

which in turn helps to reduce anxiety. The current recruitment crisis is impacting on 

providers who are finding it difficult to recruit staff and volunteers with the right skills 

and values to deliver high quality respite.  

Respite support that works best for the carer and the cared-for person includes 

meaningful activities that fit in with their interests and hobbies. Denbighshire County 

Page 233



 

142 
 

Council is promoting the development of Community Catalysts /Micro Employers and 

using additional volunteer capacity alongside commissioned services. We also 

encourage local social enterprises to run innovative projects to support unpaid 

carers. 

We await further guidance from Welsh Government about developing respitality and 

a National Short Breaks Scheme. Locally carers can book guest accommodation in 

Extra Care schemes and two recently adapted properties in Ruthin and Corwen. 

Shared Lives is also available, mainly for people with complex disabilities who are 

matched with Shared Lives families. NEWCIS and Carers Outreach have respite 

property and a caravan. 

Flintshire  

We welcome the additional funding provided by Welsh Government to scale up a 

range of respite options for Carers to meet the anticipated spike in demand for 

respite services caused by the impact of the pandemic on the mental and physical 

health of carers.  

We continue to explore flexible respite options for carers based on the outcomes the 

carer wants to achieve, alongside a meaningful activity to the cared for. 

Our focus on ensuring stability of support for unpaid carers includes; 

 Consider how micro-care can support an offer of day/ respite services. 

 Further development of our Direct Payment offer for carers.  

 Further development of Young Carers Services and the ID card. 

Page 234



 

143 
 

9. Advocacy services 
Advocacy means getting support from another person to help someone to express 

their views and wishes, and help stand up for their rights. 

All people are very different from each other. Their needs for support are different, 

and may change during their life. A variety of advocacy has developed to recognise 

these differences. 

All advocacy types are of equal value. What advocacy is used, and when, should 

depend on what is best suited to the person who seeks it. One type of advocacy is 

Independent Professional Advocacy which involves a professional, trained advocate 

working in a one-to-one partnership with an individual to ensure that their views are 

accurately conveyed and their rights upheld. 

Children and young people  
Advocacy is one of the key foundation stones in achieving our commitment to 

children’s rights, ensuring children and young people can get help when they need it 

and from people that will listen to them and represent their views. 

By law all local authorities in Wales must have advocacy services for children and 

young people to use, and that an Active Offer for advocacy must be made. Tros 

Gynnal Plant (TGP) provide advocacy services to children and young people in 

North Wales.  

When children and young people need services, sometimes an advocate is required 

to meet with them to explain what these services are. This helps them to understand 

what is on offer and how the service is able to help them. This is called an Active 

Offer.  

An active offer must be made to:  

 Children in care.  

 Young people leaving care.  

  Children and young people who need extra support.  

Councils have a statutory responsibility to provide an independent professional 

advocacy service for children and young people which complies with all regulations, 

Page 235



 

144 
 

standards, legislation, directions, code of practice, outcome framework and any 

amendments or replacements relevant to the service.  

This includes but is not limited to: 

 The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014. 

 The Service is an ‘advocacy’ service for the purpose of paragraph 7(1) of 

Schedule 1 of the Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016, 

and is accordingly a regulated service and must comply with the 

provisions/requirements set out within the Regulated Advocacy Service (Service 

Providers and Responsible Individuals) (Wales) Regulations 2019.  

 Independent Professional Advocacy: National Standards and Outcomes 

Framework for Children and Young People in Wales. 

 Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014: Part 10 Code of Practice 

(Advocacy). 

 Statutory Guidance relating to Parts 2 to 15 of The Regulated Advocacy Services 

(Service Providers and Responsible Individuals) (Wales) Regulations 2019. 

Young carers  
A common need of young carers identified by service providers is advocacy support 

to have their voices heard. 

Specific support for young carers and young adult carers has been commissioned 

across North Wales from the third sector. WCD / Credu Young Carers is 

commissioned to provide these services in Wrexham, Denbighshire and Conwy, 

NEWCIS provide the service in Flintshire and Action for Children provide the service 

across Gwynedd and Anglesey. 

Adults 
Local authorities must consider individuals’ needs for advocacy support when 

carrying out various functions involving decisions that will have a significant impact 

on the person’s day to day life, for example: 

 Assessment of needs for care and support, support for carers and preventative 

services 

 Provision of information, advice and assistance  

Page 236



 

145 
 

 Preparing, maintaining or reviewing care and support plans 

 Protecting property of persons cared for away from home 

 Determination of person’s ability to pay a charge  

 Safeguarding and duty to report adults or children at risk 

 Promoting integration of care and support with health services 

 Receiving complaints or representations about social services 

Advocacy: 

 safeguards individuals who are vulnerable, discriminated against or whom 

services find difficult to serve 

 speaks up on behalf of individuals who are unable to do so for themselves 

 empowers individuals who need a stronger voice by enabling them to express 

their own needs and make their own informed decisions 

 enables individuals to gain access to information, explore and understand their 

options, and to make their views, wishes and feelings known, and  

 actively supports people to make informed choices. 

Older people  
The Golden Thread Advocacy Programme was funded by Welsh Government for 

four years from 2016 to 2020 to run alongside and support the implementation of 

Part 10 (Advocacy) of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. The 

programme has now ended, but Age Cymru’s commitment to advocacy in Wales 

continues through the HOPE project.  

Anglesey, Gwynedd and Wrexham: North Wales Advice and Advocacy 

Association (NWAAA) offer advocacy to over 65s  

Conwy and Denbighshire: DEWIS Centre for Independent Living offer advocacy to 

anyone over 65, or any carer.  

People living with dementia (all counties): Alzheimer's Society offer support for 

anyone living with dementia, whether they have capacity or can communicate or not. 

Page 237



 

146 
 

Mental Health  
People receiving secondary mental health care may need help from an Independent 

Mental Health Advocate (The Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010) or an 

Independent Mental Capacity Advocate. 

Advocacy may be required for older people with dementia who have lost contact with 

all friends and family, or people with severe learning disabilities or long term mental 

health problems who have been in residential institutions for long periods and lack 

outside contacts.  

Other people with mental health conditions may want support from another person 

when expressing their views, or to seek advice regarding decisions that impact them.  

The following organisations provide specialist advocacy support for those with 

mental health needs; 

 The Conwy and Denbighshire Mental Health Advocacy Service (CADMHAS) 

(Conwy and Denbighshire) 

 Advocacy Services North East Wales (ASNEW) (Wrexham and Flintshire) 

 Mental Health Advocacy Scheme (Gwynedd and Anglesey)  

Learning disability 
People with a learning disability often have poorer access to health improvement and 

early treatment services; for example, cancer screening services, diabetes annual 

reviews, advice on sex and relationships and help with contraception (Harris et al., 

2016). The Learning Disability Health Liaison Service in BCUHB work across North 

Wales to raise awareness and reduce inequalities. 

Advocacy is also geared towards wellbeing outcomes. Local authorities have a duty 

to consider individuals’ needs for advocacy when carrying out assessments and care 

planning. People with a Learning Disability may need support in ensuring that their 

voices are heard and their rights upheld. 

Dewis Centre for Independent Living provide advocacy services for vulnerable adults 

aged 18 to 64, including people with learning disabilities. Anglesey also commission 

North Wales Advocacy Association (NWAA).  

Page 238



 

147 
 

Autism 
Advocacy for autistic adults, children and their carers ensures that individual rights 

are met. Advocacy can provide support in a number of ways including seeking a 

diagnosis, overcoming barriers and accessing services.  

Self-advocacy  
Additionally, there has been an appointment of a Regional Self Advocacy Officer as 

a result of a need to bring in new voices to self-advocacy groups across North 

Wales. This is being taken forward in a partnership between Conwy Connect, 

NWAAA and All Wales People First. The Self Advocacy Officer is a person with a 

learning disability and is employed by Conwy Connect. Their role is to link into local 

organisations and groups across North Wales to raise awareness and promote the 

benefits of self-advocacy to people with learning disabilities.  

  

Page 239



 

148 
 

References 
ADSS Cymru (2020) Rebalancing Social Care: A report on Children’s Services at 
ADSS Cymru. Available at: https://www.adss.cymru/en/blog/post/rebalancing-social-
care-a-report-on-children-s-services (Accessed: 24 May 2022). 

Atkinson, P.C., Crozier, D.S. and Lewis, L. (2016) Factors that affect the recruitment 
and retention of domiciliary care workers and the extent to which these factors 
impact upon the quality of domiciliary care. Welsh Government: Centre for People 
and Performance, Manchester Metropolitan University Business School. Available at: 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-07/160317-factors-
affect-recruitment-retention-domiciliary-care-workers-final-en.pdf (Accessed: 27 May 
2022). 

Care Inspectorate Wales (2019a) ‘Inspection of Older Adults Services: Isle of 
Anglesey County Council’. Available at: https://careinspectorate.wales/inspection-
older-adults-services-isle-anglesey-county-council (Accessed: 27 May 2022). 

Care Inspectorate Wales (2019b) ‘Inspection report on St David’s Children Society’. 
Available at: https://www.adoptionwales.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Inspection-
Report-St-Davids-Children-Society.pdf (Accessed: 24 May 2022). 

CSSIW (2016) ‘“Above and Beyond”: National review of domiciliary care in Wales.’ 
Care and Social Services Inspectorate Wales. Available at: 
https://careinspectorate.wales/sites/default/files/2018-
03/161027aboveandbeyonden.pdf. 

Foster Wales (2021) ‘National Fostering Framework Final Report 2018 to 2021’. 
Available at: https://www.afacymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/NFF-Final-
Report_E-2.pdf (Accessed: 20 May 2022). 

Harris, J. et al. (2016) ‘Learning disabilities and autism: a health needs assessment 
for children and adults in Cheshire and Merseyside’. Centre for Public Health, 
Liverpool John Moores University. Available at: https://www.ljmu.ac.uk/~/media/phi-
reports/pdf/2016_01_learning_disabilities_and_autism_a_health_needs_assessment
_for_children_and_adults.pdf (Accessed: 27 May 2022). 

KeyRing (2022) Where KeyRing works in Wales, KeyRing. Available at: 
https://www.keyring.org/where-we-work/wales (Accessed: 30 June 2022). 

Laing, W. (2020) ‘Care Cost Benchmarks, Financial year 2019/20 and projections for 
financial year 2020/21’. LaingBuisson Healthcare Intelligence. 

Matthews, F.E. et al. (2016) ‘A two decade dementia incidence comparison from the 
Cognitive Function and Ageing Studies I and II’, Nature Communications, Published 
online: 19 April 2016; | doi:10.1038/ncomms11398 [Preprint]. Available at: 
https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms11398. 

NICE (2021) ‘Looked-after children and young people NICE guideline [NG205]’. 
NICE. Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng205 (Accessed: 24 May 
2022). 

Page 240



 

149 
 

North Wales Adoption Service (2020) ‘Quality of Service Review: April 2020 to 
September 2020’. Available at: https://northwalesadoption.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2021/03/Quality-of-Care-report-2020.pdf (Accessed: 24 May 2022). 

ONS (2021) Care homes and estimating the self-funding population, England. 
Available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/socialc
are/articles/carehomesandestimatingtheselffundingpopulationengland/2019to2020 
(Accessed: 13 May 2022). 

Regional Partnership Board (2019) ‘Market Position Statement for children and 
young people’s residential care and fostering and secure accommodation’. Available 
at: https://www.northwalescollaborative.wales/commissioning/ (Accessed: 24 May 
2022). 

Regional Partnership Board (2020) Population Needs Assessment Rapid Review. 
Available at: https://www.northwalescollaborative.wales/north-wales-population-
assessment/rapid-review/ (Accessed: 24 May 2022). 

Regional Partnership Board (2022) ‘North Wales Population Needs Assessment’. 
Available at: https://www.northwalescollaborative.wales/north-wales-population-
assessment/ (Accessed: 19 May 2022). 

Social Care Wales (2018a) Domiciliary care staff in post, by role. Available at: 
https://www.socialcaredata.wales/IAS/themes/workforceandqualifications/socialcare
workforce/tabular?viewId=2505&geoId=141&subsetId= (Accessed: 27 May 2022). 

Social Care Wales (2018b) Social Care Staff Profile - Language. Available at: 
https://www.socialcaredata.wales/ (Accessed: 13 May 2022). 

The King’s Fund (2006) Grow Your Own, The King’s Fund. Available at: 
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/grow-your-own (Accessed: 30 June 2022). 

Wales Cooperative Centre (2021) ‘Care homes in Wales: promoting social 
enterprise’. Available at: https://wales.coop/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Care-Home-
Guide-1-final.pdf (Accessed: 18 May 2022). 

Welsh Government (2014) Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act. Available at: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents (Accessed: 9 August 2016). 

Welsh Government (2016) Domiciliary Care Workforce: Improving the recruitment 
and retention of Domiciliary Care workers in Wales. Consultation Document 
WG27421. Welsh Government. Available at: https://gov.wales/domiciliary-care-
workforce. 

Welsh Government (2020) ‘2018-based local authority population projections for 
Wales’. Available at: https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-
Migration/Population/Projections (Accessed: 24 May 2022). 

Welsh Government (2021a) ‘Market stability reports: code of practice’. Available at: 
https://gov.wales/market-stability-reports-code-practice (Accessed: 17 May 2022). 

Page 241



 

150 
 

Welsh Government (2021b) Mid-year population estimates. Available at: 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-
Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority. 

Welsh Government (2021c) ‘Written Statement: Rebalancing Care and Support 
White Paper- next steps (29 October 2021)’. Available at: https://gov.wales/written-
statement-rebalancing-care-and-support-white-paper-next-steps (Accessed: 17 May 
2022). 

 

Page 242



Appendix 2 

1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LOCAL MARKET STABILITY REPORT 

FOR ANGLESEY LOCAL AUTHORITY 

AREA 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 243



Appendix 2 

2 

 

Contents 
LOCAL MARKET STABILITY REPORT FOR ANGLESEY LOCAL AUTHORITY AREA ..... 1 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ........................................................................................................................ 3 

CHAPTER 1 – TYPE OF REGULATED PROVISION: Care Home Services (Adult) .................................... 6 

CHAPTER 2 – TYPE OF REGULATED PROVISION: Care Home Services (Children) ............................. 24 

CHAPTER 3 – TYPE OF REGULATED PROVISION: Secure Accommodation Services (Children) ........ 34 

CHAPTER 4 – TYPE OF REGULATED PROVISION: Residential Family Centre Services ....................... 37 

CHAPTER 5 – TYPE OF REGULATED PROVISION: Adoption Services ................................................. 42 

CHAPTER 6 – TYPE OF REGULATED PROVISION: Fostering Services ................................................. 49 

CHAPTER 7 – TYPE OF REGULATED PROVISION: Adult Placement (‘Shared Lives’) Services ............ 61 

CHAPTER 8 – TYPE OF REGULATED PROVISION: Advocacy Services ................................................. 66 

CHAPTER 9 – TYPE OF REGULATED PROVISION: Domiciliary Care Support Services ........................ 75 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 244



Appendix 2 

3 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

Key Market Sufficiency Factors  
 

1. Care Home Services (Adult) 
Demand for care home placements is likely to increase 
2. Care Home Services (Children) 
There are sufficiency issues with finding placements for children with particular needs 
including respite care, young offenders, refugees, immigrants, asylum seekers, young 
parents, sibling groups and emergency situations 

3. Secure Accommodation Services (Children) 
There is no secure accommodation provision for children in Anglesey or North Wales. There 
are no plans to extend this provision in North Wales. Market sufficiency therefore is not 
relevant for Isle of Anglesey County Council. 
4. Residential Family Centre Services 
There was insufficient demand to justify commissioning a full-time residential family centre 
unit. Current capacity is adequately fulfilled. 
5. Adoption Services 
Working regionally with the North Wales Adoption Service provides a regional adoption 
service on behalf of the Isle of Anglesey County Council. This helps find new families more 
effectively, place children quicker and improve adoption support services. 
6. Fostering Services 
The Market Position Statement (Regional Partnership Board, 2019) identified sufficiency 
issues with finding placements for children with particular needs including: 

 Respite care 

 Young offenders 

 Refugees, immigrants, asylum seekers 

 Young parents  

 Sibling groups 

 Emergency situations 

The stability of the workforce is an issue, with increasing demand for placements and the 
number of placements projected to not meet with the forecast demand.  

7. Adult Placement (‘Shared Lives’) Services 
Due to the pandemic, take up has been slow and the project has been extended a further 
12 months. 
8. Advocacy Services 
Based on the latest data, the Advocacy provision is sufficient and provides quality care and 
support to meet demand. Trained staff provide quality care and support  
9. Domiciliary Care 
Demand for services is currently exceeding supply due to shortage of domiciliary care 
providers, both external and internal. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 245



Appendix 2 

4 

 

Key Market Stability Factors 
 

1. Care Home Services (Adult) 
Overview of units available  
A total of 118 Extra Care units are all currently occupied and 71 units of Supported 
Accommodation are all currently occupied. Demand currently outweighs capacity in regards 
to Extra Care and Supported Accommodation. 
Extra Care Housing demand 
Demand for Extra Care Housing outweighs current capacity. 
2. Care Home Services (Children) 
The number of children receiving care and support has increased 

Children who are care experienced were more vulnerable to the pandemic 
There is an increase in newly accommodated looked after children and young people 

There is a shortage of local residential providers  

There is a shortage of specialist provision for children and young people with complex 
behavioural and emotional needs 
There is a shortage of emergency accommodation   
The stability of the children’s care home services workforce is an issue, with increasing 
demand for placements and the number of placements projected to not meet with the 
forecast demand.  

3. Secure Accommodation Services (Children) 
Market stability is not relevant for Isle of Anglesey County Council. 
4. Residential Family Centre Services 
There was insufficient demand to justify commissioning a full-time residential family centre 
unit. Current capacity is adequately fulfilled. 
5. Adoption Services 
It is worth noting that the service has undergone significant transformation since 2020, 
therefore it is difficult to compare local data and it does not reflect the service now. 
6. Fostering Services 
The challenges to the stability of fostering services in North Wales and Wales as a whole 
listed below: 

 Recruitment and retention issues 

 Placements for children with particular needs including; respite care, young offenders, 
refugees/immigrants/asylum seekers, young parents, sibling groups and emergency 
situations. 

 It is estimated that Wales will need 550 new foster parents every year to meet demand. 
7. Adult Placement (‘Shared Lives’) Services 
The support provided is sufficient and is flexible and tailored to the individual’s personal 
needs. 
8. Advocacy Services 
The service provided seems to be sufficient. 
9. Domiciliary Care 
Post pandemic, the recruitment and retention of staff remains an issue with the staff turnover 
rate in Social Services having increased during 2021/22. 
There is an increasing demand for services, but budgets along with inflationary pressures 
are struggling to keep up with this demand. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 246



Appendix 2 

5 

 

Report Prepared by:. 
 

 
Fôn Roberts, Director of Social Services and Head of Children & Families Services 
Arwel Owen, Head of Adult Services 
Emrys Bebb, Programme Manager 
Saul Ainsworth, Interim Service Manager 
Ceri H. Jones, Service Manager Learning Disabilities and Mental Health 
Rachel Williams, Service Manager 
Llyr ap Rhisiart, Service Manager Early intervention and prevention 
Olwenna Davey, Interim Service Manager (Older People and Younger Adults) 
 
 

,  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 247



Appendix 2 

6 

 

CHAPTER 1 – TYPE OF REGULATED PROVISION: Care Home Services (Adult) 

 

SECTION 1A – MARKET SUFFICIENCY 
 

 
Demand for care home placements is likely to increase 
The population assessment shows that the number of people aged over 65 on Anglesey 
increased by 18.5% between 2011 and 2020 and is projected to increase by a further 17.2% 
to 2040. This is likely to increase the demand for care home services. The table below 
shows the expected change is slightly less than the regional and national figures for Wales. 
 
Table 1: Estimated number of people aged over 65 in 2020 and projected number in 2040 

Area 
2020 

number  

2040 

number 

Change 

number 

Change 

percent 

Anglesey 18,650 22,500 3,850 17.2% 

North Wales 164,700 207,600 42,900 20.7% 

Wales 668,600 850,750 182,150 21.4% 

Source: Mid-year 2020 population estimates, Office for National Statistics; and 2018-based 
population projections, Welsh Government 
 

The increasing population of older people is not the only factor affecting demand. There are 
also changes in expectations and policy which mean demand may not increase at the same 
rate as the total population. For example, demand will change as people are supported to 
live in their own homes for longer, or take up extra care accommodation to retain 
independence with the option of receiving support as needed. 
  
Table 2: Current number of adult care homes by type and area (all ages) 

Area Residential Residential 

with mental 

health 

Nursing Nursing with 

mental 

health 

Total 

Anglesey 20 0 4 0   24 

North Wales  111   42   35   12   90 

Most homes have some mental health beds and these have not been separated out.  

Table 3: Current number of permanent care home placements available to older people 

Area (a) Residential Residential 

with mental 

health 

Nursing Nursing 

with mental 

health 

Total 

Anglesey 423 0 190 0  613 

North Wales 3,077 1,075 1,320  475 5,947 

(a) The categories of care have become more fluid since the introduction of the 

Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016 so these categories are 

Page 248



Appendix 2 

7 

 

only illustrative of the split between types of care. Most homes have some mental 

health beds so these have not been separated out.  

 

The over 65 population on Anglesey is projected to increase from 26.4% of the island’s 
population to 32.4% by 2040. This could lead to an increasing number of people 
experiencing age related conditions such as chronic physical and sensory diseases, 
dementia and falls. All of these have a potential negative impact on people’s overall well-
being and in turn is likely to increase the demand on services. This is borne out by statistics 
such as the number of people aged 65+ admitted to hospital due to a fall has increased. 
 
In 2015, the number was 450. However, by 2020 this figure had increased to 501. 
 
Current Care Home provision 
 
The number of registered beds by sector has also increased since the previous 
Population Needs Assessment. In 2015, there were 614 beds (Local council - 162; 
Independent/ Private Sector - 452; Voluntary/ third sector - 0). The overall amount has 
increased by 10, in 2020, to a total of 624 (Local council - 161; Independent/ Private sector 
- 463; Voluntary/ third sector - 0). 

 
Table 4 

Year Local council Independent/ 
Private Sector 

Voluntary/ third 
sector 

Total 

2015 162 
26% 

452 
74% 

0 614 

2020 161 
26% 

463 
74% 

0 624 

 
 

The number of registered beds by county has seen a sharp increase since 2016. In 2016, 
there was a total of 614 beds (Residential - 344; Residential Mental Health - 90; General 
Nursing – 124; Nursing Mental Health – 56). By 2020, there was a total of 755 beds (Housing 
with care - 117; Residential Care - 441; Nursing Care - 177). 
 
What we know about the population 

 

 We know that the number of people aged 65 + has increased from 17,000 in 2015, 
to 18,639 in 2020.  

 Coinciding with the above, the number of people aged 85+ has also increased. 
The number of people aged 85+ on Anglesey stood at 2,200 in 2015 but in 2020 
there were 2,403 people who come under this bracket. 
 
Table 5 

Year No. of people 
aged 65+ 

No. of people 
aged 85+ 

2015 17,000 2,200 

2020 18,639 2,403 

 

 We know that the number of people aged 65+ and receiving services has 
increased since 2015. In 2015, the number of people who fell in to this category was 
1,200. For 2020, the number stands at 1,488.  

 The number of people aged 65+ receiving domiciliary care (hours of 
domiciliary care being received) was 340 in 2015, with 3,900 hours of care 
provided per week (average of 11 hours per week). For 2020, the number had 

Page 249



Appendix 2 

8 

 

declined with 316 people over the age of 65 receiving domiciliary care. This has also 
meant that 3,760 hours a week of care is provided on average per week (however 
the average hours per week, per client has increased to an average of 12 hours per 
week, per client).  

 The number of people aged 65+ with dementia has stayed more or less the same 
since 2015. In 2015, the figure was 1,300. By 2020, there was slight increase to 
1,305. 

 The number of registered beds, for each 100+ people aged 65+ has declined, 
however the average number of beds in each home has increased. In 2015, the 
number of homes stood at 23, the number of beds was 611 and the average beds 
in each home was 27. By 2020, the number homes was 19, the number of beds was 
576, however the average number of beds in each home was 30.  
 
Table 6 

Year No. of homes No. of registered 
beds 

Average no. of 
beds in each 

home 

2015 23 611 27 

2020 19 576 30 

 
 

 In 2015, the number of registered beds, for each 100 people aged 65+ showed 
that in total there was 3.5 beds per 100 people aged 65+. With 2.5 of those places 
coming from residential places and the remaining 1 coming from nursing places. In 
2020 however the stats we were able to gather were not the same as those of 2015, 
but still helped create an overview of the situation. The total number of beds stood 
at 9.3. With 5.4 of those beds falling under residential care, 1.4 coming from housing 
care and 2.2 coming from nursing care.  

 
 
SUPPORTED LIVING 
 
In January 2020, a review was undertaken in respect of wellbeing, independence and to 
assess how connected tenants are to their estate & communities. This review was also in 
place to inform Tai Môn on tenants accommodation satisfaction levels and support future 
Council housing development within sheltered and OAP schemes.  
 
Local Context 
 
The table below shows that Anglesey will face an increase in older people way in excess of 
the national average. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 250



Appendix 2 

9 

 

Table 7 
 

 

Number & % of people 65 + 

(2012) 

Number & % of people 65 + 

(2036) 

Wales 585,149 19.02% 869,846 26.09% 

Isle of 

Anglesey 
16,277 23.27% 22,199 32.62% 

Gwynedd 25,990 21.34% 33,377 25.31% 

Conwy 29,179 25.27% 40,725 35.32% 

Denbighshire 20,539 21.78% 30,368 29.92% 

Flintshire 28,452 18.59% 44,775 28.97% 

Wrexham 24,002 17.60% 38,804 23.73% 

 
In 2019, Housing LIN were commissioned by the Welsh Government to undertake research 
and provide an independent assessment of the demand for specialist housing and 
accommodation needs of older people up to 2035. 
 
Assumptions made by Housing LIN are based on local evidence, which are applied to 
estimate the future demand of housing and accommodation needs on Anglesey. 
 
The below shows the current older people’s housing and accommodation on the Isle of 
Anglesey expressed as a prevalence per 1,000 people aged 75+, the Welsh equivalent 
prevalence and the 2035 estimated prevalence rates. 
 
Table 8 

 Current 
beds / units 

Current 
prevalence 

rate 

Welsh 
prevalence 

rate 

2035 estimated 
prevalence 

rate 

Housing for 
older people 

755 93 106 94 

Housing with 
care 

117 14 10 20 

Residential 
care 

441 54 38 36 

Nursing care 
 

177 22 36 25 

 
Anglesey’s estimated future housing demand by 2035. Current provision is subtracted from 
estimated future demand to identify the estimated shortfall for different types of older 
people’s housing and accommodation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 251



Appendix 2 

10 

 

 Table 9 

 Current 
provision 

Units / beds 

2025 2030 2035 

Housing for 
older people 

1,381  966 1,061 1,146 

Housing with 
care (Extra Care) 

117 166 203 244 

Residential care 441 441 441 441 

Nursing care 177 239 271 305 

 
 
Anglesey’s net demand (shortfall in units / beds) by 2035: 
Table 10 

 2025 2030 2035 

Housing for Older people 211 306 391 

For rent 137 199 254 

For sale 74 107 137 

Housing with Care 49 86 127 

For rent 32 56 82 

For sale 17 30 44 

Residential care 0 0 0 

Nursing care 62 94 128 

 
In summary, this indicates that the estimated net requirements for the Isle of 
Anglesey to 2035 are: 

- Housing for older people: 391 units of which 254 for rent and 137 for sale 
- Of the 254 units for rent, approximately 50% (127) age designated social housing 

and approximately 50% (127) contemporary sheltered housing 
- Housing with care: 127 units of which 82 for rent and 44 for sale 
- Approximately 3% of these rented housing with care units (2) are suggested for 

use as step up/step down units 
- Residential care: ±0 beds 
- Nursing care: 128 beds 

 
Estimated shortfall in specialist accommodation for older people, by type and 
tenure, in each local authority and across Wales in total, by 2030. 
 
Table 11 

 Age 
designa

ted 
social 

housing 
for rent 
(units) 

Contempo
rary 

sheltered 
housing 
for rent 
(units) 

Retirem
ent 

housing 
for sale 
(units) 

Housi
ng 

with 
care 
for 

social 
rent 

(units
) 

Housi
ng 

with 
care 
for 

sale 
(units

) 

Step 
up / 
step 
down 
housi

ng 
(units

) 

Residen
tial care 

beds 
(units) 

Nursi
ng 

care 
beds 
(units

) 

Uni
ts  

100 100 107 55 30 1 0 94 

 
 
 
 

Page 252



Appendix 2 

11 

 

 

Recommendations:  
- Older persons’ accommodation strategy to inform future demand, funding and 

how we aim to meet this projected increase  
- Need to formulate an inter-departmental group Adult & Housing Services in 

order to forward plan this demand 
 

 

SECTION 1B – MARKET STABILITY  
 

 
Summary 
 
Overview of units available (occupied / unoccupied) 
A total of 118 Extra Care units are all currently occupied and 71 units of Supported 
Accommodation are all currently occupied. 
 
Capacity / Demand overview 
Demand currently outweighs capacity in regards to Extra Care and Supported 
Accommodation. 
 
Extra Care Housing demand 
Demand for Extra Care Housing outweighs current capacity. There are currently 12 on the 
waiting list. 
 
Providers 
As stated above, even though the number of registered beds by sector has increased 
since the previous Population Needs Assessment, the provider base has remained stable 
with the Isle of Anglesey County Council providing 26% of the beds, whilst the remainder 
(74%) is provided by the Independent/ Private Sector. 

 
Table 12 

Year Local council Independent/ 
Private Sector 

Voluntary/ third 
sector 

Total 

2015 162 
26% 

452 
74% 

0 614 

2020 161 
26% 

463 
74% 

0 624 

 
Individuals who need care and support have a say in their care and support by means of 
surveys sent to them. Several surveys have been sent out in recent years: 

• An internal survey was sent to all sheltered and OAP housing tenants (1,200 in 
total) with 445 of the surveys being returned either completed, or partially 
completed. This equates to a 35% response rate.  

• Regional engagement survey 
• Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey 
• National Survey for Wales 
• A survey by Mind Cymru (June 2020) 
 

Action Taken Due to Provider Failure 
 

 
Identifying escalating concerns within care homes is part of the Council’s quality assurance 
process, with the process leading to improvements in service. As of July 2022, there are no 
providers under escalating concerns. 

Page 253



Appendix 2 

12 

 

SECTION 1C – OTHER MARKET STABILITY FACTORS  
 

Consideration of Market Quality 
 

 
When asked what people felt was working well at the moment from an older people 
perspective, the majority of the respondents felt that the care they were being offered by 
staff had been very good. One respondent explained how weekly clubs, whereby people 
living with dementia are able to meet for a cup of tea without the assistance of a carer was 
something that they found pleasure in doing. The club allows individual’s to enjoy each 
other’s company, whilst carers are given the opportunity to receive peer support. Another 
respondent echoed the good work that is provided to those who live with dementia. They 
felt that the service being provided in Hafan Day centre for people with dementia had greatly 
benefitted the user, whilst allowing the carer a needed break.  
 
To add to the above point, respondents highlighted the good use of networking and 
communication that was being employed within the care homes across the island. One 
respondent noted that there was a good level of communication between key stakeholders, 
meaning that people are fully aware of what the day-to-day issues are. Another 
respondent’s response concurred with this, expressing that there is support to allow people 
the option of engaging with services and their communities – both online and offline.  
 
Responders to the regional engagement survey who have sensory difficulties said that they 
thought that the Accessible Health Service and BCUHB's diversity work is working well, as 
well as the provision of aids, adaptations and the befriending service offered by the Live 
Well with Hearing Loss project. A service provider commented that partnership work with 
local social service departments and third sector organisations is strong, which supports 
delivery of a wide range of quality services, networking and sharing good practice. 
 

Current and Projected Trends 
 

 
The trends in provision on Anglesey are as follows: 
 
Post pandemic, the recruitment and retention of staff remains an issue with the staff turnover 
rate in Social Services having increased in 2021/22. 
There is an increasing demand for services but budgets along with inflationary pressures 
are struggling to keep up with this demand.  
 
The rate of older people (65+) in Residential Care Homes has decreased in the last 2 years 
as older people are staying at home longer with a support package. When they do need a 
care home placement their needs are more complex and require more intense intervention. 
 

Impact of Commissioning practices on the market 
 

 
Anglesey Council has systems in place to support and liaise with providers, including 
regular meetings and discussions with providers and support with training and resources.  
 

Supported Living 
 

North Wales commissioners from the six local councils and health board worked together 
to develop a Supported Living Framework which went live on 1 April 2020. Multiple service 
providers have already been admitted to the framework agreement following the requisite 

Page 254



Appendix 2 

13 

 

due diligence and quality checks. This enables commissioners to commission services 
adopting the framework agreement which can streamline processes while remaining in 
accordance with relevant legislation and the local authority Contract Procedure Rules. 
 

Provision of service in the Welsh Language 
 

 
The Welsh language skills of Social Services workforce were analysed in 2022 and the 
results were as follows: 
 
Adults 

      
Number of staff in the service: 422 

     
Number of returns 422 

     
Percentage returns: 100% 

     
Table 13 

      
Level L0 L1 L2 L3 L4 L5 

Number 19 41 31 20 57 254 

Percentage 5% 10% 7% 5% 14% 60% 

       

       
Childrens 

      
Number of staff in the service: 238 

     
Number of returns: 238 

     
Percentage returns: 100% 

     
Table 14 

      
Level L0 L1 L2 L3 L4 L5 

Number 8 6 14 12 52 146 

Percentage 3% 3% 6% 5% 22% 61% 

 
A total of 74% of the staff in the Adults section speak Welsh to at least level 4 (Able to speak 
the language in the majority of situations using some Welsh / English words). In the 
Childrens section the corresponding percentage was 83%. 
 
This meets the demand for care provision in Welsh. 
 
Review of services currently provided 
Strategic Equality Plan 2020-2024 – Priorities / Actions - Progress as at December 
2020 

 During 2020, presentations regarding implementation of the Welsh Language 
Standards, and communication and customer care (including the requirement to 
make the proactive offer of a service through the medium of Welsh to all 
customers) have been delivered at staff conferences. 

Page 255



Appendix 2 

14 

 

 Raising awareness of More than Just Words and the Welsh Language Standards 
continues to be a required element of all departmental staff inductions. 

 All staff on the email system have been sent a written reminder of the importance 
of answering telephones bilingually. 

 Ways of monitoring the recording of the Active Offer and language choice of 
service users by deriving statistics from the electronic case records system are 
being developed, in order for performance in relation to the recording of this to be 
monitored. 

 Services continue to monitor and ensure that there are sufficient Welsh-speaking 
staff across all areas of the Services in order to be able to provide Welsh-medium 
services across all areas. 
 

Services continue to encourage staff who are learning Welsh to participate in relevant 
training in order to develop their language skills. 

 Mwy na Geiriau  
 
The Welsh Language Training programme is available to staff who wish to learn, 
improve or develop confidence in their Welsh Language abilities.  A range of Welsh 
Language Development resources have been offered over the past year; including 
residential ‘Learn Welsh’ courses; weekly lessons; online self-study and confidence 
building sessions. A Welsh Language Awareness workshop was arranged for the 
Social Work Students and Occupational Trainees as part of their induction which 
included a presentation and opportunity for everyone to share experiences and 
reflect. 
 
A new page has been created on our Learning Pool to assist in promoting and to 
showcase all the options available to all staff and partnership members. 

 

Sustainability of provision 
 

 
The provider base has remained stable since 2015 with the Isle of Anglesey County Council 
providing 26% of the beds, whilst the remainder (74%) is provided by the Independent/ 
Private Sector. 
 

Risks to market stability 
 

 
Risks to market stability 

 The increasing population of older people. These in turn could lead to an increasing 
number of people experiencing age related conditions such as chronic physical and 
sensory diseases, dementia and falls. This could have a potential negative impact 
on people’s overall well-being and in turn is likely to increase the demand on services 
 

 Changes in expectations and policy which mean demand may not increase at the 
same rate as the total population. 

 

 Recruitment and retention of social care workers. 
 

 Increase to the cost of living. 
 

 Since the beginning of 2022, the rate of inflation has increased at a faster rate and 
higher than the rate of increase for fees that are paid to care home providers. 
Utilities, fuel and insurance costs have also increased dramatically. This is proving 

Page 256



Appendix 2 

15 

 

very challenging for many providers, who, after managing through the pandemic, 
are finding it difficult to absorb these costs at a time when government financial 
support for COVID-19 has stopped. 

 

SECTION 1D – NON-REGULATED PROVISION [PREVENTATIVE SERVICES, STEP-
DOWN FROM A SECURE PLACEMENT, OR MOVING ON ARRANGEMENTS SUCH 
AS WHEN I AM READY etc] 
 

 
Linc Cymunedol Môn is the Single Point Of Access for Third Sector Information, Advice and 
Assistance. Linc Cymunedol Môn is also the referral point for the Anglesey social 
prescribing project which is based within Medrwn Môn. The team have four Local Asset 
Coordinators who work across Anglesey, will have a ‘What Matters’ conversation with the 
individual that requires support, and having had that conversation they will agree on a plan 
of action to help the individual achieve what’s important to them. Many people who have 
benefitted from the service were lonely, isolated, or widowed. Having said that, the service 
provides a variety of support for a wide range of people.  
 
The Community Hub Model is well established on Anglesey. A Community Hub is a multi-
purpose community resource that provides access to support and a range of services that 
have been selected to meet the needs of the local community. It also provides a focal point 
and facilities to encourage and enable greater local community activity and bring residents 
together to improve the quality of life in their areas. The next stage of the work is ensuring 
that as many of our Community Hubs on Anglesey are accessible to all, and that activities 
and events provide opportunities for integration. Currently the Community Hubs have a 
range activities across Anglesey which support the prevention work by ensuring social 
interaction and increased participation. Just some of the examples are, Men’s Shed, 
Friendship Groups, Dementia Actif, IT Classes, History Groups, Arts and Crafts. Local 
Authority also fund the post of Anglesey Community Hub Liaison and Support Officer at Age 
Cymru Gwynedd a Môn.  
 
Forward Thinking Forward Planning is a project within Carers Outreach funded by Local 
Authority. The project focuses on having conversations with a carer about their current and 
future needs. Having a conversation at the earliest possible stage allows time to identify 
and arrange any changes or adaptations they require to support the person they care for, 
and themselves as the carer.  
 
The Benllech & District Good Turn Scheme was originally formed in August 2000 and its 
main aim was to motivate local people to help local people. Over 20 years later, the scheme 
goes from strength to strength, providing community transport for local residents to attend 
medical, leisure, and social appointments. Not only does the scheme support individuals to 
attend their appointments, but the phone conversation to arrange the journey, and the car 
journey itself provides valuable interaction for both service user and volunteer. The Benllech 
Good Turn Scheme have also added a befriending telephone service to support individuals 
who wish to receive a phone call from a volunteer.  
 
Falls Prevention  
Our Môn Actif team provide a variety of physical activity classes for older people, that 
include Falls Prevention, Free Swimming, Chair Exercises. Increasing activity in older 
people can reverse physical decline and frailty, and help people to live independently as 
they get older. It also seeks to educate and empower people with the skills and knowledge 
to understand the benefits of being active as well as including the social element which is 
equally important. The sessions are conducted at our Leisure Centres, Community hubs, 
as well as online.  

Page 257



Appendix 2 

16 

 

 
Dementia Centre  
We are currently working in partnership with Carers Trust and Mencap Môn to establish a 
Dementia Centre at the Mencap Hub, making it a multi-use hub that supports the 
implementation of the North Wales Dementia Action Plan here on Anglesey.   
 
Digital Inclusion 
Digital exclusion was highlighted at the beginning of the pandemic, and therefore The Isle 
of Anglesey County Council have invested significantly in support services and devices that 
are available for Community Hubs and Groups to promote Digital Inclusion. Once again, 
through the Regional Integrated Fund we have been able to fund the My Health Online post 
at Medrwn Môn. The post supports people to arrange and access appointments online, but 
also increases people’s skills to find more information online that will support their health 
and well-being.  
 
In partnership with Age Cymru Gwynedd a Môn and Medrwn Môn, the Isle of Anglesey 
County Council have created the ‘CYMUNED’ Website, which is a virtual village hall. 
CYMUNED provides information about Hub activities on Anglesey, and it’s also a platform 
for partners to share both information and activities. We will aim to share information about 
the accessibility of each Hub in the near future.  
 
Promoting and actively encouraging age friendly workplaces 
Through our Age Friendly Communities work, we will provide information sessions and 
presentations to promote and actively encourage work places to be age friendly. Raising 
awareness and supporting work places to make positive changes that will support the 
increasing number of older workers and carers in our workforce.  
 
We will work with Carers Wales and other Carer groups to deliver awareness sessions to 
employers on Anglesey about the benefits of having a Carers Policy within the organisation 
 

 

SECTION 1E - OTHER CONSIDERATIONS AFFECTING THE MARKET 
 
Social value 
 

 
Social value and preventative services 
 

The concept of social value includes the following. 
 

The value experienced by the users of a service, delivering ‘what matters’ and co-
producing services with people who use them. 

 

The added social, environmental or economic value a contract can provide over and 
above the core requirements. 

 

The duty local councils have to promote social care and preventative services 
provided by social enterprises, co-operatives, co-operative arrangements, user led 
services, and the third sector (Welsh Government, 2014). 

 

The Wales Cooperative Centre (2021) has produced a guide to raise awareness of 
potential social enterprise and co-operative models in the care home sector. 
 

We want to promote ‘social value models of delivery’ that: 

Page 258



Appendix 2 

17 

 

 

Achieve well-being outcomes. 
 

Work co-productively – giving users a strong voice and real control. 
Have a preventative and dependency-reducing orientation. 

 

Incorporate collaboration, co-operation and partnership. 
Add value - social, economic and environmental. 

 

As well as to promote activities that maintain or strengthen the well-being of unpaid carers 
and community capacity beyond the market – without which the market cannot be stable. 
 
Each county supports a range of preventative services which can help people to remain 
in their homes and avoid the need for residential or nursing care. This includes regional 
projects funded through the Integrated Care Fund (ICF) including falls prevention projects 
and step up / step down care. ‘Step up’ is an intermediate care function to receive patients 
from home/community settings to prevent unnecessary acute hospital admissions or 
premature admissions to long term care. ‘Step down’ is an intermediate care function to 
receive patients from acute care for rehabilitation and to support timely discharge from 
hospital. 
 

Projects include; community agents, navigator and social prescribing projects which link 
people up to support and activities available in their local community. They also include; 
befriending, advocacy and respite services. 
 

The Micro Care and Community Catalysts projects provides support to micro providers to 
enter the care markets. Direct payments are used to help people access personal care and 
live as independently as possible. 
 
See section 1D above for preventative services. 
 
 

Resources 
 

 
Many users feel that the shift to digital support has been a welcome change. One 
respondent noted that through having more methods of programme delivery, people are 
now more open to utilising IT options. Another respondent agreed with this point. They 
explained that during lockdown a number of statutory services which people attended 
closed down. However, there was a huge effort in the third sector to go online, and more 
so, ensure that they were able to get people with disabilities to get online and feel 
comfortable in doing so. The respondent believed that a hybrid approach is now the future, 
and that by helping people maintain their wellbeing (reducing isolation and loneliness) when 
providing support will be very important in the long run.  
 
Responders to the regional engagement survey said that they thought that the Accessible 
Health Service and BCUHB's diversity work is working well, as well as the provision of aids, 
adaptations and the befriending service offered by the Live Well with Hearing Loss project. 
A service provider commented that partnership work with local social service departments 
and third sector organisations is strong, which supports delivery of a wide range of quality 
services, networking and sharing good practice. 
 

- Additionally and due to Covid-19, shielding households have relied heavily on local 
volunteers to support with shopping and have had to therefore, adapt their shopping 
list and budgets to ensure they were able to be supported.  

Page 259



Appendix 2 

18 

 

Direct payments 
 

 
Contracts are tendered through the regional framework or commissioned through direct 
payments.   
 
Further developments are underway to boost recruitment and arm individuals with 
information in regards to the benefits of choice and control. Work in regards to worker and 
service user co-operatives is being developed. This will strengthen the direct payments 
network on the island. 
 

Self-funders 
 

 
The total number of people who fund their own care home placements across North Wales 
is not available for every county due to differing Council policy. However, the figure for 
Anglesey can be seen in the table below: 
  
Table 15 

Provider  Vacant  LA  Other 
LA 

(region) 

Other LA 
(national) 

 Non 
welsh 
LA’s  

Welsh 
Health 
Boards 

Self 
funders  

Care Home 
1(YM only)  

2 14 3 0 1 17 15 

Care Home 2 
(YM + Gwy)  

0 12 2 0 1 0 7 

Dom Care 
provider  

0 108 2 0 0 10 6 

Total  2 134 7 0 2 27 28 

 

Placements relate to provision in care homes, packages of care relate to provision in 
supported living.  

 

Workforce 
 

 
IoACC workforce 

 
Below is a table showing the staff turnover within the Adults and Childrens sections of Social 
Services compared to the average for the Authority: 
 
Table 16 

 Staff turnover 

Service 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 Average 

Adults 6% 12% 10% 8% 14% 10% 

Childrens 18% 10% 11% 6% 15% 12% 

Authority Average 11% 11% 9% 6% 10% 9% 

 
In general, staff turnover has been higher within the Children’s section than within the Adults 
section but the average for both sections are higher than the average for the Authority. The 
staff turnover rate decreased in 2019/20 and 2020/21 which may be due to the pandemic. 

Page 260



Appendix 2 

19 

 

However in 2021/22, the staff turnover rate increased in both sections which in turn likely 
contributed to the increased staff turnover rate for the Authority.   
 
The comparatively high staff turnover rate for 2021/22 may be due to staff deciding to move 
on after the pandemic and may be indicative of a problem with staff retention.  
 
Age profile 
 
Below is a table of IoACC’s Social Services staff: 

 
Table 17 

Service 16-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65+ 
No. of staff 

31.03.22 

Adults 5 27 30 29 18 2 111 

% 5% 24% 27% 26% 16% 2%  

Provider 14 49 43 82 138 27 353 

% 4% 14% 12% 23% 39% 8%  

Children’s 32 79 52 56 29 3 251 

% 13% 31% 21% 22% 12% 1%  

 
The age profile of the Adults Services staff shows that 77% of staff are between 35 and 64 
years of age. This can be seen from the sunburst chart below: 

 
 
The average age of staff in the Adults service is 45 years of age. 
 
Provider Service 
However, the age profile of the Provider Service staff is different with almost half the staff 
(47%) being 55 years of age or over. A total of 39% of staff are aged between 55 and 64. 
This could lead to staff shortages in the near future when the members of staff in the 55-64 
age group retire  
 
 

Page 261



Appendix 2 

20 

 

 
 
 
 
Childrens 
 
The age profile of the Childrens Service staff is somewhat younger than the Provider 
Service staff. Almost two thirds off the staff (65%) are aged between 16 and 44. 

 
The average age of staff in the Childrens Service is 40 years of age. 
 
Table 18 

Section Average age 

Adults 45 

Childrens 40 

Provider 50 

 
Succession planning and recruitment and retention of staff are issues that need to be 
addressed. 
 
In the MSR provider survey, respondents revealed the issues they’re currently facing with 
the recruitment and retention of their workforce. These are: 

Page 262



Appendix 2 

21 

 

 
Low rate of pay 
The level of skills needed to work with adults with learning disabilities when they have 
challenging behaviour and mental health needs is way above the rate of pay. Pay levels in 
the sector are low, the amount of staff available to fill the hours paid for, need to be extremely 
diverse in their abilities. There is not enough money to be able to get staff that specialise in 
part of the tasks needed like a co-ordinator and a cook. All staff need to be able to do all 
the tasks between them but ideally, individually too so the residents call always have their 
needs met.  
 
Rising cost of fuel 
Other employment paying a higher rate of pay. Long hours, increased pressure on staff due 
to absence / sickness / Covid and general shortage of staff available.  
 
Rural area 
Recruitment is always a challenge, especially social workers as  the areas we cover are the 
whole of North Wales across all six Local Authorities as well as North Powys. 
 
 

WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT 2021-22 
 

How we do what we do – Our Workforce and how we support their professional 
roles 

 
The Workforce Development Unit continues to administer the Social Care Wales Workforce 
Development Programme (SCWWDP) grant to provide Training and Development 
opportunities for Social Services and the wider Social Care Partnership on Anglesey.   
 
National, Regional and Local priorities are taken into account when planning development 
opportunities for the workforce and every opportunity is taken to work in partnership with 
our neighbouring Local Authorities, NHS and other Agencies in order to deliver on the plan.  
Key supported priority areas are as noted within the Social Care Wales Annual Circular. 
 
The plan formulated for 2021/2022 was again impacted due to the pandemic, however the 
well-established remote digital training methods introduced in the previous year had proved 
invaluable to ensure continuation of learning events.  Due to the restrictions in the ability to 
offer face to face/classroom sessions a few key programmes were however affected and 
limited i.e. digital skills; health and safety; manual handling etc.  
 
Summary 
As we move forward, it’s essential that we continue to ensure that relevant and timely 
learning and development opportunities are offered to staff across the Social Care sector 
so that the workforce have the skills, qualities and abilities to provide the necessary level 
and quality of service. 
 
In noting this, it is also essential to ensure that well-being initiatives remain a focus in the 
forthcoming plan in order to maintain and develop resilience.  A key part of the plan is also 
to re-connect and progressing with the digital strategy in order to ensure maximum 
accessibility to information and training opportunities.   
 
Workforce 
 

The table below shows the number of registered adult care home managers in North Wales 
at the 1 April 2020. Analysis of the data shows: 
 

Page 263



Appendix 2 

22 

 

In the last year 46 managers left the register and 31 joined, a turnover of 14%. The 
ratio of women to men is 6:1 and 230 are aged over 51. 

 

Around a third of registered managers have some Welsh language skills and 20% 
are fluent. 
 

Table 19: Number of registered adult care home managers, 31 March 2020  
  

Local Council No. of Care Home Managers 

Anglesey 30 

Gwynedd 61 

Conwy 67 

Denbighshire 66 

Flintshire 39 

Wrexham 47 

North Wales 310 
 
Source: Social Care Wales, Registered adult care home managers 
 

A regional survey carried out for the Market Stability Report identified that 1 in 5 care worker 
roles are vacant across the region, including senior care worker and care worker roles. 
 

There are some concerns that since the introduction of the Regulation and Inspection of 
Social Care (Wales) Act 2016 more homes are offering both residential care and older 
people’s mental health (EMI) residential care without necessarily providing separate 
facilities for different residents and possibly without having suitable skill sets and 
arrangements in place. 
 

There is an increase in training needs due to the lack of available training on offer during 
the pandemic, which include basic training such as inductions and manual handling. 
 

There are some concerns that staff may have moved away from a reablement ethos due 
to pressures during the pandemic. For example, individuals becoming very deconditioned 
due to lack of activity and staff not promoting simple forms of independence, such as going 
to the toilet unaided. 
 

Equality, socio-economic duty and human rights 
 

 
See Impact Assessment 
 

 

SECTION 1F – SUMMARY OF THE MARKET FOR Care Home Services (Adult) 
REGULATED PROVISION  
 

 

 The demand for care home placements is likely to increase 

 Over 65 and over 85 population forecast to increase  

 A total of 118 Extra Care units are all currently occupied and 71 units of Supported 
Accommodation are all currently occupied. Demand currently outweighs capacity in 
regards to Extra Care and Supported Accommodation. 

 Demand for Extra Care Housing outweighs current capacity. 

 Recruitment and retention of social care workers. 

Page 264



Appendix 2 

23 

 

 Increase to the cost of living. 

 The workforce for Anglesey is aging. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 265



Appendix 2 

24 

 

CHAPTER 2 – TYPE OF REGULATED PROVISION: Care Home Services (Children) 

 

SECTION 2A – MARKET SUFFICIENCY 
 

 
Sufficiency issues for some children 
The Market Position Statement (Regional Partnership Board, 2019) identified sufficiency 
issues with finding placements for children with particular needs including : 

 Respite care 

 Young offenders 

 Refugees, immigrants, asylum seekers 

 Young parents  

 Sibling groups 

 Emergency situations 
 
The stability of the workforce is an issue, with increasing demand for placements and the 
number of placements projected to not meet with the forecast demand.  
 
The Foster Wales website facilitated the joining of the 22 Local Authorities to form a national 
network of local fostering expertise. Its focus is to make a bigger impact on a national level, 
working together with foster carers, to build better futures for local children. Sharing one 
brand and, one voice, to strengthen recruitment and support of foster carers. 
 

 

SECTION 2B – MARKET STABILITY  
 

 
Market stability 
 

The work to date on developing the ‘North Wales Market Stability Report’ has identified 
the following: 
 
The number of children receiving care and support has increased 
In 2020, there were almost 2,900 children receiving care and support across North Wales. 
This is 2,300 children for each 100,000 children in the population, which is slightly lower 
than the rate for Wales as a whole of 2,550 children in need for each 100,000 children in 
the population. The numbers vary across North Wales and over time with no clear trend.  
 
In 2018-19, there were 575 children on the child protection register in North Wales. Although 
the numbers vary year to year for each local authority, overall for North Wales, the level has 
remained similar, with a small decrease of 3% (15 children). Due to the small numbers 
involved it is not possible to identify clear trends as, for example, a dramatic change from 
one year to the next may be due to one family moving to or from an area. The number of 
looked after children is not expected to continue to increase. 
  
Although the overall figures for all looked after children have shown a steady increase year-
on-year to date this is not expected to continue in the future (Regional Partnership Board, 
2019). 

Children who are care experienced were more vulnerable to the pandemic 
The Rapid Review of the Population Needs Assessment (Regional Partnership Board, 
2020) highlighted the impact of the pandemic on care experienced children which  included 
isolation and loneliness and disruptions in access to services. In North Wales, there was an 

Page 266



Appendix 2 

25 

 

initial dip in child protection referrals but then the rate of referrals returned to expected 
levels. An increased level of monitoring visits took place to households where there were 
children on the child protection register – weekly visits instead of the 10-day timescale.  
 

There is an increase in newly accommodated looked after children and young people   
In 2021, there were 1,470 local children and young people looked-after by North Wales local 
authorities, which is similar to the national picture across the whole of Wales. The number 
of children looked after in North Wales has increased by 350 during the time frame between 
2017 and 2021. North Wales has a lower number of children looked after per 100,000 
population than the rest of Wales, however there are significant variations across the region, 
from 800 in Flintshire to 1,300 in Wrexham. It is important to note that the number is currently 
fluctuating rapidly with a significant increase in newly accommodated young people.  
 

Market overview 
Despite a shared commitment to prevention and early intervention, there will always be a 
small proportion of looked after children who need residential placements. Depending on 
care needs this may be in a: 

 Residential Care Homes with paid care staff 

 Secure Accommodation Unit  

 Residential Family Unit 

The updated Market Position Statement (Regional Partnership Board, 2019) provided a 
breakdown of residential care provision in North Wales. As at 31st March 2020, there were 
70 North Wales children living in a care home. The total number of children living in a 
children’s home increased by 133% in North Wales between 2016 (30 children) and 2020 
(70 children).  
 

There is a shortage of local residential providers  
In August 2020, ADSS Cymru published a report which examined the case for rebalancing 
social care provision in Children’s Services (ADSS Cymru, 2020). The report identified a 
significant imbalance of power in the children’s residential care market, which is affecting 
placements and choice, the ability to make the best match to a child’s needs, the workload, 
and the outcomes for children. Without rebalancing, there will be a continued reliance on 
private providers with, in some cases, high cost, and questionable value for money, greater 
instability for children and poor outcomes. The aim of any rebalancing must be to develop 
stable, resilient markets, which offer options and choice, quality care, fewer placement 
breakdowns, and good outcomes for children.  
 
An increasing demand for residential placements and a lack of supply in local residential 
providers has resulted in a ‘providers market’. Providers are able to be more selective of the 
young people they accept, which may result in those with higher levels of complex needs 
and behavioural challenges being more difficult to place. This may be due to the skill / 
expertise of the provider, a concern about how behaviour might impact other residents and 
the local community, and worries that all of this might impact upon the outcomes of the 
service.  
 
Alongside the financial pressure, there is also a pressure on staff time. In the event of a bed 
becoming available, a number of local services may be seeking to secure it, resulting in 
competition.  
 
This high demand puts pressure on local authority finances, with providers able to dictate 
the cost of the provision. There is a risk that expenditure on out of county placements 
increases as placement costs increase in a demand led market.  
 

Page 267



Appendix 2 

26 

 

North Wales is currently reliant on the independent sector for children’s residential care 
provision. The Children’s Transformation Programme and Integrated Care Funding has 
been used to increase in house provision and fund preventative activity. Local authorities 
continue to explore opportunities to facilitate a different approach to help reduce the reliance 
on out of county placements which lead to unsustainable financial pressures for social 
services and education.  

There is a shortage of specialist provision for children and young people with complex 
behavioural and emotional needs 
 
In 2019 for over half of children placed in residential care were receiving care primarily due 
to emotional and behavioural needs and two thirds of those children were aged between 13 
to 16 years old (Regional Partnership Board, 2019). 
 
There is a significant shortage of specialist placements for young people with significant 
emotional and behavioural needs in North Wales. Children are often placed in England, 
away from their families. There is limited provision in England. Social workers struggle to 
place children with severe needs as providers tend to reserve places to try to place a child 
with less severe needs.  
 
Some children may have received their education through the Welsh language and 
therefore have difficulty coping in an English medium school and needing tutor or assistant 
to provide additional support. 
 
Young people in crisis often attend Accident and Emergency and stay in hospital settings in 
an emergency situation.  
 

There is a shortage of emergency accommodation   
Social services across the UK are facing increased pressures to find placements in 
emergencies. Locally, we do have situations where no placement can be sourced for a child. 
This necessitates the development of a holding position to provide accommodation and 
support until a placement can be found. These situations may arise from difficulties in 
placing young people following the breakdown of relationships at home, transfer of children 
where the police have used their powers of protection to remove children and a lack of 
secure beds for young people with high level needs and welfare risks. 
 
It is important to emphasise that these arrangements are used as a last resort in emergency 
situations, due to exceptional circumstances and for a short period until a regulated 
provision can be sourced. Safeguards around unregulated placements include the need for 
senior manager approval, notification to Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) as our regulator, a 
care and support plan, completion of social work visits, involvement of Independent 
Reviewing Officers and supervision of social workers to look at arrangements/ move on 
plans. 
 
The arrangements that local authorities have to put in place in emergencies can amount to 
unregulated placements. Under the Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 
2016 it is an offence for a person to provide a regulated service without being registered in 
respect of that service. 
 
Local market overview 
The Market Position Statement 2021 appraised the market and set out what is happening, 
residential services needed for children in the region and aspirations for future providers.  

 The number of children who live in a children’s home has increased, some of these 
children are able to live in a foster placement but there are currently not enough 
foster carers with the right skills to support them. 

Page 268



Appendix 2 

27 

 

 Some of our children who live in a children’s home live outside of local authority 
boundary despite sufficient in-area capacity. 

What we don’t need: 

 We do not encourage expansion in North Wales by independent providers of 
residential care for children whose services are not developed to meet the needs of 
our children. 

 We do not want providers to operate children’s homes without a clear model of care 
or deliver standard provision only. 

 
What we want: 

 We want to work with new and existing providers and support them to deliver models 
of care that will meet the needs of our children. 

 We want to work with new and existing providers and encourage them to develop 
their businesses in a way that, in addition to improving outcomes for our children, 
also provide a wider social value to our communities. 

 We want providers who are able to safely care for our children with multiple high 
needs and are able to provide alternative accommodate to secure welfare provision. 

 We want providers who will work in partnership with us during periods of transition 
including stepping down to live with a foster carer or reunification with their family. 

 Welsh culture is very important to us as a region and we want more providers who 
are able to deliver their services in Welsh.  

 

Action Taken Due to Provider Failure 
 

 
Not applicable 
 

 

SECTION 2C – OTHER MARKET STABILITY FACTORS  
 

Consideration of Market Quality 
 

 
Consideration of market quality 
 

Regional 
 

Children’s Commissioning Consortium Cymru (4C’s) are a Welsh National Team 
working to support Local Authority Children’s Social Services Departments to 
commission and contract placements for Children Looked After. They manage the the 
All Wales Residential Framework for the Provision of Services for Children & Young 
People Looked After across Wales. 
 

Framework monitoring of Quality Assurance and Risk Management processes within the 
Framework identifies trends in relation to providers and issues. 
 

Isle of Anglesey 
 

Anglesey has two registered Small Group Homes – known as “Catrefi Clyd Môn” - that 
are registered and running – Cartref Clyd Bryn Hwfa, and Cartref Clyd Llanfairpwll, - both 
of which have been running at full capacity throughout the year, working with young 

Page 269



Appendix 2 

28 

 

people with complex care needs who have suffered early childhood trauma and struggle 
with attachment disorders. 
 

Following the success of the first two homes, Anglesey is currently nearing opening its 
third Catrefi Clyd Môn in Caergybi (Holyhead), a specialist small group home, which will 
be an opportunity for respite for children supported by the specialist children’s services. 
 

During the next twelve months a fourth property will be opened, which is still in its 
planning and registration phase -Cartrefi Clyd Môn Rhosybol. 
 

There is another project with the planning and registration phase of Catrefi Clyd Môn 
Llangristiolus, which will be a modern facility specialising in Day Services for its Specialist 
Children’s Services. With the opening of these 2 new facilities in 2022, out of county 
placements will be reduced further. 
 

The facilities at Cartref Clyd Bryn Hwfa in Llangefni and Cartref Clyd Llanfairpwll were 
inspected by CIW in 2020 and both were judged to be Excellent. 
 

Current and Projected Trends 
 

 
Current and projected trends  

 Challenges in accessing secure welfare beds and local alternatives that provide 
crisis intervention and diversion from secure accommodation.  

 Challenges in sourcing appropriate local placements for children and young people 
with complex needs.  

 Need for additional and appropriate short term care arrangements and facilities for 
children. This also includes children with additional needs and on occasions their 
siblings.  

 Children aged 16+ often have complex needs and placement options are limited, a 
strategic approach is needed in supporting the accommodation and support needs 
of young people ages 16-18 and for care leavers. 

 

Impact of Commissioning practices on the market 
 

 

Impact of commissioning practices on the market 
All Wales Frameworks are used to commission individual placements across a range of 
placement types. These frameworks deliver strategic level partnerships with providers in 
fostering and residential services. The frameworks are used where either the Regions 
Sufficiency Duty necessitates external commissioning or where best quality, outcome 
delivery and value for money is achieved through external commissioning rather than 
internal service delivery. The All Wales Frameworks are managed by the Children’s 
Commissioning Consortium Cymru (4C’s).  
 
The vehicle used for e-tendering external fostering and residential placements is the 
Children’s Commissioning Support Resources (CCSR) which offers transparent and 
outcomes focused placement commissioning for both Framework and Non-Framework 
regulated placements and allows compliance with the relevant procurement guidance and 
regulation that underpins commissioning.  
 
 
 
 

Page 270



Appendix 2 

29 

 

Provision of service in the Welsh Language 
 

 
Provision of service in the Welsh language 
 
Some children may have received their education through the Welsh language and 
therefore have difficulty coping in an English medium school and need a tutor or assistant 
to provide additional support. Children who are placed out of country due to lack of specialist 
placements do not have the option to receive care services in Welsh. This is a particular 
issue in Anglesey. 
 

Sustainability of provision 
 

 
Under the Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015, Ynys Môn has a duty to take into account 
the well-being of individuals when creating sustainability plans. The well-being goals of the 
act will inform how sufficient alternative accommodation will be sourced, taking into 
account its effect on the wellbeing of the individual as well as its wider impact on 
sustainability in Wales. 

Risks to market stability 
 

 
Whilst the number of ‘looked after’ children within Anglesey has plateaued during the last 
two years or so, the demand for placements to support children and young people with 
complex presentations has remained, whilst the market has not responded in a way that 
can offer placements and meet the needs of children and young people with complex 
presentations.  
 
The primary risk in respect of this instability in the market is the increasing pressure to utilise 
non-regulated arrangements for children and young people looked after by the Local 
Authority. This is a pressure/risk faced across North Wales. 
 
In such circumstances, the Local Authority consistently works closely with providers and the 
Care Inspectorate Wales to mitigate risk and support future regulation. 
 

 

SECTION 2D – NON-REGULATED PROVISION [PREVENTATIVE SERVICES, STEP-
DOWN FROM A SECURE PLACEMENT, OR MOVING ON ARRANGEMENTS SUCH 
AS WHEN I AM READY etc] 
 

 
When I’m Ready: 
 
There are currently ten When I’m Ready arrangements (approximately 17% of children 
receiving leaving care services).  
 
Stepdown from secure placement: 
 
The Authority has experience of one stepdown from secure accommodation within the last 
twelve months. The experience indicates a significant national shortfall in residential 
establishments equipped to support with the needs of this cohort of young people. 
 

 

Page 271



Appendix 2 

30 

 

SECTION 2E - OTHER CONSIDERATIONS AFFECTING THE MARKET 
 
Social value 
 

 
There is some reference to the use of social enterprises/co-operatives as providers of 
independent foster placements 
 

Resources 
 

 
The Local Authority’s commitment to investment in the small group homes project has paid 
dividends. To date, the quality of care provided has been independently audited (CIW) and 
found to deliver care to a high standard. Additionally, there has been zero breakdowns in 
any of the arrangements to date. 
 

Direct payments 
 

 
Any post adoption support that had been assessed prior to the Child’s placement would be 
included in the Adoption Support Plan agreed for the individual child.     
It would be the responsibility of the adoptive parents to finance universal child care services 
that may be needed i.e. child minder or private day nursery. 
 
If a child is ‘looked after’ by the local authority and placed with registered foster carers, their 
‘care and support needs’ would be assessed prior to and on an ongoing basis by the child’s 
social worker and Independent Reviewing Officer via the LAC Review process.  
 
Any support that had been assessed prior to the Child’s placement would be included in the 
Placement Agreement and Care and Support plan.     
 
Direct payments would be unlikely to be used in this situation at the moment as the majority 
take up of Direct Payments are families of disabled children who utilise direct payments to 
employ personal assistants to provide ‘carers relief’ or ‘care and support’ via Carers 
Assessment and or Care and Support Assessment. Foster Carers can be identified as being 
‘Paid Carers’. 
 
To date there have been no Direct Payment packages used to support the Adoption Process 
prior or after a child has been identified and matched to adoptive parents. 
However this type of support could meet the assessed needs of individual children and their 
families and is therefore an area that warrants further research and exploration as a service 
option     
 
There are no Direct Payment packages used to support the children and their foster carers 
prior or after a child has been identified and matched to the foster family. 
However this type of support could meet the assessed needs of individual children and their 
families and is therefore an area that warrants further research and exploration as a service 
option for the future.    
 
 
 
 
  
 

Page 272



Appendix 2 

31 

 

Self-funders 
 

 
It is possible that adoptive parents could fund private therapeutic services for the children 
or themselves if they felt that the services they required were not available or accessible via 
Social Services, The Adoption Agency, or Health Board.   
 
If a child is taken into the care of the Local Authority their assessed needs would be 
identified and met by Children and Families Social Services. 
 
It is unlikely that a care and support package would be self-funded by foster carers unless 
it was to access some types of universal child care/activity services to enhance the child’s 
quality of life and experiences.  
 

Workforce 
 

 
The stability of the workforce is an issue, with increasing demand for placements and the 
number of placements projected to not meet with the forecast demand.  
 
The age profile of the Childrens Service staff is somewhat younger than the Provider Service 
staff. Almost two thirds off the staff (65%) are aged between 16 and 44. 

 
The average age of staff in the Childrens Service is 40 years of age. 
 
Succession planning and recruitment and retention of staff are issues that need to be 
addressed. 
 
In the MSR provider survey, respondents revealed the issues they’re currently facing with 
the recruitment and retention of their workforce. These are: 
 
Low rate of pay 
The level of skills needed to work with adults with learning disabilities when they have 
challenging behaviour and mental health needs is way above the rate of pay. Pay levels in 
the sector are low, the amount of staff available to fill the hours paid for, need to be extremely 
diverse in their abilities. There is not enough money to be able to get staff that specialise in 
part of the tasks needed like a co-ordinator and a cook. All staff need to be able to do all 

Page 273



Appendix 2 

32 

 

the tasks between them but ideally, individually too so the residents call always have their 
needs met.  
 
Other employment paying a higher rate of pay. Long hours, increased pressure on staff due 
to absence / sickness / Covid and general shortage of staff available.  
 
Rural area 
Recruitment is always a challenge, especially social workers as the areas they cover are 
extensive. 
 
Rising cost of fuel 
Within rural areas the cost of travelling to and between packages of care can be a factor 
especially as packages have to be provided at predetermined intervals. 
 

Equality, socio-economic duty and human rights 
 

 
See Impact Assessment 
 

 

SECTION 2F – SUMMARY OF THE MARKET FOR Care Home Services (Children) 
REGULATED PROVISION in MEETING THE SUFFICIENCY DUTY: LOOKED AFTER 
CHILDREN [Section 6 of the SSWA] 
 

 
Challenges: 
 

 Increase demand for care homes across Wales – 133% 2016-20 

 Number of placements forecast to not meet future demand 

 Shortage of local providers 

 Shortage of providers in respect of children with complex emotional/behavioural 
presentations 

 Shortage of emergency placements 
 
Potential Impact: 
 

 Children with needs not being met 

 Increase in placement moves for most vulnerable children 

 Increased use of unregulated settings 

 Increase in costs as demand outstrips supply 
 
Mitigation: 
 

 Use of 4Cs to manage market and risks 

 Small Group Homes Project – two homes in operation with another two planned for 
2022 

 Effective use of ‘When I’m Ready’ 
 

 

 

 

Page 274



Appendix 2 

33 

 

SECTION 2G – SUMMARY OF THE MARKET FOR Care Home Services (Children) 
REGULATED PROVISION  
 
 

 
Service Users: 
 

 Increased demand across the range of care & support through to ‘Looked After’ 
Children 

 Impact of pandemic upon vulnerable children and families 

 Projected impact of cost of living on poverty levels 
 
Resources: 
 

 Market supply not meeting demand, particularly for most vulnerable ‘looked after’ 
children – similar on national, regional and local levels 

 Over-reliance upon independent sector 

 Increased reliance upon unlawful unregulated settings 

 Pressure on budgets due to increased costs of provisions 
 
Meeting the Challenge: 
 

 We want to work with new and existing providers and support them to deliver models 
of care that will meet the needs of our children. 

 We want to work with new and existing providers and encourage them to develop 
their businesses in a way that, in addition to improving outcomes for our children, 
also provide a wider social value to our communities. 

 We want providers who are able to safely care for our children with multiple high 
needs and are able to provide alternative accommodate to secure welfare provision. 

 We want providers who will work in partnership with us during periods of transition 
including stepping down to live with a foster carer or reunification with their family. 

 Welsh culture is very important to us as a region and we want more providers who 
are able to deliver their services in Welsh 

 Further work internally to develop small group homes project 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 275



Appendix 2 

34 

 

CHAPTER 3 – TYPE OF REGULATED PROVISION: Secure Accommodation Services 

(Children) 

 

SECTION 3A – MARKET SUFFICIENCY  
 

 
Secure accommodation 
 

There is no secure accommodation provision for children in Anglesey or North Wales. There 
is a national purpose built secure children’s home in South Wales. Hillside can 
accommodate up to 18 children and young people of either gender between the ages of 12 
to 17 years. 
 

The children placed in secure accommodation are done so by order of a court and numbers 
are very low, between 0 to 2 per authority each year with no clear trend. There are no plans 
to extend this provision in North Wales. 
 

Market sufficiency therefore is not relevant for Isle of Anglesey County Council. 
 

 

SECTION 3B – MARKET STABILITY  
 

 
Not relevant for Isle of Anglesey County Council. 
 

Action Taken Due to Provider Failure 
 

 
Not relevant for Isle of Anglesey County Council. 
 

 

SECTION 3C – OTHER MARKET STABILITY FACTORS  
 

Consideration of Market Quality 
 

 
Not applicable 
 

Current and Projected Trends 
 

 
Not applicable 
 

Impact of Commissioning practices on the market 
 

 
Not applicable 
 

Provision of service in the Welsh Language 
 

 
Not applicable 

Page 276



Appendix 2 

35 

 

Sustainability of provision 
 

 
Not applicable 
 

Risks to market stability 
 

 
Not applicable 
 

 

SECTION 3D – NON-REGULATED PROVISION [PREVENTATIVE SERVICES, STEP-
DOWN FROM A SECURE PLACEMENT, OR MOVING ON ARRANGEMENTS SUCH 
AS WHEN I AM READY etc] 
 

 
Not applicable 
 

 

SECTION 3E - OTHER CONSIDERATIONS AFFECTING THE MARKET 
 
Social value 
 

 
Not applicable 
 

Resources 
 

 
Not applicable 
 

Direct payments 
 

 
Not applicable 
 

Self-funders 
 

 
Not applicable 
 

Workforce 
 

 
Not applicable 
 

Equality, socio-economic duty and human rights 
 

 
Not applicable 
 

 

Page 277



Appendix 2 

36 

 

SECTION 3F – SUMMARY OF THE MARKET FOR Secure Accommodation Services 
(For Children) REGULATED PROVISION in MEETING THE SUFFICIENCY DUTY: 
LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN [Section 6 of the SSWA] 
 

 
Not relevant for Isle of Anglesey County Council. 
 

 

SECTION 3G – SUMMARY OF THE MARKET FOR Secure Accommodation Services 
(For Children) REGULATED PROVISION  
 
 

 
Not relevant for Isle of Anglesey County Council. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 278



Appendix 2 

37 

 

CHAPTER 4 – TYPE OF REGULATED PROVISION: Residential Family Centre Services 

 

SECTION 4A – MARKET SUFFICIENCY 
 

 
Residential Family Centre Services are accommodation where parents and children stay 
together to be assessed / receive care. 
 

The Transformation Team on Anglesey is a new service that will provide a multi-agency 
provision of intensive services in Anglesey. 
 

The Team will work with families, aged 0 to 25, who are either at risk of coming into the 
care of the local authority or where there is a possibility for them to return to the home or 
remain in the care of their parents / carers safely. 
 

The team consists of a practice leader, psychologist, social worker and two support 
workers. Their focus is on working with children and young people where a neurological 
condition may be impacting their behaviours at home, school or out in the community. 
 

 

SECTION 4B – MARKET STABILITY  
 

 
Isle of Anglesey and Gwynedd Councils and BCUHB (West) 
 

There was insufficient demand to justify commissioning a full-time residential family centre 
unit. Current capacity is adequately fulfilled. 
 

Action Taken Due to Provider Failure 
 

 
Not applicable 

 

SECTION 4C – OTHER MARKET STABILITY FACTORS  
 

Consideration of Market Quality 
 

 
IoACC has two Small Group Homes – known as “Catrefi Clyd Môn” -  that are registered 
and running – Cartref Clyd Bryn Hwfa, and Cartref Clyd Llanfairpwll,  - both of which have 
been running at full capacity throughout the year, working with young people with complex 
care needs who have suffered early childhood trauma and struggle with attachment 
disorders.  
 
Following the success of the first two homes, IoACC is currently nearing opening its third 
Catrefi Clyd Môn in Caergybi (Holyhead), a specialist small group home, which will be an 
opportunity for respite for children supported by the specialist children’s services.  
 
During the next twelve months IoACC will work towards opening the fourth property, which 
is still in its planning and registration phase - Cartrefi Clyd Môn Rhosybol. 
 

Page 279



Appendix 2 

38 

 

IoACC is also working in the planning and registration phase of Catrefi Clyd Môn 
Llangristiolus, which will be a modern facility specialising in Day Services for its Specialist 
Children’s Services. With the opening of these 2 new facilities in 2022, out of county 
placements will be reduced further. 
 
The facilities at Cartref Clyd Bryn Hwfa in Llangefni and Cartref Clyd Llanfairpwll were 
inspected by CIW in 2020 and both were adjudged to be Excellent. 
 

Current and Projected Trends 
 

For the Isle of Anglesey and Gwynedd Councils and BCUHB (West), there is insufficient 
demand to justify commissioning a full-time residential family centre unit. Current capacity 
is adequately fulfilled. 
 

Impact of Commissioning practices on the market 
 

 

Impact of commissioning practices on the market 
All Wales Frameworks are used to commission individual placements across a range of 
placement types. These frameworks deliver strategic level partnerships with providers in 
fostering and residential services. The frameworks are used where either the Regions 
Sufficiency Duty necessitates external commissioning or where best quality, outcome 
delivery and value for money is achieved through external commissioning rather than 
internal service delivery. The All Wales Frameworks are managed by the Children’s 
Commissioning Consortium Cymru (4C’s).  
 
The vehicle used for e-tendering external fostering and residential placements is the 
Children’s Commissioning Support Resources (CCSR) which offers transparent and 
outcomes focused placement commissioning for both Framework and Non-Framework 
regulated placements and allows compliance with the relevant procurement guidance and 
regulation that underpins commissioning.  
 

Provision of service in the Welsh Language 
 

 
Provision of service in the Welsh language 
 
Some children may have received their education through the Welsh language and 
therefore have difficulty coping in an English medium school and need a tutor or assistant 
to provide additional support. Children who are placed out of country due to lack of specialist 
placements do not have the option to receive care services in Welsh. This is a particular 
issue in Anglesey. 
 

Sustainability of provision 
 

 
As there is insufficient demand to justify commissioning a full-time residential family centre 
unit for the Isle of Anglesey and Gwynedd Councils, the service is considered sustainable. 
Current capacity is adequately fulfilled. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 280



Appendix 2 

39 

 

Risks to market stability 
 

 
We currently have 3 Small group home resources on Ynys Môn with a potential to offer 5 
bed spaces for children that require the service. Our 4th property is being renovated and the 
works will be finished by August 2022.  This will enable the local authority to offer another 
3 potential bed spaces locally on the Island to reach a total of 8 bed spaces. 
 
Outcomes 

 Be able to develop and offer an increased ‘shared care’ option for individuals and 
families to delay complete family breakdown 

 Be an opportunity for the young person to develop new skills and experiences that may 
enable them to move on to alternative supported  accommodation  to meet their 
individual needs 

 Be able to provide longer term care and the opportunity to work in Partnership at an 
earlier stage with Adult Learning Disability Services in the interests of the identified 
young people to support them through the transition process.  

 Be available to meet the needs of other young people who have complex care and 
support needs, dependent on their assessed needs. 

 

 

SECTION 4D – NON-REGULATED PROVISION [PREVENTATIVE SERVICES, STEP-
DOWN FROM A SECURE PLACEMENT, OR MOVING ON ARRANGEMENTS SUCH 
AS WHEN I AM READY etc] 
 

 
When I’m Ready: 
 
There are currently ten When I’m Ready arrangements (approximately 17% of children 
receiving leaving care services).  
 
Stepdown from secure placement: 
 
The Authority has experience of one stepdown from secure accommodation within the last 
twelve months. The experience indicates a significant national shortfall in residential 
establishments equipped to support with the needs of this cohort of young people. 
 

 

SECTION 4E - OTHER CONSIDERATIONS AFFECTING THE MARKET 
 
 

 

Social value 
There is some reference to the use of social enterprises/co-operatives as providers of 
independent foster placements 
 

Resources 
 

 
The Local Authority’s commitment to investment in the small group homes project has paid 
dividends. To date, the quality of care provided has been independently audited (CIW) and 
found to deliver care to a high standard. Additionally, there has been zero breakdowns in 
any of the arrangements to date. 

Page 281



Appendix 2 

40 

 

Direct payments 
 

 
Not applicable 
 

Self-funders 
 

 
Not applicable 
 

Workforce 
 

 
The Transformation Team on Anglesey is a new service that will provide a multi-agency 
provision of intensive services in Anglesey. The Team will work with families, aged 0 to 
25, who are either at risk of coming into the care of the local authority or where there is a 
possibility for them to return to the home or remain in the care of their parents / carers 
safely. 
 

The team consists of a practice leader, psychologist, social worker and two support 
workers. Their focus is on working with children and young people where a neurological 
condition may be impacting their behaviours at home, school or out in the community. 
 

Equality, socio-economic duty and human rights 
 

 
See Impact Assessment 
 

SECTION 4F – SUMMARY OF THE MARKET FOR Residential Family Centre Services 
REGULATED PROVISION in MEETING THE SUFFICIENCY DUTY: LOOKED AFTER 
CHILDREN [Section 6 of the SSWA] 
 

 
Cartref Clyd have been able to bring one child back from an out of county placement. It has 
also prevented two children being placed out of county. Cartref Clyd have been able to help 
one young person to transition back home to family and another young person will be 
transitioning back home to family at the end of the year.  
 
In moving to Cartref Clyd, one child has been able to increase the amount of time he sees 
family and has commented that he has only been able to see his mum on birthdays / 
Christmas since living in Cartref Clyd.  
 
Cartref Clyd were able to support one young person to complete her education within the 
school setting and move on to complete a college course, she is now looking for 
employment which is also being supported by the team. Another young person who had 
been out of education for a long time, was supported to engage in education again by the 
team. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 282



Appendix 2 

41 

 

 

SECTION 4G – SUMMARY OF THE MARKET FOR Residential Family Centre 
Services REGULATED PROVISION  
 

 
Cartref Clyd Llanfair and Cartref Clyd Bryn Hwfa are already operational, with Cartref Clyd 
Caergybi opening imminently to provide short breaks for children with learning difficulties 
and complex needs. Cartref Clyd Rhosybol will soon be ready to go through the CIW 
registration process and be ready to welcome more Ynys Môn young people back in to the 
community.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 283



Appendix 2 

42 

 

CHAPTER 5 – TYPE OF REGULATED PROVISION: Adoption Services 

 

SECTION 5A – MARKET SUFFICIENCY 
 

 

North Wales Adoption Service overview 
The North Wales Adoption Service provides a regional adoption service on behalf of the Isle 
of Anglesey County Council. Working regionally helps find new families more effectively, 
place children quicker and improve adoption support services. In April 2014 it was integrated 
into the National Adoption Service. The services comply with updated adoption legislation, 
regulations and statutory guidance in line with the Regulation and Inspection of Social Care 
(Wales) Act 2016 (RISCA) and with the policy and procedures of the service, within the 
resources allocated. There is a framework which aims to make it easier for adopters, 
children and young people get support when needed. 
Services provided by the adoption service include: 

 Preparing the child for adoption 

 Family finding and matching 

 Safeguarding children 

 Provision of adoption support 

 Recruitment, assessment and approval of adopters 

 Preparing to adopt training (pre/post approval) 

 Adoption support (pre/post adoption, buddy system, post adoption contact) 

 Birth parent counselling 

 Relinquished babies 

 Services for adopted adults or anyone affected by adoption.  

 Partner of Parent Assessment (Annex A) 

 Adoption with a foreign element.  

The Isle of Anglesey County Council continues to contribute to the regional North Wales 
Adoption Service. During 2020-21, five children from Anglesey were placed with families 
for adoption and of those five, one has subsequently become the subject of an adoption 
order and has therefore been formally adopted. It is likely that the other four children will be 
formally adopted during 2021-22. 
 

 

SECTION 5B – MARKET STABILITY  
 

 

Population overview 
The number of looked after children who were placed for adoption in Anglesey was 6 in 
2020/21. It is worth noting that the service has undergone significant transformation since 
2020, therefore it is difficult to compare local data and it does not reflect the service now. 
 
Action Taken Due to Provider Failure 
 

 
Not applicable 
 

Page 284



Appendix 2 

43 

 

 

SECTION 5C – OTHER MARKET STABILITY FACTORS  
 

Consideration of Market Quality 
 

 

Quality reports 
The Quality of Service Review from the North Wales Adoption Service (2020) highlighted 
the following areas to improve market stability: 

 Increase the number of approved adopters 

 Reduce the number of children waiting for an adoptive family 

 Develop the adoption support service 

 Recruitment - sessional workers and adoption panel vacancies 

Care inspectorate Wales (2019b) inspection identified these areas for improvement:  

 Further develop quality assurance processes and assessment of the degree to which 

aims and objectives of the statement of purpose are met and evidence demonstrating 

how these support well-being outcomes for children 

 The availability of the ‘Active Offer’, to provide services in the Welsh language 

 The statement of purpose and adopters’ information pack includes information about 

the independent review mechanism so adopters are aware of this 

 Intermediary files should include a clear audit trail of work undertaken 

Current and Projected Trends 
 

 

Current and predicted trends 
The following issues were raised with regards to adoption services for children: 

 Highest placement need is for children from the East  

 Highest number of adopters are from the East 

 Fewer adopters in the West and children need to placed away from the East 

 Nationally there are more children than approved adopters available 

 Consideration of the number of Welsh language speakers (adopters/children) 

 
The following issues were raised with regards to adoption services for adults: 

 Adults requesting their birth records to find their birth parents was shut down 

during the pandemic, majority of services have resumed but there is a backlog  

 Staffing - 43 staff, 10 are off or due to go off on maternity leave, it is difficult to 

recruit to fixed term posts so the ability to assess may be impacted in 2022/23 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 285



Appendix 2 

44 

 

Impact of Commissioning practices on the market 
 

 
The implementation of the Welsh Adoption Register has been fundamental in searching for 
adoptive families across Wales for children waiting, particularly children that cannot be 
placed within North Wales. 
 
All approved adopters and children waiting in Wales are registered on the Adoption register 
Wales. Adopters and practitioners are able to share information on children waiting, 
reducing the time children are waiting.  
 

Provision of service in the Welsh Language 
 

 
The ethnicity of Anglesey’s ‘looked after’ children (LAC) population is overwhelmingly white 
Welsh/British (98%+). Two children are designated ‘Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking 
Children’. 
 
The majority of the population is first language Welsh speaking. Services are provided by 
the Council in the language choice of the service user. The Council encourages its partner 
agencies to adopt a similar approach with regard to the services they offer. 
 

Sustainability of provision 
 

 
The adoption agency continues to work closely with the private and 3rd sector providers 
such as Barnardo’s, St David’s and adoption UK. 
 
Private and 3rd Sector providers are part of the National Adoption Service collaboration 
framework working across Wales in developing regional and national service for adoptive 
families.  
 

Risks to market stability 
 

 
One of the identified key areas for NWAS 2022/2023 
Targeted recruitment drives 
Increase the number of adopters 2022/2023 to 42 approved adoptive families. 
Increase the number of Welsh speaking adopters to meet the needs of Welsh speaking 
children’ older children, sibling groups and children with disability 
Reduce the time children are waiting. 
 

 Staffing - 43 staff, 10 are off or due to go off on maternity leave, it is difficult to recruit 
to fixed term posts so the ability to assess may be impacted in 2022/23. This is likely 
to impact on the availability of adoptive placement for children waiting, increasing 
the waiting time scales and delays for children being placed in adoptive placement.   

 
Annexe A assessments for Partner of Parent adoptions, continues to place considerable 
pressure on resources. There is currently a waiting list of Partner of Parents who wish to 
adopt. However, children who are looked after have to take priority.  
 

 

Page 286



Appendix 2 

45 

 

SECTION 5D – NON-REGULATED PROVISION [PREVENTATIVE SERVICES, STEP-
DOWN FROM A SECURE PLACEMENT, OR MOVING ON ARRANGEMENTS SUCH 
AS WHEN I AM READY etc] 
 

 
Preventative Services 
 
The children and families service continues to invest in preventative services to decrease 
the number of children and young people requiring to be looked after. The main preventative 
provision is the resilient families team which provide intensive support for families where 
substance misuse, domestic abuse and parental mental health difficulties have been 
identified and contribute to the risks that the children and young people may face at home. 
Through utilising strength based and psychological informed interventions the team has 
consistently demonstrated that these  are effective ways of decreasing risk, facilitating 
change that allow families to remain together. In addition we have developed a peer mentor 
programme and although it’s early days we expect this to be an effective addition to the 
offer.  
 
In 2021 a new transformation team was established with monies from the transformation 
programme for the West area of North Wales. The Transformation Team is a new service 
that will provide a multi-agency provision of intensive services in Ynys Mȏn. The Team work 
with families, aged 0 - 25, who are either at risk of coming into the care of the local authority 
or where there is a possibility for them to return to the home or remain in the care of their 
parents / carers safely. The team consists of a Practice leader, psychologist, social worker 
and two support workers. Their focus is on working with children and young people where 
a neurological condition may be impacting their behaviours at home, school or out in the 
community. In 2022 the team will be incorporated into the resilient families team widening 
the remit and scope of that team.   
 
Our aim is to provide at the earliest possible early intervention and prevention services to 
families. Provisions include the team around the family that has recently been increased in 
size from 6 to 8 support workers. Our commissioned services include GORWEL domestic 
abuse service, Action for children emotional wellbeing and young carers, Adferiad parental 
mental health support and the early Help Hub and One Front door multi agency meetings.    
 
When I’m Ready: 
 
There are currently ten When I’m Ready arrangements (approximately 17% of children 
receiving leaving care services).  
 
Stepdown from secure placement: 
 
The Authority has experience of one stepdown from secure accommodation within the last 
twelve months. The experience indicates a significant national shortfall in residential 
establishments equipped to support with the needs of this cohort of young people. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 287



Appendix 2 

46 

 

SECTION 5E - OTHER CONSIDERATIONS AFFECTING THE MARKET 
 
Social value 
 

 
Adoption is a positive option for some children who are ‘looked after’ by the local authority 
and offers permanency for individuals in a family environment. 
 
The impact of the social value linked to the adoption process is ultimately about the potential 
long term stability this can offer vulnerable children with varying needs. The adoptive 
parents legally welcome a child or children to be part of their family. 
 
NWAS works with all local authorities in the region and has the management oversight of 
Adoption social workers in each local authority to ensure that the service meets the needs 
of the population of ‘looked after’ children in each local authority. 
 
Independent/private adoption agencies work with NWAS and the local authority to meet 
local needs. Prospective adopters are recruited and supported through the assessment 
process by the adoption agency and do have opportunities to meet others going through 
the same process and provide mutual support to others on the same journey. However if 
and when a child is successfully matched and linked with prospective adoptive parents they 
may not wish to continue to be identified as being different to any other family. They will 
continue to receive post adoption support from the local authority dependent on the plan 
that has been assessed and agreed prior to the placement being made. 
      
The model of delivery for the Adoption process is unique and guided by robust processes, 
managed by registered services within a clear legal framework. Therefore links to the 
regional social value forum are limited and would be primarily via the North Wales Adoption 
Service.          
 

Resources 
 

 
Local authorities all contribute to the funding of the North Wales Adoption Service and are 
then linked to the National Service. This enables local authorities to benefit from the 
economies of scale that are available to promote national recruitment campaigns and also 
have specialist workers in each local authority to meet the needs of the local area of Ynys 
Môn.    
 

Direct payments 
 

 
Any post adoption support that had been assessed prior to the Child’s placement would be 
included in the Adoption Support Plan agreed for the individual child.     
 
It would be the responsibility of the adoptive parents to finance universal child care services 
that may be needed i.e. child minder or private day nursery. 
 
Direct payments would be unlikely to be used in this situation at the moment as the majority 
take up of Direct Payments are families of disabled children who utilise direct payments to 
employ personal assistants to provide ‘carers relief’ or ‘care and support’ via Carers 
Assessment and or Care and Support Assessment.  
      

Page 288



Appendix 2 

47 

 

To date there have been no Direct Payment packages used to support the Adoption Process 
prior or after a child has been identified and matched to adoptive parents. 
 
However this type of support could meet the assessed needs of individual children and their 
families and is therefore an area that warrants further research and exploration as a service 
option     
 

Self-funders 
 

 
It is possible that adoptive parents could fund private therapeutic services for the children 
or themselves if they felt that the services they required were not available or accessible 
via Social Services, The Adoption Agency, or Health Board.   
 

Workforce 
 

 
There are currently no gaps within the staffing establishment across regulated services, 
albeit three posts are currently filled by agency social workers. 
 
The service is currently in the process of advertising for four unqualified social care 
practitioners to assist with demand on a temporary twelve month basis. 
 

Equality, socio-economic duty and human rights 
 

 
See Impact Assessment 
 

 

SECTION 5F – SUMMARY OF THE MARKET FOR Adoption Services REGULATED 
PROVISION in MEETING THE SUFFICIENCY DUTY: LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN 
[Section 6 of the SSWA] 
 

 
Further development alongside the National adoption service is been undertaken to improve 
recruitment drives to increase the number of approved adopters. 
 
Marketing and Recruitment to target prospective adopters for Welsh speaking children, 
sibling groups, older children or children with disabilities. 
 
Reduce the time children are waiting.  
 
Further development within the Intermediary service is being considered with regards to 
offering support groups to birth parents affected by adoption and to offer support groups to 
adopted adults. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 289



Appendix 2 

48 

 

SECTION 5G – SUMMARY OF THE MARKET FOR Adoption Services REGULATED 
PROVISION  
 

 
Further development alongside the National adoption service is been undertaken to improve 
recruitment drives to increase the number of approved adopters. 
 
Marketing and Recruitment to target prospective adopters for Welsh speaking children, 
sibling groups, older children or children with disabilities. 
 
Reduce the time children are waiting.  
 
Further development within the Intermediary service is being considered with regards to 
offering support groups to birth parents affected by adoption and to offer support groups to 
adopted adults. 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 290



Appendix 2 

49 

 

CHAPTER 6 – TYPE OF REGULATED PROVISION: Fostering Services 

 

SECTION 6A – MARKET SUFFICIENCY  
 

Page 291



Appendix 2 

50 

 

Market overview by local authority 

Anglesey market overview 
The table shows how many children in Anglesey are increasingly being placed outside of 
their local authority.  
Table 20: Number of children in foster placements by area - Anglesey 

Location of placement 2018 2019 2020 2021 Change 

No 

Inside local authority  65 60 70 80 -45 

Outside local authority 
(Wales) 

30 30 30 20 50 

Outside Wales 0 0 0 0 0 

Numbers have been rounded so may not sum. 

Source: Looked After Children Census. StatsWales, Welsh Government 

Table 21: Number of children in foster placements by type - Anglesey 

Type of Placement 
2018 2019 2020 2021 

Change 

no 

With relative/ friend, 

inside local authority 
30 25 25 35 5 

With local authority, 

inside local authority 
20 20 40 40 20 

With agency, inside 

local authority 
15 15 10 10 -5 

With relative/ friend, 

outside local authority 
5 0 0 0 -5 

With local authority, 

outside local authority 
0 0 0 0 0 

With agency, outside 

local authority 
25 25 25 25 0 

Numbers have been rounded so may not sum. 

Source: Looked After Children Census. StatsWales, Welsh Government 

Population overview 

The number of children is predicted to decrease 

The estimated number of children (aged 0-15) in 2020 and the projections for 2040 
demonstrate the number of children in North Wales is predicted to decrease over the coming 
years (Welsh Government, 2020). This decrease can be seen across all of the local 
authorities in North Wales, with the exception of Gwynedd which is predicted a slight 
increase (1.8%). Overall the number of children in North Wales is expected to reduce by 
6.1%  

The Market Position Statement update 2021 gave an overview of key statistics; 

• The number of children who required a foster placement increased by 34% during the 
period April 2016 (600 children) to March 2020 (805 children). 

Page 292



Appendix 2 

51 

 

• As at the 31st March 2020, there were 805 North Wales children living with a foster carer 
40% (325 children) were living with an independent foster carer and the majority of those 
children required a specialist placement in order to support their needs, which could not be 
supported by our in house services. 

• There are currently 11 children who are living in a children’s home who could be supported 
by specialist foster carer. There are not enough foster carers with the right skills to support 
the needs profile of our children. 

• During the period April 2020 to the end of February 2021, there were 34 children who 
required a parent and child placement and assessment. 

Sufficiency issues for some children 

The Market Position Statement (Regional Partnership Board, 2019) identified sufficiency 
issues with finding placements for children with particular needs including: 

 Respite care 

 Young offenders 

 Refugees, immigrants, asylum seekers 

 Young parents  

 Sibling groups 

 Emergency situations 

The stability of the workforce is an issue, with increasing demand for placements and the 
number of placements projected to not meet with the forecast demand.  

The Foster Wales website joined the 22 Local Authorities to form a national network of local 
fostering expertise. Its focus to make a bigger impact on a national level, working together 
and with foster carers, to build better futures for local children. Sharing one brand, one voice, 
to strengthen recruitment and support of foster carers. 

 

The National Fostering Framework 

The National Fostering Framework (2018) finds children who live with foster carers in their 
own locality more likely to thrive and children in local authority provision more likely to stay 
in their home authority, enabling them to maintain important links. It is vital local authorities 
increase local placements and reduce out of area placements. 
According to the National Fostering Framework (2018), connected fostering (with family or 
friends) has seen increased demand. It also finds that local authority placements have better 
outcomes for children. The framework states that local authorities need to be able to have 
capacity to facilitate this or otherwise ensure that the child has opportunities to maintain 
connections if placed in alternative fostering. 

 

SECTION 6B – MARKET STABILITY  
 

 

Demand for foster care has increased 

The number of children in foster care on Anglesey from 90 to 110 by 2020 and in North 
Wales, it has increased year on year since 2015 to around 945 in 2020. Wrexham had the 
largest increase, with the number of children doubling. Gwynedd also saw a significant 
increase. Numbers in the other local authorities have fluctuated.  
 

Page 293



Appendix 2 

52 

 

Table 22: Number of children looked after in foster placements at 31 March 

Local council 2015 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Anglesey  90 100 100 90 110 

Gwynedd  145 145 145 165 200 

Conwy  120 125 150 140 140 

Denbighshire  125 110 110 115 115 

Flintshire  135 140 135 150 140 

Wrexham  120 135 170 175 240 

North Wales  735 755 810 835 945 

Wales  4,250 4,425 4,700 4,840 4,990 

Numbers have been rounded so may not sum. 

Source: Children looked after by local authorities in foster placements. StatsWales, Welsh 
Government 

Despite the increasing numbers in foster placements, the Market Position Statement (2019) 
expressed that a large increase was not expected in the future. Local authorities have in-
house foster care places and independent fostering agencies providing places. Some of the 
independent foster agencies are charities or co-operatives. The table below shows the 
number and percentage for each type of foster placement provision, broken down by Local 
Authority. 
 
Table 23: Number of foster placements in the local authority area commissioned by 

provider type 

Local council  In House 
(number) 

Independent 
provider 
(number) 

Total 
(number) 

In House 
(percentage) 

Independent 
provider 

(percentage) 

Anglesey 37 32 69 54% 46% 

 

Predicted increased demand for foster parents 

The National Foster Network calculated a need for, an estimated, 550 new foster parents 
across Wales every year to keep up with demand. This suggests there could be a shortage 
of foster placements in coming years, given the increasing demand. 
 

Anglesey market stability 
The local authority recognises the following as issues affecting the future stability of the 
fostering service: 
 

 Workforce – recruitment, retention, age profile of workforce, costs 

 Supply and choices available 

 The cost of living crisis could impact the numbers of looked after children and 

therefore hamper the projection of decrease in demand 

 Impact of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) on LA’s resources 
including placements and support available.   

 Impact of unplanned arrivals to the Port of Holyhead.  
 

Page 294



Appendix 2 

53 

 

Market stability 

Regional challenges 
The Market Position Statement (2019) and ‘Foster Wales’ identified challenges to the 
stability of fostering services in North Wales and Wales as a whole listed below: 

 Recruitment and retention issues 

 Placements for children with particular needs including; respite care, young offenders, 

refugees/immigrants/asylum seekers, young parents, sibling groups and emergency 

situations  

 It is estimated that Wales will need 550 new foster parents every year to meet demand 

Action Taken Due to Provider Failure 
 

 
None 
 

 

SECTION 6C – OTHER MARKET STABILITY FACTORS  
 

Consideration of Market Quality 
 

 
The primary factor in relation to market quality is the readiness providers tend to have in 
giving 28 days’ notice to terminate contracts at times of challenge, rather than persevering. 
This often results in multiple moves for young people, which, in turn, compounds the 
difficulties. 
 

Current and Projected Trends 
 

 

Current and projected trends 
Key current trends and projections for the future of foster services: 

 Increased demand for placements 

 Lack of places for older children 

 Lack of places for children with complex care plans/behavioural issues 

 Lack of foster parents with skills to support children with complex needs 

 Projected increase in demand for placements 

 Predicted potential shortage of placements, supply not matching demand 

Taking profit out of care for looked after children  
One of the wellbeing objectives established within the Welsh Government Programme 
2021-2016 is to protect, rebuild and develop our services for children and young people. A 
key priority in this area of work is to eliminate private profit from the care of children looked 
after.  
Commissioning placements to independent foster agencies can impact on provisions being 
provided from within the local authority. Competition with independent providers over 
provision of services is a situation that should be avoided, as there is the risk of services 
then being driven by profit. Flintshire local authority highlighted this as a potential risk and 

Page 295



Appendix 2 

54 

 

stated how they were focusing the use of independent foster agencies for those services 
that they struggle to provide with local authority services. 
The foster care allowances survey from The Fostering Network (2020) found even though 
all local authorities in Wales are paying at or above the national minimum allowance, foster 
carers feel their current allowance does not meet the full costs of looking after a child. The 
network recommend foster payments must be transparent so it is clear to foster carers how 
much constitutes the allowance, and must be spent on the child, and how much constitutes 
the fee and is payment for the foster carer’s time and skills. 
 

Impact of Commissioning practices on the market 
 

 
Fostering placements are usually commissioned by the service via the National CSSR 
database system on an individual child basis. This process has been set up to link 
placement enquiries with providers who have potential vacancies i.e. Independent Fostering 
Agencies (IFA) and local authorities. 
 
Some IFAs however are not part of this process and are approached directly in relation to 
individual placement requests. If no placements are identified by using CSSR and the need 
remains placements would be sought by contacting known registered provided locally, 
regionally, nationally and across the other UK Nations. 
 
As the current demand for foster placements exceeds the availability, the commissioning 
process makes it difficult to negotiate on price, quality and overall stability of individual 
placements. 
 
This is why there needs to be ongoing resources allocated to the recruitment and retention 
of local authority foster carers who are able to meet the spectrum of need. The Maethu 
Cymru initiative now supports all local authority Fostering Teams to compete positively with 
the Independent Fostering Agencies  in the recruitment of foster carers. They provide 
professional advertising campaigns e.g. on national TV, recruitment resources, and have 
created a positive identity for local authority fostering teams and keeping the message – 
‘local foster carers to meet the needs of local children’. 
 
This has then made it possible for local authorities to develop their own individual support 
packages to attract and retain foster carers to provide a more sustainable service and 
promote stable placements. 
  
 

Provision of service in the Welsh Language 
 

 

Welsh language 
 
The proportion of Welsh speaking foster carers is below the proportion of Welsh speakers 
across the island.  
 
The provision of Welsh language across the rest of North Wales will be discussed within 
the children’s services chapter of this report. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 296



Appendix 2 

55 

 

Sustainability of provision 
 

 
All recruiting is carried out bi-lingually. This includes all merchandise and public facing 
documentation and resources i.e. flyers, postcards, and even PR merchandise such as 
balloons and t-shirts. 
 
Our non-Welsh speaking Foster carers are encouraged to learn Welsh, and courses are 
available for them to attend.  The ‘take-up’ on the courses are relatively low.   
 
However, the main drive of the service is to get Foster Carers registered with the authority 
as there is a national shortage – this is whether they speak Welsh or not.  The demand for 
Foster Care places continues to outweigh the current number of Foster Carers registered. 
 

Risks to market stability 
 

 
The local authority recognises the following as issues affecting the future stability of the 
fostering service: 

 Workforce – recruitment, retention, age profile of workforce, costs 

 Supply and choices available 

 The cost of living crisis could impact the numbers of looked after children and 
therefore hamper the projection of decrease in demand 

 Impact of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) on LA’s resources 
including placements and support available.   

 Impact of unplanned arrivals to the Port of Holyhead.  

 

SECTION 6D – NON-REGULATED PROVISION [PREVENTATIVE SERVICES, STEP-
DOWN FROM A SECURE PLACEMENT, OR MOVING ON ARRANGEMENTS SUCH 
AS WHEN I AM READY etc] 
 

 
Preventative Services 
 
The children and families service continues to invest in preventative services to decrease 
the number of children and young people requiring to be looked after. The main preventative 
provision is the resilient families team which provide intensive support for families where 
substance misuse, domestic abuse and parental mental health difficulties have been 
identified and contribute to the risks that the children and young people may face at home. 
Through utilising strength based and psychological informed interventions the team has 
consistently demonstrated that these  are effective ways of decreasing risk, facilitating 
change that allow families to remain together. In addition we have developed a peer mentor 
programme and although it’s early days we expect this to be an effective addition to the 
offer.  
 
In 2021 a new transformation team was established with monies from the transformation 
programme for the West area of North Wales. The Transformation Team is a new service 
that will provide a multi-agency provision of intensive services in Ynys Mȏn. The Team work 
with families, aged 0 - 25, who are either at risk of coming into the care of the local authority 
or where there is a possibility for them to return to the home or remain in the care of their 
parents / carers safely. The team consists of a Practice leader, psychologist, social worker 

Page 297



Appendix 2 

56 

 

and two support workers. Their focus is on working with children and young people where 
a neurological condition may be impacting their behaviours at home, school or out in the 
community. In 2022 the team will be incorporated into the resilient families team widening 
the remit and scope of that team.   
 
Our aim is to provide at the earliest possible early intervention and prevention services to 
families. Provisions include the team around the family that has recently been increased in 
size from 6 to 8 support workers. Our commissioned services include GORWEL domestic 
abuse service, Action for children emotional wellbeing and young carers, Adferiad parental 
mental health support and the early Help Hub and One Front door multi agency meetings.  
 
When I’m Ready: 
 
There are currently ten When I’m Ready arrangements (approximately 17% of children 
receiving leaving care services).  
 
Stepdown from secure placement: 
 
The Authority has experience of one stepdown from secure accommodation within the last 
twelve months. The experience indicates a significant national shortfall in residential 
establishments equipped to support with the needs of this cohort of young people. 
 

 

SECTION 6E - OTHER CONSIDERATIONS AFFECTING THE MARKET 
 

 

Social value 
There is some reference to the use of social enterprises/co-operatives as providers of 
independent foster placements 
 
 

Resources 
 

 

Other provision  
There is a significant lack of foster or residential placements for children and young people 
with challenging or complex behaviour.  
Recruitment of in-house foster carers has been impacted by the pandemic with a lack of 
applicants coming forward. This has resulted in an increased use of Independent Fostering 
Providers.  
Lack of availability has resulted in no offer or placements only at a considerable distance, 
which is not always in the best interest of the young person.  
Children who require a placement but where foster care cannot be sourced are being 
escalated into residential care, but there is both placement insufficiency and a perceived 
reluctance to offer placements to young people with complex needs. Again this can result 
in a placement at a distance away.  
There is particular pressure if the child/young person presents with self-harm or suicidal 
ideation, with providers showing reluctance to offer placements to this cohort. Emergency 
provision is extremely limited. 
 
 
 
 

Page 298



Appendix 2 

57 

 

Direct payments 
 

 
If a child is ‘looked after’ by the local authority and placed with registered foster carers their 
‘care and support needs’ would be assessed prior to and on an ongoing basis by the child’s 
social worker and Independent Reviewing Officer via the LAC Review process.  
 Any support that had been assessed prior to the Child’s placement would be included in 
the Placement Agreement and Care and Support plan.     
 
Direct payments would be unlikely to be used in this situation at the moment as the majority 
take up of Direct Payments are families of disabled children who utilise direct payments to 
employ personal assistants to provide ‘carers relief’ or ‘care and support’ via Carers 
Assessment and or Care and Support Assessment. Foster Carers can be identified as being 
‘Paid Carers’. 
      
There are no Direct Payment packages used to support the children and their foster carers 
prior or after a child has been identified and matched to the foster family. 
 
However this type of support could meet the assessed needs of individual children and their 
families and is therefore an area that warrants further research and exploration as a service 
option for the future.     
 

Self-funders 
 

 
If a child is taken into the care of the Local Authority their assessed needs would be 
identified and met by Children and Families Social Services. 
It is unlikely that a care and support package would be self-funded by foster carers unless 
it was to access some types of universal child care/activity services to enhance the child’s 
quality of life and experiences.  
 

Workforce 
 

 

Workforce 
The National Fostering Framework (2018) highlighted a loss in the number of approved 
foster households. The framework states improvements need to be made to increase; 
enquiries, conversions, approvals and retention of foster parents. 
The table below shows numbers of foster parents and places have seen a slight increase 
overall across North Wales. However, Gwynedd and Denbighshire saw a drop in both the 
number of foster parents and places available, and Flintshire saw a drop in foster parents 
but increase in places. If reductions in foster parents or places continue this could result in 
insufficient spaces for children in these local authorities. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 299



Appendix 2 

58 

 

Table 24: Number of approved foster spaces as of 31 March  

Local council 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Anglesey  86 69 43 

Gwynedd  164 178 198 

Conwy  113 130 127 

Denbighshire  156 155 149 

Flintshire  133 157 156 

Wrexham  161 172 166 

North Wales  813 861 839 

Wales  4,075 4,170 4,317 

Source: Children Receiving Care and Support. StatsWales, Welsh Government 

Table 25: Number of approved foster parents as of 31 March  

Local council 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Anglesey  45 38 39 

Gwynedd  103 111 120 

Conwy  70 84 80 

Denbighshire  78 77 74 

Flintshire  77 77 76 

Wrexham  100 112 110 

North Wales  473 499 499 

Wales  2,347 2,443 2,462 

Source: Children Receiving Care and Support. StatsWales, Welsh Government 

Carer skill set & training desired: 
• Carers who are able to work with our internal services and are trained in the delivery of 
therapeutic trauma informed care. 
• Carers who are aware of the impact of county lines and have received training to support 
children who are vulnerable to exploitation via these gangs. This includes the resilience to 
work with children who are being exploited by gangs, frequently abscond and can display 
verbal and sometimes physical aggression.  
• Resilient & trained to work with childhood trauma, absconding, exploitation and self-harm 
behaviours. 
• Carers who are trained to understand the impact of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) 
on children who they care for. 
• Carers who are trained in crisis intervention, and can work calmly under the pressure of 
emergency planning. 
• Resilient when faced with threat of physical harm & trained in de-escalation, with positive 
behaviour management planning, minimising use of restraints; 
• Carers with the ability to speak Welsh or commitment to learn. 
 
 
 
 

Page 300



Appendix 2 

59 

 

Equality, socio-economic duty and human rights 
 

 
See Impact Assessment 
 

 

SECTION 6F – SUMMARY OF THE MARKET FOR Fostering Services REGULATED 
PROVISION in MEETING THE SUFFICIENCY DUTY: LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN 
[Section 6 of the SSWA] 
 

 
Challenges: 
 

 Workforce – recruitment, retention, age profile of workforce, costs 

 The cost of living crisis could impact the numbers of looked after children and 

therefore hamper the projection of decrease in demand 

 Impact of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) on LA’s resources 
including placements and support available 
 

 Impact of unplanned arrivals to the Port of Holyhead  
 

 Placements for children with particular needs including; respite care, young 

offenders, refugees/immigrants/asylum seekers, young parents, sibling groups and 

emergency situations  

 Estimated Wales will need 550 new foster parents every year to meet demand 

Potential Impact: 

 Most vulnerable children with most complex presentations experiencing instability in 

placements – moving between placements 

 Increase in children living outside of their local communities 

 Cultural needs of UASC failing to be met 

 Increase in children placed in residential care settings 

 Increase in homelessness of those young people leaving care 

 

Mitigation: 

 Development of Foster Wales to drive recruitment of foster carers nationally 

 Local drivers for recruitment 

 Local incentives to recruit and retain foster carers (e.g. Council Tax reductions) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 301



Appendix 2 

60 

 

SECTION 6G – SUMMARY OF THE MARKET FOR Fostering Services REGULATED 
PROVISION  
 

 
Service Users: 
 

 The number of children cared for by IOACC has plateaued over the last three 
years. This bucks the trend across the region and Wales as a whole, which have 
each experienced an upward trajectory 

 
Resources: 
 

 A local decrease in the number of children placed outside of Anglesey 

 A local increase in the number of children placed on Anglesey 

 Increase in number of children placed with connected persons 
 
Meeting the challenge: 
 

 Development of small group homes project to accommodate those children for 
whom foster placements are not identified, on the island 

 Focus upon national and local recruitment via Foster Wales 

 No detriment policy introduced to encourage applications for special guardianship 
orders so children no longer need to be in state care. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 302



Appendix 2 

61 

 

CHAPTER 7 – TYPE OF REGULATED PROVISION: Adult Placement (‘Shared Lives’) 

Services 

 

SECTION 7A – MARKET SUFFICIENCY 
 

 
The Shared Lives programme operates across Gwynedd and Anglesey believe that people 
should be able to lead the lives that they want, whilst they receive the support they require 
in the home of their choice.  
 
The Shared Lives Scheme helps to arrange to have short breaks or long term placements 
for people with additional support needs in the homes of carefully selected people called 
Shared Lives Enablers. The support provided is flexible and tailored to the individual’s 
personal needs. 
 
The service concentrates on a family sharing their home, family life, interests, experiences 
and skills with vulnerable individuals who need support to live as independent as possible. 
 
Shared Lives enablers provide a familial environment that can help someone who needs 
support to live life to their full potential, to access the community, promote their 
independence and develop their skills. 
 
Support can be provided through the following placements: 

 Long term 

 Short term 

 Respite 

 Day support 
 

Support is targeted: 
- adults with learning difficulties 
- adults with mental health problems 
- adults with physical disabilities 
- adults with sensory impairment 

 

SECTION 7B – MARKET STABILITY  
 

 
The Shared Lives project was first set up to attract new provision to create respite 
opportunities for individuals with dementia. Due to limited take up the project was extended 
to all older people in 2021. However the effect of the pandemic and individuals and carers 
being restricted in opening up their homes for this kind of respite, take up for the project 
even after broadening the horizons has been limited and only 2 respite Shared Lives 
enablers were recruited over the period. Given that the project hasn’t had the fair opportunity 
to develop because of the pandemic. The project has been extended a further 12 months. 
 

Action Taken Due to Provider Failure 
 

 
There has been no action taken by Isle of Anglesey County Council in relation to provider 
failure.  
 
 
 

Page 303



Appendix 2 

62 

 

SECTION 7C – OTHER MARKET STABILITY FACTORS  
 

Consideration of Market Quality 
 

 
Adult placement officers sent out questionnaires in September 2021, to the individuals 
supported through their services in order to assess the quality of their outcomes and gain 
feedback.   

 
Table 26: Survey responses  

Category No. sent out Replies received Reply rate (%) 

Individuals 33 9 27% 

Enablers 32 9 28% 

Families of individuals 6 2 33% 

Professional workers 15 3 20% 

 
From feedback received, it appears that IoACC Shared Lives staff listen to the voice of the 
individual and that IoACC Shared Lives staff meet their needs and ensure their well-being. 
The development in their personal objectives is central to the service and IoACC Shared 
Lives staff ensure that they build on this regularly. IoACC Shared Lives staff reviewed and 
monitored placements and have adapted the Person Centred Plan forms to gather 
information on thr results the individuals managed to achieve during Covid. The relationship 
between the Scheme, the enablers on individuals has strengthened over the last few 
months as everyone has been supporting each other in many different ways to ensure that 
the welfare of the individuals is central in everything IoACC Shared Lives staff do. 
 

Current and Projected Trends 
 

The Wales Audit Office (2018) estimate that local councils in Wales will need to 
‘increase investment in accommodation by £365 million in the next twenty years to 
address both a growth in the number of people with learning disabilities who will need 
housing, and the increase in the number with moderate or severe needs’. This figure 
includes increases in costs due to inflation.  For North Wales, this will mean we need to 
plan for between 80 and 190 additional placements by 2035.  There should be a range 
of options and a person-centred approach to planning to find the model of housing and 
care that is right for the individual. This may include supported housing, extra care 
housing, shared lives, residential care, home ownership and different types of 
tenancies. 

The Wales Audit Office (2018) estimates that local councils in Wales will need to 
‘increase investment by £365 million in accommodation in the next twenty years to 
address both a growth in the number of people with learning disabilities who will need 
housing, and the increase in the number with moderate or severe needs’. This figure 
includes increases in costs due to inflation.  

For North Wales, this will mean needing to plan for between 80 and 190 additional 
placements by 2035.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 304



Appendix 2 

63 

 

Impact of Commissioning practices on the market 
 

 
Not applicable 
 

Provision of service in the Welsh Language 
 

 
There are 11 registered carers on Anglesey of which 5 (45%) can offer the service through 
the medium of Welsh. Shared Lives Enablers are self-employed and not technically Council 
employees which makes it difficult to arrange any training to learn Welsh for them. 
 
Of the 14 individuals who are part of the Shared Lives Scheme, 2 are Welsh first language.    
 

Sustainability of provision 
 

 
There are no other providers offering Adult Placements on Ynys Môn. 

Risks to market stability 
 

 
The Adult Placements on Ynys Môn is funded jointly by Gwynedd and Ynys Môn. Therefore, 
reduction in funding the service is a risk to the stability of the service. 
 

 

SECTION 7D – NON-REGULATED PROVISION [PREVENTATIVE SERVICES, STEP-
DOWN FROM A SECURE PLACEMENT, OR MOVING ON ARRANGEMENTS SUCH 
AS WHEN I AM READY etc] 
 

 
Not applicable 
 

 

SECTION 7E - OTHER CONSIDERATIONS AFFECTING THE MARKET 
 
Social value 
 

 
Not applicable as the Shared Lives Scheme is not a social enterprise. 
 

Resources 
 

 
Sufficient at the moment 
 

Direct payments 
 

 
Not applicable - Adult Placement are paid for directly and not through Direct Payments 
 
 

Page 305



Appendix 2 

64 

 

Self-funders 
 

 
Not applicable - There are no self-funders on Ynys Môn currently accessing Adult 
Placement 
 

Workforce 
 

 
There are 11 registered carers on Ynys Môn and 26 in whole across Gwynedd and Ynys 
Môn. The average ages are: 
Ynys Mon (58) 
Gwynedd (63) 
Average for both counties (61) 
 
Over the last 5 years, 12 have been recruited (8 in Gwynedd, 4 in Ynys Môn). Currently, 6 
are being assessed (2 in Ynys Môn, 4 in Gwynedd).  
 

Equality, socio-economic duty and human rights 
 

 
See Impact Assessment 
 

 

 
SECTION 7F – SUMMARY OF THE MARKET FOR Adult Placement (‘Shared Lives’) 
Services REGULATED PROVISION  
 

 
The Shared Lives Service was established in 2005 across Gwynedd and Ynys Môn and 
offers opportunities and support for adults over 18 years of age in an enabler’s home as a 
full member of the family. The Service currently consists of 26 enablers, 11 on Ynys Môn, 
who can provide long term, short term or respite support. Their aim is to support individuals 
to lead the lives that they want, provide flexible and tailored support to the individuals needs 
whilst they receive the support that they require in the home of their choice. Enablers within 
the registered scheme can offer a placement for up to 3 individuals 

The Scheme is managed under the Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 
2016. The agreement is managed by Gwynedd and was reviewed and agreed in 2022 
following a delay due to COVID-19.      

The service remit is to support adults with: 
- adults with learning difficulties 
- adults with mental health problems 
- adults with physical disabilities 
- adults with sensory impairment 

 
Diversifying the access to the service is an area for development as this is primarily 
accessed by adults who have a learning disability.  
 
 
 

Page 306



Appendix 2 

65 

 

The positive of the services are that it can allow flexibility as there are no prescribed hours 
and the support can be as and when the individual requires it. The drawback to this is that 
there is less monitoring of ensuring individuals receive the level of support required to 
develop skills and ensure they achieve their outcomes. The Service aims to provide support 
through an active support and positive behaviour support model but this is something that 
needs to be reviewed and evidenced during personal reviews as commissioners.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 307



Appendix 2 

66 

 

CHAPTER 8 – TYPE OF REGULATED PROVISION: Advocacy Services 

 

SECTION 8A – MARKET SUFFICIENCY 
 

 
Advocacy means getting support from another person to help someone to express their 
views and wishes, and help stand up for their rights. 
 
All people are very different from each other. Their needs for support are different, and may 
change during their life. A variety of advocacy models has been developed to recognise 
these differences. 
 
All advocacy types are of equal value. What advocacy is used, and when, should depend 
on what is best suited to the person who seeks it. One type of advocacy is Independent 
Professional Advocacy which involves a professional, trained advocate working on a one-
to-one basis with an individual or with the individual and families to ensure that their voice 
is heard. 
 
Children and young people 
 
Advocacy is one of the key foundation stones in achieving IoACC’s commitment to 
children’s rights, ensuring children and young people can get help when they need it and 
from people that will listen to them and represent their views. 
 
By law all local authorities in Wales must have advocacy services for children and young 
people to use and that an Active Offer for advocacy must be made.  
 
When children and young people need services, sometimes an advocate is required to 
meet with them to explain what these services are. This helps them to understand what is 
on offer and how the service is able to help them. This is called an Active Offer. 
 
An active offer must be made to: 
 
Children in care. 
 
Young people leaving care. 
 
Children and young people who need extra support. 
 
Councils have a statutory responsibility to provide an independent professional advocacy 
service for children and young people which complies with all regulations, standards, 
legislation, directions, code of practice, outcome framework and any amendments or 
replacements relevant to the service. 
 
This includes but is not limited to: 
 
The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014. 
 

The Service is an ‘advocacy’ service for the purpose of paragraph 7(1) of Schedule 1 
of the Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016, and is accordingly 
a regulated service and must comply with the provisions/requirements set out within 
the Regulated Advocacy Service (Service Providers and Responsible Individuals) 
(Wales) Regulations 2019. 

 

Page 308



Appendix 2 

67 

 

Independent Professional Advocacy: National Standards and Outcomes 
Framework for Children and Young People in Wales. 

 
Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014: Part 10 Code of Practice 
(Advocacy). 

 
Statutory Guidance relating to Parts 2 to 15 of The Regulated Advocacy Services 
(Service Providers and Responsible Individuals) (Wales) Regulations 2019. 
 

IoACC currently contracts NWAS and Trosgynnal to provide Independent Professional 
Advocacy for Children and Young people, as part of the Regional service. 
 
During 2020-21, a total of 99 children and young people received Issue Based Advocacy 
(IBA) which included 211 issues.  
 
For some children and young people there is a statutory duty to provide an active offer of 
advocacy.  The Active Offer involves a designated meeting between a child or young person 
and an advocate where the advocate is able to explain to the child or young person about 
their rights – UNCRC and Article 12: explanation of advocacy and the different types of 
advocacy (not just IPA) and information about relevant support and services. A total of 29 
Active Offer referrals were received by the provider during this year 
 
During 2021-22 and 2022/23, IoACC established in a partnership with TGPCYMRU, a pilot 
Parent Advocacy Service to empower parents to participate in the child protection process 
and looked after children process from an informed position, speaking for themselves 
wherever possible, and to promote good communication, and a positive working 
relationship, between the parents and the Local Authority. 
 
Adults 
 
Local authorities must consider individuals’ needs for advocacy support when carrying out 
various functions involving decisions that will have a significant impact on the person’s day 
to day life, for example: 
 

Assessment of needs for care and support, support for carers and preventative 
services 

 
Provision of information, advice and assistance Preparing, maintaining or reviewing care 
and support plans Protecting property of persons cared for away from home 
Determination of person’s ability to pay a charge (This would only appropriate if there was 
reason to believe that the individual lacked mental capacity in relation to finances.)  
 
Safeguarding and duty to report adults or children at risk. 
 

Promoting integration of care and support with health services Receiving complaints or 
representations about social services 
 
Consideration for advocacy will always be made if the individual lacks mental capacity 
in relation to a specific issue and a best interest decision is required. Likewise, if the 
person has capacity but it is felt that a ruling is required by a court under inherent 
jurisdiction. In all cases, the advocate can be someone nominated by the individual,, 
family or friend. Where this is not possible, paid advocacy would be instructed.  

 
 
 

Page 309



Appendix 2 

68 

 

Advocacy: 
 

 safeguard individuals who are vulnerable, discriminated against or whom 
services find difficult to serve 

 

 speaks up on behalf of individuals who are unable to do so for themselves 
 

 empowers individuals who need a stronger voice by enabling them to express 
their own needs and make their own informed decisions 

 

 enables individuals to gain access to information, explore and understand their 
options, and to make their views, wishes and feelings known, and 

 

 actively supports people to make informed choices. 
 

IoACC currently contracts North Wales Advocacy Services (NWAS) to carry out our Adult 
Services advocacy support services. The service data shows that 98 contacts were made 
in 2020/21.  
 
IoACC funds section 1.2 representative for some individuals.  This is the name given by the 
court to a person who is able to consider whether from the perspective of individuals best 
interests you agree or do not agree that the Court should authorise the individuals package 
of care and support resulting in a deprivation of their liberty. This is usually a family member, 
however in cases where the person has no family an Independent Advocate may be 
appointed as Rule 1.2 representative. 

Under the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) we also fund paid Relevant Person’s 
Representative (RPR) for some individuals. Where a person lacks the mental capacity to 
consent to their accommodation care and treatment and are  ‘deprived of their liberty’ in a 
care homes, that person has a right to have a person to support them to exercise their rights 
under the Mental Capacity Act. This person is call the Relevant Person’s Representative 
(RPR). The RPR is often a family member or friend of the person. Where there is not an 
appropriate person to be an RPR for a person, then a paid RPR is appointed and advocates 
as RPR in this situation.  This is known as the Paid Relevant Person’s Representative (Paid 
RPR). 

Older people 
 
The Golden Thread Advocacy Programme was funded by Welsh Government for four years 
from 2016 to 2020 to run alongside and support the implementation of Part 10 (Advocacy) 
of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. The programme has now ended, 
but Age Cymru’s commitment to advocacy in Wales continues through the HOPE project. 
 
Anglesey, Gwynedd and Wrexham: North Wales Advice and Advocacy Association 
(NWAAA) offer advocacy to over 65s 
 
Conwy and Denbighshire: DEWIS Centre for Independent Living offer advocacy to anyone 
over 65, or any carer. 
 
People living with dementia (all counties): Alzheimer's Society offer support for anyone living 
with dementia, whether they have capacity or can communicate or not. 
 
 

Page 310



Appendix 2 

69 

 

Mental Health 
 
People receiving secondary mental health care may need help from an Independent 
Mental Health Advocate (The Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010) or an Independent 
Mental Capacity Advocate. (IMCA, commissioned by the Health Board if required) 
  
IoACC also uses Independent Mental Capacity Advocacy for individuals to act on behalf 
of individual who lack capacity to make certain decisions.  In Wales they are appointed by 
a local Health Board. They are appointed when there is an assessment in response to a 
request for a standard authorisation made by the care home/hospital, or a concern about 
a potentially unauthorised deprivation of liberty.  Usually this would be family or friends.  If 
the person has nobody else who is willing and able to represent them or be consulted in 
the process of working out their best interests, other than paid staff 
 
Advocacy may be required for older people with dementia who have lost contact with all 
friends and family, or people with learning disabilities or long term mental health problems 
who have been in residential institutions for long periods and lack outside contacts.  
 
Other people with mental health conditions may want support from another person when 
expressing their views, or to seek advice regarding decisions that impact them. 
 
The following organisations provide specialist advocacy support for those with mental 
health needs; 
 

The Conwy and Denbighshire Mental Health Advocacy Service (CADMHAS) (Conwy 
and Denbighshire) 

 
Advocacy Services North East Wales (ASNEW) (Wrexham and Flintshire) Mental 
Health Advocacy Scheme (Gwynedd and Anglesey) 

 
Autism 
 
Advocacy for autistic adults, children and their carers ensures that individual rights are met. 
Advocacy can provide support in a number of ways including seeking a diagnosis, 
overcoming barriers and accessing services. 
 
Safeguarding and Self-Neglect 
 
Advocacy should always be considered both as part of the s126 enquiry and during the 
individuals safeguarding journey, if there person lacks mental capacity yin relation to their 
safeguarding outcomes, This would normally be a family member, or friend however, where 
no appropriate person is appropriate, a paid advocate would be appointed. Likewise, when 
supporting individuals under the North Wales Self-Neglect Protocol, advocacy should be 
considered throughout and where no appropriate individual is able to undertake this role, a 
paid advocate would be commissioned.  
 

 

SECTION 8B – MARKET STABILITY  
 

 
Based on the latest data, the Advocacy provision is sufficient and provides quality care and 
support to meet demand. Trained staff provide quality care and support  
 
 

Page 311



Appendix 2 

70 

 

Action Taken Due to Provider Failure 
 

 
As of August 2022, no part of the advocacy service on Anglesey was under the Escalating 
Concerns process. 
 

 

SECTION 8C – OTHER MARKET STABILITY FACTORS  
 

Consideration of Market Quality 
 

 
Data from the Commissioners Report on the Anglesey Advocacy Service for Q1 2022/23 
shows that all advocacy partners said they valued the advocacy input they'd had. The 
Advocacy Service was able to provide ongoing support despite the issues the clients had. 
  

Current and Projected Trends 
 

 
Data from Q1 2022/23 shows a steady rate of referral for both independent advocacy and 
Paid RPR (Paid Relevant Persons Representative*). Age ranges are representative with no 
concerning gaps. Similarly demographics of those referred are broad showing that a range 
of adults with social care needs in Anglesey are accessing advocacy. Referrals not eligible 
for IoACC’s services are either signposted to an appropriate services or listed as No Further 
Action. In all cases the referrer is contacted and the reason for not allocating is discussed.  
 
*What is a Paid Relevant Persons Representative? 
Everyone who has a standard Deprivation of Liberty Safeguard authorisation must have a 
representative to ensure any conditions are being met; inform the person of their rights and 
how to exercise those rights. 
 
If there is no unpaid person who can take on this role the Local Authority appoint a Paid 
Person’s Representative from NWAAA and their Paid Representatives are independent 
from the care home or hospital as well as the Local Authority and Supervisory Body.  
 

Impact of Commissioning practices on the market 
 

 
Young carers 
 
A common need of young carers identified by service providers is advocacy support to have 
their voices heard. 
 
Specific support for young carers and young adult carers has been commissioned across 
North Wales from the third sector. WCD / Credu Young Carers is commissioned to provide 
these services in Wrexham, Denbighshire and Conwy, NEWCIS provide the service in 
Flintshire and Action for Children provide the service across Gwynedd and Anglesey. 
 
Learning disability 
 
People with a learning disability often have poorer access to health improvement and early 
treatment services; for example, cancer screening services, diabetes annual reviews, 
advice on sex and relationships and help with contraception (Harris et al., 2016). The 

Page 312



Appendix 2 

71 

 

Learning Disability Health Liaison Service in BCUHB work across North Wales to raise 
awareness and reduce inequalities. 
 
Advocacy is also geared towards wellbeing outcomes. Local authorities have a duty to 
consider individuals’ needs for advocacy when carrying out assessments and care 
planning. People with a Learning Disability may need support in ensuring that their voices 
are heard and their rights upheld. 
 
Dewis Centre for Independent Living provide advocacy services for vulnerable adults aged 
18 to 64, including people with learning disabilities. Anglesey also commission North Wales 
Advocacy Association (NWAA). 
 

Provision of service in the Welsh Language 
 

 
As a service, advocacy is available bilingually for both children and adults. 
 
 

Sustainability of provision 
 

 
Referrals to the Advocacy service for Q1 2022/23 show that a range of adults with social 
care needs on Anglesey are accessing advocacy. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

0 2 4 6 8 10

1

Referrals

Acquired brain injury Autism / ASD Dementia

Physical disability Learning disability Mental health

Older person Parent Physical illness

Sensory Vulnerable other

Page 313



Appendix 2 

72 

 

Risks to market stability 
 

Under the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) IoACC funds paid Relevant Person’s 
Representative (RPR) for some individuals. Where a person lacks the mental capacity to 
consent to their accommodation care and treatment and are ‘deprived of their liberty’ in a 
care home or hospital, that person has a right to have a person to support them to exercise 
their rights under the Mental Capacity Act. This person is call the Relevant Person’s 
Representative (RPR). The RPR is often a family member or friend of the person.  Where 
there is not an appropriate person to be an RPR for a person, then a paid RPR is appointed 
and advocates as RPR in this situation.  This is known as the Paid Relevant Person’s 
Representative (Paid RPR). 

During the Covid-19 pandemic, IoACC staff were able to maintain a full service throughout 
the period by adapting quickly and supporting staff to work safely. During the pandemic only 
two staff members contracted Covid-19 but since January 2022, all but one of the Advocacy 
team have contracted Covid-19 and been on sick leave. Stresses accrued during the 
pandemic, whether due to pandemic related difficulties at home, or working harder to keep 
things going for clients, colleagues are now showing signs of strain and needing time off to 
recoup. This is something that wasn’t fully anticipated and staff are now developing a 
strategy for this. 
 
The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) is the existing scheme for the assessment 
and authorisation of deprivations of liberty and were introduced to protect the human rights 
of those individuals who lack the mental capacity to consent to being deprived of their liberty. 
Following the Supreme Court judgement in the case of Cheshire West, the UK Government 
introduced the Mental Capacity (Amendment) Act 2019, with the view to repealing DoLS 
and replacing it with the Liberty Protection Safeguards (the LPS). Unlike DoLS (which only 
applied to arrangements in care homes and hospitals and to people aged 18 and above), 
the LPS will apply in all settings. For the first time, the LPS will extend to people’s homes 
and will also apply to anyone aged 16 and over. It is likely that this will increase the need 
for advocacy for these potential additional individuals and additional resources could well 
be needed when LPS comes into force.  
 

 

SECTION 8D – NON-REGULATED PROVISION [PREVENTATIVE SERVICES, STEP-
DOWN FROM A SECURE PLACEMENT, OR MOVING ON ARRANGEMENTS SUCH 
AS WHEN I AM READY etc] 
 

 
Not applicable? 
 

 

SECTION 8E - OTHER CONSIDERATIONS AFFECTING THE MARKET 
 
Social value 
 

 
Advocacy promotes social value as: 

 Advocates can support a person to understand information and options so that the 
person can make choices that are good for them. 

Page 314



Appendix 2 

73 

 

 Advocates can support people to make sure that the choices they make are heard 
by others and respected by others 

 Advocates can tell people about their rights and entitlements 

 Advocates can go to meeting with a person to help them take part. Or go to a 
meeting instead of a person if they cannot go themselves 

 Advocates can stand up for the rights and entitlements of people who do not have 
capacity to take part themselves 

 

Resources 
 

 
IoACC anticipates further pressure on budgets in 2023/24.  
 

Direct payments 
 

 
The Direct Payments Support Service for the people of Anglesey is provided for people 
living on Anglesey by the North Wales Advice and Advocacy Association (NWAAA). 
 
Direct Payments are a way of paying for care and support needs that gives the person more 
control. Social Services assess the person’s needs, work out how much it would cost to 
meet those needs, then give the money to the person so they can be in control. This money 
is called a Direct Payment. 
 

Self-funders 
 

 
Self-advocacy 
 
There have been ups and downs with the Roaring Mon's group this quarter. Whilst there 
is a lot of enthusiasm for self-advocacy from members, there has been difficulty in 
guaranteeing they regularly attend the meetings arranged. NWAAA have adapted its 
approach by speaking with individuals one-to-one about their role in different pieces of 
work so that they can buy-in. This has been partially successful in increasing attendance 
at group meetings. One of these one-to-one pieces has been about continuing with the 
healthy diet promotion project. The member and facilitator have worked together on 
developing topics and info sheets to shape drop-in or presentations which they plan to 
deliver in Anglesey. The background work is being progressed, but it has been difficult to 
pin down delivery opportunities. Similarly we were unable to persuade any of the Roaring 
Mon members to attend the AWPF national conference held in Deganwy in June. There 
were a range of hitches from already having plans, to not wanting to pay for an overnight 
stay. NWAAA have a strategy to increase membership which will ease some of the 
problems with non-attendance, however we ideally want the members themselves to be 
part of this awareness raising and recruitment. On a more positive note, the regional 
representative for the Roaring Mon's has been attending the regional partnership 
meetings- now re-branded as The North Wales Flyers, where she has helped shape the 
way the group will be working, and their priorities for this year. 
 

Workforce 
 

 
Post pandemic, the recruitment and retention of staff remains an issue with the staff turnover 
rate in Social Services having increased in 2021/22. 
 

Page 315



Appendix 2 

74 

 

There is an increasing demand for services, but budgets along with inflationary pressures 
are struggling to keep up with this demand. 
 
Below is a table showing the staff turnover within the Adults and Childrens Services of Social 
Services compared to the average for the Authority: 
 
Table 27: Staff turnover  

 Staff turnover 

Service 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 Average 

Adults 6% 12% 10% 8% 14% 10% 

Childrens 18% 10% 11% 6% 15% 12% 

Authority Average 11% 11% 9% 6% 10% 9% 

 
In general, staff turnover has been higher within the Children’s section than within the Adults 
section but the average for both sections are higher than the average for the Authority. The 
staff turnover rate decreased in 2019/20 and 2020/21 which may be due to the pandemic. 
However in 2021/22, the staff turnover rate increased in both sections which in turn likely 
contributed to the increased staff turnover rate for the Authority.   
 
The comparatively high staff turnover rate for 2021/22 may be due to staff deciding to move 
on after the pandemic and may be indicative of a problem with staff retention.  
 

Equality, socio-economic duty and human rights 
 

 
See Impact Assessment 
 

 

SECTION 8F – SUMMARY OF THE MARKET FOR Advocacy Services REGULATED 
PROVISION  
 

 
1. When Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS), it is likely that this will increase the need 

for advocacy for these potential additional individuals and additional resources could 
well be needed when LPS comes into force. 
 

2. Workforce – the age profile of the Social Services workforce is increasing and staff 
turnover has also increased post pandemic. 
 

3. Recruitment and retention of social care workers is difficult and especially the 
recruitment of specialist workers e.g. Occupational Therapists – this is a national 
problem. 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Page 316



Appendix 2 

75 

 

CHAPTER 9 – TYPE OF REGULATED PROVISION: Domiciliary Care Support Services 

 

SECTION 9A – MARKET SUFFICIENCY 
 
 

Market balance 
 

In terms of the balance of the market, on average more than 80% of the North Wales 
domiciliary care market is comprised of independent sector providers with the remainder 
being a mixture Local Authority and Third Sector providers. However, this does vary 
considerably according to local authority as shown in the table below: 
 
Table 28: Percentage market estimated share of domiciliary care sector by type  
 
County In House Independent 

  sector 

Anglesey 18.5 81.5 

Gwynedd 44 56.0 

Conwy 9.7 90.3 

Denbighshire 10 90.0 

Flintshire 10.5 89.5 

Wrexham 3 97 

North Wales 16 84    
 

The split for Anglesey at 18.5% : 81.5% is closer to the regional average split of 16% : 84%. 
However, in Gwynedd, 44% of domiciliary care is provided internally currently and 56% is 
provided through the independent sector. 
 

It was recommended that the in-house/external provider (independent sector and third 
sector) split be 30/70%. In recent years, Anglesey has provided 15-25% of the domiciliary 
care market in house. 
 

Market overview 
 
The average number of hours of domiciliary care per week commissioned by the local 
authority is compared with regional average in the table below. For Anglesey and the other 
North Wales local authorities, the total of commissioned domiciliary care hours per week 
is proportional to the population of the county: 
Table 29: Average commissioned domiciliary care hours per week 
 

Average 
commissioned 
domiciliary care 
hours per week 

Older 
person 

Learning 
disability 

Older 
person 
mental 
health 

Physical 
disability 

Total Percentage 
of total 
hours 

Anglesey 3,644 390 - 582 4,616 9% 

North Wales 5,829 1,866 533 899 8,562 - 

 

Page 317



Appendix 2 

76 

 

In terms of hours of commissioned domiciliary care hours each week, it should be similar to 
the population. The hours of commissioned domiciliary care hours each week is 9% of the 
total for the North Wales local authorities and Anglesey’s population is 10% of the North 
Wales total. 
 

Providers 

The domiciliary care provided on Anglesey is provided by 3 main providers who work on a 

patch basis regionally (Abacare, Carelink, Plas Garnedd (consortium)) 

 
Market rates 
 
The average hourly rate of domiciliary care for Anglesey for the population groups specified 
in the table below is less than the average for the North Wales region: 
 
Table 30: Average hourly rate of domiciliary care by population group (£) 

Area Older person 
Learning 
disability 

Older person 
with mental 

health 

Physical 
disability 

Anglesey £17.83 £16.04 £17.83 £17.83 

North Wales £19.35 £18.17 £19.53 £19.34 

Difference -£1.52 -£2.13 -£1.70 -£1.51 

%age -8% -12% -9% -8% 

 
This is shown in graphical form below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Isle of Anglesey market overview 
 
In common with other areas, demand for services is currently exceeding supply (March 
2022) due to shortage of domiciliary care providers, both external and internal. 
 
 
 
 

£0.00

£5.00

£10.00

£15.00

£20.00

£25.00

Older person Learning disability Older person with
mental health

Physical disability

Domicilliary care hourly rate

Anglesey North Wales

Page 318



Appendix 2 

77 

 

Regional market overview 
 
Domiciliary care is a priority market identified by commissioners, with current independent 
and 3rd sector providers struggling to fulfil the demand for a significant amount of time now. 
As such, growth and development of services including general domiciliary care (includes 
homecare, reablement; community living and recovery) have been identified as 
opportunities for the future. 

 

SECTION 9B – MARKET STABILITY  
 

 
Market stability 
 
Isle of Anglesey market stability 
 
Post pandemic, the recruitment and retention of staff remains an issue with the staff turnover 
rate in Social Services having increased during 2021/22. 
 
There is an increasing demand for services, but budgets along with inflationary pressures 
are struggling to keep up with this demand. 
 
Below is a table showing the staff turnover within the Adults and Childrens Services of Social 
Services compared to the average for the Authority: 
 
Table 31: Staff turnover  

 

 Staff turnover 

Service 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 Average 

Adults 6% 12% 10% 8% 14% 10% 

Childrens 18% 10% 11% 6% 15% 12% 

Authority Average 11% 11% 9% 6% 10% 9% 

 
In general, staff turnover has been higher within the Children’s section than within the Adults 
section but the average for both sections are higher than the average for the Authority. The 
staff turnover rate decreased in 2019/20 and 2020/21 which may be due to the pandemic. 
However in 2021/22, the staff turnover rate increased in both sections which in turn likely 
influenced turnover rate for the Authority.   
 
The comparatively high staff turnover rate for 2021/22 may be due to staff deciding to move 
on after the pandemic and may be indicative of a problem with staff retention.  
 
Regional challenges 
 
A gap in services exists in relation to short home calls for support with medication. Neither 
health nor social care services provide calls only for medication, but older people with 
memory problems do need this vital care (Regional Partnership Board, 2022). 
 
The current economic situation with rising inflation and fuel costs, and wider cost of living 
pressures are creating instability and uncertainty for domiciliary care providers and some 
staff potentially facing in-work poverty. 
 
Decreasing budgets could present further challenges around the level of services which can 
be commissioned and provided. Across North Wales, providers have appreciated the 

Page 319



Appendix 2 

78 

 

support funding throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. For example, an additional £1m for 
domiciliary care helped provide stability during the pandemic. There is concern over the 
impact the end of the financial support will have. 
 

Action Taken Due to Provider Failure 
 

 
Not applicable 
 

 

SECTION 9C – OTHER MARKET STABILITY FACTORS  
 

Consideration of Market Quality 
 

 
Consideration of market quality 
 
As of August 2022, no residential / nursing home on Anglesey or any Domiciliary Care 
provider is under the Escalating Concerns process. 
 

Current and Projected Trends 
 

 
Newly released Census figures from 2021 released in June 2022 show Anglesey’s  general 
population has fallen by 1.2% in 2011 to 68,900 in 2021. However, the total population of 
Wales grew by 1.4%, increasing by 44,000 to 3,107,500. 
 
Significanlty Anglesey has also seen an increase of 16.3% in people aged 65 years and 
over, a decrease of 7.9% in people aged 15 to 64 years, and an increase of 0.1% in children 
aged under 15 years. These new Census figures confirm that the island’s age profile has 
changed. Ynys Môn has an ageing population and this will have an impact on IoACC’s 
services over the coming years, especially health and social care as IoACC will experience 
an increase in demand and a smaller workforce to support the population. 
 
Table 32: Population 

 Population Population over 65 Population over 85 

Area (June 2022) Number % Number % 

Ynys Môn 68,900 18,200 26.4% 2,200 3.2% 

Gwynedd 117,400 27,300 23.3% 3,800 3.2% 

Conwy 114,800 31,400 27.4% 4,500 3.9% 

Denbighshire 95,800 23,800 24.8% 3,000 3.1% 

Flintshire 155,000 33,200 21.4% 3,800 2.5% 

Wrexham 135,100 27,300 20.2% 3,300 2.4% 

North Wales 687,000 161,201 23.5% 20,600 3.0% 

Wales 3,107,500 662,000 21.3% 82,500 2.7% 

 
The percentage of the population who are over 65 is higher for Anglesey (26.4%) compared 
to both the average for North Wales (23.5%) and Wales (21.3%). The table also shows that 
the percentage of over 65s and over 85s is higher in the western counties (Anglesey, 
Gwynedd and Conwy – 25.5% and 3.5%) compared to the counties in North East Wales 
(Denbighshire, Flintshire and Wrexham – 21.8% and 2.6%). 

Page 320



Appendix 2 

79 

 

 
It is people over 85 who tend to require the highest service input from the Local Authority 
and if these residents of Anglesey do not have familiy support living locally, it tends to mean 
the Council has to provide more service input. As the island’s population gets older and 
younger people of working age move away, there will be a decrease in those of warking 
age available to provide the services for the Council. 
 
A change in the number and age profile of Anglesey’s population, compared to the rest of 
Wales, may impact on the financial resources the Council receives directly from Welsh 
Government to fund its services. The Council Plan for 2022-27 will play a vital role in 
determining our aims and objectives and look towards future service delivery priorities. 
 

Impact of Commissioning practices on the market 
 

 
Impact of commissioning practices on the market 
 
The Integrated Care Fund and Transformation Funding now referred to as Regional 
Investment Fund’s (RIF) five-year programme is welcomed but we continue to work though 
the guidance and impact of the changes. Due to the value of this funding, it is critical that 
any changes in criteria are articulated with ample notice so local authorities and other 
partners can consider and plan services with this in mind. 
 
Where there has been a need to commission directly with a provider, current procurement 
practice has often been a barrier to facilitate some rapid change. Procurement processes 
have proved onerous and unattractive to certain providers, particularly in the third sector, 
which then hinders the number of suppliers submitting tender applications and flexibility 
within the market. 
 
The Contracts and Commissioning Teams in each Local Authority and the Health Board 
have facilitated regular meetings with residential care, domiciliary care and Supported 
Living providers. Whilst these meetings existed before the pandemic, their frequency has 
now increased. The support and networking became a vital resource for providers during 
period of change and uncertainty. The meetings were also attended by colleagues from 
the Environmental Health Team, Health and Safety Officers and BCUHB officers so 
partners could advise and support when needed and arrangements have persisted 
beyond the pandemic at a lower level.  
 
The commissioning team have also had regular contact with providers to collect data, 
enquire about PPE supplies, and discuss any arising issues or just to be there to listen 
and support in this difficult time. 
 

Provision of service in the Welsh Language 
 

 
Provision of service in the Welsh language 
 
Information from the Population Needs Assessment (2022) detailed that many care homes 
and domiciliary care providers find it difficult to fully implement expectations with the 
provision of a Welsh speaker. More needs to be done to attract Welsh speakers to the 
profession and to support staff to improve their Welsh. This needs to include opportunities 
for both complete beginners and those who need to gain confidence. Many organisations 
provide Welsh language training to their staff, either formally or informally. Examples 
include: 

Page 321



Appendix 2 

80 

 

Courses offered by the local council or health board. Lunchtime Welsh language groups. 
 
Welsh speaking staff delivering workshops to their non-Welsh speaking peers. 
 
In the Provider Survey (February 2022) providers note that it is a challenge to recruit Welsh 
speakers within their setting, help and support to advertise/translate would be helpful 
moving forward for smaller companies. 
 
Providers are actively trying to increase their use of the Welsh language, but difficult to 
sustain any learning when not using it frequently enough (on a personal level as well as for 
the organisation). 
 
The Welsh language skills of Anglesey’s Social Services workforce were analysed in 2022 
and the results were as follows: 
 
Adults  

      
Number of staff in the service:  422 

     
Number of returns  422 

     
Percentage returns:  100% 

     
Table 33  

      
Level  L0 L1 L2 L3 L4 L5 

Number  19 41 31 20 57 254 

Percentage  5% 10% 7% 5% 14% 60% 

 
 

      
Table 34  

      
Childrens  

      
Number of staff in the service:  238 

     
Number of returns:  238 

     
Percentage returns:  100% 

     
Table 35  

      
Level  L0 L1 L2 L3 L4 L5 

Number  8 6 14 12 52 146 

Percentage  3% 3% 6% 5% 22% 61% 

 
A total of 74% of the staff in the Adults section speak Welsh to at least level 4 (Able to speak 
the language in the majority of situations using some Welsh / English words). In the 
Childrens section the corresponding percentage was 83%. 
 
 
 
 

Page 322



Appendix 2 

81 

 

Sustainability of provision 
 

 
Sustainability of provision 
 
The domiciliary care provided on Anglesey is provided by 3 main providers who work on a 

patch basis regionally (Abacare, Carelink, Plas Garnedd consortium)). The important 

characteristics of patch commissioning are security, consistency and reliability. 

 

Risks to market stability 
 

 
Risks to market stability 
 
Both in-house and independent care providers continue to have significant staff vacancies 
as existing carers vacate the care sector for a variety of reasons. This is of concern with 
regard to market stability, and particularly the ability to deliver care particularly in the more 
rural areas which are harder to reach. 
 
Whilst Welsh Government. have made provision for the delivery of the Real Living Wage 
to direct care workers, this will have an impact on pay compression and ability to recruit / 
provide career progression to more senior roles. This may have an impact on market 
stability as the next financial year unfolds. 
 
Business costs, outside of wages are also increasing with inflation escalating and fuel 
costs in particular increasing significantly. For domiciliary care this has a significant impact 
on the attractiveness of the role and the financial viability of existing business models. 
 

 

SECTION 9D – NON-REGULATED PROVISION [PREVENTATIVE SERVICES, STEP-
DOWN FROM A SECURE PLACEMENT, OR MOVING ON ARRANGEMENTS SUCH 
AS WHEN I AM READY etc] 
 

 
Not applicable 
 

 

SECTION 9E - OTHER CONSIDERATIONS AFFECTING THE MARKET 
 

 
Social value 
 
The North Wales Population Needs Assessment 2022 notes “Co-production and social 
value: Delivering services for older people must include the views of the population. Older 
people should have a voice in shaping services that they may access. The Wales 
Cooperative Centre has published a paper outlining how services, such as domiciliary care, 
can be commissioned using an outcomes based approach for provision, which focuses on 
well-being as well as any immediate need” (Regional Partnership Board, 2022). 
 
 
 
 

Page 323



Appendix 2 

82 

 

Resources 
 

 
IoACC anticipates further pressure on budgets when it retenders its services during 2023.  
 

Direct payments 
 

 
Direct payments 
 
Ynys Môn County Council’s aim is to promote Direct Payment through highlighting a person 
centred service that reflects voice, choice and control by empowering individuals to be 
as independent as possible in their own local community.  

Some benefits of choosing Direct Payments are: 

 Service users are able to choose who delivers their care and support 

 Service users choose when their care is delivered to suit their everyday life 

 Direct payments is flexible to meet their individual requirements 
Ynys Môn is dedicated to developing the service by consulting regularly with its direct 
payments experts (service users) and to make sure that the service is fit for purpose.  

IoACC’s vision and our way of implementing change has resulted in the increase in service 
take up and its success resulting in 243 individuals taking control of their care package 
and choosing to receive support through direct payments on the island compared to 35 
individuals in 2015. The subsequent savings were estimated as follows:  

 

 £5 of every hour commissioned is saved by the local authority. 

 £2,070,000 expenditure, 

 £870,000 savings per year when compared to other types of service provision. 
 

Self-funders 
 

 
There are other private care providers operating on Anglesey but the extent of their provision 
and value of work  is difficult to determine as these arrangements are mostly organised 
directly without the intervention of local authorities  
 

Workforce 
 

 
Workforce 
 
As outlined in The North Wales Social Care and Community Health Workforce Strategy, 
the sector is under significant pressure as a result of: 
 

Changes to legislation as a result of the Regulation & Inspection of Social Care (Wales) 
Act 2016 (RISCA) 
 
A new qualification framework 

 
Competitive pay structures with other sectors Competition from other sectors 

 
There is an urgent priority around ensuring a sufficient workforce is in place for the delivery 
of social services and social care functions. The recruitment and retention of Social 

Page 324



Appendix 2 

83 

 

Workers, Occupational Therapists and direct care workers has become a particular 
challenge across North Wales. 
 
The North Wales Social Care and Community Health Workforce is in a time of 
unprecedented change whereby they are required to deliver services differently with a 
focus on prevention, protection, intervention, partnership and integrated working, 
coproduction and empowerment; requiring a different emphasis on workforce skills and 
training. 
 
Much has been written on the issues surrounding recruitment and selection in the 
Domiciliary Care workforce. In March 2016, WG published a research report on the ‘Factors 
that affect the recruitment and retention of domiciliary care workers and the extent to which 
these factors impact upon the quality of domiciliary care’ (Atkinson, Crozier and Lewis, 
2016). The research, undertaken by Manchester Metropolitan University sought to identify 
factors that influence whether people choose to ‘become and remain working as domiciliary 
care workers’. 
 
There are approximately 17,000 domiciliary care staff employed by commissioned care 
providers in Wales (Social Care Wales, 2018a). WG’s consultation in to the Domiciliary 
Workforce (Welsh Government, 2016) recommends that those working in the sector are 
recognised as the skilled professionals they are. The negative image of the sector must be 
challenged to encourage people to join the social care workforce. 
 
The key factors highlighted by this consultation included: 
 
Low wages 
 

Work pressures 
Unsociable 
hours 

Poor terms and conditions 
 

‘Zero hours’ or ‘non-guaranteed hours’ contracts deterring people from joining the 
sector, as there were no guaranteed hours 

 
Some call times not enough to address the needs of the individual Lack 
of training and career development opportunities 

Seen as a low status job compared to healthcare 
 
Local Authorities have extended their Care First and other Employee Assistance 
Programmes to the external [non local authority] workforce. Care First/Employ Assistance 
Programmes provide confidential, impartial advice and support 24 hours a day, 365 days 
a year, online or via the free-phone telephone number. The service is free for all 
employees to access whenever they need it. 
 
The care provided by domiciliary carers for those with mental health needs could be 
improved by ensuring staff are encouraged to work in the field where they have most talent. 
Those working with people living with dementia require specialist training and extra time to 
complete tasks. There is a lack of dementia trained care workers, which should be 
addressed by the local authorities. Commissioners are keen to ensure the agencies they 
employ to provide dementia care are fulfilling their obligations and following care plans 
carefully. The profile of the profession needs to be raised to attract a high calibre of staff. 
(Regional Partnership Board, 2022). 
 
 

Page 325



Appendix 2 

84 

 

IoACC workforce 
 
Below is a table showing the staff turnover within the Adults and Childrens Services of Social 
Services compared to the average for the Authority: 
 
Table 36 

 

 Staff turnover 

Service 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 Average 

Adults 6% 12% 10% 8% 14% 10% 

Childrens 18% 10% 11% 6% 15% 12% 

Authority Average 11% 11% 9% 6% 10% 9% 

 
In general, staff turnover has been higher within the Children’s section than within the Adults 
section but the average for both sections are higher than the average for the Authority. The 
staff turnover rate decreased in 2019/20 and 2020/21 which may be due to the pandemic. 
However in 2021/22, the staff turnover rate increased in both sections which in turn likely 
contributed to the increased staff turnover rate for the Authority.   
 
The comparatively high staff turnover rate for 2021/22 may be due to staff deciding to move 
on after the pandemic and may be indicative of a problem with staff retention.  
 
Age profile 
 
Below is a table of IoACC’s Social Services staff: 
 
Table 37 
 

Service 16-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65+ 
No. of staff 

31.03.22 

Adults 5 27 30 29 18 2 111 

% 5% 24% 27% 26% 16% 2%  

Provider 14 49 43 82 138 27 353 

% 4% 14% 12% 23% 39% 8%  

Children’s 32 79 52 56 29 3 251 

% 13% 31% 21% 22% 12% 1%  

 
The age profile of the Adults Services staff shows that 77% of staff are between 35 and 64 
years of age. This can be seen from the sunburst chart below: 

Page 326



Appendix 2 

85 

 

 
 
The average age of staff in the Adults service is 45 years of age. 
 
 
Provider Service 
However, the age profile of the Provider Service staff is different with almost half the staff 
(47%) being 55 years of age or over. A total of 39% of staff are aged between 55 and 64. 
This could lead to staff shortages in the near future when the members of staff in the 55-64 
age group retire  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Childrens 
 
The age profile of the Childrens Service staff is somewhat younger than the Provider 
Service staff. Almost two thirds off the staff (65%) are aged between 16 and 44. 

Page 327



Appendix 2 

86 

 

 
The average age of staff in the Childrens Service is 40 years of age. 

Section Average age 

Adults 45 

Childrens 40 

Provider 50 

 
Succession planning and recruitment and retention of staff are issues that need to be 
addressed. 
 
In the MSR provider survey, respondents revealed the issues they’re currently facing with 
the recruitment and retention of their workforce. These are: 
 
Low rate of pay 
The level of skills needed to work with adults with complex needs those with learning 
disabilities who have challenging behaviour and mental health needs is  not  often reflected 
in the  rate of pay. The amount of staff available to fill the hours paid for, need to be 
extremely diverse in their abilities. There is not enough money to be able to employ staff 
that specialise in part of the tasks needed. Staff are having to shoulder a vast array of tasks 
to ensure that the needs of residents are met.  
 
Other employment paying a higher rate of pay. Long hours, increased pressure on staff due 
to absence / sickness / Covid and general shortage of staff available.  
 
Rural area 
Recruitment is always a challenge, especially social workers as the areas they cover are 
extensive.    
 
Rising cost of fuel 
Within rural areas the cost of travelling to and between packages of care can be a factor 
especially as packages have to be provided at predetermined intervals. 
 

Equality, socio-economic duty and human rights 
 

 
See Impact Assessment 
 

 

Page 328



Appendix 2 

87 

 

SECTION 9F – SUMMARY OF THE MARKET FOR Domiciliary Care Support Services 
REGULATED PROVISION  
 

 
 

 In Anglesey, demand is currently exceeding supply (March 2022) due to shortage 
of staff within domiciliary care providers and inability to attract new staff in 
sufficient numbers. 
 

 As shown by figures from the 2021 Census, the over 65 population is increasing 
significantly as is the over 85 population. This will in turn likely lead to additional 
demands and resources being required to provide these services. 

 

 Workforce – The age profile of the workforce is increasing and staff turnover has 
also increased post pandemic. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 329



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1. Minutes
	Minutes - 24 May 2022 (First Annual Meeting)
	Minutes - 31 May 2022 (Adjourned Annual Meeting)

	4. Assistant Executive Members
	5. Standards Committee Annual Report
	Item 6 Draft Annual Report.pdf
	Draft Annual Report.pdf

	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	693666 - Appendix 2 - Standards Committee - tracked changes
	696865 - clean copy - Appendix 2 - Standards Committee

	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Atodiad Appendix E

	6. Corporate Self-Assessment 2022
	Self-Assessment Draft 2021-22 Council Front Page 30.9.22
	Corporate Self-Assessment 2022 V 19.7.22

	7. Regional and Local Market Stability
	Covering Report - Market Stability Report
	Appendix 1  - NW MSR
	Appendix 2 - MSR complete




